Stochastic Cahn-Hilliard Equations and Their Sharp Interface Limits

Huanyu Yang

Stochastic Cahn-Hilliard Equations and Their Sharp Interface Limits

Huanyu Yang

A Dissertation Submitted for the Degree of Doctor at the Department of Mathematics Bielefeld University

June 24, 2019

Stochastic Cahn-Hilliard Equations and Their Sharp Interface Limits

Dissertation zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades der Fakultät für Mathematik der Universität Bielefeld

vorgelegt von Huanyu Yang

June 24, 2019

Gedruckt auf alterungsbeständigem Papier nach DIN–ISO 9706

Preface

This thesis is about the well-posedness and sharp interface limits of stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equations. We are concerned with the following three related problems:

(1) We consider the stochastic 2-dimensional Cahn-Hilliard equation which is driven by the derivative in space of a space-time white noise:

$$\partial_t u = \Delta(-\Delta u + f(u)) + \nabla \cdot \xi.$$

We use two different approaches to study this equation. First we prove that there exists a unique solution to the stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equation. Moreover, we use the Dirichlet form approach in [AR91] to construct the probabilistically weak solution. By clarifying the precise relation between the two solutions, we also get the restricted Markov uniqueness of the generator and the uniqueness of the martingale solutions. Furthermore, we also obtain exponential ergodicity of the solutions.

(2) We study the sharp interface limit of ε -dependent two dimensional stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equation as $\varepsilon \to 0$:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u^{\varepsilon} = \Delta v^{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon^{\sigma} \dot{\mathcal{W}}_t, \\ v^{\varepsilon} = -\varepsilon \Delta u^{\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} f(u^{\varepsilon}), \end{cases}$$

where \mathcal{W} is space-time white noise or conservative noise. In the case when the noise is sufficiently small, by comparing the solutions with the approximation solution constructed in [ABC94], we show that the limit of the solutions is also solutions to the deterministic Hele-Shaw problem.

(3) We study the asymptotic limit, as $\varepsilon \searrow 0$, of solutions of the stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equation:

$$\partial_t u^{\varepsilon} = \Delta \left(-\varepsilon \Delta u^{\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} f(u^{\varepsilon}) \right) + \varepsilon^{\sigma} \dot{\mathcal{W}}_t^{\varepsilon},$$

where $\mathcal{W}^{\varepsilon} = W$ or $\mathcal{W}^{\varepsilon} = W^{\varepsilon}$, W is a Q-Wiener process and W^{ε} is smooth in time and converges to W as $\varepsilon \searrow 0$. In the case that $\mathcal{W}^{\varepsilon} = W$, we prove that for all $\sigma > \frac{1}{2}$, the solution u^{ε} converges to a weak solution to an appropriately defined limit of the deterministic Cahn-Hilliard equation. In radial symmetric case we prove that for all $\sigma \ge \frac{1}{2}$, u^{ε} converges to the deterministic Hele-Shaw model. In the case that $\mathcal{W}^{\varepsilon} = W^{\varepsilon}$, we prove that for all $\sigma > 0$, u^{ε} converges to the weak solution to the deterministic limit Cahn-Hilliard equation. In radial symmetric case we prove that u^{ε} converges to deterministic Hele-Shaw model when $\sigma > 0$ and converges to a stochastic model related to stochastic Hele-Shaw model when $\sigma = 0$.

Acknowledgement

Firstly, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisors Prof. Dr. Zhiming Ma, Prof. Dr. Michael Röckner and Prof. Dr. Rongchan Zhu for the continuous support of my Ph.D. study and related research, for their patience, motivation, and immense knowledge. Their guidance helped me in all the time of research and writing of this thesis.

Besides my supervisors, I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Xiangchan Zhu for her very useful ideas and advice not only on this thesis but also on my Ph.D. study.

I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Xiangdong Li who gave a wonderful course of "Stochastic Analysis" in the Chinese Academy of Sciences and enlightened me the first glimpse at scientific research.

I would like to thank Dr. Liping Li and Guohuan Zhao for their help and discussions especially when I began to learn the theory of Dirichlet forms and stochastic partial differential equations.

Moreover, I also would like to thank my friends Xue Peng, Ting Ma, Linfang Hou, Chengcheng Ling, Bingguang Chen, Deng Zhang, Weina Wu, Siyu Liang, Shilei Kong, Lisha Yan, Meng Yang, Jun Cao, Longjie Xie, and Xiaobin Sun who gave me a lot of help in life. I spent a wonderful time with them in these years.

Finally, but most importantly, I wish to deeply thank my parents far away in China for supporting me spiritually throughout my life in general.

Bielefeld, June 24, 2019,

Huanyu Yang

Contents

Preface					
1	Introduction and Main Results				
	1.1	The deterministic case	1		
	1.2	The stochastic case	3		
		1.2.1 Well-posedness for stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equation	3		
		1.2.2 Sharp interface limit for big $\sigma > 0$	5		
		1.2.3 Sharp interface limit for small $\sigma \ge 0$	8		
	1.3	Structure of the thesis	11		
2	Pre	liminary	13		
	2.1	Besov spaces	13		
	2.2	Symmetric quasi regular Dirichlet forms and Markov Processes	16		
	2.3	Geometric measure theory	17		
3	Conservative stochastic 2-dimensional Cahn-Hilliard equation				
	3.1	Notations and preliminaries	23		
	3.2	The Linear Equation and Wick Powers	25		
	3.3	The Solution to the Shifted Equation	33		
	3.4	Relation to the solution given by Dirichlet forms	41		
		3.4.1 Solution given by Dirichlet forms	42		
		3.4.2 Relation between the two solutions	45		
		3.4.3 Markov uniqueness in the restricted sense	47		
		3.4.4 Stationary solution	49		
	3.5	Ergodicity	50		
4	Sha	rp interface limit of stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equation with singular			
	nois	Se .	60		
	4.1	Notations and preliminaries	61		
	4.2	The sharp interface limit for space-time white noise	62		
	4.3	3 The proof of the Main Theorem			
		4.3.1 The decomposition of the equation for the error	63		
		4.3.2 Estimate for Z^{ε}	64		
		4.3.3 Local-in-time estimate for Y^{ε} up to T_{ε} on the set Ω_{δ}	66		
		4.3.4 Final step: Globalization $T_{\varepsilon} \equiv T$	67		
	4.4	Sharp interface limit for conservative noise	69		
		4.4.1 Existence and uniqueness of solutions to equation (4.3)	69		
		4.4.2 The sharp interface limit of equation (4.3)	71		

5	Weak solutions to the sharp interface limit of stochastic Cahn-Hilliard					
	equations					
	5.1	Prelim	iinary	78		
		5.1.1	Basic notations and assumptions	78		
		5.1.2	Definition of a weak solution to the limit of equation (5.1)	78		
		5.1.3	Main results for Q -Wiener noise	79		
		5.1.4	Remarks on the definition of weak solutions	80		
	5.2	Conve	rgence	82		
		5.2.1	Lyapunov functional $\mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}$ and basic estimates $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	82		
		5.2.2	Estimates for $\{u^{\varepsilon}\}$	84		
		5.2.3	Estimates for $\{v^{\varepsilon}\}$	86		
		5.2.4	Tightness	87		
		5.2.5	Proof of Theorem 5.3	91		
		5.2.6	The case that $\sigma = \frac{1}{2}$	94		
	5.3	Case c	of radial symmetry for $\sigma \geq \frac{1}{2}$	95		
	5.4	Proof	of Theorem 5.4	101		
	5.5	The case for "smeared" noise $\ldots \ldots \ldots$				
л.	1 1.	1				

Bibliography

117

Chapter 1

Introduction and Main Results

This thesis is concerned on the well-posedness and sharp interface limits of stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equations.

1.1 The deterministic case

The Cahn-Hilliard equation on a smooth domain \mathcal{D} is given by

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u = \Delta v, \\ v = -\Delta u + f(u), \\ \frac{\partial u}{\partial n} = \frac{\partial v}{\partial n} = 0 \text{ on } \partial \mathcal{D}, \end{cases}$$
(1.1)

which was introduced by Cahn and Hilliard [CH58] to study the phase separation of binary alloys. Here $f(u) = u^3 - u$. The equation (1.1) is the H^{-1} -gradient flow of the energy functional

$$\mathcal{E}(u) := \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathcal{D}} |\nabla u(x)|^2 dx + \int_{\mathcal{D}} F(u(x)) dx, \qquad (1.2)$$

where $F(u) = \frac{1}{4}(u^2 - 1)^2$ is the double-well potential.

If u is a solution to equation (1.1), then

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{E}(u(t,\cdot)) = \int_{\mathcal{D}} \partial_t u(t,x) \left(-\Delta u(t,x) + f(u(t,x))\right) dx$$

$$= \int_{\mathcal{D}} v(t,x) \Delta v(t,x) dx = -\int_{\mathcal{D}} |\nabla v(t,x)|^2 dx \le 0.$$
 (1.3)

Clearly, the minimizers of the energy (1.2) are the constant functions $u \equiv 1$ and $u \equiv -1$, which represent the "pure phases" of the system. However, these "pure phases" cannot be reached unless the initial value u_0 satisfies $\int_{\mathcal{D}} u_0(x) dx = \pm |\mathcal{D}|$ because of the conservation law, i.e.

$$\frac{d}{dt}\int_{\mathcal{D}}u(t,x)dx = 0$$

for any solution u to (1.1). Instead, what will be produced is a "mixed phase", more precisely, which is a region in which $u \approx +1$ with $u \approx -1$ in its complement. Moreover, a transition occurs across its boundary. This is referred as *phase segregation* and the boundary is the interface between the two phases. If we look at the solution in a large scale ("stand far enough back"), the transition is on an invisibly small scale. All we see is just the interface. The evolution of u under the Cahn-Hilliard equation (1.1) derives an evolution of the interface. One of the most important problems is to determine how the interface evolves. To see any evolution of the interface, we must wait for a long time. More specifically, let ε be a small parameter and $u^{\varepsilon}(t, x) := u(\frac{t}{\varepsilon^3}, \frac{x}{\varepsilon})$, where u is a solution to (1.1). Then u^{ε} satisfies the following equation:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u^{\varepsilon} = \Delta v^{\varepsilon}, \\ v = -\varepsilon \Delta u^{\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} f(u^{\varepsilon}), \\ \frac{\partial u^{\varepsilon}}{\partial n} = \frac{\partial v^{\varepsilon}}{\partial n} = 0 \text{ on } \partial \mathcal{D}. \end{cases}$$
(1.4)

It was formally derived by Pego [Peg89] and rigorous proved by [ABC94] by using the method of matched asymptotic expansions that the equation (1.4) converges to the Hele-Shaw model. That is, as $\varepsilon \searrow 0$, the chemical potential v^{ε} tends to a limit v which, together with a free boundary $\Gamma := \bigcup_{0 \le t \le T} (\{t\} \times \Gamma_t)$, solves the following deterministic Hele-Shaw model:

$$\begin{cases} \Delta v = 0 \text{ in } \mathcal{D} \setminus \Gamma_t, \ t > 0, \\ \frac{\partial v}{\partial n} = 0 \text{ on } \partial \mathcal{D}, \\ v = SH \text{ on } \Gamma_t, \\ \mathcal{V} = \frac{1}{2} \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial n} \right]_{\Gamma_t} v \text{ on } \Gamma_t, \end{cases}$$
(1.5)

where

$$S = \int_{-1}^{1} \sqrt{\frac{F(s)}{2}} ds = \frac{2}{3},$$
$$\left[\frac{\partial}{\partial n}\right]_{\Gamma_t} v := (\partial_n v^+ - \partial_n v^-),$$

H is the scalar mean curvature of Γ_t with the sign convention that convex hypersurfaces have positive mean curvature, \mathcal{V} is the normal velocity of the interface with the sign convention that the normal velocity of expanding hypersurfaces is positive, *n* is the unit outward normal either to $\partial \mathcal{D}$ or to Γ_t . Denote \mathcal{D}^+ and \mathcal{D}^- are the exterior and interior of Γ_t . v^+ , v^- are respectively the restriction of *v* on $[0, t] \times \mathcal{D}^+$ and $[0, t] \times \mathcal{D}^-$.

Later in [Che96], the author formulated a weak solution to the free boundary problem (1.5) (see Definition 5.2) and showed that the solutions of (1.4) approach, as $\varepsilon \searrow 0$, to weak solutions of (1.5) by using a compactness argument. In fact the energy functional of (1.4) is given by

$$\mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon}) := \int_{\mathcal{D}} e^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon}) dx, \quad e^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon}) := \frac{\varepsilon}{2} |\nabla u^{\varepsilon}|^2 + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} F(u^{\varepsilon}). \tag{1.6}$$

One can directly verify that for any solution $(u^{\varepsilon}, v^{\varepsilon})$ to equation (1.4),

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon}(t,\cdot)) = -\int_{\mathcal{D}} |\nabla v^{\varepsilon}(t,x)|^2 dx \le 0,$$
(1.7)

which is also called the Lyapunov property for equation (1.4). Thus $\mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon})$ is uniformly bounded in $t, \varepsilon > 0$ if the energy of the initial value is bounded uniformly in ε . Note that as $\varepsilon \to 0$, $F(u^{\varepsilon}) \to 0$, which is equivalent to $u^{\varepsilon} \to -1 + 2\mathbb{1}_E$ for some $E \subset [0,T] \times \mathcal{D}$ where $\mathbb{1}_E$ is the characteristic function of E, i.e. $\mathbb{1}_E(x) = 1$ when $x \in E$ and $\mathbb{1}_E(x) = 0$ when $x \notin E$. $\Gamma_t := \partial E_t$ is the interface. By using a varifold approach, Chen in [Che96] analyzed the property of the limit of the solutions to equation (1.4) and then proposed a definition of weak solution of this limit. Any classical smooth solutions to (1.5) are weak solutions. In some special case, the smooth weak solutions are also classical solutions to (1.5).

1.2 The stochastic case

We are interested in the global well-posedness and the sharp interface limit of the stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equation:

$$\partial_t u^{\varepsilon} = \Delta \left(-\varepsilon \Delta u^{\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} f(u^{\varepsilon}) \right) + \varepsilon^{\sigma} \dot{\mathcal{W}}_t^{\varepsilon}, \qquad (1.8)$$

where $\dot{\mathcal{W}}_t^{\varepsilon}$ is the noise which may depend on ε .

1.2.1 Well-posedness for stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equation

For the well-posedness, the stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equation was first studied in [PM83], where Petschek and Metiu performed some numerical experiments for the stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equation driven by space-time white noise. In [EM91], Elezovic and Mikelic proved the existence and uniqueness of a strong solution to the stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equation driven by trace-class noise. Then Da Prato and Debussche [DPD96] proved existence and uniqueness of solutions for space-time white noise and obtained the existence and uniqueness of an invariant measure for trace-class noise. Later there are many papers in which the authors study the properties of the solutions to the stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equations driven by trace-class noise (e.g. [DG11, Sca17]).

In Chapter 3 we show the well-posedness for the conservative stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equation

$$\begin{cases} dX_t = -\frac{1}{2}A\left(AX - :X^3:\right)dt + BdW_t, \\ X(0) = z \in V_0^{-1}, \end{cases}$$
(1.9)

on \mathbb{T}^2 in the probabilistically strong sense where $A = \Delta$, $B = \text{div. } W_t$ is an $L^2_0(\mathbb{T}^2, \mathbb{R}^2)$ cylindrical Wiener process, which is defined in Section 3.2. : X^3 : denotes the Wick power, which is introduced in Section 3.2 and the space V_0^{-1} is similar to the Sobolev space of order -1, which is introduced in Section 3.1.

For the conservative-type equation (1.9), the Gibbs measure ν is formally given by the following Φ_2^4 -field:

$$\nu(d\phi) = c \exp\left(-\int_{\mathbb{T}^2} \frac{1}{4} : \phi^4 : dx\right) \mu(d\phi),$$

where μ is the Gaussian free field, c is a normalization constant, and : ϕ^4 : is the fourth order Wick power of ϕ . Equation (1.9) can be interpreted as the natural "Kawasaki" dynamics (see [GLP99]) associated to the Euclidean Φ_2^4 -quantum field. In [PW81] Parisi and Wu proposed a program for Euclidean quantum field theory based on getting Gibbs states of classical statistical mechanics as limiting distributions of stochastic processes, especially as solutions to non-linear stochastic differential equations. Then one can use the stochastic differential equations to study properties of the Gibbs states. This procedure is called stochastic field quantization (see [JLM85]). The equation (1.9) can also be viewed as a stochastic quantization equation for the Φ_2^4 -field.

Over the years, there is a lot of literature (see [JLM85, AR91, DPD03, MW17, RZZ17a, RZZ17b]) on the stochastic quantization of the Φ_2^4 -field. The authors in these papers considered the following non-conservative stochastic quantization equation:

$$dX_t = (AX - :X^3 :)dt + dW_t. (1.10)$$

First results are due to Jona-Lasinio and Mitter [JLM85]. Using the Girsanov theorem, they constructed solutions to a modified equation on \mathbb{T}^2 :

$$dX_t = (-\Delta + 1)^{-\varepsilon} (\Delta X - X^3 + aX) + (-\Delta + 1)^{-\frac{\varepsilon}{2}} dW_t$$
(1.11)

for $\frac{9}{10} < \varepsilon < 1$. They also proved the ergodicity for (1.11). In [AR91] Albeverio and Röckner studied (1.10) using Dirichlet forms and constructed probabilistically weak solutions to (1.10). In [MR99], Mikulevicius and Rozovskii constructed martingale solutions to (1.10) but the uniqueness remained open. In [DPD03] Da Prato and Debussche considered the associated shifted equation to (1.10) on \mathbb{T}^2 and proved the local existence and uniqueness of solutions in the probabilistically strong sense via a fixed point argument and then showed the non-explosion for almost every initial point by using the invariant measure. Recently Mourrat and Weber [MW17] showed the global existence and uniqueness for the shifted equation both on \mathbb{T}^2 and \mathbb{R}^2 for every initial point. Combining the results from the weak approach and strong approach, Röckner, Zhu and Zhu [RZZ17b] proved the restricted Markov uniqueness for the generator of (1.10) and the uniqueness of the martingale problem to (1.10) arised in [MR99] on \mathbb{T}^2 and \mathbb{R}^2 . Furthermore, the ergodicity of (1.10) on \mathbb{T}^2 has been obtained in [HM18, RZZ17a, TW16].

For the conservative case, Funaki [Fun89] proved the existence and uniqueness of equation (1.9) on \mathbb{R} and in [DZ07] Debussche and Zambotti studied equation (1.9) on [0, 1] with reflection. But for the higher dimensional case, even though the linear operator Δ^2 gives much more regularity, the noise and hence the solutions are still so singular that the non-linear terms in (1.9) are not well-defined in the classical sense. This difficulty is similar as in equation (1.10).

To overcome this difficulty, we use two approaches to study (1.9). First we follow the idea in [DPD03], [MW17] and [RZZ17b] to split the solution to X = Y + Z, where $Z(t) = \int_0^t e^{-\frac{(t-s)}{2}A^2} B dW_s$. Similarly as in the Φ_2^4 case, Y has better regularity than the solution to (1.9) and satisfies the following *shifted equation*:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dY}{dt} = -\frac{1}{2}A^2Y + \frac{1}{2}A\sum_{k=0}^{3}C_3^kY^{3-k} : Z^k: \\ Y(0) = z \end{cases}$$
(1.12)

where $Z(t) = \int_0^t e^{-\frac{t-s}{2}A^2} B dW_s$. In Chapter 3 we obtain the existence and uniqueness of the solution to (1.12). The fixed point arguments for local well-posedness in [DPD03] and [MW17] only hold for initial values in $\mathcal{C}^{-\frac{4}{3}+}$. Due to the singularity of the noise and the lack of a maximum principle and a uniform L^p -estimate, we only have a uniform

 H^{-1} -estimate (see Theorem 3.7), which is not strong enough to combine it with local wellposedness (see Remark 3.11). Instead, our argument is based on a classical compactness argument. We obtain the existence of global solutions starting from the uniform H^{-1} estimate directly. Moreover we consider the solutions in H^{-1} and use the L^4 -integrability to obtain uniqueness for (1.12).

In addition, we use the method in [AR91] to construct the Dirichlet form for (1.9) (see Theorem 3.15), which is given by

$$\Lambda(\varphi,\psi) = \frac{1}{2} \int \langle \nabla\varphi, \nabla\psi \rangle_{V_0^{-1}} d\nu, \varphi, \psi \in \mathcal{F}C_b^{\infty}$$

where $\mathcal{F}C_b^{\infty}$ is defined in Section 3.4. We note that the tangent space is chosen as V_0^{-1} and the gradient operator ∇ is also defined in V_0^{-1} . This is different from the Dirichlet form for (1.10), where the tangent space is chosen as L^2 and the gradient is the L^2 derivative. By the integration by parts formula for ν we also obtain the closability fo the bilinear form $(\Lambda, \mathcal{F}C_b^{\infty})$. The closure $(\Lambda, D(\Lambda))$ is a quasi-regular Dirichlet form, which enables us to construct a probabilistically weak solution to (1.9). Then by clarifying the relation between this solution and the solution to (1.12), we prove that X - Z, where Xis the solution obtained by the Dirichlet form approach, also satisfies the shifted equation (1.12). It follows that Φ_2^4 field is an invariant measure for X. Then we obtain the Markov uniqueness in the restricted sense for the generator of the Dirichlet form restricted to $\mathcal{F}C_b^{\infty}$ and the uniqueness of probabilistically weak solutions to (1.9) having ν as an invariant measure.

We also prove exponential ergodicity by two approaches. One simple and short way by the Dirichlet form approach is presented in Remark 3.31. Using a uniform estimate, an invariant measure can also be constructed by the Krylov-Bogoliubov method. We follow an idea from [TW16] to prove the strong Feller property of the semigroup of the solution to the equation (1.9). Then we obtain exponential convergence to the unique invariant measure of the semigroup for every starting point.

1.2.2 Sharp interface limit for big $\sigma > 0$

In Chapter 4 we obtain the convergence results arising in the study of the sharp interface limit, as $\varepsilon \searrow 0$, of the solutions to the stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equation on $\mathcal{D} := (0, 1)^2$,

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u^{\varepsilon} = \Delta v^{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon^{\sigma} \mathcal{W}_t, \\ v^{\varepsilon} = -\varepsilon \Delta u^{\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} f(u^{\varepsilon}), \\ u^{\varepsilon}(0) = z, \end{cases}$$
(1.13)

with Neumann boundary conditions,

$$\frac{\partial u^{\varepsilon}}{\partial n} = \frac{\partial v^{\varepsilon}}{\partial n} = 0 \text{ on } \partial \mathcal{D}.$$
(1.14)

Here f(u) = F'(u) and $F(u) = \frac{1}{4}(u^2-1)^2$ is the double-well potential, $\sigma > 0$ is a constant, and $\dot{\mathcal{W}}$ is a singular noise which represents the space-time white noise in Section 4.2 and the conservative noise in Section 4.4.

In [ABC94], the authors study the deterministic Cahn-Hilliard equation

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u^{\varepsilon} = \Delta v^{\varepsilon} \text{ in } \mathcal{D}_T, \\ v^{\varepsilon} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} f(u^{\varepsilon}) - \varepsilon \Delta u^{\varepsilon} \text{ in } \mathcal{D}_T, \end{cases}$$
(1.15)

where $\mathcal{D}_T := (0,T) \times \mathcal{D}$. Assume that the interface has been formed initially. That is, there exists a smooth closed curve $\Gamma_{00} \subset \subset \mathcal{D}$ such that $u^{\varepsilon}(0) \approx -1$ in \mathcal{D}^- , the region enclosed by Γ_{00} , and $u^{\varepsilon}(0) \approx 1$ in $\mathcal{D}^+ := \mathcal{D} \setminus (\Gamma_{00} \cup \mathcal{D}^-)$. Formally as $\varepsilon \to 0$, the solutions to equation (1.15) reach the stable state u^* such that $f(u^*) = 0$, i.e. $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} u^{\varepsilon}(t, x) = \pm 1$. Hence there is an interface Γ_t between these two states.

The authors in [ABC94] use a new matched asymptotics to constructed approximation solutions. They construct a pair of approximation solutions $(u_A^{\varepsilon}, v_A^{\varepsilon})$, such that Γ_t is the zero level set of $u_A^{\varepsilon}(t)$, which satisfies

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u_A^{\varepsilon} = \Delta v_A^{\varepsilon} \text{ in } \mathcal{D}_T, \\ v_A^{\varepsilon} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} f(u_A^{\varepsilon}) - \varepsilon \Delta u_A^{\varepsilon} + r_A^{\varepsilon} \text{ in } \mathcal{D}_T, \end{cases}$$
(1.16)

for boundary conditions

$$\frac{\partial u_A^{\varepsilon}}{\partial n} = \frac{\partial \Delta u_A^{\varepsilon}}{\partial n} = 0 \text{ on } \partial \mathcal{D}.$$

They also showed that as $\varepsilon \to 0$, both v^{ε} and v^{ε}_{A} tend to v in $C(\mathcal{D}_{T})$, which, together with a free boundary $\Gamma \equiv \bigcup_{0 \le t \le T} (\Gamma_{t} \times \{t\})$, satisfies the following deterministic Hele-Shaw problem (1.5), starting from Γ_{00} :

$$\begin{cases} \Delta v = 0 \text{ in } \mathcal{D} \setminus \Gamma_t, \quad t > 0, \\ \partial_n v = 0 \text{ on } \partial \mathcal{D}, \\ v = SH \text{ on } \Gamma_t, \\ \mathcal{V} = \frac{1}{2} \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial n} \right]_{\Gamma_t} v \text{ on } \Gamma_t, \\ \Gamma_0 = \Gamma_{00}, \end{cases}$$
(1.17)

where

$$S = \int_{-1}^{1} \sqrt{\frac{F(s)}{2}} ds = \frac{2}{3},$$

H is the mean curvature of Γ_t with the sign convention that convex hypersurfaces have positive mean curvature, \mathcal{V} is the normal velocity of the interface with the sign convention that the normal velocity of expanding hypersurfaces is positive, *n* is the unit outward normal either to $\partial \mathcal{D}$ or to Γ_t , v^+ and v^- are respectively the restriction of *v* on $[0, t] \times \mathcal{D}^+$ and $[0, t] \times \mathcal{D}^-$.

For the stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equation, the authors in [ABK18] proved that for large $\sigma > 0$ the sharp interface limit of equation (1.13) also satisfies the deterministic Hele-Shaw model if $\hat{\mathcal{W}}$ is a trace-class noise. For $\sigma = 1$, the sharp interface limit is also conjectured to satisfy the following stochastic Hele-Shaw model:

$$\begin{cases} \Delta v = 0 \text{ in } \mathcal{D} \setminus \Gamma_t, \ t > 0, \\ \partial_n v = 0 \text{ on } \partial \mathcal{D}, \\ v = \lambda H + \mathcal{W} \text{ on } \Gamma_t, \\ \mathcal{V} = \frac{1}{2} \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial n} \right]_{\Gamma_t} v \text{ on } \Gamma_t, \\ \Gamma_0 = \Gamma_{00}, \end{cases}$$
(1.18)

In [AKO14], the authors prove that the sharp interface limit of generalized Cahn-Hilliard equation: $\partial_t u = \Delta(-\varepsilon \Delta u + \frac{1}{\varepsilon}f(u) - G_2^{\varepsilon}) + G_1^{\varepsilon}$ satisfies the following Hele-Shaw model:

$$\begin{cases} \Delta v = -\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} G_1^{\varepsilon} \text{ in } \mathcal{D} \setminus \Gamma_t, \ t > 0, \\ \partial_n v = 0 \text{ on } \partial \mathcal{D}, \\ v = \lambda H - \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} G_2^{\varepsilon} \text{ on } \Gamma_t, \\ \mathcal{V} = \frac{1}{2} \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial n} \right]_{\Gamma_t} v \text{ on } \Gamma_t, \\ \Gamma_0 = \Gamma_{00}, \end{cases}$$
(1.19)

Since they require some regularity conditions for G_1^{ε} , G_2^{ε} w.r.t time, which are not satisfied by Brownian motions, it is not clear how to obtain the stochastic Hele-Shaw model rigorously. Until now, the rigorous complete description of the motion of interfaces in dimensions two and three in stochastic case stands for many years as a wide open problem.

We mention that in [Fun99] and [Web10], the authors consider the following stochastic Allen-Cahn equation

$$\partial_t u = \Delta u - \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} f(u) + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \Xi_t^{\varepsilon}.$$
(1.20)

The noise Ξ^{ε} is constant in space and smooth in time. For $\varepsilon \to 0$ the correlation length goes to zero at a precise rate and $\int_0^t \Xi_s^{\varepsilon} ds$ converges to a Brownian motion pathwisely. They prove that the dynamics of the phase-separating hyperplane Γ_t appearing in the limit is given by stochastic mean curvature flow (see also in [Fun16, Chapter 4]). For space-time white noise, in [TW18] the authors prove the "exponential loss of memory property". But for sharp interface limit, there is still no result for space-time white noise.

In Chapter 4, we consider the sharp interface limit of stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equation driven by singular noise. The stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equation is a model for the non-equilibrium dynamics of metastable states in phase transitions, [Coo70, HH77, Lan71]. In Section 4.2, we consider the Cahn-Hilliard-Cook model which is generated by Cook, [Coo70] (see also in [HH77]), incorporating thermal fluctuations in the form of an additive noise. In our case the noise is chosen as $\mathcal{W} = W_1$ or $\mathcal{W} = \nabla \cdot W_2$, where W_1 is mass-conserved $L^2(\mathcal{D}, \mathbb{R})$ -cylindrical Wiener process and W_2 is an $L^2(\mathcal{D}, \mathbb{R}^2)$ -cylindrical Wiener process. In the case that $\mathcal{W} = \nabla \cdot W_2$, the equation is also well-known as time-dependent Ginzburg-Landau (TDGL) equation. This equation is also related to the stochastic quantization for Φ_2^4 -quantum field. For the existence and uniqueness results for these two kinds of equations, we refer to [DPD96, RYZ18] and the reference therein.

To analyze the sharp interface limit of the solution $(u^{\varepsilon}, v^{\varepsilon})$ to equation (1.13), we estimate the difference of $(u^{\varepsilon}, v^{\varepsilon})$ to $(u^{\varepsilon}_A, v^{\varepsilon}_A)$ which is the solution to equation (1.16). For the case $\mathcal{W} = W_1$, we follow the idea in [ABK18]. Let u^{ε} be the solutions to equation (1.13) and u^{ε}_A be the approximation solution in Theorem 4.2. We consider the equation that the residual $R^{\varepsilon} := u^{\varepsilon} - u^{\varepsilon}_A$ satisfies. Then we prove that R^{ε} converges to 0 for $\sigma > \frac{107}{12}$ by obtaining a uniform estimate of R^{ε} . Moreover, we prove that $v^{\varepsilon} - v^{\varepsilon}_A$ also converges to 0, where v^{ε}_A is the potential defined in (1.16). Hence we obtain that the sharp interface limit of the equation (1.13) satisfies the deterministic Hele-Shaw model (1.17) if $\sigma > \frac{107}{12}$. We mention that since the noise is rougher, we cannot apply Itô's formulae to R^{ε} directly. Hence the trick in [ABK18] fails in our case. Instead, we make use of the Da prato-Debussche's trick (see [DPD03]). That is, let $Z^{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon^{\sigma} \int_0^t e^{-\varepsilon(t-s)\Delta^2} d\mathcal{W}_s$ and $Y^{\varepsilon} = R^{\varepsilon} - Z^{\varepsilon}$. Compared with Z^{ε} and u^{ε} , Y^{ε} has better regularity, which enables us to apply Newton-Leibniz formula and obtain uniform estimate for Y^{ε} instead.

For the case $\mathcal{W} = \nabla \cdot W_2$ the equation (1.13) is ill-posed in the classical sense, since the solution is not a function. To define the nonlinear terms, a renormalization method is required. As the solution is a distribution, we do not consider the sharp interface limit for the solutions of (1.13) directly. Instead we do suitable approximation for the noise with $W^h := W_2 * \rho_h$, where ρ_h approximates to identity (as $h \to 0$) and we consider the following renormalized equation:

$$du^{\varepsilon,h} = \Delta \left(-\varepsilon \Delta u^{\varepsilon,h} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left(f(u^{\varepsilon,h}) - 3c^{\varepsilon}_{h,t} u^{\varepsilon,h} \right) \right) dt + \varepsilon^{\sigma} \nabla \cdot dW^{h}_{t}, \qquad (1.21)$$

where $3c_{h,t}^{\varepsilon} u^{\varepsilon,h}$ is the renormalization term (see (refc4a.5)). As $h \to 0$, $u^{\varepsilon,h}$ converges to u^{ε} , which is the unique solution to equation (1.13). Similarly we consider the residual $R^{\varepsilon,h} = u^{\varepsilon,h} - u_A^{\varepsilon}$ and do a similar estimate as before. We mention that for fixed $\varepsilon > 0$, $c_{h,t}^{\varepsilon} \to \infty$ as $h \to 0$, which makes the term $c_{h,t}^{\varepsilon} u^{\varepsilon,h}$ hard to control. Thus we consider the case that $\varepsilon \lesssim h^{\iota}$ for some $\iota > 0$ and h goes to 0 (see Theorem 4.14). In this case, $c_{h,t}^{\varepsilon}$ can be very small as $h \to 0$. Thus the term $c_{h,t}^{\varepsilon,h} u^{\varepsilon,h}$ is small. For other terms in (1.21), the method is similar as the case that $\mathcal{W} = W_1$. Finally we prove that $R^{\varepsilon,h}$ and $v^{\varepsilon,h} - v_A^{\varepsilon}$ converge to 0 if $\sigma > \frac{26}{3}$. This also implies that the sharp interface limit of the solution to equation (1.21) is given by (1.17).

1.2.3 Sharp interface limit for small $\sigma \ge 0$

In Chapter 5, we continue to consider the sharp interface limit of stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equation (1.8) for small $\sigma \geq 0$. As what was showed in Chapter 4, for large $\sigma > 0$, the stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equation (1.8) converges to the deterministic Hele-Shaw model (1.5). However, for $\sigma \geq 0$ small, the perturbation by the noise become much stronger. It is reasonable to think that the solutions to equation (1.8) do not converge to deterministic Hele-Shaw model (1.5) when σ is small. But the method in Chapter 4 can be only applied to prove the convergence to (1.5) and also seems not easy to obtain the convergence for small σ .

To overcome the difficulty, we use a weak approach which is motivated by [Che96], where the author considered the deterministic Cahn-Hilliard equation

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u^{\varepsilon} = \Delta v^{\varepsilon}, \quad (t,x) \in [0,T] \times \mathcal{D}, \\ v^{\varepsilon} = -\varepsilon \Delta u^{\varepsilon}(t) + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} f(u^{\varepsilon}(t)), \quad (t,x) \in [0,T] \times \mathcal{D}, \\ \frac{\partial u^{\varepsilon}}{\partial n} = \frac{\partial v^{\varepsilon}}{\partial n} = 0, \quad (t,x) \in [0,T] \times \partial \mathcal{D}, \\ u^{\varepsilon}(0,x) = u^{\varepsilon}_0(x), \quad x \in \mathcal{D}, \end{cases}$$
(1.22)

and formulated a weak solution to the deterministic Hele-Shaw model (1.5) (see Definition 5.2) and showed that the solutions to (1.22) approach, as $\varepsilon \searrow 0$, to weak solutions to (1.5) by using a compactness argument. In fact, the Cahn-Hilliard equation (1.22) is an H^{-1} -gradient flow with the van der Waals-Cahn-Hilliard energy functional

$$\mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon}) := \int_{\mathcal{D}} e^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon}) dx, \quad e^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon}) := \frac{\varepsilon}{2} |\nabla u^{\varepsilon}|^2 + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} F(u^{\varepsilon}). \tag{1.23}$$

Denote by $(u_D^{\varepsilon}, v_D^{\varepsilon})$ the solution to the deterministic Cahn-Hilliard equation (1.22). One can directly verify that

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(u_D^{\varepsilon}) = -\int_{\mathcal{D}} |\nabla v_D^{\varepsilon}|^2 \le 0, \qquad (1.24)$$

which is also called the Lyapunov property for equation (1.22). Thus $\mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(u_D^{\varepsilon})$ is uniformly bounded in $t, \varepsilon > 0$ if the energy of initial value is uniformly bounded in ε . Note that as $\varepsilon \to 0$, $F(u_D^{\varepsilon}) \to 0$, which is equivalent to $u_D^{\varepsilon} \to -1 + 2\mathbb{1}_E$ for some $E \subset [0, T] \times \mathcal{D}$ where $\mathbb{1}_E$ is the characteristic function of E, i.e. $\mathbb{1}_E(x) = 1$ when $x \in E$ and $\mathbb{1}_E(x) = 0$ when $x \notin E$. $\Gamma_t := \partial E_t$ is the interface. By using a varifold approach, Chen in [Che96] analyzed the property of the limit of the solutions to equation (1.22) and then proposed a definition of weak solution of this limit. Any classical smooth solutions to (1.22) are weak solutions. In some special case, the smooth weak solutions are also classical solutions to (1.5). We need to mention that in [ABC94] and Chapter 4, the convergence of solutions to Cahn-Hilliard equation (1.22) to (1.5) is proved under the assumption on the existence of smooth solution to (1.5). While in [Che96], Chen proved the convergence of solution to equation (1.22) and analyzed the limit directly. No assumption on existence of solution to (1.5) is required in [Che96].

In our case, we consider the sharp interface limit of the following stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equation on a bounded smooth open domain $\mathcal{D} \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ (d = 2, 3):

$$\begin{cases} du^{\varepsilon} = \Delta v^{\varepsilon} dt + \varepsilon^{\sigma} dW_t, \quad (t, x) \in [0, T] \times \mathcal{D}, \\ v^{\varepsilon} = -\varepsilon \Delta u^{\varepsilon}(t) + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} f(u^{\varepsilon}(t)), \quad (t, x) \in [0, T] \times \mathcal{D}, \\ \frac{\partial u^{\varepsilon}}{\partial n} = \frac{\partial v^{\varepsilon}}{\partial n} = 0, \quad (t, x) \in [0, T] \times \partial \mathcal{D}, \\ u^{\varepsilon}(0, x) = u^{\varepsilon}_0(x), \quad x \in \mathcal{D}. \end{cases}$$
(1.25)

Here W is a Q-Wiener process where Q satisfies (5.4) and (5.5). f(u) = F'(u) where $F(u) = \frac{1}{4}(u^2 - 1)^2$ is the double well potential and the initial data u_0^{ε} satisfies

$$\begin{cases} \sup_{0<\varepsilon\leq 1} \int_{\mathcal{D}} \left(\frac{\varepsilon}{2} |\nabla u_0^{\varepsilon}(x)|^2 + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} F(u_0^{\varepsilon}(x))\right) dx \leq \mathcal{E}_0 < \infty, \\ \frac{1}{|\mathcal{D}|} \int_{\mathcal{D}} u_0^{\varepsilon}(x) dx = m_0 \in (-1, 1) \quad \forall \varepsilon \in (0, 1]. \end{cases}$$
(1.26)

For small $\sigma \geq 0$, we extend the method in [Che96] to equation (1.25) and obtain weak solutions to the limit of equation (1.25). Then we consider the limit of the solution to equation (1.25) directly, which enables us to analyze different models the limit should satisfy. We mainly consider (1.25) with two types of driven noise: Q-Wiener process and "smeared" noise which is smooth in time.

The equation with Q-Wiener process for $\sigma \geq \frac{1}{2}$. In this case, we can obtain that for $\sigma > \frac{1}{2}$, the solutions to equation (1.25) converge to the weak solutions defined in Definition 5.2. In fact, motivated by [DPD96], we apply the Itô's formula to $\mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon})$ and prove the Lyapunov property of equation (1.25) for all $\sigma \geq \frac{1}{2}$ (see Lemma 5.6). By tightness argument, we prove that for all $\sigma > \frac{1}{2}$, the solutions to equation (1.25) converge to the weak solution of the limit of deterministic Cahn-Hilliard equation (1.22) defined by Chen [Che96] (see Theorem 5.3). For $\sigma = \frac{1}{2}$, the tightness and convergence results are still true. But we cannot conclude that the limit is a weak solution defined in Definition 5.2.

Particularly in radial symmetric case, we prove that for all $\sigma \geq \frac{1}{2}$, the limit of solutions to equation (1.25) satisfy (1.22) in the weak sense. Thus we conjecture that in general for $\mathbb{P} - a.s. \omega$, as $\varepsilon \searrow 0$, the chemical potential $v^{\varepsilon}(\omega)$ tends to a limit $v(\omega)$ which, together with a free boundary $\Gamma(\omega) := \bigcup_{0 \leq t \leq T} (\{t\} \times \Gamma_t(\omega)), (v(\omega), \Gamma(\omega))$ satisfies (1.5). The equation with "smeared" noise for $\sigma \geq 0$. Moreover, we consider stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equation driven by "smeared" noise which is smooth in time. This kind of noise was considered also for stochastic Allen-Cahn equation in [Fun99, Web10, FY19].

We smoothen the noise in time and consider the following random PDE:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial u^{\varepsilon}}{\partial t} = \Delta v^{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon^{\sigma} \xi_{t}^{\varepsilon}, \quad (t, x) \in [0, T] \times \mathcal{D}, \\ v^{\varepsilon} = -\varepsilon \Delta u^{\varepsilon}(t) + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} f(u^{\varepsilon}(t)), \quad (t, x) \in [0, T] \times \mathcal{D}, \\ \frac{\partial u^{\varepsilon}}{\partial n} = \frac{\partial v^{\varepsilon}}{\partial n} = 0, \quad (t, x) \in [0, T] \times \partial \mathcal{D}, \\ u^{\varepsilon}(0, x) = u_{0}^{\varepsilon}(x), \quad x \in \mathcal{D}, \end{cases}$$
(1.27)

where $\xi_t^{\varepsilon} = \frac{dW^{\varepsilon}}{dt}$, $W_t^{\varepsilon} := \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \rho_{\varepsilon}(t-s)W_s ds$ and ρ_{ε} is an approximate delta function on \mathbb{R} . Formally as $\varepsilon \to 0$, $\xi^{\varepsilon} \to \frac{dW}{dt}$. Since ξ_t^{ε} is smooth in time, this enables us to apply the Newton-Leibniz formula to $\mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon})$ and obtain the Lyapunov property. Thus the tightness and the convergence results hold for all $\sigma \geq 0$. Similar as before, for all $\sigma > 0$, the solutions to (1.27) converge to the weak solution to Definition 5.2 (see Theorem 5.21). For the interesting case that $\sigma = 0$, when $\varepsilon \searrow 0$, we have that $u^{\varepsilon} \to -1 + 2\mathbb{1}_E$ for some $E \in [0, T] \times \mathcal{D}, v^{\varepsilon} \to v$ and

$$2d\mathbb{1}_E = \Delta v dt + dW_t. \tag{1.28}$$

(1.28) actually gives a weak formula to describe how the evolution of the interface $\Gamma_t := \partial E_t$ is governed by the noise W (see Theorem 5.24). This gives the first rigorous result of the sharp interface limit of stochastic Cahn-Hilliard limit to a stochastic model. Similar as before, we conjecture that for $\mathbb{P} - a.s. \omega$, as $\varepsilon \searrow 0$, the chemical potential $v^{\varepsilon}(\omega)$ tends to a limit $v(\omega)$ which, together with a free boundary $\Gamma(\omega) := \bigcup_{0 \le t \le T} (\{t\} \times \Gamma_t(\omega)), (v(\omega), \Gamma(\omega))$ satisfies the following stochastic problem:

$$\begin{cases} \Delta v dt = -dW_t \text{ in } \mathcal{D} \setminus \Gamma_t, \ t > 0, \\ \frac{\partial v}{\partial n} = 0 \text{ on } \partial \mathcal{D}, \\ v = SH \text{ on } \Gamma_t, \\ \mathcal{V} dt = \frac{1}{2} \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial n} \right]_{\Gamma_t} (v dt + \Delta^{-1} dW_t). \end{cases}$$
(1.29)

We also mention that Chen's definition for weak solution in Definition 5.2 is not so "perfect", since it is still unknown whether in general such a smooth weak solution is a classical solution to (1.5). The problems come from that a "good" weak formula for the third equation in (1.5) is still missing. Moreover, in [ABK18] the authors also give some different conjectures about the sharp interface limit of equation (1.25) via a formal calculation, especially in the case that $\sigma = 1$. In their case the value of v on the interface is different from ours. As what we analyze in Remark 5.27, our model (1.29) fit quite well in radial symmetric case. But in general case, we still cannot give a fully rigorous proof.

In fact, identifying the value of v on the interface Γ_t is the main task of varifold approach to study the sharp interface limit of both Cahn-Hilliard equation and Allen-Cahn equation (cf. [HT00, Ton02, Ton05, RS06, Le08, RT08]). In these literature, the authors give a weak formula for the third equation in (1.5). But they are unable to prove the limit of the solutions to equation (1.22) satisfy such weak formula. Until now, a fully rigorous proof of the sharp interface limit of Cahn-Hilliard equation is still missing.

Finally, as what we mentioned before, the methods in [Che96] and also in this chapter are deeply related to the theory of varifolds. We recall some related definitions in Section 5.1. In fact, varifolds represent very natural generalizations of classical *n*-surfaces, as they encode, loosely speaking, a joint distribution of mass and tangents. More technically, varifolds are Radon measures defined on the Grassmann bundle $\mathbb{R}^d \times G(n, d)$, whose elements are pairs (x, S) specifying a position in space and an unoriented *n*-plane. Varifolds have been proposed more than 50 years ago by Almgren [Alm65] as a mathematical model for soap films, bubble clusters, crystals, and grain boundaries. After Allard's fundamental work [All72], varifolds have been successfully used in the context of Geometric Measure Theory, Geometric Analysis, and Calculus of Variations. One successful application of varifolds resulted in the definition and the study of a general weak mean curvature flow in [Bra78], which allowed to prove existence of mean curvature evolution with singularities in [KT17]. Beyond the theory of rectifiable varifolds, the flexibility of the varifold structure has been proved to be relevant to model diffuse interfaces, e.g., phase field approximations, and a crucial part in the proof of the convergence of the Allen-Cahn equation to Brakke's mean curvature flow [Ilm93, Ton03, TT15], or in the proof of the Γ -convergence of Cahn-Hilliard type energies to the Willmore energy (up to an additional perimeter term) [Ton05, RS06, Le08, RT08].

1.3 Structure of the thesis

This thesis is organised in the following:

In Chapter 2 we collect some preliminaries for later chapters.

In Chapter 3, we obtain the global well-posedness of stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equation (1.4) driven by conservative white noise and prove the ergodicity. This chapter is organized as follows: In Section 3.1 we collect some results related to Besov spaces. In Section 3.2 we study the solution to the linear equation and define the Wick power. In Section 3.3 we obtain the global existence and uniqueness of solutions to the shifted equation (1.12). In Section 3.4 we obtain existence of probabilistically weak solutions via the Dirichlet form approach. By clarifying the relation between the two solutions we obtain Φ_2^4 -field ν is an invariant measure of X Markov uniqueness in the restricted sense for the generator of the Dirichlet form restricted to $\mathcal{F}C_b^{\infty}$ and uniqueness of the probabilistically weak solutions to (1.9). Moreover, using the Yamada-Watanabe Theorem in [Kur07] we obtain a probabilistically strong solution to (1.9) in the stationary case. Finally we prove the strong Feller property and exponential ergodicity of the Markov semigroup associated to the solution to (1.9) in Section 3.5. This part is based on the joint work [RYZ18] with Prof. Michael Röckner and Prof. Rongchan Zhu.

In Chapter 4, we consider the stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equation (1.4) driven by spacetime white noise and conservative noise and prove that for large $\sigma > 0$, the sharp interface limit satisfies the deterministic Hele-Shaw model (1.5). This chapter is organized as follows: In Section 4.1, we collect some results related to Besov spaces. The theorem about the sharp interface limit for space-time white noise is stated in Section 4.2 and we prove it in Section 4.3. In Section 4.4 we use a similar argument as we used in Section 4.3 to prove the results for conservative noise. This part is based on the joint work [BYZ19] with Prof. Lubomir Banas and Prof. Rongchan Zhu.

In Chapter 5, we consider the stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equation (1.4) where $\mathcal{W}^{\varepsilon} = W$ or $\mathcal{W}^{\varepsilon} = W^{\varepsilon}$. Here W is a Q-Wiener process and W^{ε} is smooth in time and converges to W as $\varepsilon \searrow 0$. This chapter is organized as follows: In Section 5.1 we give some basic notations and assumptions. In subsection 5.1.3 we give the main results for (1.25) driven by Q-Wiener process. In Section 5.2, we establish certain ε -independent estimates for the solution to (1.25), which allow us obtain tightness and then apply Skorokhod's theorem to obtain a convergence subsequence for all $\sigma \geq \frac{1}{2}$. Moreover for $\sigma > \frac{1}{2}$, we prove that this limit is actually a weak solution to (1.5). Similar as in [Che96], in Section 5.3, we study the radially symmetric case and prove that for all $\sigma \geq \frac{1}{2}$, the limit of the solution to equation (1.25) satisfies the deterministic Hele-Shaw model (1.5). The rigorous proof of Theorem 5.4 in radial symmetric case is given in Section 5.4. Finally in Section 5.5, we consider the case for "smeared" noise ξ_t^{ε} and obtain the convergence result for all $\sigma \geq 0$. For $\sigma > 0$, the limit of the solution to (1.27) is a weak solution to equation (1.5). For $\sigma = 0$, we obtain a stochastic characterisation of the evolution of the interface (1.28) and partially prove in radial symmetric case that it satisfies the stochastic Hele-Shaw model (1.29). This part is based on the joint work [YZ19] with Prof. Rongchan Zhu.

Chapter 2

Preliminary

2.1Besov spaces

In the following we recall the definition of Besov spaces which will be frequently used in Chapter 3 and 4. For a general introduction to the theory of Besov spaces we refer to [BCD11, Tri78, Tri06]. First we introduce the following notations. Throughout the thesis, we use the notation $a \leq b$ if there exists a constant c > 0 such that $a \leq cb$, and we write $a \simeq b$ if $a \lesssim b$ and $b \lesssim a$. The space of real valued infinitely differentiable functions of compact support is denoted by $\mathscr{D}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ or \mathscr{D} . The space of Schwartz functions is denoted by $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Its dual, the space of tempered distributions, is denoted by $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d)$. The Fourier transform and the inverse Fourier transform are denoted by \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{F}^{-1} , respectively.

Let $\chi, \theta \in \mathcal{D}$ be nonnegative radial functions on \mathbb{R}^d , such that

(i). the support of χ is contained in a ball and the support of θ is contained in an annulus;

(ii). $\chi(z) + \sum_{j \ge 0} \theta(2^{-j}z) = 1$ for all $z \in \mathbb{R}^d$. (iii). $\operatorname{supp}(\chi) \cap \operatorname{supp}(\theta(2^{-j}\cdot)) = \emptyset$ for $j \ge 1$ and $\operatorname{supp}(2^{-i}\cdot) \cap \operatorname{supp}(2^{-j}\cdot) = \emptyset$ for |i-j| > 1.

We call such a pair (χ, θ) dyadic partition of unity, and for the existence of dyadic partitions of unity we refer to [BCD11, Proposition 2.10]. The Littlewood-Paley blocks are now defined as

$$\Delta_{-1}u = \mathcal{F}^{-1}(\chi \mathcal{F}u) \quad \Delta_j u = \mathcal{F}^{-1}(\theta(2^{-j}\cdot)\mathcal{F}u).$$

Besov spaces

For $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, $p, q \in [1, \infty]$, $u \in \mathscr{D}$ we define

$$||u||_{B^{\alpha}_{p,q}} := (\sum_{j\geq -1} (2^{j\alpha} ||\Delta_j u||_{L^p})^q)^{1/q},$$

with the usual interpretation as l^{∞} norm in case $q = \infty$. The Besov space $B_{p,q}^{\alpha}$ consists of the completion of \mathscr{D} with respect to this norm and the Hölder-Besov space \mathcal{C}^{α} is given by $\mathcal{C}^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^d) = B^{\alpha}_{\infty,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. For $p, q \in [1, \infty)$,

$$B_{p,q}^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^d) = \{ u \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d) : \|u\|_{B_{p,q}^{\alpha}} < \infty \},\$$
$$\mathcal{C}^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^d) \subsetneq \{ u \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^d) : \|u\|_{\mathcal{C}^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^d)} < \infty \}.$$

We point out that everything above and everything that follows can be applied to distributions on the torus (see [Sic85], [SW72]). More precisely, let $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{T}^d)$ be the space of distributions on \mathbb{T}^d . Besov spaces on the torus with general indices $p, q \in [1, \infty]$ are defined as the completion of $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^d)$ with respect to the norm

$$\|u\|_{B^{\alpha}_{p,q}(\mathbb{T}^d)} := \left(\sum_{j\geq -1} (2^{j\alpha} \|\Delta_j u\|_{L^p(\mathbb{T}^d)})^q\right)^{1/q},$$

and the Hölder-Besov space \mathcal{C}^{α} is given by $\mathcal{C}^{\alpha} = B^{\alpha}_{\infty,\infty}(\mathbb{T}^d)$. We write $\|\cdot\|_{\alpha}$ instead of $\|\cdot\|_{B^{\alpha}_{\infty,\infty}(\mathbb{T}^d)}$ in the following for simplicity. For $p, q \in [1, \infty)$

$$B_{p,q}^{\alpha}(\mathbb{T}^d) = \{ u \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{T}^d) : \|u\|_{B_{p,q}^{\alpha}(\mathbb{T}^d)} < \infty \}.$$
$$\mathcal{C}^{\alpha} \subsetneq \{ u \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{T}^d) : \|u\|_{\alpha} < \infty \}.$$
(2.1)

Here we choose Besov spaces as completions of smooth functions, which ensures that the Besov spaces are separable which has a lot of advantages for our analysis below.

Wavelet analysis

We will also use wavelet analysis to determine the regularity of a distribution in a Besov space. In the following we briefly summarize wavelet analysis below and we refer to work of Meyer [Mey95], Daubechies [Dau92] and [Tri06] for more details on wavelet analysis. For every r > 0, there exists a compactly supported function $\varphi \in C^r(\mathbb{R})$ such that:

(i). We have $\langle \varphi(\cdot), \varphi(\cdot - k) \rangle = \delta_{k,0}$ for every $k \in \mathbb{Z}$;

(ii). There exist $\ddot{\mathbb{E}} \omega \tilde{a}_k, k \in \mathbb{Z}$ with only finitely many non-zero values, and such that $\varphi(x) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \tilde{a}_k \varphi(2x - k)$ for every $x \in \mathbb{R}$;

(iii). For every polynomial P of degree at most r and for every $x \in \mathbb{R}$, $\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \int P(y)\varphi(y-k)dy\varphi(x-k) = P(x)$.

Given such a function φ , we define for every $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ the recentered and rescaled function φ_x^n as follows

$$\varphi_x^n(y) := \prod_{i=1}^d 2^{\frac{n}{2}} \varphi(2^n(y_i - x_i)).$$

Observe that this rescaling preserves the L^2 -norm. We let V_n be the subspace of $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ generated by $\{\varphi_x^n : x \in \Lambda_n\}$, where

$$\Lambda_n := \{ (2^{-n}k_1, \dots, 2^{-n}k_d) : k_i \in \mathbb{Z} \}.$$

An important property of wavelets is the existence of a finite set Ψ of compactly supported functions in \mathcal{C}^r such that, for every $n \ge 0$, the orthogonal complement of V_n inside V_{n+1} is given by the linear span of all the $\psi_x^n, x \in \Lambda_n, \psi \in \Psi$. For every $n \ge 0$

$$\{\varphi_x^n, x \in \Lambda_n\} \cup \{\psi_x^m : m \ge n, \psi \in \Psi, x \in \Lambda_m\},\$$

forms an orthonormal basis of $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$. This wavelet analysis allows one to identify a countable collection of conditions that determine the regularity of a distribution.

Setting $\Psi_{\star} = \Psi \cup \{\varphi\}$, by some methods in weighted Besov space (see [RZZ17b, (2.2), (2.3), (2.4)] and its reference for details), we know that for $p \in (1, \infty)$, $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\alpha}$

$$\|f\|_{\alpha}^{p} \lesssim \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} 2^{n(\alpha+1)p} \sum_{\psi \in \Psi_{\star}} \sum_{x \in \Lambda_{n}} |\langle f, \psi_{x}^{n} \rangle|^{p} w(x)^{p}.$$

$$(2.2)$$

where $w(x) = (1 + |x|^2)^{-\frac{\sigma}{2}}, \sigma > 0$.

Estimates on the torus

In this part we give estimates on the torus for later use. Set $\mathfrak{A} = (I - \Delta)^{\frac{1}{2}}$. For $s \ge 0, p \in [1, +\infty]$ we use H_p^s to denote the subspace of $L^p(\mathbb{T}^d)$, consisting of all f which can be written in the form $f = \mathfrak{A}^{-s}g, g \in L^p(\mathbb{T}^d)$ and the H_p^s norm of f is defined to be the L^p norm of g, i.e. $||f||_{H^s_p} := ||\mathfrak{A}^s f||_{L^p(\mathbb{T}^d)}$.

To study (1.1) in the finite volume case, we will need several important properties of Besov spaces on the torus and we recall the following Besov embedding theorems on the torus first (c.f. [Tri78, Theorem 4.6.1], [GIP15, Lemma A.2], [Tri92, Remark 3, Section 2.3.2]):

Lemma 2.1. (i) Let $1 \leq p_1 \leq p_2 \leq \infty$ and $1 \leq q_1 \leq q_2 \leq \infty$, and let $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$. Then $B_{p_1,q_1}^{\alpha}(\mathbb{T}^d)$ is continuously embedded in $B_{p_2,q_2}^{\alpha-d(1/p_1-1/p_2)}(\mathbb{T}^d)$. (ii) Let $s \geq 0, 1 0$. Then $H_p^{s+\varepsilon} \subset B_{p,1}^s(\mathbb{T}^d) \subset B_{1,1}^s(\mathbb{T}^d)$. (iii) Let $1 \leq p_1 \leq p_2 < \infty$ and let $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$. Then $H_{p_1}^{\alpha}$ is continuously embedded in

 $H_{p_2}^{\alpha-d(1/p_1-1/p_2)}$.

(iv) Let $0 < q \le \infty$, $1 \le p \le \infty$ and s > 0. Then $B_{p,q}^s \subset L^p$.

Here \subset means that the embedding is continuous and dense.

We recall the following Schauder estimates, i.e. the smoothing effect of the heat flow, for later use.

Lemma 2.2. ([GIP15, Lemma A.7]) Let $u \in B_{p,q}^{\alpha}(\mathbb{T}^d)$ for some $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}, p, q \in [1,\infty]$. Then for every $\delta \geq 0$ $\|e^{-tA^2}u\|_{B^{\alpha+\delta}_{p,q}(\mathbb{T}^d)} \lesssim t^{-\delta/4}\|u\|_{B^{\alpha}_{p,q}(\mathbb{T}^d)}.$

One can extend the multiplication on suitable Besov spaces and also have the duality properties of Besov spaces from [Tri78, Chapter 4]:

Lemma 2.3. (i) The bilinear map $(u; v) \mapsto uv$ extends to a continuous map from $\mathcal{C}^{\alpha} \times \mathcal{C}^{\beta}$ to $\mathcal{C}^{\alpha \wedge \beta}$ if and only if $\alpha + \beta > 0$.

(ii) Let $\alpha \in (0,1)$, $p,q \in [1,\infty]$, p' and q' be their conjugate exponents, respectively. Then the mapping $(u; v) \mapsto \int uv dx$ extends to a continuous bilinear form on $B^{\alpha}_{p,q}(\mathbb{T}^d) \times$ $B^{-\alpha}_{p',q'}(\mathbb{T}^d).$

We recall the following interpolation inequality and multiplicative inequality for the elements in H_p^s , which is required for the a-priori estimate in section 3.3 (cf. [Tri78, Theorem 4.3.1], [RZZ15, Lemma 2.1], [BCD11, Theorem 2.80]):

Lemma 2.4. (i) Suppose that $s \in (0,1)$ and $p \in (1,\infty)$. Then for $u \in H_n^1$

$$||u||_{H_p^s} \lesssim ||u||_{L^p(\mathbb{T}^d)}^{1-s} ||u||_{H_p^1}^s.$$

(ii) Suppose that s > 0 and $p \in (1, \infty)$. If $u, v \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^2)$ then

$$|\mathfrak{A}^{s}(uv)\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{T}^{d})} \lesssim \|u\|_{L^{p_{1}}(\mathbb{T}^{d})}\|\mathfrak{A}^{s}v\|_{L^{p_{2}}(\mathbb{T}^{d})} + \|v\|_{L^{p_{3}}(\mathbb{T}^{d})}\|\mathfrak{A}^{s}u\|_{L^{p_{4}}(\mathbb{T}^{d})},$$

with $p_i \in (1, \infty], i = 1, ..., 4$ such that

$$\frac{1}{p} = \frac{1}{p_1} + \frac{1}{p_2} = \frac{1}{p_3} + \frac{1}{p_4}.$$

(iii) Suppose that $s_1 < s_2$ and $1 \le p, q \le \infty$. Then for $u \in B^{s_2}_{p,q}$ and $\forall \theta \in (0,1)$

 $||u||_{B^{\theta_{s_1}+(1-\theta)s_2}_{p,q}} \le ||u||^{\theta}_{B^{s_1}_{p,q}} ||u||^{1-\theta}_{B^{s_2}_{p,q}}.$

We also collect some important properties for the multiplicative structure of Besov spaces from [MW17] and [Tri06].

Lemma 2.5. ([MW17, Corollary 3.19, Corollary 3.21]) (1) For $\alpha > 0, p_1, p_2, p, q \in$ $\begin{array}{l} [1,\infty], \frac{1}{p_1} + \frac{1}{p_2} = \frac{1}{p}, \ the \ bilinear \ map \ (u;v) \mapsto uv \ extends \ to \ a \ continuous \ bilinear \ map \ from \ B^{\alpha}_{p_1,q} \times B^{\alpha}_{p_2,q} \ to \ B^{\alpha}_{p,q}. \\ (2) \ For \ \alpha < 0, \ \alpha + \beta > 0, \ p_1, \ p_2, \ p, \ q \in [1,\infty], \ \frac{1}{p_1} + \frac{1}{p_2} = \frac{1}{p}, \ the \ bilinear \ map \ (u;v) \mapsto uv \ extends \ to \ a \ continuous \ bilinear \ map \ from \ B^{\alpha}_{p_1,q} \times B^{\beta}_{p_2,q} \ to \ B^{\alpha}_{p,q}. \end{array}$

Symmetric quasi regular Dirichlet forms and Markov 2.2Processes

In this section we recall some general Dirichlet form results from [MR92] which is used in Chapter 3. Let E be a Hausdorff topological space, m a σ -finite measure on E, and let \mathcal{B} the smallest σ -algebra of subsets of E with respect to which all continuous functions on E are measurable. Let Λ be a symmetric Dirichlet form acting in the real $L^2(m)$ -space, i.e. Λ is a positive, symmetric, bilinear, closed form with domain $D(\Lambda)$ dense in $L^2(m)$, and such that $\Lambda(\Phi(u), \Phi(u)) < \Lambda(u, u)$, for any $u \in D(\Lambda)$, where $\Phi(t) = (0 \lor t) \land 1, t \in \mathbb{R}$. The latter condition is known to be equivalent with the condition that the associated C_0 -contraction semigroup $T_t, t \ge 0$, is submarkovian (i.e. $0 \le u \le 1$ m-a.e. implies $0 \le T_t u \le 1$ m-a.e., for all $u \in L^2(m)$; association means that $\lim_{t \downarrow 0} \frac{1}{t} \langle u - T_t u, v \rangle_{L^2(m)} = \Lambda(u, v), \forall u, v \in D(\Lambda).$

Definition 2.6. (cf. [MR92, Chap. IV, Defi. 3.1]) A symmetric Dirichlet form is called quasi-regular if the following holds:

(i) There exists a sequence $(F_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ of compact subsets of E such that $\cup_k D(\Lambda)_{F_k}$ is $\Lambda_1^{1/2} \text{-dense in } D(\Lambda) \text{ (where } D(\Lambda)_{F_k} := \{u \in D(\Lambda) | u = 0 \text{ m-a.e. on } E - F_k\}; \Lambda_1^{1/2} \text{ is the norm given by the scalar product in } L^2(m) \text{ defined by } \Lambda_1, \text{ where } \Lambda_1(u,v) := \Lambda(u,v) + \langle u,v \rangle,$ \langle , \rangle being the scalar product in $L^2(m)$. Such a sequence $(F_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ is called an Λ -nest.

(ii) There exists an $\Lambda_1^{1/2}$ -dense subset of $D(\Lambda)$ whose elements have Λ -quasi continuous m-versions. A real function u on E is called quasi continuous when there exists an Λ -nest (F_k) s.t. u restricted to F_k is continuous.

(iii) There exists $u_n \in D(\Lambda), n \in \mathbb{N}$, with Λ -quasi continuous m-versions \tilde{u}_n and there exists an Λ -exceptional subset N of E s.t. $\{\tilde{u}_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ separates the points of E-N. An Λ -exceptional subset of E is a subset $N \subset \cap_k (E - F_k)$ for some Λ -nest (F_k) .

To recall the main results in [MR92] we recall the definitions of a Markov process and a right process. Here we consider only Markov processes with life time ∞ .

Definition 2.7. (cf. [MR92, Chap. IV Defi. 1.5] A collection $\mathbf{M} := (\Omega, \mathcal{M}, (X_t)_{t>0}, (\mathbb{P}^z)_{z \in E})$ is called a Markov process (with state space E) if it has the following properties.

(i) There exists a filtration (\mathcal{M}_t) on (Ω, \mathcal{M}) such that $(X_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is an $(\mathcal{M}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ adapted stochastic process with state space E.

(ii) For each $t \ge 0$ there exists a shift operator $\theta_t : \Omega \to \Omega$ such that $X_s \circ \theta_t = X_{s+t}$ for all $s, t \ge 0$

(iii) $\mathbb{P}^{z}, z \in E$, are probability measures on (Ω, \mathcal{M}) such that $z \mapsto \mathbb{P}^{z}(A)$ is $\mathcal{B}(E)^{*}$ measurable for each $A \in \mathcal{M}$ resp. $\mathcal{B}(E)$ -measurable if $A \in \sigma\{X_{s} | s \in [0, \infty)\}$, where $\mathcal{B}(E)^{*} := \bigcap_{\mathbb{P}\in\mathcal{P}(E)} \mathcal{B}^{\mathbb{P}}(E)$ for $\mathcal{P}(E)$ denoting the family of all probability measures on $(E, \mathcal{B}(E))$ and $\mathcal{B}^{\mathbb{P}}(E)$ denotes the completion of the σ -algebra $\mathcal{B}(E)$ w.r.t. a probability \mathbb{P} .

(iv) (Markov property) For all $A \in \mathcal{B}(E)$ and any $t, s \ge 0$

$$\mathbb{P}^{z}[X_{s+t} \in A | \mathcal{M}_{s}] = \mathbb{P}^{X_{s}}[X_{t} \in A] \quad \mathbb{P}^{z} - a.s., z \in E.$$

Definition 2.8. (cf. [MR92, Chap. IV Defi. 1.8]) Let $\mathbf{M} := (\Omega, \mathcal{M}, (X_t)_{t\geq 0}, (\mathbb{P}^z)_{z\in E})$ be a Markov process with state space E and corresponding filtration (\mathcal{M}_t) . \mathbf{M} is called a right process if it has the following additional properties.

(i) (Normal property) $\mathbb{P}^{z}(X_{0} = z) = 1$ for all $z \in E$.

(ii) (Right continuity) For each $\omega \in \Omega$, $t \mapsto X_t(\omega)$ is right continuous on $[0, \infty)$.

(iii) (Strong Markov property) (\mathcal{M}_t) is right continuous and for every (\mathcal{M}_t) -stopping time σ and every $\nu \in \mathcal{P}(E)$

$$\mathbb{P}^{\nu}[X_{\sigma+t} \in A | \mathcal{M}_{\sigma}] = \mathbb{P}^{X_{\sigma}}[X_t \in A] \quad P^{\nu} - a.s.$$

for all $A \in \mathcal{B}(E), t \geq 0$.

Theorem 2.9. ([MR92, Chap. IV Thm 6.7]) Let E be a metrizable Lusin space. Then a Dirichlet form $(\Lambda, D(\Lambda))$ on $L^2(E, m)$ is quasi-regular if and only if there exists a right process **M** associated with $(\Lambda, D(\Lambda))$, i.e. the semigroup of **M** is an m-version of the semigroup associated with $(\Lambda, D(\Lambda))$. In this case **M** is always properly associated with $(\Lambda, D(\Lambda))$.

Remark 2.10. The results in [MR92, Chap. IV] are more general and can be applied for general Hausdorff topological spaces and more general Markov processes. Lusin spaces are enough for our use in this thesis.

2.3 Geometric measure theory

In this section, we recall some definitions and results of geometric measure theory which is used in Chapter 5.

In this thesis, we denote by $n \otimes n$ the matrix $(n^i n^j)_{d \times d}$ for $n = (n^1, \dots, n^d)$. We use "I" to denote the identity matrix $(\delta_{ij})_{d \times d}$. For any $d \times d$ matrices $A = (a_{ij})$ and $B = (b_{ij})$,

$$A: B := \operatorname{Trace}(A^T B) = \sum_{i,j=1}^d a_{ij} b_{ij}.$$

We denote by $C_c^m(\mathcal{O})$ the space of *m*-th differentiable functions with compact support in \mathcal{O} where \mathcal{O} can be open or closed. Note that if \mathcal{O} is compact, $C_c^m(\mathcal{O}) = C^m(\mathcal{O})$. Moreover, we say a vector function $\vec{Y} = (Y^1, \dots, Y^d) \in C_c^m(\mathcal{O}; \mathbb{R}^d)$ if $Y^i \in C_c^m(\mathcal{O})$ for any $i = 1, \dots, d$. For any t > 0, we denote $\mathcal{O}_t := [0, t] \times \mathcal{O}$. We also denote by $\mathbb{1}_E$ the characteristic function of a set E, which is defined by $\mathbb{1}_E(x) = 1$ for $x \in E$ and $\mathbb{1}_E(x) = 0$ for $x \notin E$.

Moreover, we denote \mathcal{H}^n as the *n*-dimensional Hausdorff measure on \mathbb{R}^d for any $n \in [0, d]$. For n = d, \mathcal{H}^d is just the Lebesgue measure on \mathbb{R}^d . For any \mathcal{H}^n -measurable function θ , we denote a measure $\mathcal{H}^n | \theta$ by

$$\mathcal{H}^{n} \lfloor \theta(A) = \int_{A} \theta(x) d\mathcal{H}^{n}(x).$$

For any \mathcal{H}^n -measurable set M, $\mathcal{H}^n | M := \mathcal{H}^n | \mathbb{1}_M$ is the restriction of \mathcal{H}^n on M.

We denote by $B_r(x)$ the ball in \mathbb{R}^d centered at the origin x with radius r and $B_r := B_r(0)$. We also denote by S_r the sphere of radius r in \mathbb{R}^d and by ω_d the area of unit sphere S_1 .

In the following, we recall several definitions from geometric measure theory (cf. [AFP00, Fed14, Sim83]).

Radon measures

Let \mathcal{D} be either an open or a closed domain. If L is a bounded linear functional on $C_c(\mathcal{D})$ satisfying $\langle L, \psi \rangle \geq 0$ whenever $\psi \geq 0$ and $\psi \in C_c(\mathcal{D})$, a measure μ generated by

$$\mu(A) = \sup_{\psi \in C_c(A), |\psi| \le 1} \langle L, \psi \rangle \quad \text{for all } A \text{ open in } \mathcal{I}$$

is called a Radon measure on \mathcal{D} . We use $\langle \mu, \psi \rangle \psi \in C_c(\mathcal{D})$ to denote the value $\int_{\mathcal{D}} \psi d\mu (= \langle L, \psi \rangle)$.

Let $\mathfrak{M}(\mathcal{D}_T)$ be the space of all finite signed measures on \mathcal{D}_T and $\mathfrak{M}_R(\mathcal{D}_T) \subset \mathfrak{M}(\mathcal{D}_T)$ is the space of all Radon measures on \mathcal{D}_T . $\mathfrak{M}_R(\mathcal{D}_T)$ and $\mathfrak{M}(\mathcal{D}_T)$ are equipped with the total variation norm $\|\cdot\|_{TV}$ and weak topology, respectively. Now we give a criterion theorem for a compactness sequence in $\mathfrak{M}_R(\mathcal{D}_T)$,

Theorem 2.11. ([Sim83, Theorem 4.4]) Suppose $\{\mu_k\}_{k\geq 1}$ is a sequence of Radon measures on \mathcal{D} with $\sup_{k\geq 1} \mu_k(U) < \infty$ for each open $U \subset \mathcal{D}$ with \overline{U} compact in \mathcal{D} . Then there exists a subsequence $\{\mu_{k'}\}$ which weakly converges to a Radon measure on \mathcal{D} in the sense that

$$\lim_{k'\to\infty}\mu_{k'}(f)=\mu(f) \text{ for each } f\in C_c(\mathcal{D}).$$

where we used the notation

$$\mu(f) := \int_{\mathcal{D}} f d\mu.$$

BV functions

Let $u \in L^1_{loc}(\mathcal{D})$. If the distributional gradient Du defined by

$$\langle Du, \vec{Y} \rangle := \langle u, -\operatorname{div} \vec{Y} \rangle \quad \forall \vec{Y} \in C_c^1(\mathcal{D}; \mathbb{R}^d)$$

can be extended as a bounded linear functional over $C_c(\mathcal{D}; \mathbb{R}^d)$, then we say that u is a function of bounded variation, denoted by $u \in BV(\mathcal{D})$. If $u \in BV(\mathcal{D})$, we use $D_i u$ to denote the measure on $C_c(\mathcal{D})$ generated by the functional $\langle u, -\partial_{x_i}\psi \rangle$ for all $\psi \in C_c^1(\mathcal{D})$. We denote by |Du| the Radon measure generated by

$$|Du|(A) := \sup_{\vec{Y} \in C_c(A; \mathbb{R}^d), |\vec{Y}| \le 1} \int_A u \operatorname{div} \vec{Y} dx, \quad \forall A \text{ open } \subset \mathcal{D}$$

One can show in [Fed14] that $D_i u$ is absolutely continuous with respect to |Du| and there exists a |Du|-measurable unit vector valued function $\vec{\nu}$ such that $Du = \vec{\nu}|Du|$, |Du| - a.e..

We say that a set $E \subset \mathcal{D}$ is a BV set if $\mathbb{1}_E \in BV(\mathcal{D})$. We denote $\vec{\nu}_E$ by

$$D\mathbb{1}_E = \vec{\nu}_E |D\mathbb{1}_E| \text{ or } \vec{\nu}_E(x) := \frac{D\mathbb{1}_E(x)dx}{|D\mathbb{1}_E|(x)dx}.$$
 (2.3)

Clearly, in the case that ∂E is smooth, $\vec{\nu}_E$ is the unit inward normal of E on ∂E .

In the following, we introduce the several concepts of varifold, which can be found in [Sim83, Chapter 8].

Rectifiable set

Definition 2.12. (rectifiable set) A set $M \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ is said to be a countably (d-1)-rectifiable set if $M \subset M_0 \cup \left(\bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} F_j(\mathbb{R}^{d-1})\right)$, where $\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(M_0) = 0$ and $F_j : \mathbb{R}^{d-1} \to \mathbb{R}^d$ are Lipschitz functions for $i = 1, 2, \cdots$.

Now we will give an important characterization of countably rectifiable sets in terms of "approximate tangent spaces".

Definition 2.13. If M is an \mathcal{H}^{d-1} -measurable subset of \mathbb{R}^d and θ is positive lacally \mathcal{H}^{d-1} -integrable function on M, then we say that a (d-1)-dimensional subspace $T \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ is the approximate tangent space for M at x with respect to theta if for any $f \in C_c(\mathbb{R}^d)$

$$\lim_{\lambda \searrow 0} \int_{\eta_{x,\lambda}(M)} f(y)\theta(x+\lambda y) d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(y) = \theta(x) \int_T f(y) d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(y) d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(y) d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(y) d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(y) d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(y) d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(y) = \theta(x) \int_T f(y) d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(y) d\mathcal{H}^{d-$$

where $\eta_{x,\lambda} : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$ is defined by $\eta_{x,\lambda}(y) = \lambda^{-1}(y-x), x, y \in \mathbb{R}^d, \lambda > 0$. We denote $T = T_x M$.

The following theorem gives the important characterization of countably rectifiable sets in terms of existence of approximate tangent spaces.

Theorem 2.14. ([Sim83, Theorem 11.6]) Suppose M is \mathcal{H}^{d-1} -measurable. Then M is countably (d-1)-rectifiable if and only if there is a positive locally \mathcal{H}^{d-1} -integrable function θ on M with respect to which the approximate tangent space $T_x M$ exists for $\mathcal{H}^{d-1} - a.e. \ x \in M$.

In more general case, we have

Theorem 2.15. ([Sim83, Theorem 11.8]) Suppose μ is a Radon measure on \mathbb{R}^d , and for $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, $\lambda > 0$, let $\mu_{x,\lambda}$ be the measure given by $\mu_{x,\lambda}(A) = \lambda^{1-d}\mu(x + \lambda A)$. Suppose that for $\mu - a.e. x$, there is $\theta(x) \in (0, \infty)$ and a (d-1)-dimensional subspace $T \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ with

$$\lim_{\lambda \searrow 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(y) d\mu_{x,\lambda}(y) = \theta(x) \int_T f(y) d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(y).$$
(2.4)

(T is called the approximate tangent space for μ at x, and θ is called the multiplicity, such μ is also called rectifiable measure.) Let

$$M := \{x : (2.4) \text{ holds for some } T \text{ and some } \theta(x) \in (0,\infty)\}$$

and set $\theta(x) = 0, x \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus M$.

Then M is countably (d-1)-rectifiable, θ is \mathcal{H}^d -measurable and $\mu = \mathcal{H}^d \lfloor \theta$. In particular

$$\theta(x) = \lim_{\rho \searrow 0} \frac{\mu(B_{\rho}(x))}{\omega_{d-1}\rho^{d-1}}, \ \mu - a.e. \ x \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

Sets of locally finite perimeter

An important class of countably (d-1)-rectifiable sets in \mathbb{R}^d comes from the sets of locally finite perimeter (or Caccipoli sets).

We say that a \mathcal{H}^d -measurable subset E in \mathbb{R}^d has *locally finite perimeter* in \mathcal{D} if the characteristic function $\mathbb{1}_E$ of E is a BV function in \mathcal{D} . Thus $|D\mathbb{1}_E|$ is a Radon measure on \mathcal{D} .

We can also define the *reduced boundary* $\partial^* E$ of E by (see [Sim83, Section 14] for details)

$$\partial^* E := \{ x \in \mathcal{D} : |\vec{\nu}_E(x)| = 1 \} = \operatorname{supp}(|D\mathbb{1}_E|)$$

= $\left\{ x \in \mathcal{D} : \vec{\nu}_E = \lim_{\rho \searrow 0} \frac{D\mathbb{1}_E(B_\rho(x))}{|D\mathbb{1}_E|(B_\rho(x))|} \text{ exists and has length } 1 \right\}.$ (2.5)

Moreover we have

Theorem 2.16. ([Sim83, Theorem 14.3]) Suppose E has locally finite perimeter in \mathcal{D} . Then $\partial^* E$ is countably (d-1)-rectifiable and $|D\mathbb{1}_E| = \mathcal{H}^{d-1} \lfloor \partial^* E$. In fact at each point $x \in \partial^* E$, the approximate tangent space T_x of $|D\mathbb{1}_E|$ exists, has multiplicity 1, and is given by

$$T_x = \left\{ y \in \mathbb{R}^d : y \cdot \vec{\nu}_E(x) = 0 \right\}.$$

Varifolds

Let G(d, d-1) be the Grassmannian space which parametrizes of all (d-1)-dimensional linear subspaces of \mathbb{R}^d , which is a compact smooth manifold. For any $T \in G(d, d-1)$, Tcan be identified with its unit normal vector $\vec{\nu}$. More precisely, $G(d, d-1) \cong P$, where $P := S^{d-1}/\{\vec{\nu}, -\vec{\nu}\}$ is the set of unit normals of unoriented (d-1)-planes in \mathbb{R}^d .

Definition 2.17. (varifold). A varifold (or, more precisely a (d-1)-varifold) V is a non-negative Radon measure on $G_{d-1}(\mathcal{D}) := \mathcal{D} \times G(d, d-1)$. The convergence of a sequence of varifolds is defined as the weak convergence in the sense of Radon measure.

Definition 2.18. (mass). Given a (d-1)-varifold V, there corresponds a Radon measure ||V|| on \mathcal{D} defined by

$$||V||(A) := V(\pi^{-1}(A)),$$

where π is the projection $G_{d-1}(\mathcal{D}) \ni (x,T) \longmapsto x$ onto \mathcal{D} .

Definition 2.19. (rectifiable varifold) Let M be a countably (d-1)-rectifiable set and θ be a non negative function with $\theta > 0$, $\mathcal{H}^{d-1} - a.e.$ in M. A rectifiable (d-1)-varifold $V = \underline{v}(M, \theta)$ in \mathcal{D} is a non-negative Radon measure on $G_{d-1}(\mathcal{D})$ of the form $V = \theta \mathcal{H}^{d-1} \lfloor M \otimes \delta_{T_xM}$, i.e.

$$\int_{G_{d-1}(\mathcal{D})} \varphi(x,T) dV(x,T) = \int_M \varphi(x,T_xM) \,\theta(x) d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(x) \quad \forall \varphi \in C_c \left(G_{d-1}(\mathcal{D})\right)$$

First variation of a varifold

Definition 2.20. The first variation of a (d-1)-varifold V in \mathcal{D} is the vector-valued distribution δV defined for any vector field $\vec{Y} = (Y^1, \dots, Y^d) \in C_c^1(\mathcal{D}, \mathbb{R}^d)$ as

$$\langle \delta V, \vec{Y} \rangle := \int_{G_{d-1}(\mathcal{D})} \operatorname{div}_T \vec{Y}(x) dV(x, T).$$

Here for any $T \in G(d, d-1)$,

$$\operatorname{div}_T \vec{Y} = \sum_{i=1}^d \nabla_i^T Y^i,$$

where $\nabla_i^T := \varphi_i \cdot \nabla^T$, $\{\varphi_i\}_{i=1}^d$ is ONB in \mathbb{R}^d , with

$$\nabla^T f(x) = P_T(\nabla f(x)), \quad f \in C_c^1(\mathcal{D}),$$

and P_T is the orthogonal projection of \mathbb{R}^d onto T.

For any $T \in G(d, d-1)$ with $p \in P$ the unit normal of T, we have that

$$\operatorname{div}_{T} \vec{Y} = \sum_{i=1}^{d} \nabla_{i}^{T} Y^{i} = \sum_{i=1}^{d} \varphi_{i} \cdot (P_{T}(\nabla Y^{i}))$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{d} \varphi_{i} \cdot (\nabla Y^{i} - (\nabla Y^{i} \cdot p)p)$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{d} \left(\partial_{x_{i}} Y^{i} - \sum_{j=1}^{d} \partial_{x_{j}} Y^{i} p_{j} p_{i} \right)$$
$$= \nabla \vec{Y} : (\mathbf{I} - p \otimes p).$$

We simply denote $P \equiv G(d, d-1)$. Hence the first variation formula becomes

$$\langle \delta V, \vec{Y} \rangle = \int \int_{\mathcal{D} \times P} \nabla \vec{Y}(x) : (\mathbf{I} - p \otimes p) \, dV(x, p),$$
 (2.6)

Moreover V is said to have *locally bounded first variation* in \mathcal{D} if for each U compactly embedded in \mathcal{D} , i.e. U is open in \mathcal{D} and \overline{U} is compact in \mathcal{D} , there exists a constant c > 0such that

$$\langle \delta V, \vec{Y} \rangle \leq c \sup_{U} |\vec{Y}|, \quad \forall \vec{Y} \in C_c^1(U, \mathbb{R}^d).$$

By the general Riesz representation [Sim83, Theorem 4.1], this is equivalent to that there exists a Radon measure $|\delta V|$ on \mathcal{D} characterized by

$$|\delta V|(U) = \sup_{\vec{Y} \in C_c(U; \mathbb{R}^d), |\vec{Y}| \le 1} |\langle \delta V, \vec{Y} \rangle| < \infty.$$

The following theorem is called the rectifiability theorem.

Theorem 2.21. ([Sim83, Theorem 42.4]) Suppose V is a (d-1)-varifold which has locally bounded first variation in \mathcal{D} and satisfies

$$\lim_{\rho \searrow 0} \frac{\|V\|(B_{\rho}(x))}{\omega_{d-1}\rho^{d-1}} > 0$$

for $||V|| - a.e. x \in \mathcal{D}$. Then V is a (d-1)-rectifiable varifold.

Mean curvature vector

Definition 2.22. Let V be a varifold which has locally bounded first variation in \mathcal{D} such that $|\delta V|$ is absolutely continuous w.r.t. ||V||. A ||V||-measurable vector-valued function \vec{H}_V is called a (generalized) mean curvature vector of V, if

$$-\langle \delta V, \vec{Y} \rangle = \langle \|V\|, \vec{H}_V \cdot \vec{Y} \rangle := \int_{\mathcal{D}} \vec{H}_V(x) \cdot \vec{Y}(x) d\|V\|(x).$$
(2.7)

Remark 2.23. Consider E which has locally finite perimeter in \mathcal{D} . Then by Theorem 2.16, $V = \underline{v}(\partial^* E, 1)$ is a (d-1)-rectifiable varifold and $||V|| = \mathcal{H}^{d-1}\lfloor \partial^* E$. By Definition 2.20,

$$\langle \delta V, \vec{Y} \rangle := \int_{\partial^* E} \operatorname{div}_{T_x} \vec{Y}(x) d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}(x),$$
 (2.8)

where T_x is the tangent space of $\mathcal{H}^{d-1} \lfloor \partial^* E$ at $x \in \partial^* E$.

In the case that E is smooth, then $\partial^* E = \partial E$, $\vec{\nu}_E(x) = \vec{\nu}(x) \mathbb{1}_{\partial E}(x)$ where $\vec{\nu}(x)$ is the inward normal vector of ∂E . By Theorem 2.16, T_x is the orthogonal complement space of ν , which coincides with the definition of the classical tangent space. Note that in smooth case, the mean curvature vector $\vec{H}_{\partial E}$ of ∂E can be identified by

$$\int_{\partial E} \vec{Y} \cdot \vec{H}_{\partial E} d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} = -\int_{\partial E} \operatorname{div}_{T_x} \vec{Y}(x) d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}.$$

Combining with (2.8), we obtain that

$$\langle \delta V, \vec{Y} \rangle = -\int_{\partial E} \vec{Y} \cdot \vec{H}_{\partial E} d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}$$

By Definition 2.22, $\vec{H}_V = \vec{H}_{\partial E}, \mathcal{H}^{d-1} - a.e.$

Chapter 3

Conservative stochastic 2-dimensional Cahn-Hilliard equation

In this chapter, we consider the conservative stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equation

$$\begin{cases} dX_t = -\frac{1}{2}A\left(AX - :X^3:\right)dt + BdW_t, \\ X(0) = z \in V_0^{-1}, \end{cases}$$
(3.1)

on \mathbb{T}^2 in the probabilistically strong sense where $A = \Delta$, $B = \text{div. } W_t$ is an $L^2_0(\mathbb{T}^2, \mathbb{R}^2)$ cylindrical Wiener process, which is defined in Section 3.2. : X^3 : denotes the Wick power, which is introduced in Section 3.2 and the space V_0^{-1} is similar to the Sobolev space of order -1, which is introduced in Section 3.1.

3.1 Notations and preliminaries

Let L denote the space $L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)$, where $\mathbb{T}^2 = (0, 1)^2$ is the 2 dimensional torus and we use $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ to denote the inner product in L. A is the Laplacian operator on L, that is,

$$D(A) = H_2^2(\mathbb{T}^2), A = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial y^2}.$$
(3.2)

A is a self-adjoint operator in L, with complete orthonormal system $(e_n)_n$ of eigenvectors in L, given by

$$e_0(x) := 1, e_{(k_1,0)}(x) = \sqrt{2}e^{i\pi k_1 x_1}, e_{(0,k_2)}(x) = \sqrt{2}e^{i\pi k_2 x_2},$$
$$e_k(x) := 2e^{i\pi (k_1 x_1 + k_2 x_2)}, k_1 k_2 \neq 0.$$

Then we have $Ae_k = -\lambda_k e_k$, where $\lambda_k = |k|^2 \pi^2$, $k = (k_1, k_2) \in \mathbb{Z}^2$, $|k|^2 = k_1^2 + k_2^2$. We also introduce a notation for the average of $h \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{T}^2)$:

$$m(h) := {}_{\mathcal{S}'} \langle h, e_0 \rangle_{\mathcal{S}}.$$

For any $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, we define

$$V^{\alpha} := \{ u \in \mathcal{S}' : \sum_{k} \lambda_{k}^{\alpha} |_{\mathcal{S}'} \langle u, e_{k} \rangle_{\mathcal{S}} |^{2} < \infty \}.$$

For any $u, v \in V^{\alpha}$, define

$$\langle u, v \rangle_{V^{\alpha}} := m(u)m(v) + \sum_{k} \lambda_{kS'}^{\alpha} \langle u, e_k \rangle_{SS'} \langle v, e_k \rangle_{S}.$$

It's easy to see that $(V^{\alpha}, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{V^{\alpha}})$ is a Hilbert space and $V^{\alpha} \simeq H_2^{\alpha}$. Then for any $s, \alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, we can define a bounded operator $(-A)^s : V^{\alpha} \to V^{\alpha-2s}$ by:

$$(-A)^{s}u = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{2} \setminus \{(0,0)\}} \lambda_{k}^{s} u_{k} e_{k},$$

where $u = \sum_k u_k e_k \in V^{\alpha}$. In particular, we set $Q := (-A)^{-1}$ and extend it to a one-toone bounded operator \bar{Q} by

$$\bar{Q}h := Qh + m(h)e_0. \tag{3.3}$$

Note that

$$Qe_k = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\lambda_k} e_k & k \neq (0,0), \\ 0 & k = (0,0), \end{cases}$$
(3.4)

and

$$\bar{Q}e_k = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\lambda_k}e_k & k \neq (0,0), \\ e_0 & k = (0,0). \end{cases}$$
(3.5)

Then we have

$$\langle u, v \rangle_{V^{\alpha}} := \langle \bar{Q}^{-\alpha/2} u, \bar{Q}^{-\alpha/2} v \rangle$$

and $\bar{Q}^s: V^{\alpha} \to V^{\alpha+2s}$ is an isomorphism for any $\alpha, s \in \mathbb{R}$, since

$$\langle \bar{Q}^s u, \bar{Q}^s v \rangle_{V^{\alpha+2s}} = \langle u, v \rangle_{V^{\alpha}}$$

We also set

$$V_0^{\alpha} := \{ h \in V^{\alpha} : \langle h, e_0 \rangle_{V^{\alpha}} = 0 \},\$$

and denote $L_0^2 := V_0^0$. Let Π denote the symmetric projector of V^{α} on V_0^{α} , that is,

$$\Pi: V^{\alpha} \to V_0^{\alpha}, \Pi h := h - m(h).$$
(3.6)

Moreover, we define

$$V^{\alpha}(\mathbb{T}^2, \mathbb{R}^2) := \{ f = (f_1, f_2) : f_i \in V^{\alpha}, i = 1, 2 \}$$

and similarly

$$V_0^{\alpha}(\mathbb{T}^2, \mathbb{R}^2) := \{ f = (f_1, f_2) : f_i \in V_0^{\alpha}, i = 1, 2 \}$$

In this chapter, we consider the initial value and the reference measure on V_0^{α} for simplicity. For general case, we refer to [DZ07].

3.2 The Linear Equation and Wick Powers

We consider the O-U process

$$\begin{cases} dZ_t = -\frac{1}{2}A^2 Z dt + B dW_t, \\ Z(0) = 0, \end{cases}$$
(3.7)

where W is a U-cylindrical Wiener process and $U := L_0^2(\mathbb{T}^2, \mathbb{R}^2)$. For $f \in L_0^2(\mathbb{T}^2, \mathbb{R}^2)$ we denote its component functions by $f_1, f_2 \in L_0^2(\mathbb{T}^2)$ i.e. $f(x) = (f_1(x), f_2(x)), \forall x \in \mathbb{T}^2$. There exist two independent $L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)$ -cylindrical Wiener processes W^1 and W^2 such that $W = (W^1, W^2)$. Set

$$D(B) = H^1(\mathbb{T}^2, \mathbb{R}^2), B = \text{div}, D(B^*) = H^1_2(\mathbb{T}^2), B^* = -\nabla.$$
 (3.8)

We know that

$$Z_t(x) = \int_0^t e^{-\frac{t-s}{2}A^2} B dW_s = \int_0^t \langle K(t-s, x-\cdot), dW_s \rangle_U,$$

where $K(t,x) = -\nabla_x M(t,x) = (K^1, K^2)$, and M(t,x) is the kernel of $e^{-\frac{t}{2}A^2}$, that is, $M(t,x) = \sum_k e^{-\frac{t}{2}\lambda_k^2} e_k(x)$.

For any function f on \mathbb{T}^2 , we can view it as a periodic function on \mathbb{R}^2 by defining $\bar{f}(x) := f(x+m)$, when $x + m \in \mathbb{T}^2$, $x \in \mathbb{R}^2$, $m \in \mathbb{Z}^2$. Moreover, define

$$\bar{K}^{j}(t,x) := -\mathcal{F}^{-1}(\pi i\xi_{j}e^{-\frac{t}{2}|\pi\xi|^{4}})(x), j = 1, 2.$$

and $\bar{K} := (\bar{K}^1, \bar{K}^2)$. By the Poisson summation formula (see [SW72, Section VII.2]) we know that

$$K(t,x) = \sum_{m} \bar{K}(t,x+m), \forall t$$
(3.9)

and for any $f \in L^2(\mathbb{T}^2), j = 1, 2, x \in \mathbb{T}^2$

$$\partial_{j}e^{-\frac{t}{2}A^{2}}f(x) = \int_{\mathbb{T}^{2}} K^{j}(t, x - y)f(y)dy$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} K^{j}(t, x - y)f(y)\mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{T}^{2}}(y)dy$$

$$= \sum_{m} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \bar{K}^{j}(t, x - y + m)f(y)\mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{T}^{2}}(y)dy \quad , \quad (3.10)$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \bar{K}^{j}(t, x - y) \sum_{m} \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{T}^{2}}(y + m)f(y + m)dy$$

$$= (\bar{K}^{j}(t, \cdot) * \bar{f})(x)$$

where we used (3.9) in the third inequality and $\mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{T}^2}$ is the indicator function of \mathbb{T}^2 . Since

$$\bar{K}^{j}(t,x) = -\mathcal{F}^{-1}(\pi i\xi_{j}e^{-\frac{t}{2}|\pi\xi|^{4}})(x) = t^{-\frac{3}{4}}\bar{K}^{j}(1,t^{-\frac{1}{4}}x)$$

and

$$|\bar{K}^{j}(1,t^{-\frac{1}{4}}x)| \lesssim |\mathcal{F}^{-1}(\pi i\xi_{j}e^{-\frac{1}{2}|\pi\xi|^{4}})(t^{-\frac{1}{4}}x)| \lesssim |1+t^{-\frac{1}{4}}x|^{-3},$$

we have the following estimate:

$$|\bar{K}(t,x)| \lesssim t^{-\frac{\varepsilon}{4}} |x|^{-3+\varepsilon}, \forall \varepsilon \in [0,3].$$
(3.11)

Lemma 3.1. $Z \in C([0,T]; \mathcal{C}^{-\alpha})$ \mathbb{P} -almost-surely, for all $\alpha > 0$.

Proof By the factorization method in [DP04] we have that for $\kappa \in (0, 1)$

$$Z(t) = \frac{\sin(\pi\kappa)}{\pi} \int_0^t (t-s)^{\kappa-1} \langle M(t-s,x-\cdot), U(s) \rangle ds,$$

and

$$U(s, \cdot) = \int_0^s (s-r)^{-\kappa} e^{-\frac{s-r}{2}A^2} B dW_r.$$

A similar argument as in the proof of Lemma 2.7 in [DP04] implies that it suffices to prove that for $p > 1/(2\kappa)$,

$$\mathbb{E}\|U\|_{L^{2p}(0,T;\mathcal{C}^{-\alpha})} < \infty.$$
(3.12)

In fact, by (2.2) we have that

$$\mathbb{E} \|U(s)\|_{-\alpha}^{2p} \lesssim \sum_{\psi \in \Psi_{\star}} \sum_{n \ge 0} \sum_{x \in \Lambda_n} \mathbb{E} 2^{-2\alpha p n + 2np} |\langle U(s), \psi_x^n \rangle|^{2p} w(x)^{2p}$$

$$\lesssim \sum_{\psi \in \Psi_{\star}} \sum_{n \ge 0} \sum_{x \in \Lambda_n} 2^{-2\alpha p n + 2np} (\mathbb{E} |\langle U(s), \psi_x^n \rangle|^2)^p w(x)^{2p}.$$

Here $\sigma > 0$ in w(x) and we used that $\langle U(s), \psi_x^n \rangle$ belongs to the first order Wiener-chaos and Gaussian hypercontractivity (cf. [Nua13, Section 1.4.3] and [Nel73]) in the second inequality. Moreover, we obtain that

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}|\langle U(s),\psi_x^n\rangle|^2 =& \mathbb{E}|\langle U^1(s),\psi_x^n\rangle|^2 + \mathbb{E}|\langle U^2(s),\psi_x^n\rangle|^2\\ \leq & \sum_{j=1}^2 \int \int |\psi_x^n(y)\psi_x^n(\bar{y})| \int_0^s (s-r)^{-2\kappa}\bar{K}^j * \bar{K}^j(s-r,y-\bar{y})drdyd\bar{y}\\ \lesssim & \int \int |\psi_x^n(y)\psi_x^n(\bar{y})| \int_0^s (s-r)^{-\frac{\varepsilon}{2}-2\kappa}|y-\bar{y}|^{-4+2\varepsilon}drdyd\bar{y}\\ \lesssim & 2^{2n-2\varepsilon n}s^{1-2\kappa-\frac{\varepsilon}{2}}, \end{split}$$

where

$$U^{j}(y) = \int_{0}^{s} (t-s)^{\kappa-1} \langle K^{j}(s-r, y-\cdot), dW_{r}^{j} \rangle, j = 1, 2$$

and we used (3.10) in the second inequality and we also used [Hai14, Lemma 10.17] and (3.11) to deduce that $|\bar{K}^j * \bar{K}^j(s-r, y-\bar{y})| \lesssim |s-r|^{-\frac{\varepsilon}{2}} |y-\bar{y}|^{-4+2\varepsilon}$ in the second inequality.

In fact, we can decompose \bar{K} into $\bar{K} := \bar{K}_{\delta} + \bar{K}_{\delta}^c$, where \bar{K}_{δ} is a compactly supported function and satisfies (3.11), \bar{K}_{δ}^c is a Schwartz function. Then $\bar{K} * \bar{K} = \bar{K}_{\delta} * \bar{K}_{\delta} + H$, where H is a Schwartz function. By [Hai14, Lemma 10.17] we have $\bar{K}_{\delta} * \bar{K}_{\delta}(t,x) \lesssim t^{-\frac{\varepsilon}{2}} |x|^{-4+2\varepsilon}$ and $\bar{K} * \bar{K}$ satisfies the same inequality.

Thus, we have

$$\mathbb{E} \| U(s) \|_{-\alpha}^{2p} \lesssim \sum_{n \ge 0} 2^{(4-2\varepsilon - 2\alpha)pn} s^{(1-2\kappa - \frac{\varepsilon}{2})p}.$$

Let κ be so small that $2 - \alpha < \varepsilon < 2 - 4\kappa + \frac{2}{p}$, which implies that

$$4 - 2\varepsilon - 2\alpha < 0, (1 - 2\kappa - \frac{\varepsilon}{2})p > -1.$$

Then (3.12) follows.

Note that $BB^* = -A$. Then by Fourier expansion it is easy to see that $Z_t \sim \mathcal{N}(0, Q_t)$, i.e. for any $h \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{T}^2)$

$$\mathbb{E}e^{i_{\mathcal{S}}\langle h, Z_t \rangle_{\mathcal{S}'}} = \exp(-\frac{1}{2}\langle Q_t h, h \rangle),$$

where $Q_t = (-A)^{-1}(I - e^{-\frac{t}{2}A^2}).$

According to the definition of V^{α} and Lemma 2.1, we have $\mathcal{C}^{-\alpha} \subset V^{-\alpha-\varepsilon}$ for any $\alpha, \varepsilon > 0$. Then by Lemma 3.1, μ_t is supported on $V_0^{-\alpha}$ for any $\alpha > 0$ and letting $t \to \infty$, by [Bog98, 3.8.13, Example], the law of Z_t converges to the Gaussian measure $\mu = \mathcal{N}(0, Q)$, which is also supported on $V_0^{-\alpha}$.

In the following we are going to define the Wick powers both in the state space and the path space.

Firstly, we define the Wick powers on $L^2(\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{T}^2), \mu)$.

Wick powers on $L^2(\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{T}^2),\mu)$

 μ is of course also a measure supported on $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{T}^2)$. We have the well-known (Wiener-Itô) chaos decomposition

$$L^2(\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{T}^2),\mu) = \bigoplus_{n\geq 0} \mathcal{H}_n,$$

where \mathcal{H}_n is the Wiener chaos of order n (cf. [Nua13, Section 1.1.1]). Now we define the Wick powers by using approximations: for $\phi \in \mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{T}^2)$ define

$$\phi_{\varepsilon} := \rho_{\varepsilon} * \phi_{\varepsilon}$$

with ρ_{ε} an approximate delta function on \mathbb{R}^2 given by

$$\rho_{\varepsilon}(x) = \varepsilon^{-2}\rho(\frac{x}{\varepsilon}) \in \mathcal{D}, \int \rho = 1.$$

Here the convolution means that we view ϕ as a periodic distribution in $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^2)$ and convolve on \mathbb{R}^2 . For every $n \in \mathbb{N}$ we set

$$: \phi_{\varepsilon}^{n} :_{Q} := c_{\varepsilon}^{n/2} P_{n}(c_{\varepsilon}^{-1/2} \phi_{\varepsilon}),$$

where $P_n, n = 0, 1, ...,$ are the Hermite polynomials defined by the formula

$$P_n(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{[n/2]} (-1)^j \frac{n!}{(n-2j)! j! 2^j} x^{n-2j},$$

and $c_{\varepsilon} = \int \phi_{\varepsilon}^2 \mu(d\phi) = \int \int G(z-y)\rho_{\varepsilon}(y)dy\rho_{\varepsilon}(z)dz = \|\mathbb{1}_{[0,t]}K_{\varepsilon}\|^2_{L^2(\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{T}^2;\mathbb{R}^2)}$. Then : $\phi_{\varepsilon}^n :_Q \in \mathcal{H}_n$.

Here and in the following G is the Green function associated with -A on \mathbb{T}^2 . In fact by [SW72, Section 6.1, Chapter VII],

$$G(x) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^2 \setminus \{(0,0)\}} \frac{1}{\lambda_k} e_k(x) \simeq -\log|x|, |x| \to 0,$$

and G is continuously differentiable except outside $\{0\}$.

For Hermite polynomial P_n we have that for $s, t \in \mathbb{R}$

$$P_n(s+t) = \sum_{m=0}^{n} C_n^m P_m(s) t^{n-m},$$
(3.13)

where $C_n^m = \frac{n!}{m!(n-m)!}$.

A direct calculation yields the following:

Lemma 3.2. Let $\alpha > 0$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and p > 1. : $\phi_{\varepsilon}^{n} :_{Q}$ converges to some element in $L^{p}(\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{T}^{2}), \mu; \mathcal{C}^{-\alpha})$ as $\varepsilon \to 0$. This limit is called the n-th Wick power of ϕ with respect to the covariance Q and denoted by : $\phi^{n} :_{Q}$.

Proof The proof in similar to that of [RZZ17b, Lemma 3.1] since the Green function G has the same regularity.

In fact, for any $p > 1, \varepsilon_1, \varepsilon_2 > 0, m \in \mathbb{N}$, by (2.2), we have that

$$\begin{split} &\int \left\|:\phi_{\varepsilon_{1}}^{m}:_{Q}-:\phi_{\varepsilon_{2}}^{m}:_{Q}\right\|_{-\alpha}^{2p}\mu(d\phi) \\ &\lesssim \sum_{\psi\in\Psi_{\star}}\sum_{n\geq0}\sum_{x\in\Lambda_{n}}2^{-2\alpha p n+2np}\int \left|\langle:\phi_{\varepsilon_{1}}^{m}:_{Q}-:\phi_{\varepsilon_{2}}^{m}:_{Q},\psi_{x}^{n}\rangle\right|^{2p}\mu(d\phi)w(x)^{2p} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{\psi\in\Psi_{\star}}\sum_{n\geq0}\sum_{x\in\Lambda_{n}}2^{-2\alpha p n+2np}w(x)^{2p}\left(\int \left|\langle:\phi_{\varepsilon_{1}}^{m}:_{Q}-:\phi_{\varepsilon_{2}}^{m}:_{Q},\psi_{x}^{n}\rangle\right|^{2}\mu(d\phi)\right)^{p}, \end{split}$$

where $\sigma > 0$ in $\omega(x)$ and in the last inequality we used the hypercontractivity of the Gaussian measure. Moreover, we obtain that

$$\begin{split} &\int \left| \left\langle : \, \phi_{\varepsilon_1}^m :_Q - : \, \phi_{\varepsilon_2}^m :_Q, \psi_x^n \right\rangle \right|^2 \mu(d\phi) \\ &\lesssim \iint \left| \psi_x^n(y) \psi_x^n(\overline{y}) \right| \left| \left(\int \phi_{\varepsilon_1}(y) \phi_{\varepsilon_1}(\overline{y}) \mu(d\phi) \right)^m - 2 \left(\int \phi_{\varepsilon_1}(y) \phi_{\varepsilon_2}(\overline{y}) \mu(d\phi) \right)^m \\ &+ \left(\int \phi_{\varepsilon_2}(y) \phi_{\varepsilon_2}(\overline{y}) \mu(d\phi) \right)^m \left| dy d\overline{y} \\ &\lesssim \iint \left| \psi_x^n(y) \psi_x^n(\overline{y}) \right| \left| \left(\iint \rho_{\varepsilon_1}(y - x_1) \rho_{\varepsilon_1}(\overline{y} - x_2) G(x_1 - x_2) dx_1 dx_2 \right)^m \\ &- 2 \left(\iint \rho_{\varepsilon_1}(y - x_1) \rho_{\varepsilon_2}(\overline{y} - x_2) G(x_1 - x_2) dx_1 dx_2 \right)^m \\ &+ \left(\iint \rho_{\varepsilon_2}(y - x_1) \rho_{\varepsilon_2}(\overline{y} - x_2) (x_1 - x_2) dx_1 dx_2 \right)^m \left| dy d\overline{y} \right| \\ &\lesssim (\varepsilon_1^\kappa + \varepsilon_2^\kappa) \iint \left| \psi_x^n(y) \psi_x^n(\overline{y}) \right| \left| y - \overline{y} \right|^{-\delta} dy d\overline{y} \lesssim (\varepsilon_1^\kappa + \varepsilon_2^\kappa) 2^{-2n+n\delta}, \end{split}$$

where $\delta > \kappa > 0, -2\alpha + \delta < 0$. Here in the first inequality we used [Sim74, Theorem I.3], in the third inequality we have used [Hai14, Lemma 10.17] and the fact that $|G(x)| \leq |\log x|$. Thus the results follow from a direct calculation.

Wick powers on a fixed probability space
Now we fix a probability space (Ω, \mathcal{F}, P) and consider a U-cylindrical Wiener process W. In the following we assume that \mathcal{F} is the σ -field generated by $\{\langle W_t, h \rangle, h \in U, t \in \mathbb{R}^+\}$. We also have the well-known (Wiener-Itô) chaos decomposition

$$L^2(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, P) = \bigoplus_{n \ge 0} \mathcal{H}'_n,$$

where \mathcal{H}'_n is the Wiener chaos of order n (cf. [Nua13, Section 1.1.1]). We can define Wick powers of Z(t) with respect to different covariances by approximations: Let

$$Z_{\varepsilon}(t,x) = \rho_{\varepsilon} * Z_{t} = \int_{0}^{t} \langle B^{*}e^{-\frac{t-s}{2}A^{2}}\rho_{\varepsilon,x}, dW_{s} \rangle_{U}$$
$$= \int_{0}^{t} \langle K_{\varepsilon}(t-s,x-\cdot), dW_{s} \rangle_{U},$$

where $\rho_{\varepsilon,x} = \rho_{\varepsilon}(x-\cdot), \ K_{\varepsilon}(t,x) = (\rho_{\varepsilon} * K_t^1, \rho_{\varepsilon} * K_t^2)$ and

$$K_t^j = -\sum_k (i\pi k_j) e^{-\frac{t}{2}\lambda_k^2} e_k, j = 1, 2.$$

For any $n\mathbb{N}$, we set

$$: Z_{\varepsilon}^{n}(t) :_{Q_{t}} := (c_{\varepsilon,t})^{\frac{n}{2}} P_{n}\left((c_{\varepsilon,t})^{-\frac{1}{2}} Z_{\varepsilon}(t) \right) \in \mathcal{H}'_{n},$$

where $P_n, n = 0, 1, \cdots$, are the Hermite polynomials and $c_{\varepsilon,t} = \left\| \mathbb{1}_{[0,t]} K_{\varepsilon} \right\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{T}^2;\mathbb{R}^2)}^2$

Lemma 3.3. ([RZZ17b, Lemma 3.3]) For $\alpha > 0$, p > 1, $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $: Z_{\varepsilon}^{n} :_{Q_{t}}$ converges in $L^{p}(\Omega, C([0, T]; \mathcal{C}^{-\alpha}))$. The limit is called Wick power of Z(t) of order n with respect to the covariance Q_{t} and is denoted by $: Z^{n}(t) :_{Q_{t}}$.

Proof By (3.1) we already proved $Z_{\varepsilon} \in C([0,T], \mathcal{C}^{-\alpha}), \mathbb{P} - a.s.$ Now we prove that $Z^m :_{Q_t}$ is a Cauchy sequence. For every p > 1, by (2.2) we have for $t_1, t_2 \ge 0$ that

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E} \| (: Z_{\varepsilon_{1}}^{m} :_{Q_{t_{1}}} - : Z_{\varepsilon_{2}}^{m} :_{Q_{t_{1}}})(t_{1}, \cdot) - (: Z_{\varepsilon_{1}}^{m} :_{Q_{t_{2}}} - : Z_{\varepsilon_{2}}^{m} :_{Q_{t_{2}}})(t_{2}, \cdot) \|_{-\alpha}^{2p} \\ \leq \sum_{\psi \in \Psi_{\star}} \sum_{n \ge 0} \sum_{x \in \Lambda_{n}} \mathbb{E} 2^{-2\alpha p n + 2np} | \langle (: Z_{\varepsilon_{1}}^{m} :_{Q_{t_{1}}} - : Z_{\varepsilon_{2}}^{m} :_{Q_{t_{1}}})(t_{1}, \cdot) \\ - (: Z_{\varepsilon_{1}}^{m} :_{Q_{t_{2}}} - : Z_{\varepsilon_{2}}^{m} :_{Q_{t_{2}}})(t_{2}, \cdot), \psi_{x}^{n} \rangle |^{2p} w(x)^{2p} \\ \lesssim \sum_{\psi \in \Psi_{\star}} \sum_{n \ge 0} \sum_{x \in \Lambda_{n}} 2^{-2\alpha p n + 2np} (\mathbb{E} | \langle (: Z_{\varepsilon_{1}}^{m} :_{Q_{t_{1}}} - : Z_{\varepsilon_{2}}^{m} :_{Q_{t_{2}}})(t_{1}, \cdot) \\ - (: Z_{\varepsilon_{1}}^{m} :_{Q_{t_{2}}} - : Z_{\varepsilon_{2}}^{m} :_{Q_{t_{2}}})(t_{1}, \cdot) \\ \end{pmatrix}$$

where we used Gaussian hypercontractivity in the second inequality. For convenience we use ξ^l , l = 1, 2 to denote space-time white noise given by $\int \phi(s, y)\xi^l(ds, dy) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^+} \langle \phi, dW_s^l \rangle$ for $\phi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{T}^2)$. Then by [Nua13, Proposition 1.1.4] we obtain that for k = 1, 2 and j = 1, 2

$$: Z_{\varepsilon_{k}}^{m}(t_{j}):_{Q_{t_{j}}} = \sum_{l=1}^{2} \int \prod_{i=1}^{m} \bar{K}_{\varepsilon_{k}}^{l}(t_{j} - s_{i}, y - y_{i}) \, \mathbf{1}_{s_{i} \in [0, t_{j}]} \xi^{l}(d\eta_{1}) \dots \xi^{l}(d\eta_{m}) \,,$$

where $\eta_a = (s_a, y_a)$, and $\int f(\eta_{1...n}) \xi(d\eta_1) \dots \xi(d\eta_m)$ denote a generic element of the *n*-th chaos of ξ for $\eta_{1...n} = \eta_1 \cdots \eta_n$. Moreover, for $t_1 \leq t_2$ to estimate

$$\mathbb{E}\left|\left\langle \left(:Z_{\varepsilon_{1}}^{m}:_{Q_{t_{1}}}-:Z_{\varepsilon_{2}}^{m}:_{Q_{t_{1}}}\right)(t_{1},\cdot\right)-\left(:Z_{\varepsilon_{1}}^{m}:_{Q_{t_{2}}}-:Z_{\varepsilon_{2}}^{m}:_{Q_{t_{2}}}\right)(t_{2},\cdot),\psi_{x}^{n}\right\rangle \right|^{2},$$

since ξ^1 is independent to ξ^2 , it suffices to calculate

$$\int |\langle \Pi_{i=1}^{m} \bar{K}_{\varepsilon_{1}}^{l}(t_{1} - s_{i}, \cdot - y_{i}) \mathbb{1}_{s_{i} \in [0, t_{1}]} - \Pi_{i=1}^{m} \bar{K}_{\varepsilon_{2}}^{l}(t_{1} - s_{i}, \cdot - y_{i}) \mathbb{1}_{s_{i} \in [0, t_{1}]} - [\Pi_{i=1}^{m} \bar{K}_{\varepsilon_{1}}^{l}(t_{2} - s_{i}, \cdot - y_{i}) \mathbb{1}_{s_{i} \in [0, t_{2}]} - \Pi_{i=1}^{m} \bar{K}_{\varepsilon_{2}}^{l}(t_{2} - s_{i}, \cdot - y_{i}) \mathbb{1}_{s_{i} \in [0, t_{2}]}], \psi_{x}^{n} \rangle|^{2} d\eta_{1...m},$$

which is bounded by

$$2\int |\langle (\Pi_{i=1}^{m}\bar{K}_{\varepsilon_{1}}^{l}(t_{1}-s_{i},\cdot-y_{i})-\Pi_{i=1}^{m}\bar{K}_{\varepsilon_{1}}(t_{2}-s_{i},\cdot-y_{i}))\mathbb{1}_{s_{i}[0,t_{1}]} - (\Pi_{i=1}^{m}\bar{K}_{\varepsilon_{2}}^{l}(t_{1}-s_{i},\cdot-y_{i})-\Pi_{i=1}^{m}\bar{K}_{\varepsilon_{2}}^{l}(t_{2}-s_{i},\cdot-y_{i}))\mathbb{1}_{s_{i}\in[0,t_{1}]},\psi_{x}^{n}\rangle|^{2}d\eta_{1\dots m} + 2\int |\langle [\Pi_{i=1}^{m}\bar{K}_{\varepsilon_{1}}(t_{2}-s_{i},\cdot-y_{i})\mathbb{1}_{s_{i}\in[t_{1},t_{2}]}-\Pi_{i=1}^{m}\bar{K}_{\varepsilon_{2}}(t_{2}-s_{i},\cdot-y_{i})\mathbb{1}_{s_{i}\in[t_{1},t_{2}]}],\psi_{x}^{n}\rangle|^{2}d\eta_{1\dots m}$$

$$(3.14)$$

To calculate the bound (3.14) above, we need several estimations of $\bar{K}^l(t,x)$ and $\bar{K}^l_{\varepsilon}(t,x)$. For convenience, we denote

$$||(t,x)||_s := t^{\frac{1}{4}} + |x|_s$$

Then by [Hai14, Lemma 10.17, Lemma 10.18], we have that for any $\delta \in (0, 1)$

$$|K_{\varepsilon}^{l}(t,x) - K^{l}(t,x)| \lesssim \varepsilon^{\delta} ||(t,x)||_{s}^{-3-\delta} \lesssim \varepsilon^{\delta} t^{\frac{-1+\delta}{2}} |x|^{-1-3\delta},$$
(3.15)

and

$$|K^{l}(t,x) - K^{l}(s,y)| \lesssim ||(t-s,x-y)||_{s}^{\delta} \left(||(t,x)||_{s}^{-3-\delta} + ||(s,y)||_{s}^{-3-\delta} \right).$$
(3.16)

In particular, for any $\delta \in (0, 1)$, we obtain that

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \bar{K}_{\varepsilon_{1}}^{l} \left(t_{1} - s_{i}, y - y_{i} \right) - \bar{K}_{\varepsilon_{1}}^{l} \left(t_{2} - s_{i}, y - y_{i} \right) \right| \\ &\lesssim \left| \bar{K}_{\varepsilon_{1}}^{l} \left(t_{1} - s_{i}, y - y_{i} \right) - \bar{K}^{l} \left(t_{1} - s_{i}, y - y_{i} \right) \right| + \left| \bar{K}^{l} \left(t_{1} - s_{i}, y - y_{i} \right) - \bar{K}^{l} \left(t_{2} - s_{i}, y - y_{i} \right) \right| \\ &+ \left| \bar{K}^{l} \left(t_{2} - s_{i}, y - y_{i} \right) - \bar{K}_{\varepsilon_{1}}^{l} \left(t_{2} - s_{i}, y - y_{i} \right) \right| \\ &\lesssim \left(\varepsilon_{1}^{\delta} + \left| t_{1} - t_{2} \right|^{\frac{\delta}{4}} \right) \left(\left\| \left(t_{1} - s_{i}, y - y_{i} \right) \right\|_{s}^{-3-\delta} + \left\| \left(t_{2} - s_{i}, y - y_{i} \right) \right\|^{-3-\delta} \right) \\ &\lesssim \left| t_{1} - t_{2} \right|^{\frac{\delta}{4}} \left(\left| t_{2} - s_{i} \right|^{-\frac{1}{2} + \frac{\delta}{2}} + \left| t_{1} - s_{i} \right|^{-\frac{1}{2} + \frac{\delta}{2}} \right) \left| y - y_{i} \right|^{-1-3\delta}, \end{aligned}$$

$$(3.17)$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \bar{K}_{\varepsilon_{1}}^{l} \left(t_{1} - s_{i}, y - y_{i} \right) - \bar{K}_{\varepsilon_{2}}^{l} \left(t_{1} - s_{i}, y - y_{i} \right) \right| \\ \lesssim \left| \bar{K}_{\varepsilon_{1}}^{l} \left(t_{1} - s_{i}, y - y_{i} \right) - \bar{K}^{l} \left(t_{1} - s_{i}, y - y_{i} \right) \right| + \left| \bar{K}_{\varepsilon_{2}}^{l} \left(t_{1} - s_{i}, y - y_{i} \right) - \bar{K}^{l} \left(t_{1} - s_{i}, y - y_{i} \right) \right| \\ \lesssim \left(\varepsilon_{1}^{\delta} + \varepsilon_{2}^{\delta} \right) \left| t_{1} - s_{i} \right|^{-\frac{1}{2} + \frac{\delta}{2}} \left| y - y_{i} \right|^{-1 - 3\delta}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(3.18)$$

Then the estimate of (3.14) can be obtained by using the interpolation of the form:

$$\Pi_{i=1}^{m} a_{i} - \Pi_{i=1}^{m} b_{i} = \sum_{k=1}^{m} (\Pi_{i=1}^{k-1} b_{i})(a_{k} - b_{k})(\Pi_{i=k+1}^{m} a_{i}),$$

and the estimates (3.17), (3.18). For the third line in (3.14), since K_{ε}^{l} are integrable, by using the interpolation and (3.18), we obtain that

$$\begin{split} &\int \left| \left\langle \left[\Pi_{i=1}^{m} \bar{K}_{\varepsilon_{1}}^{l} \left(t_{2} - s_{i}, \cdot - y_{i} \right) \mathbb{1}_{s_{i} \in [t_{1}, t_{2}]} - \Pi_{i=1}^{m} \bar{K}_{\varepsilon_{2}}^{l} \left(t_{2} - s_{i}, \cdot - y_{i} \right) \mathbb{1}_{s_{i} \in [t_{1}, t_{2}]} \right], \psi_{x}^{n} \right\rangle \right|^{2} d\eta_{1...m} \\ &\lesssim (\varepsilon_{1}^{\delta} + \varepsilon_{2}^{\delta}) \sum_{i=1}^{m} \int \psi_{x}^{n}(z) \psi_{x}^{n}(\bar{z}) |t_{2} - s_{i}|^{-1+\delta} \mathbb{1}_{s_{i} \in [t_{1}, t_{2}]} |z - y^{i}|^{-1-3\delta} |\bar{z} - y^{i}|^{-1-3\delta} dz d\bar{z} d\eta_{1...m} \\ &\lesssim (\varepsilon_{1}^{\delta} + \varepsilon_{2}^{\delta}) |t_{1} - t_{2}|^{\delta} \int \psi_{x}^{n}(z) \psi_{x}^{n}(\bar{z}) |z - \bar{z}|^{-6\delta} dz d\bar{z} \\ &\lesssim (\varepsilon_{1}^{\delta} + \varepsilon_{2}^{\delta}) |t_{1} - t_{2}|^{\delta} 2^{-2n+6n\delta}. \end{split}$$

For the first two lines in (3.14), we consider m = 1 for simplicity. The general $m \in \mathbb{N}$ can be obtained in a similar way by using the interpolation. For m = 1, the first two lines can be rewrote as

$$\int ((a_1(z) - b_1(z)) - (a_2(z) - b_2(z)))((a_1(\bar{z}) - a_2(\bar{z})) - (b_1(\bar{z}) - b_2(\bar{z})))\psi_x^n(z)\psi_x^n(\bar{z})dzd\bar{z}dsdy,$$

where for i = 1, 2

$$a_i(z) = \bar{K}_{\varepsilon_i}^l(t_1 - s, z - y) \mathbb{1}_{s \in [0, t_1]}, \ b_i(z) = \bar{K}_{\varepsilon_i}^l(t_2 - s, z - y) \mathbb{1}_{s \in [0, t_1]}$$

We only calculate

$$\int (a_1(z) - b_1(z))(b_1(z) - b_2(\bar{z}))\psi_x^n(z)\psi_x^n(\bar{z})dzd\bar{z}dsdy,$$

the rest term can be estimated similarly. In fact, by (3.17) and (3.18)

$$\begin{aligned} &|(a_1(z) - b_1(z))(b_1(\bar{z}) - b_2(\bar{z}))| \\ &\lesssim \left(\varepsilon_1^{\delta} + \varepsilon_2^{\delta}\right) |t_1 - t_2|^{\frac{\delta}{4}} \left(|t_2 - s|^{-\frac{1}{2} + \frac{\delta}{2}} + |t_1 - s|^{-\frac{1}{2} + \frac{\delta}{2}} \right)^2 |z - y|^{-1 - 3\delta} \,|\bar{z} - y|^{-1 - 3\delta} \,\mathbb{1}_{s \in [0, t_1]}. \end{aligned}$$

Thus we obtain

$$\int |(a_1(z) - b_1(z))(b_1(\bar{z}) - b_2(\bar{z}))| |\psi_x^n(z)\psi_x^n(\bar{z})| dz d\bar{z} dy ds$$
$$\lesssim \left(\varepsilon_1^{\delta} + \varepsilon_2^{\delta}\right) |t_1 - t_2|^{\frac{\delta}{4}} \int |\psi_x^n(z)\psi_x^n(\bar{z})| |z - \bar{z}|^{-6\delta} dz d\bar{z}$$
$$\lesssim \left(\varepsilon_1^{\delta} + \varepsilon_2^{\delta}\right) |t_1 - t_2|^{\frac{\delta}{4}} 2^{-2n+6n\delta}.$$

Hence the first two lines in (3.14) are bounded by $(\varepsilon_1^{\delta} + \varepsilon_2^{\delta})|t_1 - t_2|^{\frac{\delta}{4}}2^{-2n+6n\delta}$. Then we deduce that

$$\mathbb{E} \left| \left\langle \left(: Z_{\varepsilon_1}^m :_{Q_{t_1}} - : Z_{\varepsilon_2}^m :_{Q_{t_1}} \right) (t_1, \cdot) - \left(: Z_{\varepsilon_1}^m :_{Q_{t_2}} - : Z_{\varepsilon_2}^m :_{Q_{t_2}} \right) (t_2, \cdot) , \psi_x^n \right\rangle \right|^2 \\ \lesssim (\varepsilon_1^{\delta} + \varepsilon_2^{\delta}) |t_1 - t_2|^{\frac{\delta}{4}} 2^{-2n + 6n\delta}.$$

Then the above estimates yield that

$$\mathbb{E} \left\| \left(: Z_{\varepsilon_1}^m :_{C_1} - : Z_{\varepsilon_2}^m :_{C_{t_1}} \right) (t_1, \cdot) - \left(: Z_{\varepsilon_1}^m :_{C_{t_2}} - : Z_{\varepsilon_2}^m :_{C_{t_2}} \right) (t_2, \cdot) \right\|_{-\alpha}^{2p}$$

$$\lesssim \sum_{\psi \in \Psi_{\star}} \sum_{n \ge 0} 2^{-2\alpha np + 2np + 2n} \left(\varepsilon_1^{2\delta} + \varepsilon_2^{2\delta}\right)^p \left|t_2 - t_1\right|^{\frac{\delta p}{4}} 2^{-2np + 6np\delta}.$$

Thus the results follow from Kolmogorov's continuity test (in time) if we choose $\delta > 0$ small enough and p sufficiently large.

By this lemma we can also define the Wick powers with respect to another covariance : $Z_{\varepsilon}^{n}(t) :_{Q} := c_{\varepsilon}^{\frac{n}{2}} P_{n}\left(c_{\varepsilon}^{-\frac{1}{2}} Z_{\varepsilon}(t)\right).$

Lemma 3.4. ([RZZ17b, Lemma 3.4]) For $\alpha > 0$, p > 1, $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $: Z_{\varepsilon}^{n}(t) :_{Q}$ converges in $L^{p}(\Omega, C((0,T]; \mathcal{C}^{-\alpha}))$. Here $C((0,T]; \mathcal{C}^{-\alpha})$ is equipped with the norm $\sup_{t \in [0,T]} t^{\rho} \| \cdot \|_{-\alpha}$ for $\rho > 0$. The limit is called Wick power of Z(t) of order n with respect to the covariance Q and is denoted by $: Z^{n}(t) :_{Q}$.

Proof By the definition of Hermite polynomials, we have that

$$: Z_{\varepsilon}^{n}(t) :_{Q} = \sum_{l=0}^{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor} \left(c_{\varepsilon,t} - c_{\varepsilon} \right)^{l} \frac{n!}{(n-2l)! l! 2^{l}} : Z_{\varepsilon}^{n-2l}(t) :_{Q_{t}}.$$

Then the theorem follows directly from Lemma 3.3 and the fact that

$$|c_{\varepsilon,t} - c_{\varepsilon}| \lesssim t^{-\rho}$$

for any $\rho > 0$.

Remark 3.5. Here we do not combine the initial value with the Wick powers as in [MW17, RZZ17b], since we can obtain existence of solutions to the shifted equation (3.19) for any initial value in V_0^{-1} (see Section 3.3).

In the following, we only use Wick powers : $\cdot :_Q$ and we write : $\cdot :$ for simplicity.

Relations between two different Wick powers

We introduce the following probability measure. Set : $q(\phi) := \frac{1}{4} : \phi^4 :$, : $p(\phi) :=: \phi^3 :$. Let

$$\nu = c \exp(-N)\mu,$$

where c is a normalization constant and $N = {}_{\mathcal{S}'}\langle :q:,e_0\rangle_{\mathcal{S}}$. According to [Sim74, Lemma V.5 and Theorem V.7] we have that for every $p \in [1,\infty), \varphi(\phi) := e^{-N} \in L^p(\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{T}^2),\mu)$.

The following result is about the relation between the two different Wick powers.

Lemma 3.6. Let ϕ be a measurable map from $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ to $C([0, T], B_{2,2}^{-\gamma})$ with $\gamma > 2$, $\mathbb{P} \circ \phi(t)^{-1} = \nu$ for every $t \in [0, T]$ and let Z(t) be defined as above. Assume in addition that $y = \phi - Z \in C((0, T]; \mathcal{C}^{\beta}) \mathbb{P}$ -a.s. for some $\beta > \alpha > 0$. Here $C((0, T]; \mathcal{C}^{\beta})$ is equipped with the norm $\sup_{t \in [0,T]} t^{\frac{\beta+\alpha}{4}} || \cdot ||_{\beta}$. Then for every t > 0, $n \in \mathbb{N}$

$$: \phi^n(t) := \sum_{k=0}^n C_n^k y^{n-k}(t) : Z^k(t) : \mathbb{P} - a.s..$$

Here the Wick power on the left hand side is the limit obtained and defined in Lemma 3.2.

Proof By Lemma 3.4 it follows that for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$, p > 1

$$: Z_{\varepsilon}^k : \to : Z^k : \quad \text{in } L^p(\Omega, C((0, T]; \mathcal{C}^{-\alpha})), \text{ as } \varepsilon \to 0.$$

Since $y_{\varepsilon} = \phi_{\varepsilon} - Z_{\varepsilon} = \rho_{\varepsilon} * y$ and $y \in C((0, T]; \mathcal{C}^{\beta})$ P-a.s., it is obvious that $y_{\varepsilon} \to y$ in $C((0, T]; \mathcal{C}^{\beta-\kappa})$ P-a.s. for every $\kappa > 0$ with $\beta - \kappa - \alpha > 0$, which combined with Lemma 2.3 implies that for $k \in \mathbb{N}, k \leq n$,

$$y_{\varepsilon}^{n-k}: Z_{\varepsilon}^k: \to^{\mathbb{P}} y^{n-k}: Z^k: \text{ in } C((0,T]; \mathcal{C}^{-\alpha}), \text{ as } \varepsilon \to 0.$$

Here $\to^{\mathbb{P}}$ means convergence in probability. Since $e^{-N} \in L^p(\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{T}^2), \mu)$ for every $p \ge 1$, by Hölder's inequality and Lemma 3.2 we get that for t > 0 and p > 1

$$: \phi_{\varepsilon}^{n}(t) : \to : \phi^{n}(t) : \quad \text{in } L^{p}(\Omega, \mathcal{C}^{-\alpha}), \text{ as } \varepsilon \to 0.$$

Moreover, by (3.13) we have

$$: \phi_{\varepsilon}^{n} :=: (y_{\varepsilon} + Z_{\varepsilon})^{n} := c_{\varepsilon}^{n/2} P_{n}(c_{\varepsilon}^{-1/2}(y_{\varepsilon} + Z_{\varepsilon}))$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{n} C_{n}^{k} c_{\varepsilon}^{n/2} P_{k}(c_{\varepsilon}^{-1/2} Z_{\varepsilon})(c_{\varepsilon}^{-1/2} y_{\varepsilon})^{n-k}$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{n} C_{n}^{k} : Z_{\varepsilon}^{k} : y_{\varepsilon}^{n-k},$$

which implies the result by letting $\varepsilon \to 0$.

3.3 The Solution to the Shifted Equation

Now we fix a stochastic basis $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \{\mathcal{F}_t\}_{t \in [0,\infty)}, \mathbb{P})$ and on it a *U*-cylindrical Wiener process *W*. Define $Z(t) = \int_0^t e^{-(t-s)A^2/2} B dW(s)$ as in Section 3.2. Now we consider the following shifted equation:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dY}{dt} = -\frac{1}{2}A^2Y + \frac{1}{2}A\sum_{k=0}^{3}C_3^kY^{3-k} : Z^k :, \\ Y(0) = x. \end{cases}$$
(3.19)

Generally we consider initial data x that are \mathcal{F}_0 measurable and belong to V_0^{-1} , *a.s.*. To prove the existence of the solution to equation (3.19), we use a smooth approximation on each path:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dY_{\varepsilon}}{dt} = -\frac{1}{2}A^2Y_{\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{2}A\sum_{k=0}^{3}C_3^kY_{\varepsilon}^{3-k} : Z_{\varepsilon}^k :,\\ Y_{\varepsilon}(0) = x_{\varepsilon}, \end{cases}$$
(3.20)

where $Z_{\varepsilon} = Z * \rho_{\varepsilon}$, $x_{\varepsilon} = x * \rho_{\varepsilon}$, and ρ_{ε} is as introduced in Section 3.2. Note that the solution Y to equation (3.19) and the solution Y_{ε} to (3.20) also satisfy:

$$\frac{dm(Y(t))}{dt} = 0, m(Y(0)) = 0, \qquad (3.21)$$

which means that $m(Y(t)) = m(Y_{\varepsilon}(t)) = 0$.

From Lemma 3.2 we know that there exists a $\Omega' \subset \Omega$, $\mathbb{P}(\Omega') = 1$, such that for any $\omega \in \Omega', Z(\omega), : Z^n : (\omega) \in C((0,T]; \mathcal{C}^{-\alpha}), n = 2, 3, \forall \alpha > 0$. Since $Z_{\varepsilon}(\omega)$ is smooth, by monotone trick in [LR15, Theorem 5.2.2 and Theorem 5.2.4], there exists a unique solution $Y_{\varepsilon}(\omega)$ to equation (3.20) in $L^2(0,T; V_0^2) \cap C([0,T]; L_0^2)$ for each $\omega \in \Omega'$. We are going to find a convergent subsequence of $\{Y_{\varepsilon}(\omega)\}$, which converge to a solution to equation (3.19) and prove uniqueness of solutions to (3.19). Then we obtain a unique \mathcal{F}_t -adapted solution to equation (3.19).

In this section we never distinguish V^{α} , H_2^{α} and $B_{2,2}^{\alpha}$ since they have equivalent norms. For convenience we denote all of them as H^{α} .

Theorem 3.7 (a-priori estimate). If Y is a solution to equation (3.19), then there exists a constant C_T which only depends on T and $Z(\omega)$, such that for $\forall t \in [0, T]$

$$||Y||_{H^{-1}}^2 - ||x||_{H^{-1}} + \frac{1}{2} \int_0^t \left(||Y(s)||_{H^1}^2 + ||Y(s)||_{L^4}^4 \right) ds \le C_T.$$
(3.22)

Moreover there exist constants C > 0, $\lambda_k > 0$, k = 1, 2, 3, for every $t \in (0, T]$

$$\|Y_t\|_{H^{-1}}^2 \le C\left(t^{-1} \vee \left(\sum_{k=1}^3 t^{-\rho\lambda_k} \sup_{0 \le r \le t} \left(r^{\rho\lambda_k}\| : Z_r : \|_{-\alpha}^{\lambda_k}\right)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\right),$$
(3.23)

where $\rho > 0$ is a small enough constant introduced in Lemma 3.4.

Proof Since

$$\frac{dY}{dt} = -\frac{1}{2}A(AY - \sum_{k=0}^{3} C_{3}^{k}Y^{3-k} : Z^{k} :),$$

and m(Y) = 0, taking scalar product with $(-A)^{-1}Y$ we obtain that

$$\frac{d}{dt}||Y||_{H^{-1}}^2 + ||Y||_{H^1}^2 + ||Y||_{L^4}^4 = -\langle \sum_{k=1}^3 C_3^k Y^{3-k} : Z^k : Y \rangle,$$

that is

$$\frac{d}{dt}||Y||_{H^{-1}}^2 + ||Y||_{H^1}^2 + ||Y||_{L^4}^4 \lesssim |\langle Y, :Z^3:\rangle| + |\langle Y^2, :Z^2:\rangle| + |\langle Y^3, Z\rangle|.$$
(3.24)

So, we only need to estimate the right hand side of (3.24). We only consider $|\langle Y^3, Z \rangle|$. The other terms can be estimated similarly. Lemma 2.3 implies

 $|\langle Y^3, Z \rangle| \lesssim ||Z||_{-\alpha} ||Y^3||_{B^{\alpha}_{1,1}}, \quad \forall \alpha > 0.$

Moreover, by Lemma 2.1 and Lemma 2.4. Then

$$||Y^{3}||_{B_{1,1}^{\alpha}} \lesssim ||\mathfrak{A}^{\beta_{0}}Y^{3}||_{L^{p_{0}}} \lesssim ||\mathfrak{A}^{\beta_{0}}Y^{\frac{3}{2}}||_{L^{p_{1}}} ||Y^{\frac{3}{2}}||_{L^{q_{1}}},$$

where $\beta_0 > \alpha, p_0 > 1$ and $\frac{1}{p_0} = \frac{1}{p_1} + \frac{1}{q_1}$. Choose $q_1 \leq \frac{8}{3}$ and $p_1 > \frac{8}{5}$, we have

$$||Y^{\frac{3}{2}}||_{L^{q_1}} = ||Y||_{L^{\frac{3}{2}q_1}}^{\frac{3}{2}} \lesssim ||Y||_{L^4}^{\frac{3}{2}}$$

For $||\mathfrak{A}^{\beta_0}Y^{\frac{3}{2}}||_{L^{p_1}}$, we have

$$||\mathfrak{A}^{\beta_0}Y^{\frac{3}{2}}||_{L^{p_1}} \lesssim ||\mathfrak{A}^{\beta_1}Y^{\frac{3}{2}}||_{L^{p_2}} \lesssim ||\mathfrak{A}Y^{\frac{3}{2}}||_{L^{p_2}}^{\beta_1}||Y^{\frac{3}{2}}||_{L^{p_2}}^{1-\beta_1}$$

where $1 < p_2 < p_1 < 2$, $\beta_0 = \beta_1 - 2(\frac{1}{p_2} - \frac{1}{p_1})$, $\beta_1 < 1$ and we used Lemma 2.1 in the first inequality and Lemma 2.5 in the second inequality. For $||\mathfrak{A}Y^{\frac{3}{2}}||_{L^{p_2}}$, let $p_2 < \frac{8}{5}$, we have

$$||\mathfrak{A}Y^{\frac{3}{2}}||_{L^{p_{2}}} \lesssim ||Y^{\frac{1}{2}}\nabla Y||_{L^{p_{2}}} \lesssim ||Y||_{H^{1}} ||Y^{\frac{1}{2}}||_{L^{\frac{2p_{2}}{2-p_{2}}}} \lesssim ||Y||_{H^{1}} ||Y||_{L^{2-p_{2}}}^{\frac{1}{2}} \lesssim ||Y||_{H^{1}} ||Y||_{L^{4}}^{\frac{1}{2}},$$

where we used Hölder's inequality in the second inequality. Furthermore

$$||Y^{\frac{3}{2}}||_{L^{p_2}} \lesssim ||Y||_{L^{\frac{3p_2}{2}}}^{\frac{3}{2}} \lesssim ||Y||_{L^4}^{\frac{3}{2}}.$$

Combining the above estimates we get

$$||Y^{3}||_{B^{\alpha}_{1,1}} \lesssim ||Y||_{L^{4}}^{3-\beta_{1}}||Y||_{H^{1}}^{\beta_{1}}$$

Combining this with Lemma 3.4, we have

$$|\langle Y^3, Z \rangle| \lesssim ||Y||_{L^4}^{3-\beta_1} ||Y||_{H^1}^{\beta_1} t^{-\frac{\rho}{4}} \lesssim t^{-\frac{\rho}{4}\lambda} + \kappa \left(||Y||_{L^4}^4 + ||Y||_{H^1}^2\right)$$

where $\lambda = \frac{4}{1-\beta_1}$ and we used the Young's inequality. Choosing ρ to be so small that $\frac{\rho}{4}\lambda < 1$, we can conclude that there exists $\lambda_k > 0$, k = 1, 2, 3 such that $\frac{\lambda_k \rho}{4} < 1$

$$\frac{d}{dt}||Y||_{H^{-1}}^2 + \frac{1}{2}\left(||Y||_{H^1}^2 + ||Y||_{L^4}^4\right) \lesssim \sum_{k=1}^3 ||:Z^k:||_{-\alpha}^{\lambda_k} \lesssim \sum_{k=1}^3 t^{-\frac{\lambda_k\rho}{4}},$$

and (3.22) follows. Moreover, since $||Y||_{H^{-1}} \leq ||Y||_{L^4}$ we have that

$$\frac{d}{dt}||Y||_{H^{-1}}^2 + \frac{1}{2}||Y||_{H^{-1}}^4 \lesssim \sum_{k=1}^3 ||:Z^k:||_{-\alpha}^{\lambda_k}.$$

By [TW16, Lemma 3.8] we have

$$\|Y_t\|_{H^{-1}}^2 \lesssim t^{-1} \vee \left(\sum_{k=1}^3 t^{-\rho\lambda_k} \sup_{0 \le r \le t} \left(r^{\rho\lambda_k}\| : Z_r : \|_{-\alpha}^{\lambda_k}\right)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Since the approximation equation (3.20) have the same prior estimate as (3.19). By (3.22) we deduce that the sequence $\{Y_{\varepsilon}\}$ is bounded in $L^{\infty}(0,T;H^{-1}) \cap L^4([0,T] \times \mathbb{T}^2) \cap L^2(0,T;H^1)$. This implies that $\{AY_{\varepsilon}\}$ is bounded in $L^2(0,T;H^{-1})$ and $\{Y_{\varepsilon}^3\}$ is bounded in $L^{4/3}([0,T] \times \mathbb{T}^2)$. Moreover, Lemma 2.1 and Lemma 3.4 imply that $\{: Z_{\varepsilon}^3 :\}$ is bounded in $L^p(0,T;H^{-\alpha})$ for any $\alpha > 0, \varepsilon > 0$ and p > 1. Then we can prove the following lemma:

Lemma 3.8. $\left\{\frac{dY_{\varepsilon}}{dt}\right\}$ is bounded in $L^p(0,T;H^{-3})$, where $p \in (1,\frac{4}{3})$.

Proof According to the argument before, we only need to show that $\{Y_{\varepsilon}^2 Z_{\varepsilon}\}$ and $\{Y_{\varepsilon}^2 :\}$ are bounded in $L^p(0,T;H^{-1})$ when $p \in (1,\frac{4}{3})$.

We omit ε if there is no confusion in this proof.

For Y^2Z we have

$$||Y^{2}Z||_{B^{-\alpha}_{2,\infty}} \lesssim ||Y^{2}||_{B^{\beta_{0}}_{2,\infty}} ||Z||_{-\alpha} \lesssim ||Y^{2}||_{B^{\beta_{0}}_{2,1}} ||Z||_{-\alpha},$$

where $\beta_0 > \alpha > 0$, we used Lemma 2.5 in the first inequality and Lemma 2.1 in the second inequality. Furthermore,

$$||Y^{2}||_{B^{\beta_{0}}_{2,1}} \lesssim ||\mathfrak{A}^{\beta_{1}}Y^{2}||_{L^{2}} \lesssim ||\mathfrak{A}^{\beta_{1}}Y||_{L^{p_{0}}}||Y||_{L^{q_{0}}},$$

where $\beta_1 > \beta_0$, $\frac{1}{p_0} + \frac{1}{q_0} = \frac{1}{2}$, we used Lemma 2.1 in the first inequality and Lemma 2.4 in the second inequality. By Lemma 2.1, $B_{q,2}^s \subset L^q$ for any $q \ge 1$ and s > 0. Since $H^{\delta} \simeq B_{2,2}^{\delta} \subset B_{q,2}^{\delta-1+\frac{2}{q}}$ for $q \ge 2$, the Besov interpolation in Lemma 2.4 implies that

$$||Y||_{L^{q_0}} \lesssim ||Y||_{B^s_{q_0,2}} \lesssim ||Y||_{B^s_{q_0,2}}^{\frac{1}{q_0} + \frac{s}{2}} ||Y||_{B^{\frac{1}{q_0} - \frac{s}{2}}_{q_0-2}}^{\frac{1}{q_0} - \frac{s}{2}} \lesssim ||Y||_{H^1}^{\frac{1}{1 - \frac{1}{q_0} + \frac{s}{2}}} ||Y||_{H^{-1}}^{\frac{1}{q_0} - \frac{s}{2}}.$$
(3.25)

For $||\mathfrak{A}^{\beta_1}Y||_{L^{p_0}}$, let $p_0 \geq 2$. Then we use Lemma 2.1 and Sobolev interpolation to get

$$||\mathfrak{A}^{\beta_1}Y||_{L^{p_0}} \lesssim ||Y||_{H^{\beta_2}} \lesssim ||Y||_{H^1}^{\frac{1+\beta_2}{2}} ||Y||_{H^{-1}}^{\frac{1-\beta_2}{2}},$$

where $\beta_1 = \beta_2 + \frac{2}{p_0} - 1 = \beta_2 - \frac{2}{q_0}$. Thus we have

$$||Y^{2}||_{B^{\beta_{0}}_{2,1}} \lesssim ||Y||_{H^{1}}^{\frac{3}{2} + \frac{\beta_{1}}{2} + \frac{s}{2}} ||Y||_{H^{-1}}^{\frac{1}{2} - \frac{\beta_{1}}{2} - \frac{s}{2}}.$$
(3.26)

By Lemma 3.4 we deduce that

$$||Y^2 Z||_{B^{-\alpha}_{2,\infty}} \lesssim ||Y||_{H^1}^{\frac{3}{2} + \frac{\beta_1}{2} + \frac{s}{2}} ||Y||_{H^{-1}}^{\frac{1}{2} - \frac{\beta_1}{2} - \frac{s}{2}} t^{-\frac{\rho}{4}}.$$

For any $p \in (1, \frac{4}{3})$, let β_1 and s be small enough such that $(\beta_1 + s + 3)p < 4$. Then Young's inequality implies that there exists $\lambda > 0$ such that

$$||Y^{2}Z||_{B^{-\alpha}_{2,\infty}}^{p} \lesssim ||Y||_{H^{1}}^{2} + ||Y||_{H^{-1}}^{\frac{4}{3}\lambda(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{\beta_{1}}{2} - \frac{s}{2})} t^{-\frac{\rho}{3}\lambda}.$$

For ρ small enough, $\{Y_{\varepsilon}^2 Z_{\varepsilon}\}$ is bounded in $L^p(0,T; B_{2,\infty}^{-\alpha})$.

On the other hand,

$$||Y:Z^{2}:||_{B^{-\alpha}_{2,\infty}} \lesssim ||Y||_{B^{1}_{2,\infty}}||:Z^{2}:||_{-\alpha} \lesssim ||Y||_{H^{1}}t^{-\frac{\rho}{4}}$$

where we used Lemma 2.5 in the first inequality and Lemma 2.1, Lemma 3.4 in the second inequality. Then by Young's inequality

$$||Y:Z^2:||_{B^{-\alpha}_{2,\infty}}^{\frac{4}{3}} \lesssim ||Y||_{H^1}^2 + t^{-\rho}.$$

Choosing ρ small enough we deduce that $\{Y_{\varepsilon}: Z_{\varepsilon}^{2}:\}$ is bounded in $L^{\frac{4}{3}}(0,T; B_{2,\infty}^{-\alpha})$. By Lemma 2.1 we have $B_{2,\infty}^{-\alpha} \subset H_{2}^{-\alpha-\delta}$ for any $\delta > 0$. Hence $\{Y_{\varepsilon}^{2}Z_{\varepsilon}\}$ and $\{Y_{\varepsilon}: Z_{\varepsilon}^{2}:\}$ are bounded in $L^{p}(0,T; H^{-1}), \forall p \in (1, \frac{4}{3})$, which implies the results. \Box **Theorem 3.9.** For every $x \in V_0^{-1}$, there exists at least one solution to equation (3.19) in $C([0,T];V_0^{-1}) \cap L^4([0,T] \times \mathbb{T}^2) \cap L^2(0,T;V_0^1)$.

Proof Since $H^1 \subset H^{\delta}$ compactly for any $\delta < 1$ (see [Tri06, Proposition 4.6]), a classical compactness argument (cf. [GRZ09, Lemma C.2] or [Tem01, Theorem 2.1, Chapter III]) implies that there exists a sequence $\{\varepsilon_k\}$ and $Y \in L^{\infty}(0, T, H^{-1}) \cap L^2(0, T; H^1) \cap L^4([0, T] \times \mathbb{T}^2)$, such that $Y_{\varepsilon_k} \to Y$ in $L^2(0, T; H^{\delta}) \cap C([0, T]; H^{-3}), \forall \delta < 1$.

It is sufficient to show that for a suitable $\delta \in (0, 1)$, the limit Y we obtained above is a solution in H^{-3} .

In fact, if Y is a solution in H^{-3} , i.e. for any $h \in H^3$

$${}_{H^{-3}}\!\langle Y_t - Y_0, h \rangle_{H^3} = -\frac{1}{2} \int_0^t {}_{H^{-1}}\!\langle A^2h, Y_s \rangle_{H^1} ds + \frac{1}{2} \int_0^t {}_{H^{-1}}\!\langle \sum_{k=0}^3 C_3^k Y_s^{3-k} : Z_s^k :, Ah \rangle_{H^1} ds.$$

$$(3.27)$$

Y is in $L^{\infty}(0,T,H^{-1}) \cap L^2(0,T;H^1) \cap L^4([0,T] \times \mathbb{T}^2)$. Then we take the scalar product of $\frac{dY}{dt}$ and $(-A)^{-1}Y$, which is just the duality in H^{-3} and H^3 . Hence

$$\frac{d}{dt}||Y||_{H^{-1}}^2 + ||Y||_{H^1}^2 + ||Y||_{L^4}^4 = -\langle \sum_{k=1}^3 C_3^k Y^{3-k} : Z^k :, Y \rangle$$

Thus $||Y||_{H^{-1}}$ is continuous w.r.t t. Moreover, [Tem01, Lemma 1.4, Chapter III] implies that Y is weakly continuous in H^{-1} , then $Y \in C([0, T]; H^{-1})$.

We still write ε instead of ε_k if there is no confusion. Since Y_{ε} is a solution to equation (3.20), letting $\varepsilon \to 0$, it's easy to see that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} {}_{H^{-3}} \langle Y_{\varepsilon}, h \rangle_{H^3} = {}_{H^{-3}} \langle Y, h \rangle_{H^3}, \quad \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} {}_{H^{-1}} \langle A^2 h, Y_{\varepsilon} \rangle_{H^1} = {}_{H^{-1}} \langle A^2 h, Y \rangle_{H^1},$$
$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} {}_{H^{-1}} \langle : \bar{Z}_{\varepsilon}^3 :, Ah \rangle_{H^1} = {}_{H^{-1}} \langle : \bar{Z}^3 :, Ah \rangle_{H^1}.$$

It remains to show for any $h \in H^1$

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left| \int_0^t \langle Y_\varepsilon^3(s) - Y^3(s), h \rangle ds \right| = 0, \tag{3.28}$$

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left| \int_0^t \langle Y_\varepsilon^2(s) Z_\varepsilon(s) - Y^2(s) Z(s), h \rangle ds \right| = 0,$$
(3.29)

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} |\int_0^t \langle Y_{\varepsilon}(s) : Z_{\varepsilon}^2 : (s) - Y(s) : Z^2 : (s), h \rangle ds| = 0.$$
(3.30)

Since $Y_{\varepsilon} \to Y$ in $L^4([0,T] \times \mathbb{T}^2)$, which is equivalent to $||Y_{\varepsilon}||_{L^4([0,T] \times \mathbb{T}^2)} \to ||Y||_{L^4([0,T] \times \mathbb{T}^2)}$ and $Y_{\varepsilon} \Rightarrow^m Y$, where \Rightarrow^m means convergence in Lebesgue measure m on $[0,T] \times \mathbb{T}^2$, we have $||Y_{\varepsilon}^3||_{L^{\frac{4}{3}}([0,T] \times \mathbb{T}^2)} \to ||Y^3||_{L^{\frac{4}{3}}([0,T] \times \mathbb{T}^2)}$ and $Y_{\varepsilon}^3 \Rightarrow^m Y^3$. Then (3.28) holds by uniform integrability.

For (3.29), let $R_{\varepsilon} = Y_{\varepsilon} - Y$. By the triangle inequality

$$|\langle Y_{\varepsilon}^2 Z_{\varepsilon} - Y^2 Z, h \rangle| \lesssim |\langle R_{\varepsilon} (Y + Y_{\varepsilon})h, Z \rangle| + |\langle Z_{\varepsilon} - Z, Y^2 h \rangle|.$$

For the second term on the right hand side of the above inequality, we have

$$|\langle Z_{\varepsilon} - Z, Y^{2}h \rangle| \lesssim ||Z_{\varepsilon} - Z||_{-\alpha} ||Y^{2}h||_{B_{1,1}^{\alpha}} \lesssim ||Z_{\varepsilon} - Z||_{-\alpha} ||Y^{2}||_{B_{2,1}^{\alpha}} ||h||_{B_{2,1}^{\alpha}},$$

where we used Lemma 2.3 in the first inequality and Lemma 2.5 in the second inequality. By [Tri92, Remark 2, Section 3.2, Chapter 2] we have $H^1 \subset B_{2,1}^{\alpha}$ for any $\alpha < 1$. Hence

$$|\langle Z_{\varepsilon} - Z, Y^2 h \rangle| \lesssim ||Z_{\varepsilon} - Z||_{-\alpha} ||Y^2||_{B^{\alpha}_{2,1}} ||h||_{H^1}$$

Combining with (3.26), we have

$$|\langle Z_{\varepsilon} - Z, Y^{2}h \rangle| \lesssim ||Z_{\varepsilon} - Z||_{-\alpha} ||h||_{H^{1}} ||Y||_{H^{1}}^{\frac{3}{2} + \frac{\beta_{3}}{2} + \frac{s}{2}} ||Y||_{H^{-1}}^{\frac{1}{2} - \frac{\beta_{3}}{2} - \frac{s}{2}}$$

where $\beta_3 > \alpha > 0, s > 0$. Let $\frac{3}{2} + \frac{\beta_3}{2} + \frac{s}{2} < 2$. Then Lemma 3.4 and Hölder's inequality imply that

$$\left|\int_{0}^{t} \langle Z_{\varepsilon} - Z, Y^{2}h \rangle ds\right| \to 0, \quad \varepsilon \to 0.$$

Similarly

 $|\langle R_{\varepsilon}Yh, Z\rangle| \lesssim ||R_{\varepsilon}Y||_{B^{\alpha}_{2,1}}||h||_{H^1}||Z||_{-\alpha}.$

For $||R_{\varepsilon}Y||_{B_{2,1}^{\alpha}}$, we have

$$||R_{\varepsilon}Y||_{B_{2,1}^{\alpha}} \lesssim ||R_{\varepsilon}Y||_{B_{2,2}^{\beta_{0}}} \lesssim ||\mathfrak{A}^{\beta_{0}}R_{\varepsilon}||_{L^{4}}||Y||_{L^{4}} + ||\mathfrak{A}^{\beta_{0}}Y||_{L^{4}}||R_{\varepsilon}||_{L^{4}}$$

where $\beta_0 > \alpha > 0$ and we used Lemma 2.1 in the first inequality and Lemma 2.4 in the second inequality. By Lemma 2.1 we have the Sobolev embedding $H_2^{\beta+\frac{1}{2}} \subset H_4^{\beta}$. Hence

$$||R_{\varepsilon}Y||_{B_{2,1}^{\alpha}} \lesssim ||R_{\varepsilon}||_{H^{\beta_{0}+\frac{1}{2}}} ||Y||_{L^{4}} + ||Y||_{H^{\beta_{0}+\frac{1}{2}}} ||R_{\varepsilon}||_{H^{\frac{1}{2}}}.$$

By Sobolev interpolation, choosing $\delta > \frac{1}{2} + \beta_0$, we have

$$||Y||_{H^{\beta_0+\frac{1}{2}}} \lesssim ||Y||_{H^1}^{\frac{3}{4}+\frac{\beta_0}{2}} ||Y||_{H^{-1}}^{\frac{1}{4}-\frac{\beta_0}{2}}.$$

Moreover, since $\delta > \frac{1}{2} + \beta_0$, we have $||R_{\varepsilon}||_{H^{\frac{1}{2}}} \lesssim ||R_{\varepsilon}||_{H^{\delta}}$ and $||Y||_{H^{\frac{1}{2}+\beta_0}} \lesssim ||Y||_{H^{\delta}}$. Then we deduce that

$$||R_{\varepsilon}Y||_{B_{2,1}^{\alpha}} \lesssim ||R_{\varepsilon}||_{H^{\delta}} ||Y||_{L^{4}} + ||Y||_{H^{1}}^{\frac{3}{4} + \frac{p_{0}}{2}} ||R_{\varepsilon}||_{H^{\delta}} ||Y||_{H^{-1}}^{\frac{1}{4} - \frac{p_{0}}{2}}.$$

Let $\beta_0 < \frac{1}{2}$ such that

$$\frac{3}{4} + \frac{\beta_0}{2} + 1 < 2$$

Then by Hölder inequality, we get

$$\int_{0}^{t} ||R_{\varepsilon}Y||_{B_{2,1}^{\alpha}} ||h||_{H^{1}} ||\bar{Z}||_{-\alpha} ds \lesssim \left(\int_{0}^{t} ||R_{\varepsilon}||_{H^{\delta}}^{2} ds\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int_{0}^{t} (||Y||_{H^{1}}^{2}) F ds\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int_{0}^{t} ||Y||_{L^{4}}^{4} ds\right)^{\frac{1}{4}} \to 0$$

where $F \in L^{\infty}(0, T)$.

Moreover, we have

$$|\langle Y_{\varepsilon}: Z_{\varepsilon}^{2}: -Y: Z^{2}:, h\rangle| \lesssim |\langle Y_{\varepsilon}(: Z_{\varepsilon}^{2}: -: Z^{2}:), h\rangle| + |\langle R_{\varepsilon}: Z^{2}:, h\rangle|.$$

By essentially the same argument as above, (3.30) also follows.

Then we have got a solution Y in $C([0,T]; H^{-1}) \cap L^4([0,T] \times \mathbb{T}^2) \cap L^2(0,T; H^1)$. Combining this with (3.21), we have $Y \in C([0,T]; V_0^{-1}) \cap L^4([0,T] \times \mathbb{T}^2) \cap L^2(0,T; V_0^1)$.

Now we have obtained the existence of solutions of equation (3.19). The following is the uniqueness result.

Theorem 3.10. For every $x \in V_0^{-1}$, there exists a unique solution to equation (3.19) in $C([0,T];V_0^{-1}) \cap L^4([0,T] \times \mathbb{T}^2) \cap L^2(0,T;V_0^1).$

Proof Suppose u, v are two solutions of (3.19) with the same initial value. Let r = u - v, then r satisfies:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dr}{dt} = -\frac{1}{2}A^2r + \frac{1}{2}A\sum_{k=0}^{3}C_3^k(u^{3-k} - v^{3-k}): Z^k:,\\ r(0) = 0. \end{cases}$$

Similarly to (3.24) we have:

$$\frac{d}{dt}||r||_{H^{-1}}^2 + ||r||_{H^1}^2 \lesssim |\langle r^2(u+v), Z\rangle| + |\langle r^2, :Z^2:\rangle|.$$
(3.31)

By Lemma 2.3 and Lemma 3.4 we know

$$|\langle r^2, : Z^2 : \rangle| \lesssim ||r^2||_{B^{\alpha}_{1,1}} t^{-\rho}$$

where $\beta > \alpha > 0$. Then Lemma 2.1 and Lemma 2.4 imply that

$$||r^{2}||_{B_{1,1}^{\alpha}} \lesssim ||\mathfrak{A}^{\beta_{0}}r^{2}||_{L^{\frac{4}{3}}} \lesssim ||\mathfrak{A}^{\beta_{0}}r||_{L^{2}}||r||_{L^{4}} \lesssim ||r||_{H^{1}}^{\frac{\beta_{0}+3}{2}} ||r||_{H^{-1}}^{\frac{1-\beta_{0}}{2}},$$

where $1 > \beta_0 > \alpha > 0$ and we used the Sobolev interpolation and Sobolev embedding theorem in the last inequality. Then by Young's inequality, there exists a $\lambda_1 > 0$ such that for any $\varepsilon > 0$

$$\langle r^2, : Z^2 : \rangle | \lesssim \varepsilon ||r||_{H^1}^2 + ||r||_{H^{-1}}^2 t^{-\rho\lambda_1}.$$
 (3.32)

Let ρ be small enough. Then $g := t^{-\rho\lambda_1} \in L^1(0,T)$.

For $|\langle r^2(u+v), Z \rangle|$, we similarly obtain that

$$|\langle r^2(u+v), Z \rangle| \lesssim ||r^2(u+v)||_{B_{1,1}^{\alpha}} ||Z||_{-\alpha} \lesssim \left(||ur^2||_{B_{1,1}^{\alpha}} + ||vr^2||_{B_{1,1}^{\alpha}} \right) t^{-\rho}$$

For $||ur^2||_{B^{\alpha}_{1,1}}$, we have

$$||ur^{2}||_{B_{1,1}^{\alpha}} \lesssim ||\mathfrak{A}^{\beta_{0}}(ur^{2})||_{L^{p_{0}}} \lesssim ||\mathfrak{A}^{\beta_{0}}u||_{L^{p_{1}}}||r^{2}||_{L^{q_{1}}} + ||\mathfrak{A}^{\beta_{0}}r^{2}||_{L^{p_{2}}}||u||_{L^{q_{2}}} := (I) + (II),$$

with $p_0 > 1$, $\beta_0 > \alpha > 0$, and $\frac{1}{p_0} = \frac{1}{p_1} + \frac{1}{q_1} = \frac{1}{p_2} + \frac{1}{q_2}$, $p_i, q_i > p_0, i = 1, 2$. Here we used Lemma 2.1 in the first inequality and Lemma 2.5 in the second inequality.

For (I), according to (3.25) we know that for any s > 0

$$||r^{2}||_{L^{q_{1}}} = ||r||_{L^{2q_{1}}}^{2} \lesssim ||r||_{H^{1}}^{2-\frac{1}{q_{1}}+s} ||r||_{H^{-1}}^{\frac{1}{q_{1}}-s}$$

Moreover, let $p_1 \ge 4$. Then

$$||\mathfrak{A}^{\beta_0}u||_{L^{p_1}} \lesssim ||\mathfrak{A}^{\beta_1}u||_{L^4} \lesssim ||u||_{L^4}^{1-2\beta_1} ||u||_{H^{\frac{1}{2}}}^{2\beta_1} \lesssim ||u||_{L^4}^{1-2\beta_1} ||u||_{H^{1}}^{2\beta_1},$$

where $\beta_1 = \beta_0 + \frac{1}{2} - \frac{2}{p_1}$ and we used Lemma 2.1 in the first inequality and Sobolev interpolation in the second inequality and Besov embedding Lemma 2.1 in the last inequality. Combining these estimates above we have

$$(I) \lesssim ||r||_{H^1}^{2-\frac{1}{q_1}+s} ||r||_{H^{-1}}^{\frac{1}{q_1}-s} ||u||_{L^4}^{1-2\beta_1} ||u||_{H^1}^{2\beta_1}.$$

Hence by Young's inequality

$$t^{-\rho}(I) \lesssim \varepsilon ||r||_{H^1}^2 + ||r||_{H^{-1}}^2 ||u||_{H^1}^{\frac{4\beta_1}{\frac{1}{q_1}-s}} ||u||_{L^4}^{\frac{2(1-2\beta_1)}{\frac{1}{q_1}-s}} t^{-\frac{2\rho}{\frac{1}{q_1}-s}}.$$

Let p_0 be close to 1 and β_0 , s be so small enough such that $\frac{1}{p_1} > 1 - \frac{1}{p_0} + \beta_0 + s$, which is equivalent to $\frac{2\beta_1}{\frac{1}{q_1}-s} + \frac{(1-2\beta_1)}{\frac{1}{q_1}-s}\frac{1}{2} < 1$. Then the Hölder inequality yields for ρ small enough

$$\int_{0}^{t} ||u||_{H^{1}}^{\frac{4\beta_{1}}{\frac{1}{q_{1}}-s}} ||u||_{L^{4}}^{\frac{2(1-\beta_{1})}{\frac{1}{q_{1}}-s}} \tau^{-\frac{2\rho}{\frac{1}{q_{1}}-s}} d\tau \lesssim \left(\int_{0}^{t} ||u||_{H^{1}}^{2} d\tau\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int_{0}^{t} ||u||_{L^{4}}^{4} d\tau\right)^{\frac{1}{4}}$$

Then we get

$$f_1^u := ||u||_{H^1}^{\frac{4\beta_1}{\frac{1}{q_1}-s}} ||u||_{L^4}^{\frac{2(1-\beta_1)}{\frac{1}{q_1}-s}} t^{-\frac{2\rho}{\frac{1}{q_1}-s}} \in L^1(0,T),$$

and for any $\varepsilon > 0$,

$$t^{-\rho}(I) \lesssim \varepsilon ||r||_{H^1}^2 + f_1^u ||r||_{H^{-1}}^2.$$
(3.33)

For (II), let $q_2 = 4$. Then we have $\frac{1}{p_2} + \frac{1}{4} = \frac{1}{p_0} \in (\frac{3}{4}, 1)$, which implies that $p_2 \in (\frac{4}{3}, 2)$. Similarly by Lemma 2.5

$$||\mathfrak{A}^{\beta_0}r^2||_{L^{p_2}} \lesssim ||\mathfrak{A}^{\beta_0}r||_{L^{p_3}}||r||_{L^{q_3}},$$

where $\frac{1}{p_3} + \frac{1}{q_3} = \frac{1}{p_2}$, $p_3, q_3 > p_2$. From (3.25) we know that for every s > 0

$$||r||_{L^{q_3}} \lesssim ||r||_{H^1}^{1-\frac{1}{q_3}+\frac{s}{2}} ||r||_{H^{-1}}^{\frac{1}{q_3}-\frac{s}{2}}$$

Let $p_3 \ge 2$. Then by Lemma 2.1 we have

$$||\mathfrak{A}^{\beta_0}r||_{L^{p_3}} \lesssim ||r||_{H^{\beta_2}} \lesssim ||r||_{H^1}^{\frac{1+\beta_2}{2}} ||r||_{H^{-1}}^{\frac{1-\beta_2}{2}},$$

where we used Sobolev interpolation in the second inequality and that $\beta_0 = \beta_2 - 1 + \frac{2}{p_3}$. Hence

$$||\mathfrak{A}^{\beta_0}r^2||_{L^{p_2}} \lesssim ||r||_{H^1}^{\frac{3}{2} + \frac{\beta_2}{2} - \frac{1}{q_3} + \frac{s}{2}} ||r||_{H^{-1}}^{\frac{1}{2} - \frac{\beta_2}{2} + \frac{1}{q_3} - \frac{s}{2}} = ||r||_{H^1}^{2 + \frac{\beta_0}{2} - \frac{1}{p_2} + \frac{s}{2}} ||r||_{H^{-1}}^{\frac{1}{p_2} - \frac{s}{2} - \frac{\beta_0}{2}}$$

Thus, we have

$$(II) \lesssim ||r||_{H^1}^{2+\frac{\beta_0}{2}-\frac{1}{p_2}+\frac{s}{2}} ||r||_{H^{-1}}^{\frac{1}{p_2}-\frac{s}{2}-\frac{\beta_0}{2}} ||u||_{L^4}.$$

Then by Young's inequality we have

$$t^{-\rho}(II) \lesssim \varepsilon ||r||_{H^1}^2 + ||r||_{H^{-1}}^2 ||u||_{L^4}^{\frac{2}{\frac{1}{p_2} - \frac{s}{2} - \frac{\beta_0}{2}}} t^{-\frac{2\rho}{\frac{1}{p_2} - \frac{s}{2} - \frac{\beta_0}{2}}}$$

It is easy to see that $p_2 < 2$ yields $\frac{2}{\frac{1}{p_2} - \frac{s}{2} - \frac{\beta_0}{2}} \le 4$ when s, β_0 are small enough. Then for small enough ρ we have $f_2^u := ||u||_{L^4}^{\frac{2}{\frac{1}{p_2} - \frac{s}{2} - \frac{\beta_0}{2}}} t^{-\frac{2\rho}{\frac{1}{p_2} - \frac{s}{2} - \frac{\beta_0}{2}}} \in L^1(0, T).$ Then we obtain that for any $\varepsilon > 0$

$$|\langle r^2 u, Z \rangle| \lesssim \varepsilon ||r||_{H^1}^2 + f^u ||r||_{H^{-1}}^2,$$

where $f^u := f_1^u + f_2^u \in L^1(0, T)$.

The same holds with u replaced by v. Let $f = f^u + f^v \in L^1(0,T)$. Then

$$\langle r^2(u+v), \bar{Z} \rangle | \lesssim \varepsilon ||r||_{H^1}^2 + f||r||_{H^{-1}}^2.$$

Hence we get

$$\frac{d}{dt}||r||_{H^{-1}}^2 + ||r||_{H^1}^2 \lesssim \varepsilon ||r||_{H^1}^2 + (f+g)||r||_{H^{-1}}^2.$$

Choose a suitable $\varepsilon > 0$ such that

$$\frac{d}{dt}||r||_{H^{-1}}^2 \lesssim (f+g)||r||_{H^{-1}}^2.$$

Then by Gronwall's inequality we have

$$||r(t)||_{H^{-1}}^2 \lesssim ||r(0)||_{H^{-1}}^2 \exp\left(\int_0^t f(s) + g(s)ds\right) = 0.$$

Since V_0^{-1} is a subspace of H^{-1} , we obtain the uniqueness.

Remark 3.11. We emphasize that we cannot obtain global well-posedness of equation (3.19) by combining (3.22) with fixed point argument in [DPD03] and [MW17] since we only have an H^{-1} -estimate. In fact, in order to use fixed point arguments to obtain local solutions, the initial value should be in $C^{-\frac{4}{3}+}$. An initial value in H^{-1} -norm is not enough to use mild formulation to obtain local solution.

3.4 Relation to the solution given by Dirichlet forms

In this section, we are going to obtain a probabilistically weak solution of equation (3.1) via the Dirichlet form approach and compare this solution with the solution we obtain in Section 4.

According to the definition of V_0^{α} and [Hid80, Theorem 3.1], μ is supported on V_0^{-s} for any s > 1. So we fix a small enough $s_0 > 0$ and $V_0^{-1-s_0}$ as the state space and denote it by E for convenience. By identifying V_0^1 and V_0^{-1} via the Riesz isomrophism we have the following Gelfand triple:

$$E^* \subset V_0^{-1} \subset E \tag{3.34}$$

where $E^* = V_0^{s_0-1}$ and the dualization between E^* and E is $_{E^*}\langle u, v \rangle_E := _{V_0^{1+s_0}} \langle Qu, v \rangle_{V_0^{-1-s_0}}$ for any $u \in E^*, v \in E$. Here $_{V^s} \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{V^{-s}}$ is denoted by

$$_{V_0^s}\langle u, v \rangle_{V^{-s}} := \sum_k {}_{\mathcal{S}'} \langle u, e_k \rangle_{\mathcal{S}\mathcal{S}'} \langle v, e_k \rangle_{\mathcal{S}}, u \in V_0^s, v \in V_0^{-s}.$$
(3.35)

Then we have that

$${}_{E^*}\langle u, v \rangle_E = \langle u, v \rangle_{V_0^{-1}}, \forall u \in E^*, \forall v \in V_0^{-1}.$$
(3.36)

Moreover we define $\mathcal{F}C_b^{\infty}$; = { $f(_{E^*}\langle l_1, \cdot \rangle_E, \cdots, _{E^*}\langle l_m, \cdot \rangle_E)$: $m \in \mathbb{N}, f \in C_b^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^m), l_1, \cdots, l_m \in E^*$ }. For all $\varphi = f(_{E^*}\langle l_1, \cdot \rangle_E, \cdots, _{E^*}\langle l_m, \cdot \rangle_E) \in \mathcal{F}C_b^{\infty}$, we can define the directional derivative for $h \in V_0^{-1}$:

$$\partial_h \varphi(z) := \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{\varphi(z+th) - \varphi(z)}{t} = \sum_{i=1}^m \partial_i f({}_{E^*} \langle l_1, \cdot \rangle_E, \cdots, {}_{E^*} \langle l_m, \cdot \rangle_E) \langle l_i, h \rangle_{V_0^{-1}}$$

Then by the Riesz representation theorem, there exists a map $\nabla \varphi : E \to V_0^{-1}$ such that

$$\langle \nabla \varphi(z), h \rangle_{V_0^{-1}} = \partial_h \varphi(z), h \in V_0^{-1}.$$

3.4.1 Solution given by Dirichlet forms

Since $Q^{-1-s_0}: V_0^{1+s_0} \to V_0^{-1-s_0}$ is the Riesz isomorphism for $V_0^{1+s_0}$, i.e.

$$V_0^{1+s_0}\langle h,k\rangle_{V_0^{-1-s_0}} = \langle Q^{-1-s_0}h,k\rangle_{V_0^{-1-s_0}}$$

 μ is in fact a Gaussian measure on Hilbert space $V_0^{-1-s_0},$ with covariance operator $C:=Q^{2+s_0},$ that is

$$\int_{V_0^{-1-s_0}} e^{i\langle h, z \rangle_{V_0^{-1-s_0}}} \mu(dz) = \langle Ch, h \rangle_{V_0^{-1-s_0}}.$$

Then we have the following integration by parts formula for μ :

Proposition 3.12. For all $F \in \mathcal{F}C_b^{\infty}$, $h \in V_0^{3+s_0}$, we have

$$\int \partial_h F d\mu = \int {}_{E^*} \langle A^2 h, \phi \rangle_E F(\phi) \mu(d\phi).$$
(3.37)

Proof First, by [DPZ02, Section 1.2.4] we know the reproducing kernel of $(V_0^{-1-s_0}, \mu)$ is $V_{\mu} := C^{1/2}V_0^{-1-s_0} = V_0^1$. Then by [MR92, Theorem 3.1, Chapter II] we have

$$\int \partial_h F d\mu = \int \langle C^{-1}h, \phi \rangle_{V_0^{-1-s_0}} F(\phi)\mu(d\phi)$$

=
$$\int \langle Q^{-2-s_0}h, \phi \rangle_{V_0^{-1-s_0}} F(\phi)\mu(d\phi)$$

=
$$-\int_{V_0^{1+s_0}} \langle Ah, \phi \rangle_{V_0^{-1-s_0}} F(\phi)\mu(d\phi)$$

=
$$-\int_{E^*} \langle Q^{-1}Ah, \phi \rangle_E F(\phi)\mu(dz)$$

=
$$\int_{E^*} \langle A^2h, \phi \rangle_E F(\phi)\mu(dz).$$

Remark 3.13. In fact, by a similar argument in [GJ12, (9.1.32)], (3.37) still holds for $F \exp(-N)$, where $N = {}_{\mathcal{S}'}\langle :q:,e_0\rangle_{\mathcal{S}}$ i.e. for all $F \in \mathcal{F}C_b^{\infty}$, $h \in V_0^{3+s_0}$

$$\int \partial_h \left(F \exp(-N) \right) d\mu = \int E^* \langle A^2 h, \phi \rangle_E F(\phi) \exp(-N(\phi)) \mu(d\phi)$$

Then for the Gibbs measure ν defined in Section 3.2, we have the following integration by parts formula:

Proposition 3.14. For all $F \in \mathcal{F}C_b^{\infty}$, $h \in V_0^{3+s_0}$, we have

$$\int \partial_h F d\nu = \int \left({}_{E^*} \langle A^2 h, \phi \rangle_E - {}_{E^*} \langle Ah, : \phi^3 : \rangle_E \right) F(\phi) \nu(d\phi).$$
(3.38)

Proof According to Proposition 3.12 and Remark 3.13

$$\int \partial_h F d\nu = c \int (\partial_h F) \exp(-N) d\mu$$

$$= c \int [\partial_h (F \exp(-N)) + F \exp(-N) \partial_h N] d\mu$$

=
$$\int F(\phi) \left({}_{E^*} \langle A^2 h, \phi \rangle_E - \partial_h N(\phi) \right) \nu(d\phi)$$

By [Oba94, Theorem 4.1.1],

$$\partial_h : \phi_{\varepsilon}^n(x) := n : \phi_{\varepsilon}^{n-1}(x) : (\rho_{\varepsilon} * h)(x).$$

Here $\partial_h : \phi_{\varepsilon}^n(x)$ is defined as the directional derivative of the function $\phi \to \phi_{\varepsilon}^n(x)$. Then

$$\partial_h N_{\varepsilon}(\phi) = \langle : \phi_{\varepsilon}^3 :, h * \rho_{\varepsilon} \rangle,$$

where $N_{\varepsilon}(\phi) := \langle \frac{1}{4} : \phi_{\varepsilon}^4 :, e_0 \rangle$. Letting $\varepsilon \to 0$, due to the closability of $\partial_{\Pi h}$ in $L^2(E, \mu)$,

$$\partial_h N(\phi) = \langle : \phi^3 :, h \rangle = -_{E^*} \langle Ah, : \phi^3 : \rangle_{E_*}$$

which implies

$$\int \partial_h F d\nu = \int \left(E^* \langle A^2 h, \phi \rangle_E - E^* \langle A h, : \phi^3 : \rangle_E \right) F(\phi) \nu(d\phi).$$

Theorem 3.15. The bilinear form

$$\Lambda(\varphi,\psi) := \frac{1}{2} \int \langle \nabla \varphi, \nabla \psi \rangle_{V_0^{-1}} d\nu, \forall \varphi, \psi \in \mathcal{F}C_b^{\infty},$$

is closable in $L^2(E,\nu)$. Its closure is a symmetric quasi-regular Dirichlet form denoted by $(\Lambda, D(\Lambda))$.

Proof Let $h_k = \sqrt{\lambda_k} e_k$, $\{h_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^2 \setminus \{(0,0)\}}$ is an orthonormal basis of V_0^{-1} . Then

$$\Lambda(\varphi,\psi) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^2 \setminus \{(0,0)\}} \int \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial h_k} \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial h_k} d\nu, \forall \varphi, \psi \in \mathcal{F}C_b^{\infty},$$

By Proposition 3.14 we have $\int \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial h_k} d\nu = -\int \varphi \beta_{h_k} d\nu$, where $\beta_{h_k} \in L^2(E,\nu)$ and $\beta_{h_k}(\phi) = -\pi i \langle A^2 h_k, \phi \rangle = \pm \pi i \langle A h_k, \phi \rangle = \frac{1}{2} \langle A h_k, \phi \rangle = \frac{1$

$$\beta_{h_k}(\phi) = -E^* \langle A^2 h_k, \phi \rangle_E + E^* \langle A h_k, : \phi^3 : \rangle_E, \forall k \neq (0, 0).$$

According to [MR92, Proposition 3.5, Chapter II], $(\Lambda, \mathcal{F}C_b^{\infty})$ is closable on $L^2(E, \nu)$ and its closure $(\Lambda, D(\Lambda))$ is a symmetric Dirichlet form. Moreover by [MR92, Proposition 4.2, Chapter IV], the capacity of $(\Lambda, D(\Lambda))$ is tight, and according to the fact that $\mathcal{F}C_b^{\infty}$ separates the points in $L^2(E, \nu)$, we obtain that $(\Lambda, D(\Lambda))$ is a quasi-regular Dirichlet form. \Box

Since $(\Lambda, D(\Lambda))$ is a quasi-regular Dirichlet form on $L^2(E, \nu)$, it is well-known that there is a conservative Markov diffusion processes

$$M = (\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{M}_t, (X(t))_{t \ge 0}, (\mathbb{P}^z)_{z \in E}),$$

which is properly associated with $(\Lambda, D(\Lambda))$, i.e. for $u \in L^2(E, \nu) \cap \mathcal{B}_b(E)$, the transition semigroup $P_t u(z) := E^z[u(X(t))]$ is Λ -quasi-continuous for all t > 0 and is a ν -version of $T_t u$ where T_t is the semigroup associated with $(\Lambda, D(\Lambda))$. For the notion of Λ -quasicontinuity we refer to [MR92, Chapter III, Definition 3.2]. Then we have the following Fukushima decomposition for X(t) under \mathbb{P}^z : **Theorem 3.16.** There exists a map $W : \Omega \to C([0,\infty); C([0,\infty); V_0^{-1-s_0}(\mathbb{T}^2, \mathbb{R}^2)))$, and a properly Λ -exceptional set $S \subset E$, *i.e.* $\nu(S) = 0$ and $\mathbb{P}^z(X(t) \in E \setminus S, \forall t \ge 0) = 1$ for $z \in E \setminus S$, such that $\forall z \in E \setminus S$, W is a U-cylindrical Wiener process on $(\Omega, \mathcal{M}_t, \mathbb{P}^z)$ and the sample paths of the associated process $M = (\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{M}_t, (X(t))_{t\ge 0}, (\mathbb{P}^z)_{z\in E})$ on E satisfy the following: for $h \in V^{3+s_0}$,

$$E^{*}\langle h, X(t) - X(0) \rangle_{E} = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{t} E^{*} \langle A^{2}h, X(s) \rangle_{E} ds + \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{t} E^{*} \langle Ah, : X(s)^{3} : \rangle_{E} ds + \int_{0}^{t} \langle B^{*}h, dW_{s} \rangle_{V_{0}^{-1}(\mathbb{T}^{2}, \mathbb{R}^{2})}, \forall t \ge 0, \mathbb{P}^{z} - a.s.,$$
(3.39)

where B, B^* are defined as in (3.8). Moreover, ν is an invariant measure for M in the sense that $\int P_t u d\nu = \int u d\nu$ for $u \in L^2(E, \nu) \cap \mathcal{B}_b(E)$.

Proof Let $u_h(\phi) = {}_{E^*}\langle h, \phi \rangle_E, h \in V_0^{3+s_0}$, and let \mathcal{L} be the generator of $(\Lambda, D(\Lambda))$. For any $v \in D(\Lambda)$

$$-\int \mathcal{L}u_h v d\nu = \frac{1}{2} \int \langle \nabla u_h, \nabla v \rangle_{V_0^{-1}} d\nu$$
$$= -\frac{1}{2} \int \partial_h v(\phi) \nu(d\phi)$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \int \left(E^* \langle A^2 h, \phi \rangle_E - E^* \langle Ah, : \phi^3 : \rangle_E \right) v(\phi) \nu(d\phi).$$

Hence $u_h \in D(\mathcal{L})$ and $\mathcal{L}u_h(\phi) = -\frac{1}{2} ({}_{E^*}\langle A^2h, \phi \rangle_E - {}_{E^*}\langle Ah, : \phi^3 : \rangle_E)$. By Fukushima's decomposition, we have for q.e. $z \in E$,

$$u_{h}(X_{t}) - u_{h}(X_{0}) = M_{t}^{h} + \int_{0}^{t} \mathcal{L}u_{h}(X_{s})ds = M_{t}^{h} - \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{t} \left(E^{*} \langle A^{2}h, X_{s} \rangle_{E} - E^{*} \langle Ah, : X_{s}^{3} : \rangle_{E} \right) ds,$$

where M^h is a martingale additive functional with $\langle M^h \rangle_t = t \|h\|_{V_0^{-1}}^2$.

In fact, by [AR91, Proposition 4.5],

$$\langle M^h \rangle_t = \int_0^t \langle \nabla u_h(X_s), \nabla u_h(X_s) \rangle_{V_0^{-1}} ds = t \|h\|_{V_0^{-1}}^2$$

For $f = B^* \bar{Q}h \in U$, with $h \in V_0^{-1}$, define $W_t^f := M_t^h$ and let $D := span\{B^*Qe_k : k \in \mathbb{Z}^2 \setminus \{(0,0)\}\}$. Since $\|B^*Qh\|_U^2 = \|h\|_{V_0^{-1}}^2$, it is easy to check that $\langle W^f, W^g \rangle_t = t \langle f, g \rangle_U$ for $f, g \in D$, where $\langle W^f, W^g \rangle_t$ is the bracket process of W^f and W^g . Moreover D is dense in U and W_t^{\cdot} is Q-linear on D, since the embedding $U \to V_0^{-1-s}(\mathbb{T}^2, \mathbb{R}^2)$ is Hilbert-Schmidt for any s > 0. By [AR91, Theorem 6.2], there exist a map $W : \Omega \to C([0, \infty); V_0^{-1-s}(\mathbb{T}^2, \mathbb{R}^2))$, and a properly Λ -exceptional set $S \subset E$, i.e. $\nu(S) = 0$ and $\mathbb{P}^z (X(t) \in E \setminus S, \forall t \ge 0) = 1$ for $z \in E \setminus S$, such that $\forall z \in E \setminus S$, W is a U-cylindrical Wiener process on $(\Omega, \mathcal{M}_t, \mathbb{P}^z)$ such that for any $f \in D$

$$_{V_0^{-1-s}}\langle W, f \rangle_{V_0^{1+s}} = W^f, \mathbb{P}^z - a.s.,$$

where $_{V_0^{-1-s}}\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{V_0^{1+s}}$ is defined by (3.35). In particular,

$$\langle B^*h, W_t \rangle_{V_0^{-1}(\mathbb{T}^2, \mathbb{R}^2)} = \langle W_t, B^*Qh \rangle_U = M_t^h,$$

and $W = (W^1, W^2)$, where $W^i : \Omega \to C([0, \infty); E), i = 1, 2$ are two independent L^2_0 -cylindrical Wiener processes under \mathbb{P}^z for any $z \in E \setminus S$.

3.4.2 Relation between the two solutions

In the following we discuss the relation between M constructed above and the shifted equation (1.12). In fact, by Lemma 2.1 we have that $\mathcal{C}^{-\alpha} \subset V^{-1-s_0}$ for $\alpha \in (0,1)$, $\mathcal{C}^{-\alpha} \in \mathcal{B}(V^{-1-s_0})$ and $\nu(\mathcal{C}^{-\alpha} \cap E) = 1$. For W constructed in Theorem 3.16 define $Z(t) := \int_0^t e^{-(t-s)A^2/2} B dW_s$.

Theorem 3.17. Let $\alpha \in (0, \frac{1}{3})$, $\alpha < \beta < 2 - \alpha$. There exists a properly Λ -exceptional set $S_2 \subset E$ in the sense of Theorem 3.16 such that for every $z \in (\mathcal{C}^{-\alpha} \cap E) \setminus S_2$ under \mathbb{P}^z , $Y := X - Z \in C((0,T]; \mathcal{C}^{\beta}) \cap C([0,T]; \mathcal{C}^{-\alpha})$ is a solution to the following equation:

$$Y(t) = \frac{1}{2} \int_0^t e^{-(t-s)A^2/2} A \sum_{l=0}^3 C_3^l Y(s)^l : Z(s)^{3-l} : ds + e^{-\frac{t}{2}A^2} X(0).$$
(3.40)

Here $C((0,T];\mathcal{C}^{\beta})$ is equipped with the norm $\sup_{t\in[0,T]} t^{\frac{\beta+\alpha}{4}} ||\cdot||_{\beta}$. Moreover,

$$\mathbb{P}^{z}[X(t) \in (\mathcal{C}^{-\alpha} \cap E) \setminus S_{2}, \forall t \ge 0] = 1 \text{ for } z \in (\mathcal{C}^{-\alpha} \cap E) \setminus S_{2}$$

Proof For $z \in E \setminus S$ under \mathbb{P}^z we have that

$$X(t) = \frac{1}{2} \int_0^t e^{-(t-\tau)A^2/2} A : X(\tau)^3 : d\tau + Z(t) + e^{-\frac{t}{2}A^2} X(0).$$

Since ν is an invariant measure for X, by Lemma 2.1 and Lemma 3.2 we conclude that for every $T \ge 0$, p > 1, $\delta > 0$, with $2\delta - \alpha < 0$, and $p_0 > 1$ large enough

$$\int \mathbb{E}^{z} \int_{0}^{T} \| : X(\tau)^{3} : \|_{-\alpha}^{p} d\tau \nu(dz) \lesssim \int \mathbb{E}^{z} \int_{0}^{T} \| : X(\tau)^{3} : \|_{B^{\delta-\alpha}_{p_{0},p_{0}}}^{p} d\tau \nu(dz)$$
$$= T \int \| : \phi^{3} : \|_{B^{\delta-\alpha}_{p_{0},p_{0}}}^{p} \nu(d\phi) \lesssim T \int \| : \phi^{3} : \|_{2\delta-\alpha}^{p} \nu(d\phi) < \infty,$$

which implies that there exists a properly Λ -exceptional set $S_1 \supset S$ such that for $z \in E \setminus S_1$ P^z -a.s.

$$: X(\cdot)^3 :\in L^p(0,T;\mathcal{C}^{-\alpha}), \quad \mathbb{E}^z \int_0^T \| : X(\tau)^3 : \|_{-\alpha}^p d\tau < \infty, \quad \forall p > 1.$$

Here we used Lemma 2.1 to deduce the first result. The second, however, does not imply the first directly because of (2.1). Lemma 2.2 implies that for $\alpha < \beta < 2 - \alpha$

$$\int_0^t e^{-(t-\tau)A^2/2} A : X(\tau)^3 : d\tau \in C([0,\infty); \mathcal{C}^\beta) \quad \mathbb{P}^z - a.s.$$

Now by Lemma 2.2 we conclude that for $z \in \mathcal{C}^{-\alpha} \setminus S_1$, $e^{-\frac{t}{2}A^2}X(0) \in C([0,T], \mathcal{C}^{-\alpha}) \cap C((0,T], \mathcal{C}^{\beta})$. Thus,

$$X - Z \in C([0, T], \mathcal{C}^{-\alpha}) \cap C((0, T], \mathcal{C}^{\beta}) \quad \mathbb{P}^z - a.s.$$

Since $\mathbb{P}^{\nu} \circ X(t)^{-1} = \nu$, by Lemma 3.6 we conclude that under \mathbb{P}^{ν} , by Fubini's theorem Y := X - Z satisfies (3.40) and for ν -a.e. $z \in E$ under \mathbb{P}^{z} , Y := X - Z satisfies (3.40).

In the following we prove that these results hold under \mathbb{P}^z for z outside a properly Λ -exceptional set. First we have $Z \in C([0,\infty); \mathcal{C}^{-\alpha}) \mathbb{P}^{\nu}$ -a.s., which combined with $X - Z \in C([0,T], \mathcal{C}^{-\alpha})$ implies

$$\mathbb{P}^{\nu}[X \in C([0,\infty), \mathcal{C}^{-\alpha})] = 1.$$

We also have

$$\bar{Y}(s,t_0) := X(s+t_0) - Z(s+t_0) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{t_0}^{t_0+s} e^{-(t_0+s-\tau)A^2/2} A : X(\tau)^3 : d\tau + e^{-sA^2/2} (X(t_0) - Z(t_0)) \in C((0,\infty)^2; \mathcal{C}^\beta) \quad \mathbb{P}^\nu - a.s..$$

Similar arguments as in the proof of Lemma 3.6 imply that $\forall s > 0, t_0 \ge 0$

$$\mathbb{P}^{\nu}(X(s+t_0)^3) := \sum_{l=0}^3 C_3^l \bar{Y}(s,t_0)^l : Z(s+t_0)^{3-l} :,$$

$$X \in C([0,\infty), \mathcal{C}^{-\alpha}), \bar{Y} \in C((0,\infty)^2; \mathcal{C}^{\beta})) = 1,$$

In the following we use I_{t,t_0} to denote the equality

$$\int_{0}^{t} e^{-(t-s)A^{2}/2}A : X(s+t_{0})^{3} : ds$$
$$= \sum_{l=0}^{3} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-(t-s)A^{2}/2}AC_{3}^{l}\bar{Y}(s,t_{0})^{l} : Z(s+t_{0})^{3-l} : ds.$$

Then using Fubini's theorem we know that

$$\mathbb{P}^{\nu}(I_{t,t_0} \text{ holds } \forall t \ge 0, a.e.t_0 \ge 0, X \in C([0,\infty); \mathcal{C}^{-\alpha}), \bar{Y} \in C((0,\infty)^2; \mathcal{C}^{\beta})) = 1.$$

Here we used $X \in C([0,\infty); \mathcal{C}^{-\alpha})$ for $\alpha < \frac{1}{3}$ to make the right hand side of I_{t,t_0} meaningful. It is obvious that the right hand side of the first equality is continuous with respect to t_0 . Since $\int_0^t e^{-(t-s)A^2/2}A : X(s+t_0)^3 : ds = \int_{t_0}^{t+t_0} e^{-(t-s+t_0)A^2/2}A : X(s)^3 : ds$ we know that $\int_0^t e^{-(t-s)A^2/2}A : X(s+t_0)^3 : ds$ is also continuous with respect to t_0 and we obtain that

$$\mathbb{P}^{\nu}(I_{t,t_0} \text{ holds } \forall t, t_0 \ge 0, X \in C([0,\infty); \mathcal{C}^{-\alpha}), \bar{Y} \in C((0,\infty)^2; \mathcal{C}^{\beta})) = 1$$

This implies that there exists a properly Λ -exceptional set $S_2 \supset S_1$ such that for $z \in (\mathcal{C}^{-\alpha} \cap E) \setminus S_2$ under \mathbb{P}^z

$$\mathbb{P}^{z}(X \in C([0,\infty); \mathcal{C}^{-\alpha}), I_{t,t_0} \text{ holds } \forall t, t_0 \ge 0) = 1.$$

Indeed, define

$$\Omega_0 := \{ \omega : X \in C([0,\infty); \mathcal{C}^{-\alpha}), : Z^k :\in C((0,\infty); \mathcal{C}^{-\alpha}), k = 1, 2, 3, I_{t,t_0} \text{ holds } \forall t, t_0 \ge 0 \},\$$

and let $\Theta_t : \Omega \to \Omega, t > 0$, be the canonical shift, i.e. $\Theta_t(\omega) = \omega(\cdot + t), \omega \in \Omega$. Then it is easy to check that

$$\Theta_t^{-1}\Omega_0 \supset \Omega_0, \quad t \in \mathbb{R}^+,$$

and

$$\Omega_0 = \bigcap_{t>0, t \in \mathbb{Q}} \Theta_t^{-1} \Omega_0.$$

On the other hand, by the Markov property we know that

$$\mathbb{P}^{z}(\Theta_{t}^{-1}\Omega_{0}) = P_{t}(1_{\Omega_{0}})(z), \forall z \in (\mathcal{C}^{-\alpha} \cap E) \setminus S_{2}$$

which by [MR92, Chapter IV Theorem 3.5] is Λ -quasi-continuous in the sense of [MR92, Chapter III Definition 3.2] on E. It follows that for every t > 0

$$\mathbb{P}^{z}(\Theta_{t}^{-1}\Omega_{0}) = 1 \quad q.e.z \in E,$$

which yields that

$$\mathbb{P}^z(\Omega_0) = 1 \quad q.e.z \in E.$$

Here q.e. means that there exists a properly Λ -exceptional set such that outside this exceptional set the result holds. Now Y satisfies (3.40) \mathbb{P}^{z} -a.s. for $z \in (\mathcal{C}^{-\alpha} \cap E) \setminus S_2$. Moreover, for $z \in (\mathcal{C}^{-\alpha} \cap E) \setminus S_2$ $Y \in C([0,\infty); \mathcal{C}^{-\alpha}) \cap C([0,T], \mathcal{C}^{\beta}), Z \in C([0,\infty); \mathcal{C}^{-\alpha})$ \mathbb{P}^{z} -a.s., which implies that

$$\mathbb{P}^{z}[X(t) \in (\mathcal{C}^{-\alpha} \cap E) \setminus S_{2}, \forall t \ge 0] = 1 \text{ for } z \in (\mathcal{C}^{-\alpha} \cap E) \setminus S_{2}.$$

Corollary 3.18. Let $\bar{X} = \bar{Y} + Z$ where \bar{Y} is the unique solution to (3.19). ν is an invariant measure of \bar{X} .

Proof By Theorem 3.17 and the uniqueness of the solution to (3.19) we know that $X \stackrel{d}{=} \bar{X}$, $\mathbb{P}^z - a.s. \forall z \in (\mathcal{C}^{-\alpha} \cap E) \setminus S_2$, which combined with $\nu(\mathcal{C}^{-\alpha} \cap E) = 1$ implies that ν is an invariant measure of \bar{X} .

3.4.3 Markov uniqueness in the restricted sense

In this subsection we prove Markov uniqueness in the restricted sense and the uniqueness of the martingale (probabilistically weak) solutions to (3.1) if the solution has ν as an invariant measure.

By [MR92, Chapter 4, Section 4b] it follows that there is a point separating countable \mathbb{Q} -vector space $D \subset \mathcal{F}C_b^{\infty}$ such that $D \subset D(L(\Lambda))$. Let $\Lambda^{q.r.}$ be the set of all quasi-regular Dirichlet forms $(\tilde{\Lambda}, D(\tilde{\Lambda}))$ (cf. [MR92]) on $L^2(E; \nu)$ such that $D \subset D(L(\tilde{\Lambda}))$ and $\tilde{\Lambda} = \Lambda$ on $D \times D$. Here for a Dirichlet form $(\tilde{\Lambda}, D(\tilde{\Lambda}))$ we denote its generator by $(L(\tilde{\Lambda}), D(L(\tilde{\Lambda})))$.

In the following we consider the martingale problem in the sense of [AR94] and probabilistically weak solutions to (3.1):

Definition 3.19. (i) A ν -special standard process $M = (\Omega, \mathcal{F}, (\mathcal{M}_t), X_t, (\mathbb{P}^z))$ in the sense of [MR92, Chapter IV] with state space E is said to solve the martingale problem for $(L(\Lambda), D)$ if for all $u \in D$, $u(X(t)) - u(X(0)) - \int_0^t L(\Lambda)u(X(s))ds$, $t \ge 0$, is an (\mathcal{M}_t) -martingale under \mathbb{P}^{ν} .

(ii) A ν -special standard process $M = (\Omega, \mathcal{F}, (\mathcal{M}_t), X_t, (P^z))$ with state space Eis called a probabilistically weak solution to (3.1) if there exists two map $W^i : \Omega \to C([0,\infty); E)$ i = 1, 2 such that for ν -a.e. z under \mathbb{P}^z , $W := (W^1, W^2)$ is an $L^2_0(\mathbb{T}^2, \mathbb{R}^2)$ cylindrical Wiener process with respect to (\mathcal{M}_t) and the sample paths of the associated process satisfy (3.39) for all $h \in V^{3+s_0}$. **Remark 3.20.** If M is a probabilistically weak solution to (3.1), we can easily check that it also solves the martingale problem. Conversely, if M solves the martingale problem, then with the same argument in Theorem 3.16, there exists an $L^2_0(\mathbb{T}^2, \mathbb{R}^2)$ -cylindrical Wiener process W such that (X, W) satisfies (3.39) for $h \in V^{3+s_0}$. That is to say, these two definitions are equivalent.

To explain the uniqueness result below we also introduce the following concept:

Two strong Markov processes M and M' with state space E and transition semigroups $(p_t)_{t>0}$ and $(p'_t)_{t>0}$ are called ν -equivalent if there exists $S \in \mathcal{B}(E)$ such that (i) $\nu(E \setminus S) = 0$, (ii) $\mathbb{P}^z[X(t) \in S, \forall t \ge 0] = \mathbb{P}'^z[X'(t) \in S, \forall t \ge 0] = 1, z \in S$, (iii) $p_t f(z) = p'_t f(z)$ for all $f \in \mathcal{B}_b(E), t > 0$ and $z \in S$.

Combining Theorem 3.9 and Theorem 3.10, we obtain Markov uniqueness in the restricted sense for $(L(\Lambda), D)$ (see part (iii)) and the uniqueness of martingale (probabilistically weak) solutions to (1.1) if the solution has ν as an invariant measure (see part (i), (ii)):

Theorem 3.21. (i) There exists (up to ν -equivalence) exactly one probabilistically weak solution M to (3.1) satisfying $\mathbb{P}^{z}(X \in C([0,\infty); E)) = 1$ for ν -a.e. and having ν as an invariant measure, i.e. for the transition semigroup $(p_{t})_{t\geq 0}$, $\int p_{t}fd\nu = \int fd\nu$ for $f \in L^{2}(E; \nu)$.

(ii) There exists (up to ν -equivalence) exactly one ν -special standard process M with state space E solving the martingale problem for $(L(\Lambda), D)$ and satisfying $\mathbb{P}^{z}(X \in C([0, \infty); E)) = 1$ for ν -a.e. and having ν as an invariant measure.

(iii) $\sharp \Lambda^{q.r.} = 1$. Moreover, there exists (up to ν -equivalence) exactly one ν -special standard process M with state space E associated with a Dirichlet form $(\Lambda, D(\Lambda))$ solving the martingale problem for $(L(\Lambda), D)$.

Proof The proof is the same as [RZZ17b, Theorem 3.12].

For (i), suppose that M^1 is a probabilistically weak solution to (3.1) and let p_t^1 be the transition semigroup (of sub-probability kernels) associated with M^1 . Since ν is an invariant measure and

$$p_t^1 f \to^{t \to 0} f,$$

for $f \in \mathcal{F}C_b^{\infty}$, by [MR92, Chapter II, Subsection 4a] $(p_t^1)_{t>0}$ uniquely determines a strongly continuous contraction semigroup $(T_t^1)_{t>0}$ of operators on $L^2(E;\nu)$. By the proof of Theorem 3.17 we know that the solution to (3.39) having ν as an invariant measure minus Z also satisfies (3.40) under \mathbb{P}^{ν} . Moreover, by the pathwise uniqueness of solutions to (3.40) we obtain that $p_t^1 f(z) = P_t f(z) \nu$ -a.e. for all $f \in \mathcal{B}_b(E), t > 0$, which implies that p_t^1 is associated with the Dirichlet form $(\Lambda, D(\Lambda))$ obtained in Section 3.2. Here P_t is the semigroup properly associated with $(\Lambda, D(\Lambda))$ obtained in Section 3.2. Since M^1 is a ν -special standard process and has continuous paths, by [MR92, Chapter 4, Theorem 1.15, Theorem 5.1] M^1 is properly associated with $(\Lambda, D(\Lambda))$. Then by [MR92, Chapter 4, Theorem 6.4] M^1 is ν -equivalent to M obtained in Section 3.2, which implies (i) easily.

(ii) follows from the first result and the above Remark.

The second result in (iii) follows from the first result and [AR95, Theorem 3.4]. We only prove the first. Since for every $(\tilde{\Lambda}, D(\tilde{\Lambda})) \in \Lambda^{q.r.}$ there exists a unique Markov process \tilde{M} associated with $(\tilde{\Lambda}, D(\tilde{\Lambda}))$ and Theorem 3.16 holds for \tilde{M} , by Theorems 3.17 and 3.10 we know that for the semigroup \tilde{p}_t associated with \tilde{M} we have $\tilde{p}_t f = P_t f \nu$ -a.e. for $f \in \mathcal{B}_b(E)$, which implies that \tilde{p}_t is a ν -version of the semigroup T_t associated with $(\Lambda, D(\Lambda))$. Then by [MR92, Chapter I] we know that $(\Lambda, D(\Lambda)) = (\tilde{\Lambda}, D(\tilde{\Lambda}))$. Now (iii) follows.

3.4.4 Stationary solution

Now we consider the stationary case. In this case, we can obtain a probabilistically strong solution to 3.1. Take two different stationary solutions X_1, X_2 to 3.1 with the same initial condition $\eta \in \mathcal{C}^{-\alpha} \cap E$, $\alpha > 0$, α small enough, having the distribution ν . We have

$$X_i(t) = e^{-\frac{t}{2}A^2}\eta + \frac{1}{2}\int_0^t e^{-\frac{t-\tau}{2}A^2}A : X_i(\tau)^3 : d\tau + Z(t),$$

where Z is the stochastic convolution

$$Z(t) = \int_0^t e^{-\frac{t-s}{2}A^2} B dW_s$$

By a similar argument as in the proof of Theorem 3.17 and using Lemma 3.2 we have that for every p > 1

$$\mathbb{E}\int_{0}^{T} \| : X_{i}(\tau)^{3} : \|_{-\alpha}^{p} d\tau = T \int \| : \phi^{3} : \|_{-\alpha}^{p} \nu(d\phi) < \infty.$$

Then Lemma 2.2 implies that for $\alpha > 0$, $\alpha < \beta < 2 - \alpha$

$$\int_0^t e^{-\frac{t-\tau}{2}A^2} A : X_i(\tau)^3 : d\tau \in C([0,T];\mathcal{C}^\beta) \quad \mathbb{P}-a.s.$$

Thus by Lemma 2.2 we conclude that

$$X_i - Z \in C((0, T]; \mathcal{C}^\beta) \quad \mathbb{P} - a.s.,$$

where $C((0,T]; \mathcal{C}^{\beta})$ is equipped with the norm $\sup_{t \in [0,T]} t^{\frac{\beta+\alpha}{4}} \| \cdot \|_{\beta}$. Moreover, similar arguments as in the proof of Theorem 3.6 yield that if $\alpha > 0$ with α small enough, $X_i - Z$ is a solution to the following equation

$$Y(t) = \frac{1}{2} \int_0^t e^{-(t-s)A^2/2} A \sum_{l=0}^3 C_3^l Y(s)^l : Z(s)^{3-l} : ds + e^{-\frac{t}{2}A^2} \eta.$$
(3.41)

Here the Wick powers of Z are defined as in Lemma 3.4.

Now by [LR15, Proposition G.0.5] we know the solutions to equation (3.41) are also the solutions to (3.19) and by uniqueness of the solutions to (3.19) in Theorem 3.10, this implies that

$$X_1 - Z = X_2 - Z$$
 on $[0, T]$ $\mathbb{P} - a.s.$.

Then the pathwise uniqueness holds for the stationary solutions to (3.1). Now by the existence of the stationary martingale solution (cf. [MR99]) and the Yamada-Watanabe Theorem in [Kur07] we obtain:

Theorem 3.22. For any initial condition $X(0) \in C^{-\alpha} \cap E$ with distribution ν and $\alpha > 0$, α small enough, there exists a unique probabilistically strong solution X to (3.1) such that X is a stationary process, i.e. for every probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \{\mathcal{F}_t\}_{t\in[0,T]}, \mathbb{P})$ with a U-Wiener process W, there exists an \mathcal{F}_t -adapted stationary process $X : [0,T] \times \Omega \to E$ such that for $\mathbb{P} - a.s. \ \omega \in \Omega$, X satisfies (3.1). Moreover, for $0 < \beta < 2 - \alpha$

$$X - Z \in C((0, T]; \mathcal{C}^{\beta}) \quad \mathbb{P} - a.s..$$

3.5 Ergodicity

Let X = Y + Z where Y is the solution to equation (3.19). By the uniqueness of the solution Y we have that X is a Markov process. Let P_t be the semigroup of X, i.e

$$P_t \Phi(x) = \mathbb{E}\Phi\left(X(t,x)\right), \quad \forall \Phi \in C_b(V_0^{-1}).$$

We recall that the U-cylindrical Wiener process W take values in $C([0, T], V_0^{-1-s_0}(\mathbb{T}^2, \mathbb{R}^2))$, $\mathbb{P}-a.s.$, for any $s_0 > 0$. Let \mathcal{D} denote the Fréchet derivative of functions on $C([0, T], V_0^{-1-s_0}(\mathbb{T}^2, \mathbb{R}^2))$ (i.e. with respect to the noise). We also denote the Cameron-Maritin space by $\mathcal{CM} := \{\omega : \partial_t \omega \in L^2([0, T], L_0^2(\mathbb{T}^2; \mathbb{R}^2)), \omega(0) = (0, 0)\}$. Here we view $\partial_t \omega$ as a function on $[0, T] \times \mathbb{T}^2$ rather than lying in the tangent space of \mathbb{T}^2 .

Proposition 3.23. For a fixed $x \in V_0^{-1}$, let $\mathfrak{X}_t^x := X(t, x) = Z_t + Y(t, x)$ be a map from $C([0, T], V_0^{-1-s_0})$ to V_0^{-1} . For any $\omega \in C\mathcal{M}$ its directional derivative $\mathcal{D}\mathfrak{X}_t^x(\omega)$ is given in mild form as

$$\mathcal{DX}_{t}^{x}(\omega) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-(t-s)A^{2}/2} A \sum_{l=0}^{2} 3C_{2}^{l} Y^{2-l}(s) : Z_{s}^{l} : \mathcal{DX}_{s}^{x}(\omega) ds + \int_{0}^{t} e^{-(t-s)A^{2}/2} B d\omega_{s}.$$
(3.42)

The proof of Proposition 3.23 can be obtained by using approximation or the implicit function theorem (see [Dri03, Theorem 19.28], [HM18], [TW16]).

Let D denote the Fréchet derivative of functions on V_0^{-1} . We also consider the following equation:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t J_{s,t}h = -\frac{1}{2}A^2 J_{s,t}h + \frac{1}{2}A\left(\sum_{l=0}^2 3C_2^l Y^{2-l}(t) : Z_t^l : J_{s,t}h\right) \\ J_{s,s}h = h \in V_0^{-1} \end{cases}$$
(3.43)

Then $J_{0,t}h = DX(t,x)(h)$, i.e. it is the derivative of $X(t,\cdot)$ in the direction h. For $\omega \in \mathcal{CM}$, by Duhamel's principle

$$\mathcal{DX}_t^x(\omega) = \int_0^t J_{s,t} B \partial_s \omega(s) ds.$$
(3.44)

We define the stopping time

$$\tau^{r} := \inf\{t \in (0,T) : t^{\rho} || : Z_{t}^{k} : ||_{-\alpha} > r, k = 1, 2, 3\},$$
(3.45)

where $\rho > 0$ is a small enough constant introduced in Lemma 3.4.

Proposition 3.24. For any $x \in V_0^{-1}$ with $||x||_{H^{-1}} \leq R$, there exists constants $C_1(R), C_2(R)$ such that for all $t \leq \tau^r$

$$\sup_{s \le t} ||Y_s||_{H^{-1}} \vee \int_0^t ||Y_s||_{L^4}^4 ds \vee \int_0^t ||Y_s||_{H^1}^2 ds \le C_1 \quad and \quad \sup_{s \le t} ||J_{0,s}h||_{H^{-1}} \le C_2 ||h||_{H^{-1}}$$

Proof The first bound with constant C_1 follows from the proof of Theorem 3.7.

For the second bound, we note that $J_{0,t}h$ satisfies the following equation:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{du}{dt} = -\frac{1}{2}A^2u + \frac{1}{2}A\left(\sum_{l=0}^2 3C_2^l Y^{2-l}(t) : Z_t^l : u\right)\\ u(0) = h \end{cases}.$$

Taking scalar product with $(-A)^{-1}u$, we obtain that

$$\frac{d}{dt}||u||_{H^{-1}}^2 + ||u||_{H^1}^2 = -3\langle Y^2 + 2YZ + Z^2 :, u^2 \rangle,$$

that is

$$\frac{d}{dt}||u||_{H^{-1}}^2 + ||u||_{H^1}^2 \le 6|\langle YZ, u^2\rangle| + 3|\langle :Z^2:, u^2\rangle|.$$

Following the same argument that we used to estimate (3.31) and using the first bound, we use Grönwall's inequality to obtain the second bound.

Let $\chi_r \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ such that $\chi_r(\zeta) \in [0,1]$ for all $\zeta \in \mathbb{R}$, and

$$\chi_r(\zeta) = \begin{cases} 1, |\zeta| \le \frac{r}{2} \\ 0, |\zeta| \ge r \end{cases}.$$

Following the notation in [TW16], we set

$$C^{3,-\alpha}(0,T) := C([0,T]; \mathcal{C}^{-\alpha}) \times C((0,T]; \mathcal{C}^{-\alpha})^2,$$
(3.46)

and $\underline{Z} := (Z, : Z^2 :, :Z^3 :) \in C^{3,-\alpha}(0,T)$. We also define

$$\|\underline{Z}\|_{t} := \max_{k=1,2,3} \left\{ \sup_{0 \le s \le t} s^{\rho} || : Z_{s}^{k} : ||_{-\alpha} \right\}.$$

Theorem 3.25. (Bismut-Elworthy-Li Formula) Let $x \in V_0^{-1}$, $\Phi \in C_b^1(V_0^{-1})$ and ω be a process taking values in the Cameron-Martin space \mathcal{CM} with $\partial_s \omega$ adapted. Assume that there exists a deterministic constant $C \equiv C(t)$ such that $||\partial_s \omega||_{L^2(0,t;U)} \leq C \mathbb{P} - a.s.$. Then we have

$$\mathbb{E}[D\Phi(\mathfrak{X}_{t}^{x})(\mathcal{D}\mathfrak{X}_{t}^{x}(\omega))\chi_{r}(|||\underline{Z}|||_{t})] = \mathbb{E}\left(\Phi(\mathfrak{X}_{t}^{x})\chi_{r}(|||\underline{Z}|||_{t})\int_{0}^{t}\langle\partial_{s}\omega(s),dW_{s}\rangle\right), \qquad (3.47)$$
$$-\mathbb{E}\left(\Phi(\mathfrak{X}_{t}^{x})\partial_{+}\chi_{r}(|||\underline{Z}|||_{t})(\omega)\right)$$

where

$$\partial_{+}\chi_{r}(|||\underline{Z}|||_{t})(\omega) = \partial_{\zeta}\chi_{r}(|||\underline{Z}|||_{t})\partial_{+}|||\underline{Z}|||_{t}(\underline{Y}),$$

$$\partial_{+}|||\underline{Z}|||_{t}(\underline{Y}) = \lim_{\delta \to 0^{+}} \frac{|||\underline{Z} + \delta \underline{Y}|||_{t} - |||\underline{Z}|||_{t}}{\delta},$$
(3.48)

 $\underline{Y} = (Q_{\omega}(\cdot), 2ZQ_{\omega}(\cdot), 3: Z^2: Q_{\omega}(\cdot)) \in C^{3,-\alpha}(0,t) \text{ and }$

$$Q_{\omega}(\cdot) := \int_{0}^{\cdot} e^{-(\cdot - s)A^{2}/2} B \partial_{s} \omega(s) ds$$

Proof This can be proved by the same calculation as that in the proof of [TW16, Theorem 5.4].

Let $\delta > 0$ and $u = \partial_t \omega \in L^2(0, t; U)$. For every $n \ge 1$, we define the shift $T_{\delta u}$ by

$$T_{\delta u}: Z_t^n ::= \sum_{k=0}^n (\delta Q_\omega(t))^{n-k}: Z_t^k:$$

and we let $T_{\delta u}\underline{Z} = (T_{\delta u}: Z^k:)_{k=1}^3$. Let $X^{\delta}(t, x) = T_{\delta u}Z_t + Y^{\delta}$, where Y^{δ} solves the equation

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t Y^{\delta} = -\frac{1}{2} A^2 Y^{\delta} + \frac{1}{2} A \left(\sum_{k=0}^3 C_3^k (Y^{\delta})^{3-k} T_{\delta u} : Z^k : \right) \\ Y^{\delta}(0) = x \end{cases}.$$

We follow the idea in [Nor86] and [TW16] to construct a probability measure \mathbb{P}^{δ} such that the law of $T_{\delta u}Z$ under \mathbb{P}^{δ} is the same as the law of Z under \mathbb{P} . Then we can obtain the identity

$$\partial_{\delta^{+}} \mathbb{E}^{\mathbb{P}^{\delta}} \left(\Phi(X^{\delta}(t, x)) \chi_{r}(|||T_{\delta u} \underline{Z}|||_{t}) \right) \Big|_{\delta = 0} = 0.$$
(3.49)

To construct \mathbb{P}^{δ} , let $v^{\delta} := -\delta \int_0^t \langle u(s), dW_s \rangle$ and define

$$H^{\delta}(r) := \exp\{v^{\delta}(r) - \frac{\delta^2}{2} \int_0^r \|u(s)\|_U^2 ds\}.$$

By our assumptions on ω , the Novikov's condition is satisfied, i.e.

$$\mathbb{E}\exp(\frac{\delta^2}{2}\int_0^t \|u\|_U^2 ds) < \infty,$$

thus by [DPZ14, Theorem 10.14, Proposition 10.17], $W^{\delta}(r) := W(r) + \delta \int_0^r u(s) ds$ is a *U*-cylindrical Wiener process under \mathbb{P}^{δ} , where $d\mathbb{P}^{\delta} := H^{\delta} d\mathbb{P}$. Moreover we can obtain that

$$T_{\delta u}Z_r = \int_0^r e^{-(r-s)A^2/2} B dW_s^\delta.$$

Then (3.49) follows.

Using the chain rule, $\partial_{\delta} \Phi \left(X^{\delta}(t,x) \right) = D \Phi \left(X^{\delta}(t,x) \right) \left(\partial_{\delta} X^{\delta}(t,x) \right)$ and

$$\partial_{\delta}H^{\delta}(t) = -H^{\delta}(t) \left(\int_0^t \langle u(s), dW_s \rangle_U + \delta \int_0^t \|u(s)\|_U^2 ds \right)$$

For $\partial_{\delta+\chi}(||T_{\delta u}\underline{Z}||_{t})$, note that $T_{\delta u}\underline{Z} - (\underline{Z} + \delta \underline{Y}) = (0, \delta^{2}Q_{\omega}^{2}, 3\delta^{2}ZQ_{\omega}^{2} + \delta^{3}Q_{\omega}^{3})$, then we get

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0^+} \frac{\left\| \left\| T_{\delta u} \underline{Z} \right\| \right\|_t - \left\| \underline{Z} \right\| \right\|_t}{\delta} = \lim_{\delta \to 0^+} \frac{\left\| \left\| \underline{Z} + \delta \underline{Y} \right\| \right\|_t - \left\| \left\| \underline{Z} \right\| \right\|_t}{\delta},$$

that is

$$\partial_{\delta^{+}} \chi_{r}(|||T_{\delta u}\underline{Z}|||_{t})\Big|_{\delta=0} = \partial_{+} \chi_{r}(|||\underline{Z}|||_{t})(\omega).$$
(3.50)

Using the bounds in Proposition 3.24, by the dominated convergence theorem we can pass the derivative inside the expectation in (3.49) and integrate by parts to obtain

$$\mathbb{E} \left(D\Phi \left(X^{\delta}(t,x) \right) \left(\partial_{\delta} X^{\delta}(t,x) \right) \chi_{r}(|||T_{\delta u}\underline{Z}|||_{t}) H^{\delta}(t) \right) \Big|_{\delta=0} = \\
- \mathbb{E} \left(\Phi \left(X^{\delta}(t,x) \right) \chi_{r}(|||T_{\delta u}\underline{Z}|||_{t}) \partial_{\delta} H^{\delta}(t) \right) \Big|_{\delta=0} \\
- \mathbb{E} \left(\Phi \left(X^{\delta}(t,x) \right) \partial_{\delta+} \chi_{r}(|||T_{\delta u}\underline{Z}|||_{t}) (\omega) H^{\delta}(t) \right) \Big|_{\delta=0}$$

Since $\partial_{\delta} X^{\delta}(t,x)\Big|_{\delta=0} = \mathcal{D}\mathfrak{X}_{t}^{x}(\omega)$ and $\partial_{\delta} H^{\delta}(t)\Big|_{\delta=0} = -\int_{0}^{t} \langle u(s), dW_{s} \rangle$, combining with (3.50) we get (3.47) which completes the proof.

We use (3.47) to prove the following proposition.

Proposition 3.26. There exists universal constants $\theta_1 > 0$ such that for every T > 0, $x \in V_0^{-1}$ with $||x||_{H^{-1}} \leq R$, there exists a constant $C \equiv C(T, R) > 0$ satisfying

$$|P_t \Phi(x) - P_t \Phi(y)| \le C(T, R) \frac{1}{t^{\theta_1}} \|\Phi\|_{\infty} \|x - y\|_{H^{-1}} + 2\|\Phi\|_{\infty} \mathbb{P}(t \ge \tau^{\frac{r}{2}})$$
(3.51)

for every $y \in V_0^{-1}$, $||x - y||_{H^{-1}} \le 1$, $\Phi \in C_b^1(V_0^{-1})$ and $t \in [0, T]$.

Proof Let $\Phi \in C_b^1(V_0^{-1})$. Then

$$|P_t \Phi(x) - P_t \Phi(y)| = |\mathbb{E} \left[\Phi \left(X(t, x) \right) - \Phi \left(X(t, y) \right) \right] | \le I_1 + I_2,$$

where

$$I_{1} := |\mathbb{E} \left[\Phi \left(X(t, x) \right) - \Phi \left(X(t, y) \right) \chi_{r}(|||\underline{Z}|||_{t}) \right] |$$

$$I_{2} := |\mathbb{E} \left[\Phi \left(X(t, x) \right) - \Phi \left(X(t, y) \right) \left(1 - \chi_{r}(|||\underline{Z}|||_{t}) \right) \right] |.$$

For the second term we have that $I_2 \leq 2 \|\Phi\|_{\infty} \mathbb{P}(t \geq \tau^{\frac{r}{2}})$. By the mean value theorem we get that

$$I_{1} = \left| \mathbb{E} \left(\int_{0}^{1} D\Phi \left(\mathfrak{X}_{t}^{z_{\lambda}}(y-x) \right) d\lambda \cdot \chi_{r}(|||\underline{Z}|||_{t}) \right) \right|$$
$$= \left| \int_{0}^{1} \mathbb{E} \left(D\Phi \left(\mathfrak{X}_{t}^{z_{\lambda}} \right) (y-x) \chi_{r}(|||\underline{Z}|||_{t}) \right) d\lambda \right|,$$

where $z_{\lambda} := x + \lambda(y - x)$. For any $h \in V_0^{-1}$, let ω be such that $B\partial_s\omega(s) = J_{0,s}h$ for $s \leq \tau^r$ and 0 otherwise. Then $\partial_s\omega(s)$ satisfies the condition in Theorem 3.25. Furthermore, by (3.44) and $J_{0,s}J_{s,t} = J_{0,t}$ we have $\mathcal{DX}_t^{z_{\lambda}}(\omega) = t\mathcal{DX}_t^{z_{\lambda}}(h)$. Then we can use (3.47) to obtain that

$$\mathbb{E}\left(D\left[\Phi(\mathfrak{X}_{t}^{z_{\lambda}})\right](h)\chi_{r}(|||\underline{Z}|||_{t})\right) = \frac{1}{t}\mathbb{E}\left(\Phi(\mathfrak{X}_{t}^{z_{\lambda}})\int_{0}^{t} \langle\partial_{s}\omega(s), dW_{s}\rangle\chi_{r}(|||\underline{Z}|||_{t})\right) - \frac{1}{t}\mathbb{E}\left(\Phi(\mathfrak{X}_{t}^{z_{\lambda}})\partial_{+}\chi_{r}(|||\underline{Z}|||_{t})(\omega)\right).$$

Then we have

$$I_1 \leq \frac{1}{t} \|\Phi\|_{\infty} \int_0^1 \mathbb{E} \Big| \int_0^t \langle \partial_s \omega(s), dW_s \rangle \chi(\|\underline{Z}\|_t) \Big| d\lambda + \frac{1}{t} \|\Phi\|_{\infty} \int_0^1 \mathbb{E} \Big| \partial_+ \chi_r(\|\underline{Z}\|_t)(\omega) \Big| d\lambda.$$

For the first term we have

$$\mathbb{E} \left| \int_{0}^{t} \langle \partial_{s} \omega(s), dW_{s} \rangle \chi(|||\underline{Z}|||_{t}) \right| \leq \mathbb{E} \left| \int_{0}^{t \wedge \tau^{r}} \langle \partial_{s} \omega(s), dW_{s} \rangle \right|$$
$$\leq \left(\int_{0}^{t \wedge \tau^{r}} ||\partial_{s} \omega(s)||_{U}^{2} ds \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
$$\lesssim \left(\int_{0}^{t \wedge \tau^{r}} ||J_{0,s}h||_{H^{-1}}^{2} ds \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
$$\leq C_{2} t ||h||_{H^{-1}},$$

where we used the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality and Itô's isometry in the second step and Proposition 3.24 in the last step.

By the definition of $\partial_+ \chi_r(|||\underline{Z}|||_t)(\omega)$, we have that for any $\beta > \alpha > 0$,

$$\left|\partial_{+}\chi_{r}(|||\underline{Z}|||_{t})(\omega)\right| \leq \partial_{+}|||\underline{Z}|||_{t}(\underline{Y}) \leq |||\underline{Y}|||_{t} \lesssim |||\underline{Z}|||_{t}||Q_{\omega}(t)||_{\beta},$$

where \underline{Y} is as introduced in Theorem 3.25 and we used Lemma 2.3 in the last inequality. Moreover, we use Lemma 2.2 and Lemma 2.5 to obtain

$$\|Q_{\omega}(t)\|_{\beta} \lesssim \int_{0}^{t} (t-s)^{-\frac{\beta+2}{4}} \|J_{0,s}h\|_{-2} ds \lesssim \int_{0}^{t} (t-s)^{-\frac{\beta+2}{4}} \|J_{0,s}h\|_{H^{-1}} ds \lesssim C_{2} t^{\frac{2-\beta}{4}} \|h\|_{H^{-1}}.$$

Choosing β small enough, we deduce that there exists a constant $\theta_1 \in (0, \frac{1}{2})$, such that

$$I_1 \lesssim C_2 \frac{1}{t^{\theta_1}} \|\Phi\|_{\infty} \|h\|_{H^{-1}}.$$

Letting h = y - x we finish the proof.

We denote by $\|\mu_1 - \mu_2\|_{TV}$ the total variation distance of two probability measures μ_1 , μ_2 on V_0^{-1} given by

$$\|\mu_1 - \mu_2\|_{TV} := \sup_{\|\Phi\|_{L^{\infty}} \le 1} \left| \int \Phi d\mu_1 - \int \Phi d\mu_2 \right|$$

Theorem 3.27. There exists $\theta \in (0,1)$ such that for any $x, y \in V_0^{-1}$ with $||x||_{H^{-1}} \leq R$ and $||x - y||_{H^{-1}} \leq 1$ there exists a constant C(R) > 0 satisfying

$$||P_t(x,\cdot) - P_t(y,\cdot)||_{TV} \le C(R) ||x - y||_{H^{-1}}^{\theta},$$

for every $t \geq 1$.

Proof The proof is similar as that of [TW16, Theorem 5.8].

First we fix T > 0, thus the constant in Proposition 3.26 does not rely on T. Without loss of generality, we assume $T \leq 1$.

By [DPZ96, Section 7.1], (3.51) is equivalent to

$$\|P_t(x) - P_t(y)\|_{\mathrm{TV}} \le C \frac{1}{t^{\theta_1}} \|x - y\|_{H^{-1}} + 2\mathbb{P}\left(t \ge \tau^{\frac{r}{2}}\right),$$

for every $t \leq T$ and $||x - y||_{H^{-1}} \leq 1$.

Recall the proof of Lemma 3.3 and 3.4, we can obtain that for any $\alpha \in (0, 1)$, p > 2, there exists a small $\theta_2 \equiv \theta_2(\alpha) \in (0, 1)$ and a constant $C \equiv C(T, \alpha, p) \equiv C(\alpha, p)$ (T is fixed now), such that for any $\rho \in (0, 1)$, and any $n \in \mathbb{N}$

$$\mathbb{E}\sup_{s,t\in[0,T]}\frac{\|:Z^n(t):-:Z^n(s):\|_{-\alpha}^p}{t^{p\rho}s^{p\rho}|t-s|^{p\theta_2}} \le C.$$

Hence we obtain that

$$\mathbb{P}\left(t > \tau^{\frac{\tau}{2}}\right) \leq \mathbb{P}\left(\left\|\left\|\underline{Z}\right\|\right\|_{t} > \frac{r}{2}\right) \lesssim \frac{t^{\theta_{2}}}{r}.$$

By the semigroup property and contractivity, we have that

$$||P_1(x) - P_1(y)||_{\mathrm{TV}} \le ||P_T(x) - P_T(y)||_{\mathrm{TV}},$$

where

$$\|P_T(x) - P_T(y)\|_{\mathrm{TV}} \le \inf_{t \le T} \left\{ C_1 \frac{1}{t^{\theta_1}} \|x - y\|_{H^{-1}} + C_2 \frac{1}{r} t^{\theta_2} \right\}.$$

Let $g(t) := C_1 \frac{1}{t^{\theta_1}} \|x - y\|_{H^{-1}} + C_2 \frac{1}{r} t^{\theta_2}, t > 0$ and note that for $t_0 = \left(\frac{\theta_1 C_1}{\theta_2 C_2}\right)^{\frac{1}{\theta_1 + \theta_2}}, g(t_0) = \inf_{t>0} g(t)$. If $t_0 \leq T$, then there exists a constant $C \equiv C(\theta_1, \theta_2, r)$ such that

$$||P_T(x) - P_T(y)||_{\mathrm{TV}} \le g(t_0) = C||x - y||_{H^{-1}}^{\theta_2}.$$

Otherwise $t_0 > T$, which implies that

$$\begin{aligned} \|P_T(x) - P_T(y)\|_{\mathrm{TV}} &\leq C_1 \frac{1}{T^{\theta_1}} \|x - y\|_{H^{-1}} + C_2 \frac{1}{r} T^{\theta_2} \\ &\leq C_1 \frac{1}{T^{\theta_1}} \|x - y\|_{H^{-1}} + C_2 \frac{1}{r} t_0^{\theta_2} \\ &= C_1 \frac{1}{T^{\theta_1}} \|x - y\|_{H^{-1}} + \tilde{C}_2 \frac{1}{r} \|x - y\|_{H^{-1}}^{\frac{\theta_2}{\theta_1 + \theta_2}} \\ &\leq C(T, R, \theta_1, \theta_2, r) \|x - y\|_{H^{-1}}^{\frac{\theta_2}{\theta_1 + \theta_2}} \end{aligned}$$

for a constant $C \equiv C(T, R, \theta_1, \theta_2, r) \equiv C(R, \theta_1, \theta_2, r)$. Combining all the estimates above we deduce that

$$\|P_1(x) - P_1(y)\|_{\mathrm{TV}} \le C(R) \|x - y\|_{H^{-1}}^{\frac{\sigma_2}{\sigma_1 + \sigma_2}},$$

which completes the proof.

In order to use Krylov-Bogoliubov method to prove the existence of an invariant measure, the H^{-1} uniform estimate is not enough. We need to find a space compactly embedded in H^{-1} where the solution is bounded in probability. We make use of the integrability on a smaller space, which is compactly embedded in H^{-1} . Thus we have

Theorem 3.28. For every $x \in V_0^{-1}$, there exists a probability Borel measure ν_x on V_0^{-1} such that ν_x is an invariant measure for the semigroup $\{P_t, t \ge 0\}$ on V_0^{-1} .

Proof By (3.23) and a similar argument as in the proof of [TW16, Corollary 3.10] we have that

$$\sup_{x \in V_0^{-1}} \sup_{t > 0} (t \land 1) \mathbb{E} \| X(t, x) \|_{H^{-1}}^2 < \infty.$$
(3.52)

By the uniqueness of the solution, we know $X(t,x) = Z_{t-1,t} + Y_{t-1,t}$, where $Z_{s,t} := \int_s^t e^{-(t-r)A^2/2} B dW_r$ and $Y_{s,r}$, $r \ge t-1$ solves the equation

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dY_{s,r}}{dr} = -\frac{1}{2}A^2 Y_{s,r} + \frac{1}{2}A\sum_{k=0}^{3} C_3^k Y_{s,r}^{3-k} : Z_{s,r}^{-k} :, \\ Y_{s,s} = X(s,x). \end{cases}$$
(3.53)

Applying Theorem 3.7 with $Y_{t,r}$ replacing Y_r we have

$$\mathbb{E}\int_{t}^{t+1} \|Y_{t,r}\|_{H^{1}}^{2} dr \lesssim 1 + \mathbb{E}\|Y_{t,t}\|_{H^{-1}}^{2} = 1 + \mathbb{E}\|X(t,x)\|_{H^{-1}}^{2}$$

Combining this with (3.52) we deduce that for $\alpha \in (0, 1)$,

$$\mathbb{E}\int_{t}^{t+1} \|X(s,x)\|_{\mathcal{C}^{-\alpha}}^{2} ds \leq \mathbb{E}\int_{t}^{t+1} \|Y_{t,s}\|_{H^{1}}^{2} ds + \mathbb{E}\int_{t}^{t+1} \|Z_{t,s}\|_{\mathcal{C}^{-\alpha}}^{2} ds \lesssim 1 + \frac{1}{1 \wedge t},$$

where we used a similar argument as in the proof of [TW16, Theorem 2.1] in the last inequality. Then we obtain that for $t\geq 1$

$$\mathbb{E}\int_{1}^{t}\|X(s,x)\|_{\mathcal{C}^{-\alpha}}^{2}ds \lesssim t$$

Moreover, by (3.22) we have

$$\mathbb{E}\int_0^1 \|Y_s\|_{H^1}^2 ds \lesssim 1 + \|x\|_{H^{-1}}^2.$$

Thus for $t \geq 1$

$$\int_0^t \mathbb{E} \|X(s,x)\|_{\mathcal{C}^{-\alpha}}^2 ds \le \int_0^1 \mathbb{E} \|X(s,x)\|_{\mathcal{C}^{-\alpha}}^2 ds + \int_1^t \mathbb{E} \|X(s,x)\|_{\mathcal{C}^{-\alpha}}^2 ds \lesssim 1 + \|x\|_{H^{-1}}^2 + t.$$

By Chebyshev's inequality, for any K > 0

$$\mathbb{P}(\|X(t,x)\|_{\mathcal{C}^{-\alpha}} > K) \le \frac{1}{K^2} \mathbb{E}\|X(t,x)\|_{\mathcal{C}^{-\alpha}}.$$

Thus there exists a constant C > 0, such that

$$\int_0^t \mathbb{P}(\|X(s,x)\|_{\mathcal{C}^{-\alpha}} > K) ds \le \frac{C}{K^2} \int_0^t \mathbb{E}\|X(s,x)\|_{\mathcal{C}^{-\alpha}}^2 ds \le \frac{C}{K^2} (1 + \|x\|_{H^{-1}}^2 + t).$$

Letting $R_t(x, \cdot) = \frac{1}{t} \int_0^t P_s(x, \cdot) ds$, for $K_{\varepsilon}^2 := \frac{C}{\varepsilon}$ we get

$$R_t(f \in \mathcal{C}^{-\alpha} \cap V_0^1 : \|f\|_{\mathcal{C}^{-\alpha}} > K_{\varepsilon}) \le R_t(f \in V_0^1 : \|f\|_{\mathcal{C}^{-\alpha}} > K_{\varepsilon}) \le (1 + \frac{1 + \|x\|_{H^{-1}}}{t})\varepsilon.$$

By [Tri06, Proposition 4.6] we know that $\{f \in \mathcal{C}^{-\alpha} \cap V_0^1 : \|f\|_{\mathcal{C}^{-\alpha}} > K_{\varepsilon}\}$ is a compact subset of V_0^{-1} since the embedding $\mathcal{C}^{-\alpha} \subset V^{-1}$ is compact. This implies the tightness of $\{R_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ in V_0^{-1} . By the Krylov-Bogoliubov existence theorem (see [DPZ96, Corollary 3.1.2]), there exists a sequence $t_k \nearrow \infty$ and a measure ν_x such that $R_{t_k} \to \nu_x$ weakly in V_0^{-1} and ν_x is an invariant measure for the semigroup $\{P_t\}_{t\geq 0}$.

To prove the exponential mixing property, we make use of the irreducibility of \underline{Z} and a uniform estimate, which is slightly different from that in the proof of [TW16, Theorem 6.3].

Theorem 3.29. There exists a constant $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ and $T_0 \ge 0$ such that

$$||P_t(x) - P_t(y)||_{TV} \le 1 - \lambda,$$

for every $x, y \in V_0^{-1}, t \ge T_0 + 1$.

Proof From (3.23) we know that for any fixed r > 0, there exist $T_0, M > 0$ which are independent of ω, x , such that for any initial value $x \in V_0^{-1}$, we have that $\{\omega : ||\underline{Z}||_{T_0} \leq M\} \subset \{||Y(T_0)||_{V_0^{-1}} < \frac{r}{2}\} \cap \{||Z(T_0)||_{V_0^{-1}} < \frac{r}{2}\}.$

By Theorem 3.27 for every $a \in (0, 1)$ there exists $r \equiv r(a) > 0$ such that for every $x, y \in \overline{B}_r(0)$ and $t \ge 1$

$$||P_t(x) - P_t(y)||_{TV} \le 1 - a, \tag{3.54}$$

where $B_r(u) := \{x \in V_0^{-1} : ||x - u||_{V_0^{-1}} < r\}$. Then by (3.23) for any initial value $x \in V_0^{-1}$, there exists $b \equiv b(r) \in (0, 1)$ such that

$$\mathbb{P}(\|X(T_0)\|_{V_0^{-1}} \le r) \ge \mathbb{P}\left(\{\|Y(T_0)\|_{V_0^{-1}} \le \frac{r}{2}\} \cap \{\|Z(T_0)\|_{V_0^{-1}} \le \frac{r}{2}\}\right) \\
\ge \mathbb{P}(\|\|\underline{Z}\|\|_{T_0} \le M) \\
\ge b,$$
(3.55)

where in the last step we used the irreducibility of the law of \underline{Z} . Here we omit the proof of the irreducibility of \underline{Z} , since it is the same as that of [TW16, Theorem 6.3]. Moreover, by (3.55) for any r > 0

$$\inf_{x \in V_0^{-1}} P_{T_0}(x, \bar{B}_r(0)) \ge b.$$
(3.56)

By Markov property, for any $\Phi \in C_b(V_0^{-1}), t \ge T_0 + 1$, and $x, y \in \overline{B}_r(0)$ we have that

$$\begin{aligned} |P_t \Phi(x) - P_t \Phi(y)| &= |\mathbb{E} \left[P_{t-T_0} \Phi(X(T_0; x)) - P_{t-T_0} \Phi(X(T_0; y)) \right]| \\ &= \left| \int \left[P_{t-T_0} \Phi(\tilde{x}) - P_{t-T_0} \Phi(\tilde{y}) \right] P_{T_0}(x, d\tilde{x}) P_{T_0}(y, d\tilde{y}) \right| \\ &\leq \|\Phi\|_{L^{\infty}} P_{T_0}(x) \otimes P_{T_0}(y) \left(\left(\bar{B}_r(0) \times \bar{B}_r(0) \right)^c \right) \\ &+ \|\Phi\|_{L^{\infty}} \int_{\bar{B}_r(0) \times \bar{B}_r(0)} \|P_{t-T_0}(\tilde{x}) - P_{t-T_0}(\tilde{y})\|_{TV} P_{T_0}(x, d\tilde{x}) P_{T_0}(y, d\tilde{y}). \end{aligned}$$

This implies that

$$\begin{aligned} \|P_t(x) - P_t(y)\|_{\mathrm{TV}} &\leq P_{T_0}(x) \otimes P_{T_0}(y) \left(\left(\bar{B}_r(0) \times \bar{B}_r(0) \right)^c \right) + (1-a) P_{T_0}(x) \otimes P_{T_0}(y) \left(\bar{B}_r(0) \times \bar{B}_r(0) \right) \\ &\leq 1 - a P_{T_0}(x, \bar{B}_r(0)) P_{T_0}(y, \bar{B}_r(0)) \\ &\leq 1 - a b^2, \end{aligned}$$

where we used (3.54) in the first inequality and (3.56) in the last inequality. Thus we can complete the proof by setting $\lambda = ab^2$.

The following corollary gives the exponential convergence to a unique invariant measure.

Corollary 3.30. There exists a unique invariant measure $\bar{\nu}$ for the semigroup $\{P_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ such that

$$||P_t - \bar{\nu}||_{TV} \le (1 - \lambda)^{\lfloor \frac{\iota}{T_0 + 1} \rfloor} ||\delta_x - \bar{\nu}||_{TV}.$$

for every $x \in V_0^{-1}$, $t \ge T_0 + 1$. Moreover, $\bar{\nu} = \nu$.

Proof The first result follows from the proof of [TW16, Corollary 6.6]. In fact, for any probability measures μ_1, μ_2 on V_0^{-1} , denote $M(dx, dy) := \mu_1(dx)\mu_2(dy)$. Note that

$$\|\mu_1 P_t - \mu_2 P_t\|_{\mathrm{TV}} \le \frac{1}{2} \sup_{\|\Phi\|_{L^{\infty}} \le 1} \iint |P_t \Phi(x) - P_t \Phi(y)| M(\mathrm{d}x, \mathrm{d}y),$$

where $\mu P_t(dx) := \int P_t(y, dx) \mu(dy)$. Thus by Theorem 3.29, for $t \ge T_0 + 1$,

$$\|\mu_1 P_t - \mu_2 P_t\|_{\mathrm{TV}} \le (1 - \lambda) \left(1 - M\left(\left\{(x, x) : x \in V_0^{-1}\right\}\right)\right)$$

By using the characterization of the total variation distance in the transportation theory (cf. [Vil09, Section 1])

$$\|\mu_1 - \mu_2\|_{\mathrm{TV}} = 2 \inf_{\mu_1, \mu_2} \left\{ 1 - M\left(\left\{(x, x) : x \in V_0^{-1}\right\}\right) : M(dx, dy) := \mu_1(dx)\mu_2(dy) \right\}.$$

We obtain that

$$\|\mu_1 P_t - \mu_2 P_t\|_{\mathrm{TV}} \le (1 - \lambda) \|\mu_1 - \mu_2\|_{\mathrm{TV}}.$$

By Theorem 3.28, for $x \in V_0^{-1}$, ν_x is an invariant measure. Thus we have

$$\|\nu_x - \nu_y\|_{\rm TV} = \|\nu_x P_t - \nu_y P_t\|_{\rm TV} \le (1 - \lambda) \|\nu_x - \nu_y\|_{\rm TV}$$

This implies that $\nu_x = \nu_y$ for any $x, y \in V_0^{-1}$ i.e. $\{P_t : t \ge 0\}$ has a unique invariant measure $\bar{\nu}$. Moreover, for $t \ge T_0 + 1$,

$$\|P_t(x) - \bar{\nu}\|_{\mathrm{TV}} \le (1 - \lambda) \|P_{t - T_0 - 1}(x) - \bar{\nu}\|_{\mathrm{TV}},$$

which implies the first assertion.

For the second assertion, by Corollary 3.18, ν is an invariant measure of X. Hence $\bar{\nu} = \nu$.

Remark 3.31. In the following we give a simple and short proof for exponential convergence by the theory of Dirichlet forms.

Similarly to [DPDT04], by comparing the two Dirichlet forms for Cahn-Hilliard equation and the dynamical Φ_2^4 model, we can obtain the spectral gap of equation (3.1). Indeed, by the same arguments in [RZZ17b] and [TW16] we know that ν is also the invariant measure for the solution to the dynamical Φ_2^4 model. We denote the Dirichlet form associated with the dynamical Φ_2^4 model by $(\bar{\Lambda}, D(\bar{\Lambda}))$, i.e.

$$\bar{\Lambda}(f,g) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{E} \langle Df, Dg \rangle_{L^{2}} d\nu, f, g \in D(\bar{\Lambda}),$$

where D denotes the gradient operator in $L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)$ (see [RZZ17b]). In [TW16] the exponential convergence for the dynamical Φ_2^4 model in total variation is proved. This implies the exponential convergence in $L^2(E, \nu)$ -norm. By [Wan06, Theory 1.1, Example 1.1.2] this is equivalent to the Poincaré inequality

$$\int f^2 d\nu - (\int f d\nu)^2 \le C\bar{\Lambda}(f, f), f \in D(\bar{\Lambda}).$$

From the proof of Theorem 3.15 we know that

$$\Lambda(f,f) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k} \int |\frac{\partial f}{\partial h_{k}}|^{2} d\nu = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k} \lambda_{k} \int |\frac{\partial f}{\partial e_{k}}|^{2} d\nu \ge \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k} \int |\frac{\partial f}{\partial e_{k}}|^{2} d\nu = \bar{\Lambda}(f,f),$$

where $h_k = \sqrt{\lambda_k} e_k$, $\{h_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^2 \setminus \{(0,0)\}}$ is an orthonormal basis of V_0^{-1} . Then by [Wan06, Theory 1.1, Example 1.1.2] we have

$$\|P_t f - \int f d\nu\|_{L^2(E,\nu)} \le e^{-\frac{t}{C}} \|f - \int f d\nu\|_{L^2(E,\nu)}.$$

Chapter 4

Sharp interface limit of stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equation with singular noise

In chapter 4 we obtain the convergence results arising in the study of the sharp interface limit, as $\varepsilon \searrow 0$, of the solutions to the stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equation on $\mathcal{D} := (0, 1)^2$,

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u^{\varepsilon} = \Delta v^{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon^{\sigma} \mathcal{W}_t, \\ v^{\varepsilon} = -\varepsilon \Delta u^{\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} f(u^{\varepsilon}), \\ u^{\varepsilon}(0) = z, \end{cases}$$

$$(4.1)$$

with Neumann boundary conditions,

$$\frac{\partial u^{\varepsilon}}{\partial n} = \frac{\partial v^{\varepsilon}}{\partial n} = 0 \text{ on } \partial \mathcal{D}.$$
(4.2)

Here f(u) = F'(u) and $F(u) = \frac{1}{4}(u^2-1)^2$ is the double-well potential, $\sigma > 0$ is a constant, and $\dot{\mathcal{W}}$ is a singular noise which represents the space-time white noise in Section 4.2 and the conservative noise in Section 4.4.

In the case of conservative noise, similarly as in Chapter 3, the nonlinear term is ill-defined since the solutions are expected to be distributions. Thus we consider the following renormalized equation

$$\begin{cases} du^{\varepsilon} = \Delta(-\varepsilon\Delta u^{\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} : f(u^{\varepsilon}) :)dt + \varepsilon^{\sigma}BdW, \\ u^{\varepsilon}(0) = z \in H^{-1}, \end{cases}$$
(4.3)

with Neumann boundary conditions,

$$\frac{\partial u^{\varepsilon}}{\partial n} = \frac{\partial \Delta u^{\varepsilon}}{\partial n} = 0 \text{ on } \partial \mathcal{D}, \qquad (4.4)$$

where : $f(u^{\varepsilon}) :=: f(\varphi^{\varepsilon} + \overline{Z}^{\varepsilon})$: is the Wick power defined in (4.46).

Equation (4.3) is also the limit of the following approximate equation:

$$du^{\varepsilon,h} = \Delta \left(-\varepsilon \Delta u^{\varepsilon,h} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left(f(u^{\varepsilon,h}) - 3c^{\varepsilon}_{h,t} u^{\varepsilon,h} \right) \right) dt + \varepsilon^{\sigma} \nabla \cdot dW^{h}_{t}, \tag{4.5}$$

where $3c_{h,t}^{\varepsilon}u^{\varepsilon,h}$ is the renormalization term (see (4.42)-(4.44)). As $h \to 0$, $u^{\varepsilon,h}$ converges to u^{ε} , which is the unique solution to equation (4.3).

4.1 Notations and preliminaries

Let $\mathcal{D} := (0,1)^2$, $\mathcal{D}_T := (0,T) \times \mathcal{D}$. In this chapter, we always use $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ to denote the $L^2(\mathcal{D})$ -inner product. For any $E \subset \mathcal{D}$, we denote by $\mathbb{1}_E$ the characteristic function of E, i.e.

$$\mathbb{1}_E(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } x \in E, \\ 0 & \text{if } x \notin E. \end{cases}$$

We consider the Neumann Laplacian operator Δ on $L^2(\mathcal{D})$ with domain

$$D(\Delta) = \{ u \in H^2(\mathcal{D}) : \frac{\partial u}{\partial n} = 0 \text{ on } \partial \mathcal{D} \}.$$

The operator $-\Delta$ is self-adjoint positive and has compact resolvent. It possesses a basis of eigenvectors $\{e_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z}^2}$ which is orthonormal in $L^2(\mathcal{D})$. In fact for $k = (k_1, k_2) \in \mathbb{Z}^2$, $e_k(x)$ is given by

$$e_0(x) := 1, e_{(k_1,0)}(x) = \sqrt{2} \cos \pi k_1 x_1, e_{(0,k_2)}(x) = \sqrt{2} \cos \pi k_2 x_2, , e_k(x) := 2 \cos \pi k_1 x_1 \cdot \cos \pi k_2 x_2, k_1 k_2 \neq 0.$$
(4.6)

It is associated with the eigenvalues $\{\lambda_k\}$, where $\lambda_k \simeq |k|^2$.

We also introduce a notation for the average of $g \in L^2(\mathcal{D})$:

$$m(g) := \langle g, e_0 \rangle.$$

For any $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, we define V^{α} as the closure of $C^{\infty}(\mathcal{D})$ under the norm

$$||g||_{V^{\alpha}}^{2} := m(g)^{2} + \sum_{k} \lambda_{k}^{\alpha} \langle g, e_{k} \rangle^{2}.$$

It is easy to see that $(V^{\alpha}, \|\cdot\|_{V^{\alpha}})$ is a Hilbert space and $V^{\alpha} \simeq H^{\alpha}$, where H^{α} is the classical Sobolev space on domain \mathcal{D} which can be defined as the closure of $C^{\infty}(\mathcal{D})$ under the norm

$$||g||_{H^{\alpha}}^{2} = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{2}} (1 + \lambda_{k})^{\alpha} \langle g, e_{k} \rangle^{2}.$$

In the rest of this chapter, we use the notation H^{α} to represent V^{α} for simplicity.

Moreover for any $s, \alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, we can define a bounded operator $(-\Delta)^s : H^{\alpha} \to H^{\alpha-2s}$ by:

$$(-\Delta)^{s} u = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^{2} \setminus \{(0,0)\}} \lambda_{k}^{s} u_{k} e_{k}$$

where $u = \sum_{k} u_k e_k \in H^{\alpha}$.

We also set

$$H_0^{\alpha} := \{ g \in H^{\alpha} : \langle g, e_0 \rangle_{H^{\alpha}} = 0 \}$$

where $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{H^{\alpha}}$ denote the inner product in H^{α} . Moreover we denote $L_0^2 := H_0^0$.

Finally, as what we mentioned in Introduction, the method in this chapter is heavily relied on Theorem 4.2, which holds under the assumption that the smooth solution to (1.17) exists. We assume $\Gamma_{00} \in \mathcal{C}^{3+\alpha}$ for some $\alpha \in (0, 1)$, then

Theorem 4.1. ([CHY96, Theorem 1.1]). For any $\Gamma_{00} \in C^{3+\alpha}$ for some $\alpha \in (0,1)$, there exists a T > 0, such that (1.17) has a unique local solution $\{(v,\Gamma)\}_{t\in[0,T]}$, where $\Gamma \in C^{\frac{3+\alpha}{3}}([0,T];C^{3+\alpha})$ Now we fix Γ_{00} and T in the following of this chapter. Then by [ABC94, Theorem 2.1], we have that

Theorem 4.2. Let (v, Γ_t) be a classical smooth solution to (1.17) in Theorem 4.1. For any K > 0 there exists a pair $(u_A^{\varepsilon}, v_A^{\varepsilon})$ of solutions to (1.16), such that

$$\|r_A^{\varepsilon}\|_{C(\mathcal{D}_T)} \lesssim \varepsilon^{K-2}.$$

Moreover, it holds that

$$\|v_A^{\varepsilon} - v\|_{C(\mathcal{D}_T)} \lesssim \varepsilon,$$

where v is the solution to (1.17) below. In particular, u_A^{ε} and v_A^{ε} are uniformly bounded.

Finally for x away from Γ_t , i.e. $d(x, \Gamma_t) > C\varepsilon$, where $d(x, \Gamma_t)$ is the distance of x to Γ_t and C is some constant which is independent to ε ,

$$|u_A^{\varepsilon}(t,x)-1| \lesssim \varepsilon \quad or \quad |u_A^{\varepsilon}(t,x)+1| \lesssim \varepsilon.$$

4.2 The sharp interface limit for space-time white noise

Let $\mathcal{W} = W$ be an $L^2_0(\mathcal{D})$ -cylindrical Wiener process on a fixed stochastic basis $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$.

Theorem 4.3. ([DPD96, Theorem 2.1])For $\mathbb{P} - a.s. \omega$, there exists a unique solution u^{ε} to equation (4.1) in $C([0,T]; H^{-1})$.

We rewrite the equation (4.1) as

$$\begin{cases} du^{\varepsilon} = \Delta v^{\varepsilon} dt + \varepsilon^{\sigma} dW \text{ in } \mathcal{D}_{T}, \\ v^{\varepsilon} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} f(u^{\varepsilon}) - \varepsilon \Delta u^{\varepsilon} \text{ in } \mathcal{D}_{T}. \end{cases}$$

$$\tag{4.7}$$

We assume that the interface has been formed initially. That is, there exists a smooth closed curve $\Gamma_{00} \subset \mathcal{D}$ such that $u^{\varepsilon}(0) \approx -1$ in \mathcal{D}^- , the region enclosed by Γ_{00} , and $u^{\varepsilon}(0) \approx 1$ in $\mathcal{D}^+ := \mathcal{D} \setminus (\Gamma_{00} \cup \mathcal{D}^-)$.

Our main theorem will show that as $\varepsilon \to 0$, v^{ε} tends to v, which, together with a free boundary $\Gamma \equiv \bigcup_{0 \le t \le T} (\Gamma_t \times \{t\})$, satisfies the deterministic Hele-Shaw problem (1.17).

We present now the following spectral estimate which is useful in our proof.

Proposition 4.4. ([ABC94, Proposition 3.1]) Let u_A^{ε} be the approximation given in Theorem 4.2. Then for all $w \in H^1$ satisfying Neumann boundary conditions such that $\int_{\mathcal{D}} w = 0$, the following estimate is valid

$$\varepsilon \|w\|_{H^1}^2 + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int f'(u_A^{\varepsilon}) w^2 \ge -C_0 \|w\|_{H^{-1}}^2.$$

We consider the residual

$$R^{\varepsilon} := u^{\varepsilon} - u^{\varepsilon}_A, \tag{4.8}$$

where u^{ε} is the unique solution to (4.7). We show bounds for this error R^{ε} in our main theorem below.

Theorem 4.5. (*Main Theorem*) Let u_A^{ε} be defined in Theorem 4.2 with large enough K and let u^{ε} be the unique solution to (4.1) with initial value $u^{\varepsilon}(0) = u_A^{\varepsilon}(0)$. For any $\sigma^* > \delta > 0$,

$$\begin{cases} \gamma > 13, \\ \sigma^* > \frac{1}{3}\gamma + \frac{13}{3} + 2\delta \end{cases}$$

where $\sigma^* = \sigma - \frac{1}{4}$ is introduced in Lemma 4.8, there exist a generic constant C > 0 and a constant $C_{\delta} > 0$ for all $\delta > 0$ such that the following estimates hold

$$\mathbb{P}\left[\|R^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{3}(\mathcal{D}_{T})} \leq C\varepsilon^{\frac{\gamma}{3}}\right] \geq 1 - C_{\delta}\varepsilon^{\delta},$$
$$\mathbb{P}\left[\|R^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;H^{-1})}^{2} \leq C\left(\varepsilon^{\gamma-1} + \varepsilon^{\sigma^{*}-1-2\delta+\frac{\gamma}{3}}\right)\right] \geq 1 - C_{\delta}\varepsilon^{\delta},$$
$$\mathbb{P}\left[\|v^{\varepsilon} - v_{A}^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{1}(0,T;H^{-2})}^{2} \leq C\varepsilon^{\frac{\gamma}{3}-1}\right] \geq 1 - C_{\delta}\varepsilon^{\delta}.$$

Remark 4.6. Since δ can be as small as enough, the best choice is $\sigma > \frac{107}{12}$.

Corollary 4.7. There exists a subsequence $\{\varepsilon_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ such that for $\mathbb{P} - a.s. \omega \in \Omega$

$$\lim_{k\to\infty} u^{\varepsilon_k} = -1 + 2\mathbb{1}_{E_t} \quad in \ L^3(\mathcal{D}_{T_0}),$$

where E_t is the region enclosed by Γ_t .

Proof The local uniqueness of (1.17) can be obtained directly by [CHY96, Theorem 1.1]. Then by the construction of u_A^{ε} in [ABC94], for uniformly $t \in [0, T_0]$

 $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} u_A^{\varepsilon} = -1 + 2\mathbb{1}_{E_t} \text{ uniformly on compact subsets.}$

Moreover all the results in Theorem 4.5 hold if replacing T by T_0 .

For any $\eta > 0$, choosing ε small enough such that $C\varepsilon^{\frac{\gamma}{3}} < \eta$, then we have

$$\mathbb{P}\left[\|R^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{3}(\mathcal{D}_{T})} > \eta\right] \leq \mathbb{P}\left[\|R^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{3}(\mathcal{D}_{T})} > C\varepsilon^{\frac{\gamma}{3}}\right] \leq C_{\delta}\varepsilon^{\delta}$$

which implies that $||R^{\varepsilon}||_{L^3}$ converge in probability to 0. Thus there exists a subsequence (still denoted as ε), such that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \|R^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^3(\mathcal{D}_T)} = 0 \ \mathbb{P} - a.s.$$

Since $R^{\varepsilon} = u^{\varepsilon} - u^{\varepsilon}_A$, we obtain the assertion.

4.3 The proof of the Main Theorem

4.3.1 The decomposition of the equation for the error

Combining (4.7), (1.16) and (4.8) we know that R^{ε} satisfies the following equation:

$$\begin{cases} dR^{\varepsilon} = -\varepsilon \Delta^2 R^{\varepsilon} dt + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \Delta \left(f(u_A^{\varepsilon} + R^{\varepsilon}) - f(u_A^{\varepsilon}) \right) dt + \Delta r_A^{\varepsilon} dt + \varepsilon^{\sigma} dW, \\ \frac{\partial R^{\varepsilon}}{\partial n} = \frac{\partial \Delta R^{\varepsilon}}{\partial n} = 0 \text{ on } \partial \mathcal{D}. \end{cases}$$

$$\tag{4.9}$$

Let $Z_t^{\varepsilon} := \varepsilon^{\sigma} \int_0^t e^{-(t-s)\varepsilon\Delta^2} dW_s$, which is the mild solution to the linear equation:

$$\begin{cases} dZ^{\varepsilon} = -\varepsilon \Delta^2 Z^{\varepsilon} dt + \varepsilon^{\sigma} dW, \\ \frac{\partial Z^{\varepsilon}}{\partial n} = \frac{\partial \Delta Z^{\varepsilon}}{\partial n} = 0 \text{ on } \partial \mathcal{D}. \end{cases}$$

$$(4.10)$$

Then $Y^{\varepsilon} := R^{\varepsilon} - Z^{\varepsilon}$ satisfies:

$$\begin{cases} dY^{\varepsilon} = -\varepsilon \Delta^2 Y^{\varepsilon} dt + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \Delta \left(f'(u_A^{\varepsilon}) (Y^{\varepsilon} + Z^{\varepsilon}) + \mathcal{N}(u_A^{\varepsilon}, Y^{\varepsilon} + Z^{\varepsilon}) \right) dt + \Delta r_A^{\varepsilon} dt, \\ \frac{\partial Y^{\varepsilon}}{\partial n} = \frac{\partial \Delta Y^{\varepsilon}}{\partial n} = 0 \text{ on } \partial \mathcal{D}. \end{cases}$$

$$\tag{4.11}$$

where $\mathcal{N}(u, v) := f(u+v) - f(u) - f'(u)v.$

Moreover, we define a stopping time T_{ε} by:

$$T_{\varepsilon} := T \wedge \inf\{t > 0 : \int_0^t \|Y_s^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^3}^3 ds > \varepsilon^{\gamma}\},\tag{4.12}$$

for some $\gamma > 1$.

4.3.2 Estimate for Z^{ε}

Lemma 4.8. For any $\delta > 0$, there exists a constant $C_{\delta} > 0$, such that

$$\mathbb{P}[\Omega_{\delta}] > 1 - C_{\delta} \varepsilon^{\delta},$$

where $C_1 > 0$ is a universal constant, $\Omega_{\delta} := \{ \|Z\|_{C(\mathcal{D}_T)} \leq C_1 \varepsilon^{\sigma^* - 2\delta} \}$, and $\sigma^* := \sigma - \frac{1}{4}$.

Proof By the factorization method in [DP04] we have that for $\kappa \in (0, 1)$

$$Z^{\varepsilon}(t) = \varepsilon^{\sigma} \frac{\sin(\pi\kappa)}{\pi} \int_0^t (t-s)^{\kappa-1} \langle M(\varepsilon(t-s), x, \cdot), U(s) \rangle ds,$$

where $M(\varepsilon t, x, y)$ is the kernel of the semigroup $\{e^{-\varepsilon t\Delta^2}\}$ and

$$U^{\varepsilon}(s,\cdot) = \int_0^s (s-r)^{-\kappa} e^{-\varepsilon(s-r)\Delta^2} dW_r.$$

Similarly to the proof of Lemma 2.12 in [DP04], we have that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\|Z^{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{D}_T)}\right] \lesssim_T \varepsilon^{\sigma} \mathbb{E}\left[\|U^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2p}(\mathcal{D}_T)}\right].$$
(4.13)

It suffices to estimate $\mathbb{E}\left[\|U^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2p}(\mathcal{D}_T)}\right]$ for $p > \frac{1}{2\kappa}$.

In fact, we have that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\|U^{\varepsilon}(s)\|_{L^{2p}(\mathcal{D}_{T})}^{2p}\right] \lesssim \int_{\mathcal{D}_{T}} \mathbb{E}\left[\left|\int_{0}^{s} (s-r)^{-\kappa} e^{-\varepsilon(s-r)\Delta^{2}} dW_{r}\right|^{2p}\right] ds dx \\ \lesssim \int_{\mathcal{D}_{T}} \left(\mathbb{E}\left[\left|\int_{0}^{s} (s-r)^{-\kappa} e^{-\varepsilon(s-r)\Delta^{2}} dW_{r}\right|^{2}\right]\right)^{p} ds dx. \tag{4.14}$$
Here we used that $U^{\varepsilon}(x)$ belongs to the first order Wiener-chaos and Gaussian hypercontractivity (cf. [Nua13, Section 1.4.3] and [Nel73]) in the second inequality. Moreover, we obtain that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left|\int_{0}^{s}(s-r)^{-\kappa}e^{-\varepsilon(s-r)\Delta^{2}}dW_{r}\right|^{2}\right] \lesssim \int_{0}^{s}\int_{\mathcal{D}}(s-r)^{-2\kappa}M(\varepsilon(s-r),x,y)^{2}dyds.$$
(4.15)

Since M(t, x, y) is the kernel of $e^{-t\Delta^2}$, we have that for any $g \in L^2$

$$\int_{\mathcal{D}} M(t, x, y) g(y) dy = e^{-t\Delta^2} g(x) \simeq \sum_k \langle g, e^{-t|k|^4} e_k \rangle e_k(x).$$

Hence

$$M(t, x, y) \simeq \sum_{k} e^{-t|k|^4} e_k(x) e_k(y).$$
(4.16)

where e_k is defined in (4.6). Note that $e_k(x)e_k(y) = \frac{1}{2}(e_k(x-y) + e_k(x+y))$. Thus we obtain

$$M(t, x, y) \simeq \sum_{k} e^{-t|k|^4} (e_k(x-y) + e_k(x+y)) := P(t, x-y) + P(t, x+y), \quad (4.17)$$

Then (4.15) becomes

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left|\int_{0}^{s}(s-r)^{\kappa}e^{-\varepsilon(s-r)\Delta^{2}}dW_{r}\right|^{2}\right] \lesssim \int_{0}^{s}\int_{\mathcal{D}}(s-r)^{-2\kappa}\left(P(\varepsilon(s-r),x-y)^{2}+P(\varepsilon(s-r),x+y)^{2}\right)dyds.$$
(4.18)

By [SW72, p282, (c)], we have that

 $|P(t,x)| \lesssim |x|^{-2} e^{-\frac{t}{|x|^4}} \lesssim t^{-\frac{\eta}{4}} |x|^{-2+\eta}, \ \forall \eta \in [0,2].$ (4.19)

Then taking (4.18) into (4.19), we deduce that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left|\int_{0}^{s} (s-r)^{\kappa} e^{-\varepsilon(s-r)\Delta^{2}} dW_{r}\right|^{2}\right] \lesssim \varepsilon^{-\frac{\eta}{2}} \int_{0}^{s} \int_{\mathcal{D}} (s-r)^{-2\kappa-\frac{\eta}{2}} \left(|x+y|^{-4+2\eta}+|x-y|^{-4+2\eta}\right) dy ds$$
$$\lesssim \varepsilon^{-\frac{\eta}{2}} s^{1-2\kappa-\frac{\eta}{2}} |x|^{-2+2\eta}.$$
(4.20)

Here we require that

$$1 - 2\kappa - \frac{\eta}{2} > 0, \quad -2 + 2\eta > 0,$$

that is

$$1 < \eta < 2 - 4\kappa, \tag{4.21}$$

which can be obtained by choosing small enough $\kappa > 0$. Hence by (4.13) and (4.14), we obtain that for any $p \ge 1$

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\|U^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2p}(\mathcal{D}_T)}\right] \lesssim \varepsilon^{\sigma - \frac{\eta}{4}}$$

This implies that for any $2 > \eta > 1$,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\|Z^{\varepsilon}\|_{\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{D}_T)}\right)\right] \lesssim \varepsilon^{\sigma - \frac{\eta}{4}}.$$
(4.22)

Hence we can obtain our results by Chebyshev's inequality.

65

4.3.3 Local-in-time estimate for Y^{ε} up to T_{ε} on the set Ω_{δ}

Now we fix an $\omega \in \Omega_{\delta}$, thus by Lemma 4.8, $\|Z^{\varepsilon}(\omega)\|_{C(\mathcal{D}_T)} \lesssim \varepsilon^{\sigma^*-2\delta}$. All estimates in this section in on Ω_{δ} .

By taking inner product with $(-\Delta)^{-1}Y^{\varepsilon}$ in both side of equation (4.11) we have that

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d\|Y^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{-1}}^2}{dt} + \varepsilon\|Y^{\varepsilon}_t\|_{H^1}^2 = -\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\langle f'(u^{\varepsilon}_A)(Y^{\varepsilon} + Z^{\varepsilon}) + \mathcal{N}(u^{\varepsilon}_A, Y^{\varepsilon} + Z^{\varepsilon}), Y^{\varepsilon}\rangle - \langle r^{\varepsilon}_A, Y^{\varepsilon}\rangle.$$
(4.23)

In the following, we estimate the right hand side of (4.23) separately: Using Proposition 4.4 we have that

Using Proposition 4.4 we have that

$$-\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\langle f'(u_A^{\varepsilon})Y^{\varepsilon}, Y^{\varepsilon}\rangle \leq \varepsilon \|Y^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^1}^2 + C_0\|Y^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{-1}}^2.$$
(4.24)

For $-\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\langle f''(u_A^{\varepsilon})(Y^{\varepsilon}, Z^{\varepsilon}\rangle)$ by Theorem 4.2 we know that u_A^{ε} is uniformly bounded in \mathcal{D}_T . Thus we have that

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon} |\langle f''(u_A^{\varepsilon}) Y^{\varepsilon}, Z^{\varepsilon} \rangle| \lesssim \frac{1}{\varepsilon} ||Y^{\varepsilon}||_{L^3} ||Z^{\varepsilon}||_{L^{\frac{3}{2}}} \lesssim \varepsilon^{\sigma^* - 1 - 2\delta} ||Y^{\varepsilon}||_{L^3},$$
(4.25)

where we used Hölder's inequality in the first inequality and Lemma 4.8 in the last inequality.

By [ABC94, Lemma 2.2], we have that $v\mathcal{N}(u,v) \geq -C|v|^3$. Then

$$-\frac{1}{\varepsilon} \langle \mathcal{N}(u_{A}^{\varepsilon}, Y^{\varepsilon} + Z^{\varepsilon}), Y^{\varepsilon} \rangle = -\frac{1}{\varepsilon} \langle \mathcal{N}(u_{A}^{\varepsilon}, Y^{\varepsilon} + Z^{\varepsilon}), Y^{\varepsilon} + Z^{\varepsilon} \rangle + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \langle \mathcal{N}(u_{A}^{\varepsilon}, Y^{\varepsilon} + Z^{\varepsilon}), Z^{\varepsilon} \rangle$$

$$\lesssim \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \|Y^{\varepsilon} + Z^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{3}}^{3} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} |\langle \mathcal{N}(u_{A}^{\varepsilon}, Y^{\varepsilon} + Z^{\varepsilon}), Z^{\varepsilon} \rangle|$$

$$\lesssim \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \|Y\|_{L^{3}}^{3} + \varepsilon^{3(\sigma^{*} - 2\delta) - 1} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} |\langle \mathcal{N}(u_{A}^{\varepsilon}, Y^{\varepsilon} + Z^{\varepsilon}), Z^{\varepsilon} \rangle|,$$

$$(4.26)$$

where we used Lemma 4.8 in the last inequality.

For $|\langle \mathcal{N}(u_A^{\varepsilon}, Y^{\varepsilon} + Z^{\varepsilon}), Z^{\varepsilon} \rangle|$, by the Taylor expansion, $\mathcal{N}(u_A^{\varepsilon}, Y^{\varepsilon} + Z^{\varepsilon}) = f''(u_A^{\varepsilon} + \theta(Y^{\varepsilon} + Z^{\varepsilon}))(Y^{\varepsilon} + Z^{\varepsilon})^2 = 6(u_A^{\varepsilon} + \theta(Y^{\varepsilon} + Z^{\varepsilon}))(Y^{\varepsilon} + Z^{\varepsilon})^2$, where $\theta \in (0, 1)$. Then we have

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle \mathcal{N}(u_A^{\varepsilon}, Y^{\varepsilon} + Z^{\varepsilon}), Z^{\varepsilon} \rangle| &\lesssim \varepsilon^{\sigma^* - 2\delta} \|\mathcal{N}(u_A^{\varepsilon}, Y^{\varepsilon} + Z^{\varepsilon})\|_{L^1} \\ &\lesssim \varepsilon^{\sigma^* - 2\delta} (\|Y^{\varepsilon} + Z^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^3}^3 + \|Y^{\varepsilon} + Z^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^2}^2) \\ &\lesssim \varepsilon^{3(\sigma^* - 2\delta)} + \varepsilon^{4(\sigma^* - 2\delta)} + \varepsilon^{\sigma^* - 2\delta} \|Y^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^3}^2 + \varepsilon^{\sigma^* - 2\delta} \|Y^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^3}^3, \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.27)$$

where we used the uniform boundness of u_A^{ε} in the second inequality and Lemma 4.8 in the first and the last inequality.

For $|\langle r_A^{\varepsilon}, Y^{\varepsilon} \rangle|$, by Theorem 4.2 we have

$$|\langle r_A^{\varepsilon}, Y^{\varepsilon} \rangle| \lesssim \varepsilon^{K-2} \|Y^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^1} \lesssim \varepsilon^{K-2} \|Y^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^3}.$$
(4.28)

Let $\sigma^* > \delta$, $\varepsilon < 1$, δ be small enough and K large enough. Collecting (4.23)-(4.28) together, by using Hölder's inequality we have

$$\frac{d\|Y^{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{H^{-1}}^2}{dt} \lesssim \|Y^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{-1}}^2 + \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\|Y^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^3}^3 + \varepsilon^{\sigma^* - 1 - 2\delta}(\|Y^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^3} + \|Y^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^3}^2 + \|Y^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^3}^3) + \varepsilon^{3(\sigma^* - 2\delta) - 1}.$$

Then for any $t \leq T_{\varepsilon}$ we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|Y^{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{H^{-1}}^{2} &\lesssim \int_{0}^{t} e^{t-s} \left(\frac{1}{\varepsilon} \|Y^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{3}}^{3} + \varepsilon^{\sigma^{*}-1-2\delta} \|Y^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{3}} + \varepsilon^{3(\sigma^{*}-2\delta)-1}\right) ds \\ &\lesssim_{T} \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{0}^{t} \|Y^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{3}}^{3} d\tau + \varepsilon^{\sigma^{*}-1-2\delta} \left(\int_{0}^{t} \|Y^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{3}}^{3} d\tau\right)^{\frac{1}{3}} + \varepsilon^{3(\sigma^{*}-2\delta)-1} \\ &\lesssim \varepsilon^{\gamma-1} + \varepsilon^{\sigma^{*}-1-2\delta+\frac{\gamma}{3}} + \varepsilon^{3(\sigma^{*}-2\delta)-1}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.29)$$

To estimate $L^2(0, T_{\varepsilon}; H^1)$ norm of Y^{ε} , we use the estimate presented in [ABC94, p.171]

$$-\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\int_0^t\int_{\mathcal{D}}f''(u_A^\varepsilon)g^2dxds\lesssim \varepsilon^{-\frac{2}{3}}(\int_0^t\|g\|_{L^3}^3ds)^{\frac{2}{3}}, \ \forall g\in L^3.$$

Then

$$-\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\int_0^t \langle f''(u_A^\varepsilon)Y^\varepsilon, Y^\varepsilon \rangle ds \le \varepsilon^{-\frac{2}{3}} (\int_0^t \|Y^\varepsilon\|_{L^3}^3 ds)^{\frac{2}{3}} \lesssim \varepsilon^{\frac{2}{3}(\gamma-1)}.$$
(4.30)

Combining (4.23), (4.25)-(4.28) and (4.30) we have for any $t \leq T_{\varepsilon}$

$$\int_0^t \|Y^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^1}^2 ds \lesssim \varepsilon^{\frac{2}{3}\gamma - \frac{5}{3}} + \varepsilon^{\sigma^* - 2 - 2\delta + \frac{\gamma}{3}} + \varepsilon^{3(\sigma^* - 2\delta) - 2} + \varepsilon^{\gamma - 2}.$$
(4.31)

4.3.4 Final step: Globalization $T_{\varepsilon} \equiv T$

Let

$$\gamma_1 := (\gamma - 1) \wedge (3(\sigma^* - 2\delta) - 1) \wedge (\sigma^* - 1 - 2\delta + \frac{\gamma}{3}),$$

$$\gamma_2 := (\frac{2}{3}\gamma - \frac{5}{3}) \wedge (3(\sigma^* - 2\delta) - 2) \wedge (\sigma^* - 2 - 2\delta + \frac{\gamma}{3}) \wedge (\gamma - 2) = (\frac{2}{3}\gamma - \frac{5}{3}) \wedge (\gamma_1 - 1),$$

then we have for any $t \le T_{\varepsilon}$

$$\sup_{s\in[0,t]} \|Y^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{-1}}^2 \lesssim \varepsilon^{\gamma_1}, \quad \int_0^t \|Y^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^1}^2 ds \lesssim \varepsilon^{\gamma_2}.$$
(4.32)

We use the Sobolev's embedding of H^{β} into L^{p} with $\beta := 2(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p}) = \frac{p-2}{p}$. Then by the interpolation we have

$$||Y^{\varepsilon}||_{L^{3}} \lesssim ||Y^{\varepsilon}||_{H^{\frac{1}{3}}} \lesssim ||Y^{\varepsilon}||_{H^{1}}^{\frac{2}{3}} ||Y^{\varepsilon}||_{H^{-1}}^{\frac{1}{3}}.$$

For any $t \leq T_{\varepsilon}$ by (4.32) we have

$$\int_0^t \|Y^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^3}^3 ds \lesssim \sup_{t \in [0,t]} \|Y^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{-1}} \int_0^t \|Y^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^1}^2 ds$$

$$\lesssim \varepsilon^{\frac{\gamma_1}{2} + \gamma_2}.$$
(4.33)

Then we have that for ε small enough, $T_{\varepsilon} = T$, if $\gamma < \frac{\gamma_1}{2} + \gamma_2$. Let $\gamma_1 > \frac{2}{3}\gamma - \frac{2}{3}$ such that $\gamma_2 = \frac{2}{3}\gamma - \frac{5}{3}$, then we only need

$$\gamma_1 > \frac{2}{3}\gamma + \frac{10}{3}.$$

i.e.

$$\begin{cases} \gamma - 1 > \frac{2}{3}\gamma + \frac{10}{3} \\ 3(\sigma^* - 2\delta) - 1 > \frac{2}{3}\gamma + \frac{10}{3} \\ \sigma^* - 1 - 2\delta + \frac{\gamma}{3} > \frac{2}{3}\gamma + \frac{10}{3}. \end{cases}$$

A direct calculation yields that

$$\begin{cases} \gamma > 13\\ \sigma^* > \frac{1}{3}\gamma + \frac{13}{3} + 2\delta, \end{cases}$$

$$\tag{4.34}$$

which also implies $\gamma_1 = (\gamma - 1) \wedge (\sigma^* - 1 - 2\delta + \frac{\gamma}{3})$. Since $R^{\varepsilon} = Y^{\varepsilon} + Z^{\varepsilon}$, by Lemma 4.8 we have for any $\omega \in \Omega_{\delta}$

$$\|R^{\varepsilon}(\omega)\|_{L^{3}(\mathcal{D}_{T})} \lesssim \varepsilon^{\frac{\gamma}{3}} + \varepsilon^{\sigma^{*}-2\delta} \lesssim \varepsilon^{\frac{\gamma}{3}},$$

$$\|R^{\varepsilon}(\omega)\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;H^{-1})}^{2} \lesssim \varepsilon^{\gamma-1} + \varepsilon^{\sigma^{*}-1-2\delta+\frac{\gamma}{3}}.$$
(4.35)

Finally, note that

$$v^{\varepsilon} - v_A^{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon \Delta (Y^{\varepsilon} + Z^{\varepsilon}) - \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left(f(u_{\varepsilon}) - f(u_A^{\varepsilon}) \right).$$

Therefore, by using the embedding $C(\mathcal{D}) \subset L^2$

$$\|\Delta(Y^{\varepsilon}+Z^{\varepsilon})\|_{L^{1}(0,T;H^{-2})} \lesssim \|Y^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2})} + \|Z^{\varepsilon}\|_{C(\mathcal{D}_{T})} \lesssim \varepsilon^{\frac{\gamma}{3}} + \varepsilon^{\sigma^{*}-2\delta}.$$

Moreover, similarly to what we do above

$$f(u^{\varepsilon}) - f(u^{\varepsilon}_{A}) = f'(u^{\varepsilon}_{A})R^{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{N}(u^{\varepsilon}_{A}, R^{\varepsilon})$$

= $f'(u^{\varepsilon}_{A})R^{\varepsilon} + f''(u^{\varepsilon}_{A} + \theta(R^{\varepsilon}))(R^{\varepsilon})^{2}$
= $f'(u^{\varepsilon}_{A})R^{\varepsilon} + 6(u^{\varepsilon}_{A} + \theta(R^{\varepsilon}))(R^{\varepsilon})^{2}.$

Since $\{u_A^{\varepsilon}\}$ are uniformly bounded in ε and $\theta \in [0, 1]$, we have that

$$\begin{split} \|f(u^{\varepsilon}) - f(u^{\varepsilon}_{A})\|_{L^{1}(0,T;H^{-2})} &\lesssim \|f(u^{\varepsilon}) - f(u^{\varepsilon}_{A})\|_{L^{1}(\mathcal{D}_{T})} \\ &\lesssim \|(R^{\varepsilon})^{3}\|_{L^{1}(\mathcal{D}_{T})} + \|(R^{\varepsilon})^{2}\|_{L^{1}(\mathcal{D}_{T})} + \|R^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{3}(\mathcal{D}_{T})} \\ &\lesssim \|R^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{3}(\mathcal{D}_{T})} + \|R^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{3}(\mathcal{D}_{T})}^{2} + \|R^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{3}(\mathcal{D}_{T})}^{3} \\ &\lesssim \varepsilon^{\frac{\gamma}{3}} + \varepsilon^{\sigma^{*}-2\delta} \\ &\lesssim \varepsilon^{\frac{\gamma}{3}}, \end{split}$$

where we use the Sobolev embedding $L^1 \subset H^{-2}$ in the first inequality.

Hence we deduce that

$$\|v^{\varepsilon} - v^{\varepsilon}_{A}\|_{L^{1}(0,T;H^{-2})} \lesssim \varepsilon^{\frac{\gamma}{3}+1} + \varepsilon^{\frac{\gamma}{3}-1} \\ \lesssim \varepsilon^{\frac{\gamma}{3}-1}.$$

$$(4.36)$$

Combining it with (4.34), we obtain our results stated in the Theorem 4.5.

4.4 Sharp interface limit for conservative noise

In this section, we will consider the case that $\mathcal{W} = \nabla \cdot W$, where W is an $L_0^2(\mathcal{D}, \mathbb{R}^2)$ cylindrical Wiener process on stochastic basis $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$. For $g \in L_0^2(\mathcal{D}, \mathbb{R}^2)$, we denote its component functions by $g_1, g_2 \in L_0^2(\mathcal{D})$, i.e. $g(x) = (g_1(x), g_2(x)), \forall x \in \mathcal{D}$. There exist two independent $L_0^2(\mathcal{D})$ -cylindrical Wiener processes W^1 and W^2 such that $W = (W^1, W^2)$.

Following a similar argument as in [RZZ17b, RYZ18], in this case, the solution to (4.3) is distribution-valued. Thus we consider the approximate equation (4.5) instead.

4.4.1 Existence and uniqueness of solutions to equation (4.3)

In order to consider the convolution of the noise with an approximate delta function, we need to extend the noise to the whole space \mathbb{R}^2 . Considering the Neumann boundary condition, it is reasonable to extend it evenly to $[-1, 1]^2$ first, then do a periodical extension to the whole space. That is, for any function g on \mathcal{D} which satisfies the Neumann boundary condition, we view it as a function \bar{g} on \mathbb{R}^2 by

$$\bar{g}(x) := g(|x_1+k_1|, |x_2+k_2|), \quad \forall x = (x_1, x_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2, \quad \forall k = (k_1, k_2) \in \mathbb{Z}^2 \text{ when } x+k \in [-1, 1]^2$$

Moreover, for $x \in \mathbb{R}^2$ and $t \ge 0$, define

Moreover, for $x \in \mathbb{R}^2$ and t > 0, define

$$\bar{M}(t,x) = -\mathcal{F}^{-1}(e^{-\frac{t}{2}|\pi \cdot|^4})(x),$$

where \mathcal{F}^{-1} is the inverse Fourier transformation on \mathbb{R}^2 . By Poisson summation formula, for any $(x, y) \in \mathcal{D}^2$

$$M(t,x,y) := \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^2} \left(\bar{M}(t,x+y+2k) + \bar{M}(t,x-y+2k) \right)$$

is the kernel of $e^{-t\Delta^2}$ on \mathcal{D} , where Δ is the Neumann Laplacian operator on \mathcal{D} . A direct calculation yields that for any $g \in L^2(\mathcal{D})$

$$\int_{\mathcal{D}} M(t,x,y)g(y)dy = \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \bar{M}(t,x-y)\bar{g}(y)dy.$$
(4.37)

Define

$$K(t, x, y) := -\nabla_y M(t, x, y) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^2} \left(\bar{K}(t, x + y + 2k) - \bar{K}(t, x - y + 2k) \right),$$

where $\bar{K}(t,x) = (\bar{K}^1(t,x), \bar{K}^2(t,x)) := -\nabla \bar{M}(t,x)$, thus for any t > 0, $\bar{K}^j(t,\cdot)$ is the inverse Fourier transformation of the function $\eta \to -\pi i \eta_j e^{-\frac{t}{2}|\pi\eta|^4}$, i.e.

$$\bar{K}^{j}(t,x) := -\mathcal{F}^{-1}(\pi i \eta_{j} e^{-\frac{t}{2}|\pi \eta|^{4}})(x).$$

We use $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ to denote the Schwartz function on \mathbb{R}^2 , $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^2)$ to denote the Schwartz distribution on \mathbb{R}^2 and $_{\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^2)}\langle\cdot,\cdot\rangle_{\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^2)}$ to denote the dual between $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ and $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^2)$. Then we know that $\bar{K}^j(t,\cdot) \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ for any t > 0. Moreover we define Z^{ε} by

$$Z^{\varepsilon}(t,x) := \varepsilon^{\sigma} \int_{0}^{t} \langle K(t-s,x,\cdot), dW_{s} \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathcal{D},\mathbb{R}^{2})} = \varepsilon^{\sigma} \sum_{j=1}^{2} \int_{0}^{t} {}_{\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^{2})} \langle \bar{K}^{j}(t-s,x-\cdot), d\bar{W}_{s}^{j} \rangle_{\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{2})}$$

$$(4.38)$$

Here $\overline{W} = (\overline{W}^1, \overline{W}^2), \ \overline{W}^j, \ j = 1, 2$ is two i.i.d Wiener processes defined by

$$_{\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^2)}\langle \bar{W}^j,g\rangle_{\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^2)}=\langle W,\tilde{g}\rangle_{L^2(\mathcal{D})},$$

for any $g \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ and $\tilde{g} \in L^2(\mathcal{D})$ is defined as

$$\tilde{g}(x) := \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^2} \left(g(x+2k) - g(-x+2k) \right), \ x \in \mathcal{D}.$$

For simplicity we write

$$Z^{\varepsilon}(t,x) = \varepsilon^{\sigma} \sum_{j=1}^{2} \int_{0}^{t} {}_{\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^2)} \langle \bar{K}^j(t-s,x-\cdot), d\bar{W}^j_s \rangle_{\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^2)} := \varepsilon^{\sigma} \int_{0}^{t} {}_{\mathcal{S}'} \langle \bar{K}(t-s,x-\cdot), d\bar{W}_s \rangle_{\mathcal{S}}.$$

We also denote

$$\bar{Z}^{\varepsilon} := Z^{\varepsilon} + e^{-\varepsilon t \Delta^2} m(z), \qquad (4.39)$$

where $z \in H^{-1}$, m(z) is defined in Section 4.1. Then $\overline{Z}^{\varepsilon}$ is the mild solution to the linear equation

$$\begin{cases} d\bar{Z}^{\varepsilon} = -\varepsilon \Delta^2 \bar{Z}^{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon^{\sigma} B dW, \\ \bar{Z}^{\varepsilon}(0) \equiv m(z) \in \mathbb{R}, \end{cases}$$

with Neumann boundary conditions,

$$\frac{\partial \bar{Z}^{\varepsilon}}{\partial n} = \frac{\partial \Delta \bar{Z}^{\varepsilon}}{\partial n} = 0 \text{ on } \partial \mathcal{D},$$

where

$$D(B) = H^1(\mathcal{D}, \mathbb{R}^2), B = \text{div}, D(B^*) = H^1(\mathcal{D}), B^* = -\nabla.$$
 (4.40)

Let ρ_h be an approximate delta function on \mathbb{R}^2 given by

$$\rho_h(x) = h^{-2}\rho(\frac{x}{h}), \quad \int \rho = 1$$

Define for any $(t, x) \in \mathcal{D}_T$

$$Z^{\varepsilon,h}(t,x) := \varepsilon^{\sigma} \int_{0}^{t} {}_{\mathcal{S}'} \langle \bar{K}(\varepsilon(t-r), x-\cdot), d\bar{W}_{s}^{h} \rangle_{\mathcal{S}}$$

$$= \varepsilon^{\sigma} \int_{0}^{t} {}_{\mathcal{S}'} \langle \bar{K}_{h}(\varepsilon(t-r), x-\cdot), d\bar{W}_{s} \rangle_{\mathcal{S}},$$
(4.41)

where $\bar{W}^{h} = \bar{W} * \rho_{h}$, and $\bar{K}_{h}(t, x) = (\bar{K}_{h}^{1}(t, x), \bar{K}_{h}^{2}(t, x)),$

$$\bar{K}_h^j(t,x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \bar{K}^j(t,x-y)\rho_h(y)dy.$$

For fixed $\varepsilon, h > 0$, let $\varphi^{\varepsilon,h}$ be a solution to the following equation on \mathcal{D}

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d\varphi^{\varepsilon,h}}{dt} = \Delta(-\varepsilon\Delta\varphi^{\varepsilon,h} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon}: f(\varphi^{\varepsilon,h} + \bar{Z}^{\varepsilon,h}):)\\ \varphi^{\varepsilon,h}(0) = (z - m(z)) * \rho_h, \end{cases}$$
(4.42)

with Δ the Neumann Laplacian operator on \mathcal{D} . Here : $f(\varphi^{\varepsilon,h} + \overline{Z}^{\varepsilon,h})$: is the Wick power defined by

$$: f(\varphi^{\varepsilon,h} + \bar{Z}^{\varepsilon,h}) ::= \sum_{k=0}^{3} C_{3}^{k} : \left(\bar{Z}^{\varepsilon,h}\right)^{3-k} : \left(\varphi^{\varepsilon,h}\right)^{k}$$

$$(4.43)$$

where for any k = 0, 1, 2, 3

$$: \left(\bar{Z}^{\varepsilon,h}\right)^k ::= \sum_{l=0}^3 C_3^k : \left(Z^{\varepsilon,h}\right)^{k-l} : \left(e^{-\varepsilon t\Delta^2} m(z)\right)^k,$$

$$: (\bar{Z}^{\varepsilon,h})^0 ::= 1, : (\bar{Z}^{\varepsilon,h}) ::= (\bar{Z}^{\varepsilon,h}), : (\bar{Z}^{\varepsilon,h})^2 := (\bar{Z}^{\varepsilon,h})^2 - c^{\varepsilon}_{h,t}(x),$$
$$: (\bar{Z}^{\varepsilon,h})^3 ::= (\bar{Z}^{\varepsilon,h})^3 - 3c^{\varepsilon}_{h,t}(x) (\bar{Z}^{\varepsilon,h}).$$

and

$$c_{h,t}^{\varepsilon}(x) = \mathbb{E}\left[\bar{Z}^{\varepsilon,h}(t,x)^2\right].$$
(4.44)

Lemma 4.9. ([LR15, Example 5.2.27]) For any ε , h > 0, there exists a unique solution $\varphi^{\varepsilon,h} \in C([0,T]; L^2(\mathcal{D}))$ to equation (4.42).

Since $m(z) \in \mathbb{R}$, similar as in the proof in Lemma 3.3 or [MW17, RZZ17b, RYZ18], for any k = 1, 2, 3, as $h \to 0, : (\bar{Z}^{\varepsilon,h})^k$: converges in $C([0,T], \mathcal{C}^{\alpha})$ for any $\alpha < 0$ whose limit is denoted as $: (\bar{Z}^{\varepsilon})^k$:. Here \mathcal{C}^{α} is defined as the Besov space $B^{\alpha}_{\infty,\infty}$, see Section 2.1 and the reference therein for details.

Then we denote

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d\varphi^{\varepsilon}}{dt} = \Delta(-\varepsilon\Delta\varphi^{\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} : f(\varphi^{\varepsilon} + \bar{Z}^{\varepsilon}) :),\\ \varphi^{\varepsilon}(0) = z - m(z) \in H_0^{-1}, \end{cases}$$
(4.45)

where

$$: f(\varphi^{\varepsilon} + \bar{Z}^{\varepsilon}) ::= \sum_{k=0}^{3} C_3^k : \left(\bar{Z}^{\varepsilon}\right)^{3-k} : \left(\varphi^{\varepsilon}\right)^k.$$

$$(4.46)$$

Theorem 4.10. ([RYZ18, Theorem 4.4]) For $\mathbb{P} - a.s. \omega$, there exists a unique solution φ^{ε} to equation (4.45) in $C([0,T]; H_0^{-1})$ for any fixed $\varepsilon > 0$.

Remark 4.11. We note that in Chapter 3 and [RYZ18], we consider the periodical boundary condition, which is different from the Neumann boundary condition. But by our extension method as we explained before, a similar proof follows.

In fact, $\varphi^{\varepsilon} = \lim_{h \to 0} \varphi^{\varepsilon,h}$ in $C([0,T]; H_0^{-1})$. Let $u^{\varepsilon,h} := \varphi^{\varepsilon,h} + Z^{\varepsilon,h}$, $u^{\varepsilon,h}$ also converges to u^{ε} in $C([0,T]; H^{-1})$, which is the unique solution to (4.3).

4.4.2 The sharp interface limit of equation (4.3)

Similarly as in the proof of Theorem 4.5 we prove that for a suitable choice $h(\varepsilon)$, the solutions to (4.3) will converge to the solution to deterministic Hele-Shaw model (1.17).

The method is a modification of the one in Section 4.3. We consider the residual

$$R^{\varepsilon,h} := u^{\varepsilon,h} - u^{\varepsilon}_A. \tag{4.47}$$

Let $Y^{\varepsilon,h} = R^{\varepsilon,h} - Z^{\varepsilon,h}$, which satisfies

$$dY^{\varepsilon,h} = -\varepsilon \Delta^2 Y^{\varepsilon,h} dt + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \Delta \left(f'(u_A^{\varepsilon}) (Y^{\varepsilon,h} + Z^{\varepsilon,h}) + \mathcal{N}(u_A^{\varepsilon}, Y^{\varepsilon,h} + Z^{\varepsilon,h}) \right) dt - \frac{c_{h,t}^{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon} \Delta (u_A^{\varepsilon} + Z^{\varepsilon,h} + Y^{\varepsilon,h}) + \Delta r_A^{\varepsilon} dt,$$

$$(4.48)$$

where $c_{h,t}^{\varepsilon}$ is defined in (4.44). For $Y^{\varepsilon,h}$ we also have the energy estimate:

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{d \|Y^{\varepsilon,h}\|_{H^{-1}}^2}{dt} + \varepsilon \|Y^{\varepsilon,h}(t)\|_{H^1}^2 = -\frac{1}{\varepsilon} \langle f'(u_A^{\varepsilon})(Y^{\varepsilon,h} + Z^{\varepsilon,h}) + \mathcal{N}(u_A^{\varepsilon}, Y^{\varepsilon,h} + Z^{\varepsilon,h}), Y^{\varepsilon,h} \rangle \\
- \langle r_A^{\varepsilon}, Y^{\varepsilon,h} \rangle + \frac{c_{h,t}^{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon} \langle u_A^{\varepsilon} + Y^{\varepsilon,h} + Z^{\varepsilon,h}, Y^{\varepsilon,h} \rangle.$$
(4.49)

In order estimate Y^{ε} , we still need the estimation of $Z^{\varepsilon,h}$ and $c_{h,t}^{\varepsilon}$. Analogously to Lemma 4.8 we have

Lemma 4.12. There exists a constant $C_2 > 0$ such that for any $0 < \beta \leq 1$,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\|Z^{\varepsilon,h}\|_{C(\mathcal{D}_T)}\right] \le C_2 \varepsilon^{\sigma_*} h^{-2},$$

where $\sigma_* = \sigma - \frac{\beta}{4}$. Then for any $\delta > 0$, there exists a constant $C_{\delta} > 0$, such that

$$\mathbb{P}\left[\Omega_{\delta}'\right] > 1 - C_{\delta}\varepsilon^{\delta},$$

where $\Omega'_{\delta} = \{ \| Z^{\varepsilon,h} \|_{C(\mathcal{D}_T)} \le C_2 \varepsilon^{\sigma_* - 2\delta} h^{-2} \}.$

Proof We follow a similar proof as in Lemma 4.8. A factorization formula implies that

$$Z^{\varepsilon,h}(t,x) = \varepsilon^{\sigma} \frac{\sin \pi \kappa}{\pi} \int_0^t (t-s)^{\kappa-1} \langle M(\varepsilon(t-s), x-\cdot), U^{\varepsilon,h}(s) \rangle ds,$$

where M(t, x, y) is the kernel of $e^{-t\Delta^2}$ and

$$U^{\varepsilon,h}(s,x) = \int_0^t \langle (t-r)^{-\kappa} K_h(\varepsilon(t-r), x, \cdot), dW_s \rangle_{L^2(\mathcal{D}, \mathbb{R}^2)},$$

where K_h is defined in (4.55). Combined with (4.56), we have that

$$|K_h(\varepsilon t, x, y)| \lesssim (\varepsilon t)^{-\frac{\beta}{4}} h^{-\eta} \left(|x - y|^{-\zeta} + |x + y|^{-\zeta} \right),$$

where $\beta, \zeta, \eta \ge 0$ and $\beta + \zeta + \eta = 3$. Similarly to (4.15)-(4.20) we have that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left|U^{\varepsilon,h}(s,x)\right|^{2}\right] \lesssim \varepsilon^{-\frac{\beta}{2}} h^{-2\eta} \int_{0}^{s} \int_{\mathcal{D}} (s-r)^{-2\kappa-\frac{\beta}{2}} \left(|x+y|^{-2\zeta}+|x-y|^{-2\zeta}\right) dy ds$$

$$\lesssim \varepsilon^{-\frac{\beta}{2}} h^{-2\eta} s^{1-2\kappa-\frac{\beta}{2}} |x|^{2-2\zeta},$$
(4.50)

where we require that

$$1 - 2\kappa - \frac{\beta}{2} > 0, \quad \zeta < 1.$$

Similarly to (4.14), we have that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\|U^{\varepsilon,h}\|_{L^{2p}(\mathcal{D}_T)}\right] \lesssim \varepsilon^{\sigma - \frac{\beta}{4}} h^{-\eta}$$

Let $\eta = 2$ and $\kappa > 0$ be small enough such that $\beta < 1 - \zeta < 2 - 4\kappa$, $\zeta < 1$. Similarly as in the proof of Lemma 2.7 in [DP04], we have that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\|Z^{\varepsilon,h}(t)\|_{\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{D}_T)}\right] \lesssim_T \varepsilon^{\sigma} \mathbb{E}\left[\|U^{\varepsilon,h}\|_{L^{2p}(\mathcal{D}_T)}\right] \\
\lesssim \varepsilon^{\sigma-\frac{\beta}{4}} h^{-2}.$$
(4.51)

Then by Chebyshev's inequality, we finish the proof.

For $c_{h,t}^{\varepsilon}$, we have the following estimate:

Lemma 4.13. There exists a constant C > 0 such that for any $(t, x) \in \mathcal{D}_T$ and any $\varepsilon, h \in (0, 1)$,

$$|c_{h,t}^{\varepsilon}(x)| \le -C\varepsilon^{2\sigma-1}\log h$$

Proof Following a similar argument as in (4.16), (4.17) and (4.19), we obtain that for all $g \in (g_1, g_2) \in L^2(\mathcal{D}, \mathbb{R}^2)$

$$\int_{\mathcal{D}} K(t,x,y)g(y)dy = \int_{\mathcal{D}} K^1(t,x,y)g_1(y)dy + \int_{\mathcal{D}} K^2(t,x,y)g_2(y)dy$$
$$\simeq \sum_k \left(\langle g_1, |k_1|e_k \rangle + \langle g_2, |k_2|e_k \rangle \right) e^{-t|k|^4} e_k(x).$$

Hence

$$K(t, x, y) \simeq \sum_{k} |k| e^{-t|k|^4} e_k(x) e_k(y).$$
 (4.52)

where e_k is defined in (4.6). Note that $e_k(x)e_k(y) = \frac{1}{2}(e_k(x-y) + e_k(x+y))$. Thus we obtain

$$K(t,x,y) \simeq \sum_{k} |k| e^{-t|k|^4} (e_k(x-y) + e_k(x+y)) := P_2(t,x-y) + P_2(t,x+y). \quad (4.53)$$

By [SW72, p282, (c)], we have that for any $(t, x) \in \mathcal{D}_T$,

$$|P_2(t,x)| \lesssim |x|^{-3} e^{-\frac{t}{|x|^4}} \lesssim \left(t^{\frac{1}{3}} + |x|\right)^{-3}.$$
(4.54)

Thus we obtain for any $t \in [0, T], x, y \in \mathcal{D}$,

$$|K(\varepsilon t, x, y)| \lesssim \left((\varepsilon t)^{\frac{1}{4}} + |x - y| \right)^{-3} + \left((\varepsilon t)^{\frac{1}{4}} + |x + y| \right)^{-3}$$

We can extend the definition of K(t, x, y) for $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^2$ with the same form as in (4.52), and denote

$$K_h(t, x, y) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \rho_h(z) K(t, x, y - z) dz.$$
(4.55)

Therefore (4.41) becomes

$$Z^{\varepsilon,h}(t,x) = \varepsilon^{\sigma} \int_0^t \langle K_h(\varepsilon(t-r), x-\cdot), dW_s \rangle_{L^2(\mathcal{D}, \mathbb{R}^2)}$$

Then by [Hai14, Lemma 10.17] we have that

$$|K_h(\varepsilon t, x, y)| \lesssim \left((\varepsilon t)^{\frac{1}{4}} + |x - y| + h \right)^{-3} + \left((\varepsilon t)^{\frac{1}{4}} + |x + y| + h \right)^{-3}.$$
(4.56)

Then we have that for any $(t, x) \in \mathcal{D}_T$.

$$\begin{aligned} |c_{h,t}^{\varepsilon}(x)| &\leq \varepsilon^{2\sigma} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}} |K_{h}^{\varepsilon}(t-r,x,y)|^{2} dr dy \\ &\lesssim \varepsilon^{2\sigma-1} \int_{0}^{t\varepsilon} \int_{\mathcal{D}} \left(r^{\frac{1}{4}} + |x-y| + h \right)^{-6} dr dy + \varepsilon^{2\sigma-1} \int_{0}^{t\varepsilon} \int_{\mathcal{D}} \left(r^{\frac{1}{4}} + |x+y| + h \right)^{-6} dr dy \\ &\lesssim -\varepsilon^{2\sigma-1} \log h. \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.57)$$

Now we have the following main result in this section:

Theorem 4.14. Let $u^{\varepsilon,h}$ be the unique solution to (4.3) and u_A^{ε} be defined in Theorem 4.2 with large enough K > 0. For some $\theta > 0$ such that $\varepsilon^{\theta} \lesssim h^2$, we assume that

$$\begin{cases} \gamma > 13, \\ \sigma > \frac{1}{3}\gamma + \frac{13}{3} + \theta. \end{cases}$$

$$(4.58)$$

Then there exist a generic constant C > 0 and a constant $C_{\delta} > 0$ for all $0 < \delta < \frac{\sigma}{2} - \frac{1}{6}\gamma - \frac{13}{6} - \frac{\theta}{2}$ such that the following estimates hold

$$\mathbb{P}\left[\|R^{\varepsilon,h}\|_{L^{3}(\mathcal{D}_{T})} \leq C\varepsilon^{\frac{\gamma}{3}}\right] \geq 1 - C_{\delta}\varepsilon^{\delta},$$
$$\mathbb{P}\left[\|R^{\varepsilon,h}\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;H^{-1})}^{2} \leq C\left(\varepsilon^{\gamma-1} + \varepsilon^{\sigma_{*}-1-2\delta-\theta}\right)\right] \geq 1 - C_{\delta}\varepsilon^{\delta},$$
$$\mathbb{P}\left[\|v^{\varepsilon,h} - v_{A}^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{1}(0,T;H^{-2})}^{2} \leq C\varepsilon^{\frac{\gamma}{3}-1}\right] \geq 1 - C_{\delta}\varepsilon^{\delta}.$$
(4.59)

Proof The proof is similar to Section 4.3.

Again we define a stopping time

$$T^{\varepsilon,h} := T \wedge \inf\{t > 0 : \int_0^t \|Y^{\varepsilon,h}(\tau)\|_{L^3}^3 d\tau > \varepsilon^\gamma\}.$$
(4.60)

Then let $t < T^{\varepsilon,h}$ and fix an $\omega \in \Omega'_{\delta}$. Since

$$h^{-2} \lesssim \varepsilon^{-\theta} \tag{4.61}$$

for some $\theta > 0$. We have that

$$-\log h \lesssim -\frac{\theta}{2}\log\varepsilon \lesssim \varepsilon^{-\delta}, \quad |c_{h,t}^{\varepsilon}| \lesssim \varepsilon^{2\sigma - 1 - \delta}.$$
(4.62)

For $\frac{c_{h,t}^{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon}\langle u_A^{\varepsilon} + Y^{\varepsilon,h} + Z^{\varepsilon,h}, Y^{\varepsilon,h} \rangle$ we have that for small enough ε

$$\int_0^t \frac{c_{h,t}^{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon} |\langle u_A^{\varepsilon} + Y^{\varepsilon,h} + Z^{\varepsilon,h}, Y^{\varepsilon,h} \rangle| d\tau \lesssim \varepsilon^{\frac{\gamma}{3}-1} c_{h,t}^{\varepsilon} \lesssim \varepsilon^{2\sigma + \frac{\gamma}{3}-2-\delta}$$

For the rest terms on the right hand side of (4.49), we follow the proof in Section 4.3 by replacing the estimate for Z^{ε} with the estimate of $Z^{\varepsilon,h}$ in Lemma 4.12. Thus we have that for small enough ε and $t \leq T^{\varepsilon,h}$

$$\sup_{\tau \in [0,t]} \|Y^{\varepsilon,h}(\tau)\|_{H^{-1}}^2 d\tau \lesssim \varepsilon^{2\sigma + \frac{\gamma}{3} - 2 - \delta} + \varepsilon^{\gamma - 1} + \varepsilon^{\sigma_* - 1 - 2\delta + \frac{\gamma}{3} - \theta} + \varepsilon^{3(\sigma_* - 2\delta - \theta) - 1}.$$

Also,

$$\int_0^t \|Y^{\varepsilon,h}(\tau)\|_{H^1}^2 d\tau \lesssim \varepsilon^{2\sigma + \frac{\gamma}{3} - 3 - \delta} + \varepsilon^{\frac{2}{3}(\gamma - 1) - 1} + \varepsilon^{\sigma_* - 2 - 2\delta + \frac{\gamma}{3} - \theta} + \varepsilon^{3(\sigma_* - 2\delta - \theta) - 2} + \varepsilon^{\gamma - 2\delta} + \varepsilon^{2\delta - 2\delta}$$

Hence we have

τ

$$\sup_{\tau \in [0,t]} \|Y^{\varepsilon,h}(\tau)\|_{H^{-1}}^2 d\tau \lesssim \varepsilon^{\gamma_1}, \quad \int_0^t \|Y^{\varepsilon,h}(\tau)\|_{H^1}^2 d\tau \lesssim \varepsilon^{\gamma_2}, \tag{4.63}$$

where

$$\gamma_1 := (2\sigma + \frac{\gamma}{3} - 2 - \delta) \wedge (\sigma_* - 1 - 2\delta - \theta + \frac{\gamma}{3}) \wedge (3(\sigma_* - 2\delta - \theta) - 1) \wedge (\gamma - 1),$$
$$\gamma_2 := (\gamma_1 - 1) \wedge (\frac{2}{3}\gamma - \frac{5}{3}).$$

Similarly to (4.33), we have

$$\int_0^t \|Y^{\varepsilon,h}\|_{L^3}^3 d\tau \lesssim \varepsilon^{\frac{\gamma_1}{2}+\gamma_2}$$

In order to prove $T^{\varepsilon,N} = T$ for small enough ε , we need to prove $\gamma < \frac{1}{2}\gamma_1 + \gamma_2$. First we assume that $\gamma_2 = \frac{2}{3}\gamma - \frac{5}{3}$, i.e.

$$\gamma_1 > \frac{2}{3}\gamma - \frac{2}{3}.$$

Then $\frac{1}{2}\gamma_1 + \gamma_2 > \gamma$ yields

$$\gamma_1 > \frac{2}{3}\gamma + \frac{10}{3}$$

A direct calculation yields that

$$\begin{cases} \gamma > 13, \\ \sigma > \frac{1}{3}\gamma + \frac{13}{3} + 2\delta + \theta + \frac{\beta}{4}, \end{cases}$$

which implies that

$$\gamma_1 = (\sigma_* - 1 - 2\delta - \theta + \frac{\gamma}{3}) \land (\gamma - 1).$$

Since $\delta, \beta > 0$ can be as small as enough, we can only assume that (4.58) hold and let $0 < 2\delta < \sigma - \frac{1}{3}\gamma - \frac{13}{3} - \theta$. Since $R^{\varepsilon,h} = Y^{\varepsilon,h} + Z^{\varepsilon,h}$, and $H^1 \subset L^3$, we can obtain the estimate of $R^{\varepsilon,h}$ which is

similar to (4.35). Moreover let

$$v^{\varepsilon,h} := -\varepsilon \Delta u^{\varepsilon,h} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \left(f(u^{\varepsilon,h}) - 3c^{\varepsilon}_{h,t} u^{\varepsilon,h} \right),$$

similarly to (4.36), we obtain that

$$\begin{aligned} \|v^{\varepsilon,h} - v^{\varepsilon}_{A}\|^{2}_{L^{1}(0,T;H^{-2})} &\lesssim \varepsilon \|R^{\varepsilon,h}\|_{L^{2}(\mathcal{D}_{T})} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \|R^{\varepsilon,h}\|_{L^{1}(\mathcal{D}_{T})} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \|c^{\varepsilon}_{h,t}u^{\varepsilon,h}\|^{2}_{L^{1}(0,T;H^{-2})} \\ &\lesssim \varepsilon \|R^{\varepsilon,h}\|_{L^{3}(\mathcal{D}_{T})} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \|R^{\varepsilon,h}\|_{L^{3}(\mathcal{D}_{T})} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \|c^{\varepsilon}_{h,t}\|_{L^{\infty}} \|R^{\varepsilon,h} + u^{\varepsilon}_{A}\|_{L^{3}(\mathcal{D}_{T})} \\ &\lesssim \varepsilon^{\frac{\gamma}{3}-1} - \varepsilon^{2\sigma-2} \log h \lesssim \varepsilon^{\frac{\gamma}{3}-1}. \end{aligned}$$

Remark 4.15. It is easy to see that (4.58) implies $\sigma > \frac{26}{3} + \theta$. This implies that the faster that h converges to 0 than ε , the smaller σ could be. Since θ can be small enough, the lower bound for σ is $\frac{26}{3}$.

Note that the lower bound for σ is smaller than the case of space-time white noise (see Remark 4.6). In fact we can also consider the mollified space-time white noise in Section 4.2 just as in this section. By comparing ε with the converging speed of the noise, the lower bound for σ could be much smaller.

Corollary 4.16. There exist subsequences $\{\varepsilon_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ and $\{h_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ with $\varepsilon_k^{\theta} \leq h_k^2$ such that for $\mathbb{P} - a.s. \ \omega \in \Omega$

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} u^{\varepsilon_k, h_k} = -1 + 2\mathbb{1}_{E_t} \quad in \ L^3(\mathcal{D}_{T_0}),$$

where E_t is the region enclosed by Γ_t .

Proof The proof is the same as Corollary 4.7, we ignore it here for simplicity.

Chapter 5

Weak solutions to the sharp interface limit of stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equations

In this chapter, we consider stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equations driven by two types of noise.

First, we consider the sharp interface limit of the following stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equation on a bounded smooth open domain $\mathcal{D} \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ (d = 2, 3):

$$\begin{cases} du^{\varepsilon} = \Delta v^{\varepsilon} dt + \varepsilon^{\sigma} dW_t, \quad (t, x) \in (0, T] \times \mathcal{D}, \\ v^{\varepsilon} = -\varepsilon \Delta u^{\varepsilon}(t) + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} f(u^{\varepsilon}(t)), \quad (t, x) \in [0, T] \times \mathcal{D}, \\ \frac{\partial u^{\varepsilon}}{\partial n} = \frac{\partial v^{\varepsilon}}{\partial n} = 0, \quad (t, x) \in [0, T] \times \partial \mathcal{D}, \\ u^{\varepsilon}(0, x) = u^{\varepsilon}_0(x), \quad x \in \mathcal{D}. \end{cases}$$
(5.1)

Here W is a Q-Wiener process where Q satisfies (5.4) and (5.5). f(u) = F'(u) where $F(u) = \frac{1}{4}(u^2 - 1)^2$ is the double well potential and the initial data u_0^{ε} satisfies

$$\begin{cases} \sup_{0<\varepsilon\leq 1} \int_{\mathcal{D}} \left(\frac{\varepsilon}{2} |\nabla u_0^{\varepsilon}(x)|^2 + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} F(u_0^{\varepsilon}(x))\right) dx \leq \mathcal{E}_0 < \infty, \\ \frac{1}{|\mathcal{D}|} \int_{\mathcal{D}} u_0^{\varepsilon}(x) dx = m_0 \in (-1,1) \quad \forall \varepsilon \in (0,1]. \end{cases}$$
(5.2)

In the last section, we consider the equation driven by a "smeared" noise:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial u^{\varepsilon}}{\partial t} = \Delta v^{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon^{\sigma} \xi_{t}^{\varepsilon}, \quad (t, x) \in (0, T] \times \mathcal{D}, \\ v^{\varepsilon} = -\varepsilon \Delta u^{\varepsilon}(t) + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} f(u^{\varepsilon}(t)), \quad (t, x) \in [0, T] \times \mathcal{D}, \\ \frac{\partial u^{\varepsilon}}{\partial n} = \frac{\partial v^{\varepsilon}}{\partial n} = 0, \quad (t, x) \in [0, T] \times \partial \mathcal{D}, \\ u^{\varepsilon}(0, x) = u_{0}^{\varepsilon}(x), \quad x \in \mathcal{D}, \end{cases}$$
(5.3)

where $\xi_t^{\varepsilon} = \frac{dW^{\varepsilon}}{dt}$, $W_t^{\varepsilon} := \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \rho_{\varepsilon}(t-s) W_s ds$ and ρ_{ε} is an approximate delta function on \mathbb{R} . Formally as $\varepsilon \to 0$, $\xi^{\varepsilon} \to \frac{dW}{dt}$.

5.1 Preliminary

5.1.1 Basic notations and assumptions

In the following, we denote by S^{d-1} the unit sphere in \mathbb{R}^d and $\vec{\nu}$ a generic element in S^{d-1} .

We assume that \mathcal{D} is a smooth bounded open domain in \mathbb{R}^d (d = 2, 3). Let Q be an linear operator on $L^2(\mathcal{D})$, which is commuted with Δ and satisfies

$$Qe_0 = 0, (5.4)$$

where $e_0(x) \equiv 1$ for any $x \in \mathcal{D}$ and

$$\operatorname{Tr}((-\Delta)Q) < +\infty. \tag{5.5}$$

Let $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ be a stochastic basis and defined on it a *Q*-Wiener process *W* on $L^2(\mathcal{D})$. According to [DPD96, Remark 2.2], we have that

Theorem 5.1. Assume that Q satisfies (5.4), (5.5), then for $\mathbb{P} - a.s. \omega$, the equation (5.1) has a unique analytic weak solution $u^{\varepsilon} \in C([0,T]; H^1 \cap L^4)$.

Let u^{ε} be the solution to equation (5.1), we set

$$\mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(t) := \mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon})(t) = \int_{\mathcal{D}} e^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon}(t,x))dx, \quad e^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon}) := \frac{\varepsilon}{2}|\nabla u^{\varepsilon}|^{2} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon}F(u^{\varepsilon}).$$
(5.6)

5.1.2 Definition of a weak solution to the limit of equation (5.1)

Now we recall the following definition of weak solutions to the limit of equation (5.1) introduced in [Che96, Definition 2.1]:

Definition 5.2. A triple (E, v, V) is called a weak solution to the limit of equation (5.1) if the following holds:

(i) $E = \bigcup_{t \in [0,T]} (\{t\} \times E_t)$ is a subset of \mathcal{D}_T and $\mathbb{1}_E \in C([0,T]; L^1) \cap L^{\infty}(0,T; BV);$ (ii) $v \in L^2(0,T; H^1);$

(iii) V = V(t, x, p) is Radon measure on $\mathcal{D}_T \times P$ and for almost every $t \in [0, T]$, $V^t := V(t, \cdot, \cdot)$ is a varifold on \mathcal{D} , and there exist Radon measure μ^t on $\overline{\mathcal{D}}$, μ^t -measurable functions c_1^t, \cdots, c_d^t , and μ^t -measurable P-valued functions p_1^t, \cdots, p_d^t such that

$$0 \le c_i^t \le 1 \ (i = 1, \cdots, d), \quad \sum_{i=1}^d c_i^t \ge 1, \quad \sum_{i=1}^d p_i^t \otimes p_i^t = I \ \mu^t - a.e., \tag{5.7}$$

$$2S|D\mathbb{1}_{E_t}|(x)dx \le d\mu^t(x) \quad \left(S = \int_{-1}^1 \sqrt{\frac{F(s)}{2}} ds = \frac{2}{3}\right),\tag{5.8}$$

$$\int \int_{\mathcal{D}\times P} \psi(x,p) dV^t(x,p) = \sum_{i=1}^d \int_{\mathcal{D}} c_i^t(x) \psi(x,p_i^t(x)) d\mu^t(x) \quad \forall \psi \in C_c(\mathcal{D}\times P);$$
(5.9)

(iv) For any $t \in (0,T]$ and for almost every $\tau \in (0,t)$,

$$\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}} \left(-2\mathbb{1}_{E_{\tau}} \partial_{t} \psi + \nabla v \cdot \nabla \psi \right) dx d\tau = \int_{\mathcal{D}} 2\mathbb{1}_{E_{0}} \psi(0, \cdot) \quad \forall \psi \in C_{c}^{1}([0, t] \times \bar{\mathcal{D}}), \quad (5.10)$$

$$-\langle D\mathbb{1}_{E_t}, v\vec{Y}\rangle := \langle \mathbb{1}_{E_t}, \operatorname{div}(v\vec{Y})\rangle = \frac{1}{2}\langle \delta V^t, \vec{Y}\rangle \quad \forall \vec{Y} \in C_c^1(\mathcal{D}; \mathbb{R}^d),$$
(5.11)

$$\mu^{t}(\bar{\mathcal{D}}) + \int_{\tau}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}} |\nabla v|^{2} \le \mu^{\tau}(\bar{\mathcal{D}}).$$
(5.12)

5.1.3 Main results for *Q*-Wiener noise

Theorem 5.3. Assume that $\sigma \geq \frac{1}{2}$ and (5.2) hold. Let Q satisfy (5.4) and (5.5). Let $(u^{\varepsilon}, v^{\varepsilon})$ be the solution to (5.1). Then there exist a probability space $(\tilde{\Omega}, \tilde{\mathcal{F}}, \{\tilde{\mathcal{F}}_t\}_{t \in [0,T]}, \tilde{\mathbb{P}}), (\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}, \tilde{v}^{\varepsilon}) \in C([0,T]; L^2) \times L^2(0,T; H^1)$ with $\tilde{\mathbb{P}} \circ (\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}, \tilde{v}^{\varepsilon})^{-1} = \mathbb{P} \circ (u^{\varepsilon}, v^{\varepsilon})^{-1}$ on $C([0,T]; L^2) \times L^2(0,T; H^1)$. There also exists a subsequence ε_k such that as $\varepsilon_k \searrow 0$ the following holds:

(i) There exists a measurable set $E \subset \tilde{\Omega} \times \mathcal{D}_T$, such that $\mathbb{1}_E$ is $\{\tilde{\mathcal{F}}_t\}$ -adapted in $L^2(\mathcal{D})$ and for $\tilde{\mathbb{P}} - a.s. \omega$

$$\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon_k}(\omega) \to -1 + 2\mathbb{1}_{E(\omega)}, \quad a.e. \text{ in } \mathcal{D}_T \text{ and in } C^{\beta}([0,T];L^2)$$

for any $\beta < \frac{1}{12}$ where $E(\omega) := \{(t, x) \in \mathcal{D}_T : (\omega, t, x) \in E\};$

(ii) There exists v which is weakly measurable in $L^2(0,T;H^1)$, such that for $\tilde{\mathbb{P}}-a.s. \omega$

 $\tilde{v}^{\varepsilon_k}(\omega) \to v(\omega)$ weakly in $L^2(0,T;H^1);$

(iii) There exist random variables $\mu \in \mathfrak{M}_R$ and $\{\mu_{ij}\}_{i,j=1}^d \in \mathfrak{M}^{d \times d}$ such that for $\tilde{\mathbb{P}} - a.s. \omega$

$$e^{\varepsilon_{k}(\omega)}(\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon_{k}(\omega)})dxdt \to d\mu(\omega, t, x) \quad weakly \ in \ \mathfrak{M}_{R},$$

$$\varepsilon_{k}\partial_{x_{i}}\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon_{k}}(\omega)\partial_{x_{j}}\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon_{k}}(\omega)dxdt \to d\mu_{ij}(\omega, t, x) \quad weakly \ in \ \mathfrak{M}, \ \forall i, j = 1, \cdots, d.$$
(5.13)

(iv) For $\tilde{\mathbb{P}} - a.s. \omega$, there exists Radon measure $V(\omega)$ on $\mathcal{D}_T \times P$, and $\mu^t(\omega, x)dt = d\mu(\omega, t, x)$ such that for any $t \in (0, T]$ and $\vec{Y} \in C_c^1(\mathcal{D}_t; \mathbb{R}^d)$

$$\int_0^t \langle \delta V^s, \vec{Y} \rangle ds = \int_0^t \int_{\mathcal{D}} \nabla \vec{Y} : \left(I d\mu(s, x) - (\mu_{ij}(s, x))_{d \times d} \right).$$
(5.14)

For $\tilde{\mathbb{P}} - a.s. \omega$, $(E(\omega), v(\omega), V(\omega))$ satisfies all the properties in Definition 5.2 except (5.12). In particular, if $\sigma > \frac{1}{2}$, (5.12) holds, thus $(E(\omega), v(\omega), V(\omega))$ is a weak solution in the sense of Definition 5.2.

Theorem 5.4. Let $\sigma \geq \frac{1}{2}$, with the same notations as in Theorem 5.3, and suppose that the assumptions in Theorem 5.3 hold. Then in radially symmetric case, that is $\mathcal{D} = B_1$, where B_1 is the unit ball in \mathbb{R}^d and that u_0^{ε} is radially symmetric, we have that

 $d\mu = 2S|D\mathbb{1}_{E_t}|dxdt$ as Radon measure on \mathcal{D}_T .

In particular, for a.e.t $\in [0,T]$, V^t is a (d-1)-rectifiable varifold (see [Sim83, Section 11, Section 38] for definition), i.e.

$$dV(t, x, p) = 2S|D\mathbb{1}_{E_t}|dxdt\delta_{\vec{\nu}_{E_t}(t,x)}(dp)$$
 as Radon measure on $\mathcal{D}_T \times P$,

where $\vec{\nu}_{E_t}$ is defined in (2.3). Then we have that

$$\begin{cases} \left(d\mu_{ij}\right)_{d\times d} = \vec{\nu}_{E_t} \otimes \vec{\nu}_{E_t} d\mu \text{ as Radon measure on } \bar{\mathcal{D}}_T, \\ v(t,x) = S\vec{\nu}_{E_t}(x) \cdot \vec{H}_{V^t}(x) \text{ on } \operatorname{supp}(|D\mathbb{1}_{E_t}|) \text{ for a.e. } t \in [0,T], \end{cases}$$
(5.15)

 \vec{H}_{V^t} is the mean curvature vector of V^t defined in Definition 2.22 and $\delta_{\vec{\nu}}$ is the Dirac measure concentrated at $\vec{\nu} \in P$.

Remark 5.5. Since E_t is a BV set for a.e. $t \in [0,T]$, by Theorem 2.16, $\partial^* E_t$ is a (d-1)-rectifiable set and

$$|D\mathbb{1}_{E_t}| = \mathcal{H}^{d-1} \lfloor \partial^* E_t \rfloor$$

Then in radial symmetric case, for a.e. $t \in [0, T]$

$$\mu^t = 2S|D\mathbb{1}_{E_t}| = 2S\mathcal{H}^{d-1}\lfloor\partial^* E_t.$$

By Remark 2.8, when E_t is a smooth domain, \vec{H}_{V^t} is just the classical mean curvature vector of ∂E_t and $\vec{\nu}_{E_t}$ is the inward normal vector of ∂E_t . Thus the last equation in (5.15) gives a weak formula of the third equation in (1.5).

5.1.4 Remarks on the definition of weak solutions

Suppose that (E, v, V) is a weak solution of Definition 5.2. In the following, we show how Definition 5.2 is connected with (1.5). This has been obtained in [Che96, Subsection 2.4]. We give more details for complete results.

Observe that in distribution sense, $\partial_t \mathbb{1}_E$ is defined for any $\psi \in C^1_c([0,t) \times \overline{\mathcal{D}})$

$$\int_0^t \int_{\mathcal{D}} (\partial_t \mathbb{1}_E) \psi = \int_0^t \int_{\mathcal{D}} \partial_t (\mathbb{1}_E \psi) - \int_0^t \int_{\mathcal{D}} \mathbb{1}_E \partial_t \psi = -\int_{\mathcal{D}} \mathbb{1}_{E_0} \psi(0, x) dx - \int_0^t \int_{\mathcal{D}} \mathbb{1}_E \partial_t \psi dx ds,$$

Thus (5.10) implies that in distribution sense

$$2\partial_t \mathbb{1}_E = \Delta v, \quad \text{in } [0,T] \times \mathcal{D}.$$

Since $v \in L^2(0,T; H^1)$, Δv and $\frac{\partial v}{\partial n}$ are ill-defined in (1.5). They have to be understood in distribution sense. We suppose that (v, Γ) is smooth enough such that Δv and $\frac{\partial v}{\partial n}$ are well-defined.

Suppose that $\overline{\mathcal{D} \setminus E} \subset \mathcal{D}$. Denote $\Gamma_t := \partial E_t \setminus \partial \mathcal{D}$ and let $\mathcal{D}^+ = E_t^o \cap \mathcal{D}$ be the interior of E_t in \mathcal{D} and $\mathcal{D}^- = \mathcal{D} \setminus \overline{E_t}$.

For the first equation in (1.5): For any $x \in \mathcal{D} \setminus \Gamma$, $\Delta v(x) = 0$ since $\mathbb{1}_{E}(x)$ is a constant in time. More precisely, let $\psi \in C_{c}^{1}([0,t) \times \overline{\mathcal{D}})$ and $\operatorname{supp} \psi(s, \cdot) \subset \mathcal{D} \setminus \Gamma_{s}$ for any $s \in [0,t)$, we have that

$$\int_0^t \int_{\mathcal{D}} \mathbb{1}_{E_t} \partial_t \psi dx ds = \int_0^t \int_{\mathcal{D}} \partial_t \psi dx ds = -\int_{\mathcal{D}} \psi(0, \cdot) dx = -\int_{\mathcal{D}} \mathbb{1}_{E_0} \psi(0, \cdot) dx.$$

Then (5.10) implies that

$$\int_0^t \int_{\mathcal{D}} \nabla v \cdot \nabla \psi dx ds = 0.$$

which is the weak formula of the first equation in (1.5).

For the second equation in (1.5): Since $\overline{\mathcal{D} \setminus E} \subset \mathcal{D}, \ \partial \mathcal{D}^+ = \partial \mathcal{D} \cup \Gamma$. For any

 $\psi \in C_c^1([0,t) \times \bar{\mathcal{D}^+})$ and $\mathrm{supp}\psi(s,\cdot) \subset \mathcal{D}^+$ for any $s \in [0,t)$,

$$\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\partial \mathcal{D}} \frac{\partial v}{\partial n} \psi d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} ds = \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}^{+}} \operatorname{div}(\nabla v\psi) dx ds$$

$$= \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}^{+}} \nabla v \cdot \nabla \psi dx ds + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}^{+}} \Delta v \psi dx ds$$

$$= \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}} \nabla v \cdot \nabla \psi dx ds + 2 \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}} (\partial_{t} \mathbb{1}_{E}) \psi dx ds$$

$$= \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}} \nabla v \cdot \nabla \psi dx ds - 2 \int_{\mathcal{D}} \mathbb{1}_{E_{0}} \psi(0, x) dx - 2 \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}} \mathbb{1}_{E} \partial_{t} \psi dx ds$$

$$= 0,$$
(5.16)

where we used (5.10) in the last equality. Thus we obtain in distribution sense the following holds.

$$\frac{\partial v}{\partial n} = 0$$
, on $[0,T] \times \partial \mathcal{D}$.

For the last equation in (1.5): For any $\psi \in C_c^1(\bar{\mathcal{D}}_t)$

$$\int_{\mathcal{D}} \partial_t \mathbb{1}_{E_t} \psi d\mathcal{H}^d = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathcal{D}} \nabla v \nabla \psi d\mathcal{H}^d$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathcal{D}^+} \nabla v \nabla \psi d\mathcal{H}^d - \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathcal{D}^-} \nabla v \nabla \psi d\mathcal{H}^d$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathcal{D}^+} \operatorname{div}(\nabla v \psi) d\mathcal{H}^d + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathcal{D}^-} \operatorname{div}(\nabla v \psi) d\mathcal{H}^d$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Gamma_t} (\partial_n v^+ - \partial_n v^-) \psi d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}.$$

(5.17)

By using the weak formula of normal velocity in [Ton 19, (2.5)], we have that

$$\partial_t \int_{\Gamma_t} g d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} - \int_{\Gamma_t} \partial_t g d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} = \int_{\Gamma_t} \mathcal{V} \nabla g \cdot \vec{n} - g H \mathcal{V} d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}.$$

Let φ satisfy

$$\begin{aligned} \Delta \varphi &= \psi, \\ \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial n} &= 0 \ \text{on} \ \partial \mathcal{D}, \end{aligned}$$

and take $g = \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial n}$, we obtain that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathcal{D}} \partial_t \mathbb{1}_{E_t} \psi d\mathcal{H}^d = &\partial_t \int_{\mathcal{D}} \mathbb{1}_{E_t} \psi d\mathcal{H}^d - \int_{\mathcal{D}} \mathbb{1}_{E_t} \partial_t \psi d\mathcal{H}^d \\ = &\partial_t \int_{\mathcal{D}^+} \Delta \varphi d\mathcal{H}^d - \int_{\mathcal{D}^+} \Delta \partial_t \varphi d\mathcal{H}^d \\ = &\partial_t \int_{\Gamma_t} \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial n} d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} - \int_{\Gamma_t} \partial_t \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial n} d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} \\ = &\int_{\Gamma_t} \mathcal{V} \nabla \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial n} \cdot \vec{n} - \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial n} H \mathcal{V} d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} \end{split}$$

$$= \int_{\Gamma_t} \Delta \varphi \mathcal{V} d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} + \int_{\Gamma_t} \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial n} \mathcal{V} \left(\operatorname{div} \vec{n} - H \right) d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}$$
$$= \int_{\Gamma_t} \psi \mathcal{V} d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} + \int_{\Gamma_t} \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial n} \mathcal{V} \left(\operatorname{div} \vec{n} - H \right) d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}.$$

By our assumption, \mathcal{D}^+ is the exterior of Γ . Thus \vec{n} is the inward normal vector of the interior of Γ . Then if $\Gamma_t = \{(x, y) \in \mathcal{D} : y = \phi(x) \in \mathbb{R}\}$, it is well-known that

$$H = \operatorname{div}\left(\frac{\nabla\phi}{\sqrt{1+|\nabla\phi|^2}}\right), \vec{n} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{1+|\nabla\phi|^2}}(-\nabla\phi,1)^T,$$

which implies that div $\vec{n} = H$ on Γ_t . Hence we obtain that

$$\int_{\Gamma_t} \psi \mathcal{V} d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Gamma_t} (\partial_n v^+ - \partial_n v^-) \psi d\mathcal{H}^{d-1},$$

which yields that in distribution sense

$$\mathcal{V} = \frac{1}{2}(\partial_n v^+ - \partial_n v^-).$$

Therefore we know that (5.10) is a weak formulation of all the equations in (1.5) except the third equation.

For the third equation in (1.5): following the argument in [Che96, Subsection 2.4], we can only prove the third equation in weak sense in the radial symmetric case as in Theorem 5.4 and Remark 5.5.

In general case, it was shown in [RT08, Theorem 3.1, Theorem 3.2], under the assumption that for *a.e.* $t \in [0,T]$, $v^{\varepsilon}(t,\cdot) \to v(t,\cdot)$ weakly in $W^{1,p}$ for p > d, the authors proved that

$$v(t,x) = S\vec{H}_{V^t} \cdot \vec{\nu}_{E_t}, \quad \mathcal{H}^{d-1} - a.e. \ x \in \partial^* E_t.$$
(5.18)

But the assumption that $v^{\varepsilon} \to v$ weakly in $W^{1,p}$ for p > d has not been obtained until now since we can only obtain the convergence in $H^1 = W^{1,2}$.

In fact, identifying the value of v on the interface Γ_t is the main task of varifold approach to study the sharp interface limit of both Cahn-Hilliard equation and Allen-Cahn equation (cf. [HT00, Ton02, Ton05, RS06, Le08, RT08]). Until now, a fully rigorous proof for the (deterministic) Cahn-Hilliard equation is still missing.

5.2 Convergence

5.2.1 Lyapunov functional $\mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}$ and basic estimates

In the deterministic case, where no forcing terms are present, the function $\mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}$ defined in (5.6) decreases in time. In stochastic case, the authors in [DPD96] showed a similar property when $\varepsilon = 1$ and (5.4) is satisfied. Using the same trick we can prove a similar result.

Lemma 5.6. There exists a constant which only depends on T and $0 < \varepsilon_0 < 1$ such that for any $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0]$ and any $p \ge 1$,

$$\mathbb{E} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(t)^p \le C_T (\varepsilon^{2\sigma - 1} + \mathcal{E}_0)^p,$$
(5.19)

and

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\int_0^T \|\nabla v^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^2}^2 dt\right)^p \le C_T (\varepsilon^{2\sigma-1} + \mathcal{E}_0)^p.$$
(5.20)

Proof We will not give all the details of the proof since it is the same as [DPD96, Section 2.3], we only calculate the order of ε for every term in the following.

Applying Itô's formula on $\mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}$, we have that

$$d\mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon}) = \langle D\mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon}), du^{\varepsilon} \rangle + \frac{\varepsilon^{2\sigma}}{2} \operatorname{Tr}(QD^{2}\mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon}))dt = -\langle \nabla v^{\varepsilon}, \nabla v^{\varepsilon} \rangle dt + \frac{\varepsilon^{2\sigma+1}}{2} \operatorname{Tr}(-\Delta Q)dt + \frac{\varepsilon^{2\sigma-1}}{2} \operatorname{Tr}(f'(u^{\varepsilon})Q)dt + \varepsilon^{\sigma} \langle v^{\varepsilon}, dW_{t} \rangle.$$
(5.21)

By using the same trick as in [DPD96, Section 2.3] we have that

$$\operatorname{Tr}(f'(u^{\varepsilon})Q) \lesssim 1 + \varepsilon \mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon}).$$

Hence we deduce from (5.21) that for any $p \ge 1$,

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\sup_{t\in[0,T]}\mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(t) + \int_{0}^{T} \|\nabla v^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} ds\right)^{p} \lesssim \mathbb{E}\left(\mathcal{E}_{0} + \varepsilon^{2\sigma-1} + \varepsilon^{2\sigma+1} + \varepsilon^{2\sigma} \sup_{t\in[0,T]}\mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(t) + \varepsilon^{\sigma} \sup_{t\in[0,T]} |M^{\varepsilon}(t)|\right)^{p}$$

where $M^{\varepsilon}(t) := \int_0^t \langle v^{\varepsilon}, dW_s \rangle$. Let ε be small enough, we have that

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\sup_{t\in[0,T]}\mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(t)\right)^{p} + \mathbb{E}\left(\int_{0}^{T}\|\nabla v^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}ds\right)^{p} \lesssim \varepsilon^{p(2\sigma-1)} + \mathcal{E}_{0}^{p} + \mathbb{E}\sup_{t\in[0,T]}|M^{\varepsilon}(t)|^{p},$$

By Burkholder-Davis-Gundy's inequality

$$\mathbb{E} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} |M^{\varepsilon}(t)|^{p} \lesssim \mathbb{E} \left(\langle M^{\varepsilon} \rangle_{T} \right)^{\frac{p}{2}} = \mathbb{E} \left(\int_{0}^{T} \|\sqrt{Q}v^{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} dt \right)^{\frac{p}{2}} \\ \lesssim \mathbb{E} \left(\int_{0}^{T} \|\nabla v^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} dt \right)^{\frac{p}{2}}.$$

Then by Young's inequality, for any $\kappa > 0$, there exists a constant $C_1 \equiv C_1(T)$ such that

$$\mathbb{E}\sup_{t\in[0,T]}|M^{\varepsilon}(t)|^{p}\leq C_{1}+\kappa\mathbb{E}\left(\int_{0}^{T}\|\nabla v^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}}^{2}ds\right)^{p}$$

Thus for a small enough $\kappa > 0$, there exists a constant $C_T > 0$ such that

$$\mathbb{E}\sup_{t\in[0,T]}\mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(t)^{p} + (1-\kappa)\mathbb{E}\left(\int_{0}^{T} \|\nabla v^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} ds\right)^{p} \leq C_{T}(\varepsilon^{p(2\sigma-1)} + \mathcal{E}_{0}^{p}),$$

which implies our results.

Corollary 5.7. There exists a constant $C_T > 0$, such that for any $p \ge 1$

$$\mathbb{E}\sup_{t\in[0,T]} \left(\int_{\mathcal{D}} F(u^{\varepsilon}(t,x)) dx \right)^p \le C_T \varepsilon^p (\mathcal{E}_0^p + \varepsilon^{p(2\sigma-1)})$$
(5.22)

and

$$\mathbb{E} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \| u^{\varepsilon}(t) \|_{L^4}^{4p} \le C_T (1 + \mathcal{E}_0^p + \varepsilon^{p(2\sigma - 1)}).$$
(5.23)

In the rest of this section, we always assume $\sigma \geq \frac{1}{2}$.

5.2.2 Estimates for $\{u^{\varepsilon}\}$

We introduce a function $g^{\varepsilon}(t, x)$ defined by

$$g^{\varepsilon}(t,x) := G(u^{\varepsilon}(t,x)), \qquad (5.24)$$

where

$$G(u) := \int_{-1}^{u} \sqrt{2F(x)} dx, \quad \forall u \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Observe that

$$\int_{\mathcal{D}} |\nabla g^{\varepsilon}(t, \cdot)| = \int_{\mathcal{D}} \sqrt{2F(u^{\varepsilon})} |\nabla u^{\varepsilon}| dx \le \int_{\mathcal{D}} e^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon})(t) dx = \mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(t), \quad (5.25)$$

and there are positive constants c_1 , c_2 such that

$$c_1|u_1 - u_2|^2 \le |G(u_1) - G(u_2)| \le c_2|u_1 - u_2|(1 + |u_1| + |u_2|), \quad \forall u_1, u_2 \in \mathbb{R}.$$
 (5.26)

Lemma 5.8. There exists constant $C_T > 0$ which only depends on T, such that for any $\beta \in (0, \frac{1}{12})$,

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\|g^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;W^{1,1})} + \|g^{\varepsilon}\|_{C^{\beta}([0,T];L^{1})} + \|u^{\varepsilon}\|_{C^{\beta}([0,T];L^{2})}\right) \leq C_{T}$$

Proof Similarly to the proof of [Che96, Lemma 3.2], let ρ be any fixed mollifier satisfying

$$\rho \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d), \quad 0 \le \rho \le 1, \quad \operatorname{supp} \rho \subset B_1(0), \quad \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \rho = 1.$$

where B_1 is the unit ball in \mathbb{R}^d centered at 0. For any small $\eta > 0$, we define

$$u_{\eta}^{\varepsilon}(t,x) = \int_{B_1} \rho(y) u^{\varepsilon}(t,x-\eta y) dy.$$

Here we assume that u^{ε} is extended to $\{x \in \mathbb{R}^d : d(x, \mathcal{D}) \leq \eta_0\}$ by

$$u^{\varepsilon}(t, y + \eta n(y)) = u^{\varepsilon}(t, y - \eta n(y)), \quad y \in \partial \mathcal{D}, \eta \in [0, \eta_0],$$

where η_0 is a small positive number and n(y) is the unit outward normal vector to $\partial \mathcal{D}$ at $y \in \partial \mathcal{D}$.

Then by (5.23), we have that for any p > 1, $\eta \in (0, \eta_0)$,

$$\mathbb{E}\sup_{t\in[0,T]} \|\nabla u_{\eta}^{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{L^{2}}^{p} \lesssim \eta^{-p} \mathbb{E}\sup_{t\in[0,T]} \|u^{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{L^{2}}^{p} \lesssim \eta^{-p},$$
(5.27)

and

$$\mathbb{E} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \left(\int_{\mathcal{D}} |u_{\eta}^{\varepsilon} - u^{\varepsilon}|^{2} dx \right)^{p} \leq \mathbb{E} \left(\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \int_{\mathcal{D}} \int_{B_{1}} \rho(y) |u^{\varepsilon}(t, x - \eta y) - u^{\varepsilon}(t, x)|^{2} dy dx \right)^{p}$$

$$\lesssim \mathbb{E} \left(\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \int_{\mathcal{D}} \int_{B_{1}} \rho(y) |g^{\varepsilon}(t, x - \eta y) - g^{\varepsilon}(t, x)| dy dx \right)^{p}$$

$$\lesssim \eta^{p} \mathbb{E} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|\nabla g^{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{L^{1}}^{p}$$

$$\leq \eta^{p} \mathbb{E} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(t)^{p} \lesssim \eta^{p},$$
(5.28)

where we use (5.26) in the second inequality and (5.25), (5.19) in the last line.

For any $0 \le \tau < t \le T$, by using $u^{\varepsilon}(t) - u^{\varepsilon}(\tau) = \int_{\tau}^{t} \Delta v^{\varepsilon}(s) ds + \varepsilon^{\sigma}(W_t - W_{\tau})$ (in weak sense), we have that

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\int_{\mathcal{D}} \left| \left(u_{\eta}^{\varepsilon}(t,x) - u_{\eta}^{\varepsilon}(\tau,x)\right) \left(u^{\varepsilon}(t,x) - u^{\varepsilon}(\tau,x)\right) \left| dx \right)^{p} \right| \\
\leq \mathbb{E}\left(\int_{\tau}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}} \left| \nabla v^{\varepsilon}(s,x) \left(\nabla u_{\eta}^{\varepsilon}(t,x) - \nabla u_{\eta}^{\varepsilon}(\tau,x) \right) \left| dx ds \right)^{p} \right| \\
+ \varepsilon^{p\sigma} \mathbb{E}\left(\int_{\mathcal{D}} \left| \left(u_{\eta}^{\varepsilon}(t,x) - u_{\eta}^{\varepsilon}(\tau,x)\right) \left(W_{t} - W_{\tau}\right) \left| dx \right)^{p} \right| \\
\leq \mathbb{E}\left(\int_{\tau}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}} \left| \nabla v^{\varepsilon} \right|^{2} \right)^{\frac{p}{2}} \left(t - \tau\right)^{\frac{p}{2}} \left(\mathbb{E}\sup_{s \in [0,T]} \left\| \nabla u_{\eta}^{\varepsilon}(s) \right\|_{L^{2}}^{p} \right) \\
+ \varepsilon^{p\sigma} \mathbb{E}\sup_{s \in [0,T]} \left\| u_{\eta}^{\varepsilon}(s) \right\|_{L^{2}}^{p} \left(\mathbb{E} \left\| W_{t} - W_{\tau} \right\|_{L^{2}}^{2p} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\
\leq (t - \tau)^{\frac{p}{2}} \eta^{-p} + (t - \tau)^{\frac{p}{2}} \varepsilon^{p\sigma} \\
\leq \eta^{-p} (t - \tau)^{\frac{p}{2}},$$
(5.29)

where in the third inequality we use (5.20), (5.23), (5.27) and the fact that

$$\mathbb{E} \|W_t - W_\tau\|_{L^2}^{2p} \lesssim |t - \tau|^p.$$

Then we have that

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E} \| u^{\varepsilon}(t) - u^{\varepsilon}(\tau) \|_{L^{2}}^{2p} \lesssim & \mathbb{E} \left(\int_{\mathcal{D}} | \left(u^{\varepsilon}_{\eta}(t,x) - u^{\varepsilon}_{\eta}(\tau,x) \right) \left(u^{\varepsilon}(t,x) - u^{\varepsilon}(\tau,x) \right) | dx \right)^{p} \\ & + \mathbb{E} \left(\int_{\mathcal{D}} | \left(u^{\varepsilon}(t,x) - u^{\varepsilon}_{\eta}(t,x) \right) \left(u^{\varepsilon}(t,x) - u^{\varepsilon}(\tau,x) \right) | dx \right)^{p} \\ & + \mathbb{E} \left(\int_{\mathcal{D}} | \left(u^{\varepsilon}(\tau,x) - u^{\varepsilon}_{\eta}(\tau,x) \right) \left(u^{\varepsilon}(t,x) - u^{\varepsilon}(\tau,x) \right) | dx \right)^{p} \\ & \lesssim \eta^{-p}(t-\tau)^{\frac{p}{2}} + \left(\mathbb{E} \left(\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \| u^{\varepsilon}_{\eta}(t) - u^{\varepsilon}(t) \|_{L^{2}} \right)^{2p} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\mathbb{E} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \| u^{\varepsilon} \|_{L^{2}}^{2p} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ & \lesssim \eta^{-p}(t-\tau)^{\frac{p}{2}} + \eta^{\frac{p}{2}}, \end{split}$$

where we use (5.29) in the second inequality and (5.23), (5.28) in the last inequality. If we take $\eta = \eta_0 \wedge (t - \tau)^{\frac{1}{3}}$, we have that

$$\mathbb{E} \| u^{\varepsilon}(t) - u^{\varepsilon}(\tau) \|_{L^{2}}^{2p} \lesssim \eta^{-p} (t-\tau)^{\frac{p}{2}} + \eta^{\frac{p}{2}} \le (t-\tau)^{\frac{p}{6}}.$$
(5.30)

Moreover, using (5.26) we have that

$$\mathbb{E} \|g^{\varepsilon}(t) - g^{\varepsilon}(\tau)\|_{L^{1}}^{p} \lesssim \mathbb{E} \left(\int_{\mathcal{D}} |u^{\varepsilon}(t,x) - u^{\varepsilon}(\tau,x)| \left(1 + |u^{\varepsilon}(t,x)| + |u^{\varepsilon}(\tau,x)|\right) dx \right)^{p} \\ \lesssim \mathbb{E} \|u^{\varepsilon}(t) - u^{\varepsilon}(\tau)\|_{L^{2}}^{p} \left(1 + \mathbb{E} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|u^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}}^{p} \right) \\ \lesssim (t - \tau)^{\frac{p}{12}},$$
(5.31)

where we use (5.23) and (5.30) in the last inequality.

Finally by Kolmogorov's criteria (see e.g. [DPZ14, Theorem 3.3]), for any $0 < \beta < \frac{1}{12}$,

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\|g^{\varepsilon}\|_{C^{\beta}([0,T];L^{1})}+\|u^{\varepsilon}\|_{C^{\beta}([0,T];L^{2})}\right) \lesssim 1.$$

Moreover by (5.25)

$$\mathbb{E}\sup_{t\in[0,T]}\|\nabla g^{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{L^{1}}\lesssim 1$$

Thus

$$\mathbb{E} \|g\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;W^{1,1})} \lesssim \mathbb{E} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|\nabla g^{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{L^{1}} + \mathbb{E} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|g^{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{L^{1}} \lesssim 1$$

5.2.3 Estimates for $\{v^{\varepsilon}\}$

We want to obtain the estimate of v^{ε} in the space H^1 . By (5.20) and Poincaré-Wirtinger inequality, it is enough to estimate $\bar{v^{\varepsilon}} := \frac{1}{|\mathcal{D}|} \int_{\mathcal{D}} v^{\varepsilon}(x) dx$.

Lemma 5.9. For any $\delta > 0$, there exists a constant $C \equiv C(\delta, T) > 0$, such that

$$\mathbb{P}\left(\int_0^T \|v^{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{H^1}^2 dt \le C\right) \ge 1 - \delta.$$

Proof For any R > 0, set

$$A_R := \left\{ \omega \in \Omega : \|u^{\varepsilon}(\omega)\|_{C([0,T];L^2)} + \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(t)(\omega)^p + \int_0^T \|\nabla v^{\varepsilon}(\omega,t)\|_{L^2}^2 dt \le R \right\}.$$

By the same argument as in [Che96, Lemma 3.4] and using an integration by parts formula, we have that

$$\bar{v}^{\varepsilon} = \frac{\int_{\mathcal{D}} \left(D^2 \psi : (e(u^{\varepsilon})\mathbf{I} - \varepsilon \nabla u^{\varepsilon} \otimes \nabla u^{\varepsilon}) - u^{\varepsilon} \nabla \psi \cdot \nabla v^{\varepsilon} - u^{\varepsilon} \Delta \psi (v^{\varepsilon} - \bar{v}^{\varepsilon}) \right)}{\int_{\mathcal{D}} \Delta \psi u^{\varepsilon}}$$

where $D^2\psi$ is the Hessen matrix of ψ , ψ is the unique solution to

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta \psi = u_{\eta}^{\varepsilon} - \bar{u}_{\eta}^{\varepsilon} \text{ in } \mathcal{D}, \\ \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial n} = 0 \text{ on } \partial \mathcal{D}. \end{cases}$$

Here u_n^{ε} is defined in the same way as in the proof of Lemma 5.8.

Then for a fixed $\omega \in A_R$, all the estimates in the proof of [Che96, Lemma 3.4] hold. Thus we have that there exists a constant C_R such that for any $\omega \in A_R$, $t \in [0, T]$ and any $\eta, \varepsilon \in (0, 1)$

$$|\bar{v}^{\varepsilon}(\omega,t)| \le C_R \frac{\eta^{-1}(1+\varepsilon^{1/2}\eta^{-d/2})(\mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(t)(\omega)+\|\nabla v^{\varepsilon}(\omega,t)\|_{L^2(\mathcal{D})})}{1-m_0^2-\sqrt{\varepsilon}-\sqrt{\eta}},$$

where $m_0 = \bar{u_0^{\varepsilon}} \in (-1, 1)$ is as in (5.2). Taking η small and independent of ε , we obtain that there exists constant $\tilde{C}_R > 0$ such that for any $\omega \in A_R$, $t \in [0, T]$,

$$\int_0^T \bar{v}^\varepsilon(t)^2 dt \le \tilde{C}_R$$

Hence we have

$$A_R \subset \left\{ \int_0^T \bar{v}^{\varepsilon}(t)^2 dt \le \tilde{C}_R \right\}.$$

Moreover, by Poincaré-Wirtinger inequality

$$\|v^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^1} \lesssim |\bar{v^{\varepsilon}}| + \|\nabla v^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^2},$$

thus for any R > 0 there exists a constant $C_R > 0$, such that

$$\mathbb{P}\left(\int_0^T \|v^{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{H^1}^2 dt \le C_R\right) \ge \mathbb{P}\left(\int_0^T \bar{v}^{\varepsilon}(t)^2 dt \le \tilde{C}_R, \|\nabla v^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^2(\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{T}})}^2 \le R\right) \ge \mathbb{P}(A_R).$$

By Lemma 5.6 and Lemma 5.8, using Chebyshev's inequality, we have that for any $\delta > 0$, there exists a constant $R \equiv R(\delta) > 0$, such that

$$\mathbb{P}\left(A_R\right) \ge 1 - \delta.$$

Then we obtain the assertion of the lemma.

5.2.4 Tightness

For any $\beta < \frac{1}{12}$, we denote

$$\mathcal{X}^{1} := \mathbb{R} \times L^{\infty}_{w^{*}}(0,T) \times C^{\beta}([0,T];L^{2}_{w}) \times C^{\beta}([0,T];L^{1}) \times L^{2}_{w}(0,T;H^{1}),$$
(5.32)

where $L^2_w(0,T;H^1)$ is the space $L^2(0,T;H^1)$ equipped with the weak topology, L^2_w is the space L^2 equipped with the weak topology and $L^{\infty}_{w^*}(0,T)$ is the space $L^{\infty}(0,T)$ equipped with the weak-* topology. We also denote

$$\mathcal{X}^2 := \mathfrak{M}^{d \times d} \times \mathfrak{M}_R,\tag{5.33}$$

where \mathfrak{M} is the space of all finite signed measure on \mathcal{D}_T and $\mathfrak{M}_R \subset \mathfrak{M}$ is the space of all Radon measure on \mathcal{D}_T . \mathfrak{M}_R and \mathfrak{M} are equipped with the total variation norm $\|\cdot\|_{TV}$ and weak topology, respectively. Here an element in $\mathfrak{M}^{d\times d}$ is a $d \times d$ \mathfrak{M} -valued matrix $\{\mu_{ij}\}_{i,j=1}^d$ where $\mu_{ij} \in \mathfrak{M}$.

Let $\hat{\mathbb{P}}^{\varepsilon}$ be the probability measure on $\mathcal{X}^1 \times \mathcal{X}^2$ defined by

$$\hat{\mathbb{P}}^{\varepsilon} := \mathbb{P} \circ \left(\varepsilon^{-1} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|F(u^{\varepsilon})\|_{L^{1}}, \mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon}), u^{\varepsilon}, G(u^{\varepsilon}), v^{\varepsilon}, e^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon}) dx dt, \{\varepsilon \partial_{x_{i}} u^{\varepsilon} \partial_{x_{j}} u^{\varepsilon} dx dt\}_{ij} \right)^{-1}.$$
(5.34)

In the following we will prove that $\{\hat{\mathbb{P}}^{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon}$ is tight on $\mathcal{X}^1 \times \mathcal{X}^2$. This is equivalent to prove the tightness of every component.

For $\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|F(u^{\varepsilon})\|_{L^1}$, by (5.22) and Chebyshev's inequality, we know that

$$\mathbb{E}\varepsilon^{-1}\sup_{t\in[0,T]}\int_{\mathcal{D}}F(u^{\varepsilon})dx\lesssim 1.$$

Then we have that for any $\delta > 0$, there exists a constant $K_1 > 0$ such that

$$\mathbb{P}\left(\varepsilon^{-1}\sup_{t\in[0,T]}\|F(u^{\varepsilon})\|_{L^{1}}\leq K_{1}\right)\geq 1-\delta.$$

For $\mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}$, by (5.19) and Chebyshev's inequality, we have that for any $\delta > 0$, there exists a constant $K_2 > 0$ such that

$$\mathbb{P}\left(\sup_{t} \mathcal{E}_{t}^{\varepsilon} \leq K_{2}\right) \geq 1 - \delta.$$

By the Banach-Alaoglu theorem, any bounded set in $L^{\infty}(0,T)$ is precompact in $L^{\infty}_{w^*}(0,T)$, thus $\mathbb{P} \circ (\mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon}))^{-1}$ is tight on $L^{\infty}_{w^*}(0,T)$.

For u^{ε} , by the Banach-Alaoglu theorem, any bounded set in L^2 is precompact in L^2_w . Then by a generalized Arzelà-Ascoli theorem, any bounded set in $C^{\beta}([0,T]; L^2)$ is precompact in $C^{\gamma}([0,T]; L^2_w)$ for any $0 < \gamma < \beta$. Hence we obtain the tightness of $\mathbb{P} \circ (u^{\varepsilon})^{-1}$ on $C^{\gamma}([0,T]; L^2_w)$ by using Chebyshev' inequality and Lemma 5.8.

For $G(u^{\varepsilon})$, by Lemma 5.8 we have that for any $\delta > 0$, there exists a constant $K_3 > 0$ such that

$$\mathbb{P}\left(\|G(u^{\varepsilon})\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;W^{1,1})} + \|G(u^{\varepsilon})\|_{C^{\beta}([0,T];L^{1})} \le K_{3}\right) \ge 1 - \delta.$$

Since $W^{1,1}$ is compactly embedded into L^q for any $q \in [1, \frac{d}{d-1}]$, then by a generalized Arzelà-Ascoli theorem for any $0 < \gamma < \beta$, the set

$$\{g \in C^{\gamma}([0,T];L^{1}) : \|g\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;W^{1,1})} + \|g\|_{C^{\beta}([0,T];L^{1})} \le K\}$$

is compact in $C^{\gamma}([0,T];L^1)$, which implies the tightness of $\mathbb{P} \circ (G(u^{\varepsilon}))^{-1}$ in $C^{\gamma}([0,T];L^1)$ for any $\gamma < \frac{1}{12}$.

For v^{ε} , the tightness of $\mathbb{P} \circ (v^{\varepsilon})^{-1}$ in $L^2_w(0,T;H^1)$ is followed by Lemma 5.9 and the Banach-Alaoglu theorem.

For $\varepsilon \partial_{x_i} u^{\varepsilon} \partial_{x_j} u^{\varepsilon}$ and $e^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon})$, since $L^1(\mathcal{D}_T)$ is embedded into \mathfrak{M} . Moreover for any $f \in L^1(\mathcal{D}_T)$, we have that

$$f(t,x)dxdt = f^+dxdt - f^-dxdt.$$

Since \mathcal{D}_T is a compact set, we have that f^+dxdt , $f^-dxdt \in \mathfrak{M}_R$. By Theorem 2.11, any bounded set in \mathfrak{M}_R w.r.t. total variation norm is precompact in \mathfrak{M}_R w.r.t weak topology, which implies that any bounded set in \mathfrak{M} w.r.t. total variation norm is precompact in \mathfrak{M} w.r.t weak topology. Thus by (5.19) and

$$\begin{aligned} \|\varepsilon \partial_{x_i} u^{\varepsilon} \partial_{x_j} u^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^1(\mathcal{D}_T)} &\lesssim \varepsilon \|\nabla u^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^1(\mathcal{D}_T)} \lesssim \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \mathcal{E}_t^{\varepsilon}, \\ \|e^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon})\|_{L^1(\mathcal{D}_T)} &\lesssim \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \mathcal{E}_t^{\varepsilon}, \end{aligned}$$

we obtain the tightness of $\mathbb{P} \circ \left(e^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon})dxdt, \{\varepsilon \partial_{x_i}u^{\varepsilon}\partial_{x_j}u^{\varepsilon}dxdt\}_{ij}\right)^{-1}$ in \mathcal{X}^2 .

Hence we proved the tightness of $\{\hat{\mathbb{P}}^{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon}$ in $\mathcal{X}^1 \times \mathcal{X}^2$. Then by using a Jakubowski's version of the Skorokhod Theorem in the form given by [BO13, Theorem A.1], which was proved in [Jak98]:

Theorem 5.10. Let \mathcal{X} be a topological space such that there exists a sequence $\{f_n\}_{n\geq 1}$ of continuous functions $f_n : \mathcal{X} \to \mathbb{R}$ that separate points of \mathcal{X} . Let us denote by \mathscr{S} the σ -algebra generated by the maps $\{f_n\}$. Then:

- (j1) every compact subset of \mathcal{X} is metrizable;
- (j2) every Borel subset of a σ -compact set in \mathcal{X} belongs to \mathscr{S} ;

(j3) every probability measure supported by a σ -compact set in \mathcal{X} has a unique Radon extension to the Borel σ -algebra on \mathcal{X} ;

(j4) if (μ_n) is a tight sequence of probability measures on $(\mathcal{X}, \mathscr{S})$, then there exists a subsequence $(n_k)_{k\geq 1}$, a probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ with \mathcal{X} -valued Borel measurable random variables X_k , X such that μ_{n_k} is the law of X_k and X_k converge almost surely to X. Moreover, the law of X is a Radon measure.

We obtain that

Theorem 5.11. Assume $\sigma \geq \frac{1}{2}$. There exist a probability space $(\tilde{\Omega}, \tilde{\mathcal{F}}, {\tilde{\mathcal{F}}}_{t \in [0,T]}, \tilde{\mathbb{P}})$ on $\mathcal{X}^1 \times \mathcal{X}^2$, a subsequence ε_k (we still denote it as ε for simplicity) and

$$\left\{ \left(\varepsilon^{-1} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|F(\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon})\|_{L^{1}}, \mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}), \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}, G(\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}), \tilde{v}^{\varepsilon}, e^{\varepsilon}(\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}) dx dt, \{\varepsilon \partial_{x_{i}} \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{x_{j}} \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon} dx dt\}_{ij} \right) \right\} \subset \mathcal{X}^{1} \times \mathcal{X}^{2}$$

and

$$(a, \mathcal{E}, u, g, v, \mu, \{\mu_{ij}\}_{ij}) \in \mathcal{X}^1 \times \mathcal{X}^2,$$

such that

 $(i) \tilde{\mathbb{P}} \circ \left(\varepsilon^{-1} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|F(\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon})\|_{L^{1}}, \mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}), \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}, G(\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}), \tilde{v}^{\varepsilon}, e^{\varepsilon}(\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}) dx dt, \{\varepsilon \partial_{x_{i}} \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{x_{j}} \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon} dx dt\}_{ij}\right)^{-1} = \hat{\mathbb{P}}^{\varepsilon} \text{ on } \mathcal{X}^{1} \times \mathcal{X}^{2},$

 $(ii) \left(\varepsilon^{-1} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|F(\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon})\|_{L^{1}}, \mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}), \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}, G(\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}), \tilde{v}^{\varepsilon}, e^{\varepsilon}(\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}) dx dt, \{\varepsilon \partial_{x_{i}} \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{x_{j}} \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon} dx dt\}_{ij}\right) converges to (0, \mathcal{E}, u, g, v, \mu, \{\mu_{ij}\}_{ij}) in \mathcal{X}^{1} \times \mathcal{X}^{2}, \tilde{\mathbb{P}} - a.s, as \varepsilon \searrow 0.$

In particular, for $\tilde{\mathbb{P}} - a.s.\omega$, there exists a Borel set $E(\omega) \subset \tilde{\Omega} \times \mathcal{D}_T$, such that as $\varepsilon \searrow 0$

(*iii*) $u^{\varepsilon} \to u$ in $C^{\frac{\beta}{2}}([0,T];L^2)$, $g = G(u) = 2S\mathbb{1}_E$ a.e. in \mathcal{D}_T and in $C^{\beta}([0,T];L^1)$, $u = -1 + 2\mathbb{1}_E$ a.e. in \mathcal{D}_T and in $C^{\beta}([0,T];L^2)$.

Moreover, denote $E = \{(\omega, t, x) \in \Omega \times D_T : (t, x) \in E(\omega)\}, E_t := \{(\omega, x) : (\omega, t, x) \in E\}, then \mathbb{1}_{E_t} \text{ is } \{\tilde{\mathcal{F}}\}_{t \in [0,T]} \text{-adapted in } L^2(\mathcal{D}) \text{ and satisfies the following:}$

(iv) For all $\beta < \frac{1}{12}$, $\tilde{\mathbb{P}}\left(\mathbb{1}_E \in C^{\beta}([0,T];L^1)\right) = 1$,

(v) $\tilde{\mathbb{P}}(|E_t| = |E_0| = \frac{1+m_0}{2} |\mathcal{D}|, \forall t \in [0,T]) = 1,$

(vi) $\tilde{\mathbb{P}}(\mathbb{1}_E \in L^{\infty}(0,T;BV)) = 1.$

Proof Since $\mathcal{X}^1 \times \mathcal{X}^2$ is locally convex space and its dual space is separable, by [Rud73, Theorem 3.4], the condition in Theorem 5.10 holds. Thus the Skorokhod theorem Theorem 5.10 yields the first assertion and the existence of convergence subsequence to

$$(a, \mathcal{E}, u, g, v, \mu, \{\mu_{ij}\}_{ij})$$
 in $\mathcal{X}^1 \times \mathcal{X}^2$.

Since $\tilde{\mathbb{P}} \circ (\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}, \tilde{v}^{\varepsilon})^{-1} = \mathbb{P} \circ (u^{\varepsilon}, v^{\varepsilon})^{-1}$, we have that for any $h \in H^1$,

$$\varepsilon^{-\sigma} \left(\int_{\mathcal{D}} (\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}(t) - \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}(0)) h dx + \int_{0}^{t} \nabla \tilde{v}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla h dx \right)$$

is a Wiener process on $(\tilde{\Omega}, \tilde{\mathcal{F}}, \tilde{\mathbb{P}})$ with covariance $\|Q^{\frac{1}{2}}h\|_{L^2}^2$. Thus there exists a Q-Wiener process \tilde{W} on L^2 which is defined on $(\tilde{\Omega}, \tilde{\mathcal{F}}, \tilde{\mathbb{P}})$. Then we have that for any $h \in H^1$

$$\int_{\mathcal{D}} (\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}(t) - \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}(0))hdx + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}} \nabla \tilde{v}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla hdx = \varepsilon^{\sigma} \int_{0}^{t} \langle h, d\tilde{W}_{s} \rangle.$$
(5.35)

Moreover, we denote $\{\tilde{\mathcal{F}}_t\}_{t\in[0,T]}$ be completion under $\tilde{\mathbb{P}}$ of the natural filtration generated by $\{\tilde{W}_t\}_{t\in[0,T]}$, thus $\{\tilde{\mathcal{F}}_t\}_{t\in[0,T]}$ is a normal filtration. By [DPD96], we know that for any $\varepsilon > 0$, \tilde{u}^{ε} is the unique solution, thus by Yamada–Watanabe theorem (see e.g. [LR15, Theorem E.0.8]) $\{\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}\}_t$ is $\{\tilde{\mathcal{F}}_t\}_t$ -adapted in $L^2(\mathcal{D})$. Since $\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon} \to u$ in $C([0,T]; L^2_w)$, we know that u is $\{\tilde{\mathcal{F}}_t\}_t$ -adapted in $L^2(\mathcal{D})$.

In the rest of this proof, we ignore the notation ~ if there is no confusion. By (5.26), we know that for any $t, \tau \in [0, T]$, any $\varepsilon > 0$

$$|u^{\varepsilon}(t) - u^{\varepsilon}(\tau)|^2 \lesssim |G(u^{\varepsilon}(t)) - G(u^{\varepsilon}(\tau))|,$$

thus we have that for $\tilde{P} - a.s.\omega$

$$\|u^{\varepsilon}(t) - u^{\varepsilon}(\tau)\|_{L^2}^2 \lesssim \|G(u^{\varepsilon}(t)) - G(u^{\varepsilon}(\tau))\|_{L^1}$$

Since $G(u^{\varepsilon}) \to g$ in $C^{\beta}([0,T], L^1)$ for any $\beta < \frac{1}{12}$, let $\varepsilon \to 0$ we have that

$$\limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} \|u^{\varepsilon}(t) - u^{\varepsilon}(\tau)\|_{L^2}^2 \lesssim \|g(t) - g(\tau)\|_{L^1} \lesssim |t - \tau|^{\beta}.$$

Since $u^{\varepsilon}(t) \to u(t)$ in L^2_w , by the weakly lower-semicontinuity, we have that

$$\|u(t) - u(s)\|_{L^2}^2 \le \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0} \|u^{\varepsilon}(t) - u^{\varepsilon}(\tau)\|_{L^2} \lesssim |t - \tau|^{\beta}$$

Hence we obtain that $u \in C^{\frac{\beta}{2}}([0,T];L^2) \mathbb{P}-a, s$. Similarly we have for any $\varepsilon, h > 0$

$$\|u^{\varepsilon} - u^h\|_{L^2}^2 \lesssim \|G(u^{\varepsilon}) - G(u^h)\|_{L^1}, \quad \tilde{\mathbb{P}} - a.s..$$

Let $h \to 0$, we obtain

$$\|u^{\varepsilon} - u\|_{L^2}^2 \lesssim \|G(u^{\varepsilon}) - g\|_{L^1}, \quad \tilde{\mathbb{P}} - a.s.,$$

which implies that $u^{\varepsilon} \to u$ in $C^{\frac{\beta}{2}}([0,T];L^2) \ \tilde{\mathbb{P}} - a.s.$.

On the other hand, by (5.22) we know that

$$\mathbb{E}\sup_{t\in[0,T]}\int_{\mathcal{D}}(|u^{\varepsilon}|-1)^{2}dx\lesssim\mathbb{E}\sup_{t\in[0,T]}\|F(u^{\varepsilon})\|_{L^{1}}\lesssim\varepsilon.$$

As $\varepsilon \to 0$, we have that for $\tilde{\mathbb{P}} - a.s. |u| \equiv 1$ in $L^2, \forall t \in [0,T]$, which implies that for $\tilde{\mathbb{P}} - a.s.$ there exists a measurable set $E(\omega)$ in \mathcal{D}_T , such that

$$u = -1 + 2\mathbb{1}_E, \quad \tilde{\mathbb{P}} - a.s..$$

Since u is $\{\tilde{\mathcal{F}}_t\}_{t\in[0,T]}$ -adapted in L^2 , we know $\mathbb{1}_E$ is also $\{\tilde{\mathcal{F}}_t\}_{t\in[0,T]}$ -adapted in L^2 .

Moreover by the right hand side of (5.26), we obtain that for $\tilde{\mathbb{P}} - a.s.\omega$,

$$\|g - G(u)\|_{L^1} = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \|G(u^\varepsilon) - G(u)\|_{L^1} \lesssim \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \|u^\varepsilon - u\| = 0$$

which implies that $g = G(u) = 2S \mathbb{1}_E$. Hence we proved the assertion (iii).

Using the estimate (5.30), we have that for any $t, \tau \in [0, T]$,

$$\mathbb{E} \|\mathbb{1}_{E_t} - \mathbb{1}_{E_\tau}\|_{L^1}^{2p} \lesssim \mathbb{E} \|\mathbb{1}_{E_t} - \mathbb{1}_{E_\tau}\|_{L^2}^{2p} \lesssim \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \mathbb{E} \|u^{\varepsilon}(t) - u^{\varepsilon}(\tau)\|_{L^2}^{2p} \lesssim |t - \tau|^{\frac{p}{6}}.$$

Then the assertion (iv) followed by the Kolmogorov's criteria.

Note that the equation (5.1) is conserved, i.e. for any $t \in [0, T]$,

$$\int_{\mathcal{D}} u^{\varepsilon}(t, x) dx \equiv \int_{\mathcal{D}} u_0^{\varepsilon}(x) dx = |\mathcal{D}| m_0.$$

Since $u^{\varepsilon} \to u = -1 + 2\mathbb{1}_E$, we have that $|E_t| = \frac{1+m_0}{2}|\mathcal{D}|$. This proved the assertion (v). Finally set $g^{\varepsilon} := G(u^{\varepsilon})$, by (5.25) we know that

$$|Dg^{\varepsilon}(t,\cdot)|(\mathcal{D}) = \int_{\mathcal{D}} |\nabla g^{\varepsilon}(t,x)| dx \leq \mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(t).$$

As $\varepsilon \searrow 0$, since $g^{\varepsilon} \to g = 2S\mathbb{1}_E$ in $C([0,T]; L^1)$ and $\mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon} \to \mathcal{E}$ in $L^{\infty}_{w*}(0,T)$, by [AFP00, Proposition 3.13], we obtain that $Dg^{\varepsilon} \to Dg$ in $L^{\infty}(0,T;BV)$. Then by the lower semicontinuity of the BV norm we obtain that $|D\mathbb{1}_{E_t}|(\mathcal{D}) = \frac{1}{2S}|Dg(t,\cdot)| \leq \frac{1}{2S}\mathcal{E}(t)$. This completes the proof of the theorem.

5.2.5 Proof of Theorem 5.3

Now we are in a position to prove Theorem 5.3. Before we begin the proof, we need to first recall some crucial lemmas to estimate the following "discrepancy" measure $\zeta^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon})dx$

$$\zeta^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon})dx := \left(\frac{\varepsilon}{2}|\nabla u^{\varepsilon}|^2 - \frac{1}{\varepsilon}F(u^{\varepsilon})\right)dx.$$
(5.36)

Lemma 5.12. ([Che96, Lemma 4.4, Theorem 3.6]). Let

$$\mathcal{K}^{\varepsilon} := \left\{ (u, v) \in H^{2}(\mathcal{D}) \times L^{2}(\mathcal{D}) : v = -\varepsilon \Delta u + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} f(u) \text{ in } \mathcal{D}, \quad \frac{\partial u}{\partial n} = 0 \text{ on } \partial \mathcal{D} \right\}.$$

There exist positive constants C_0 and $\eta_0 \in (0,1]$ such that for every $\eta \in (0,\eta_0]$, every $\varepsilon \in (0,1]$, and every $(u^{\varepsilon}, v^{\varepsilon}) \in \mathcal{K}^{\varepsilon}$,

$$\int_{\{x\in\mathcal{D};|u^{\varepsilon}|\geq 1-\eta\}} \left[e^{\varepsilon}\left(u^{\varepsilon}\right) + \varepsilon^{-1}f^{2}\left(u^{\varepsilon}\right)\right] \leq C_{0}\eta \int_{\{x\in\mathcal{D};|u^{\varepsilon}|\leq 1-\eta\}} \varepsilon \left|\nabla u^{\varepsilon}\right|^{2} + C_{0}\varepsilon \int_{\mathcal{D}} (v^{\varepsilon})^{2}.$$
 (5.37)

Moreover there exist continuous, non-increasing, and positive functions $M_1(\eta)$ and $M_2(\eta)$ defined on $(0, \eta_0]$ such that for every $\eta \in (0, \eta_0]$, every $\varepsilon \in (0, \frac{1}{M_1(\eta_0)}]$, and every $(u^{\varepsilon}, v^{\varepsilon}) \in \mathcal{K}^{\varepsilon}$, we have that

$$\int_{\mathcal{D}} \left(\zeta^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon})\right)^{+} dx \leq \eta \int_{\mathcal{D}} e^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon}) dx + \varepsilon M_{2}(\eta) \int_{\mathcal{D}} (v^{\varepsilon}(x))^{2} dx, \qquad (5.38)$$

where $(\zeta^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon}))^+$ is the positive part of $\zeta^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon})$.

Proof of Theorem 5.3

Let $\{u_0^{\varepsilon}(\cdot)\}_{\varepsilon}$ be a family of initial data satisfying (5.2). Let $(u^{\varepsilon}, v^{\varepsilon})$ be the solution of (5.1) with initial value u_0^{ε} . The first three assertions can be obtained directly by Theorem 5.11.

In the following we fixed ω such that all the assertions in Theorem 5.11 hold. For simplicity of notation, we also denote ε_k by ε and omit the notation tilde $\tilde{}$ in the Theorem 5.11.

Since $G(u^{\varepsilon}) \to 2S\mathbb{1}_E$ and $|DG(u^{\varepsilon})| \leq e^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon})$ for every ε and every $(t, x) \in \mathcal{D}_T$, by the lower semicontinuity of the BV norms, we have that

$$2S|D\mathbb{1}_{E_t}|dtdx \le d\mu,$$

which is the inequality (5.8).

For any $\psi \in C_c^1([0,t) \times \overline{\mathcal{D}})$, denote $h(t,u) := \int_{\mathcal{D}} (1+u(x))\psi(t,x)dx$. Since $(u^{\varepsilon}, v^{\varepsilon})$ is a solution to equation (5.1), by Itô's formula we have that for any $\tau \in (0,t)$

$$h(t, u^{\varepsilon}(t)) - h(0, u^{\varepsilon}(0)) = \int_0^t \int_{\mathcal{D}} \partial_t \psi(\tau, x) (1 + u^{\varepsilon}(\tau, x)) dx d\tau + \int_0^t \langle \psi(\tau, \cdot), du^{\varepsilon}(\tau) \rangle,$$

combined with $\psi(t) \equiv 0$, which yields that

$$-\int_{\mathcal{D}} (1+u^{\varepsilon}(0,x))\psi(0,x)dx = \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}} \partial_{t}\psi(\tau,x)(1+u^{\varepsilon}(\tau,x))dxd\tau - \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}} \nabla v^{\varepsilon}\nabla\psi + \varepsilon^{\sigma} \int_{0}^{t} \langle \psi(\tau,\cdot), dW_{\tau} \rangle.$$

Let $\varepsilon \searrow 0$, we obtain that the identity (5.10).

In addition, for any $t \in (0,T]$, $\vec{Y} \in C_c^1(\mathcal{D}_t; \mathbb{R}^d)$, a direct calculation by integration by parts yields that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathcal{D}} \vec{Y} \cdot \nabla u^{\varepsilon} v^{\varepsilon} &= \int_{\mathcal{D}} \vec{Y} \cdot \nabla u^{\varepsilon} \left(-\varepsilon \Delta u^{\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} f(u^{\varepsilon}) \right) \\ &= -\int_{\mathcal{D}} D \vec{Y} : \left(e^{\varepsilon} (u^{\varepsilon}) - \varepsilon \nabla u^{\varepsilon} \otimes \nabla u^{\varepsilon} \right) + \int_{\partial \mathcal{D}} e^{\varepsilon} (u^{\varepsilon}) \vec{Y} \cdot \vec{n}_{\partial \mathcal{D}} \\ &= -\int_{\mathcal{D}} D \vec{Y} : \left(e^{\varepsilon} (u^{\varepsilon}) - \varepsilon \nabla u^{\varepsilon} \otimes \nabla u^{\varepsilon} \right). \end{split}$$

The last equality holds because \mathcal{D} is an open domain thus $\vec{Y} \equiv 0$ on $\partial \mathcal{D}$. Then taking integration from s = 0 to s = t and letting $\varepsilon \searrow 0$, we obtain

$$\int_0^t 2\mathbb{1}_E \operatorname{div}(v\vec{Y}) dx ds = \int_0^t \int_{\mathcal{D}} D\vec{Y} : \left(\operatorname{I} d\mu - (d\mu_{ij})_{d \times d} \right).$$
(5.39)

It remains to construct V to finish the proof. Note that for any $0 < \tau < t < T$,

$$\int_{\tau}^{t} \int_{\bar{\mathcal{D}}} d\mu(s, x) = \lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \int_{\tau}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}} e^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon}) ds dx = \int_{\tau}^{t} \mathcal{E}(s) ds.$$
(5.40)

Therefore, in the sense of Radon measure,

$$d\mu(t,x) = d\mu^t(x)dt.$$

By (5.40) we have $\mu^t(\overline{\mathcal{D}}) = \mathcal{E}(t)$ for *a.e.* $t \in (0, T]$. Consequently, for *a.e.* $t \in (0, T]$ and *a.e.* $\tau \in (0, t)$, by (5.21), we have that

$$\mu^{t}(\bar{\mathcal{D}}) = \mathcal{E}(t) = \lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(t) = \lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \left(\mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon})(\tau) - \int_{\tau}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}} |\nabla v^{\varepsilon}|^{2} \right)$$

$$+\lim_{\varepsilon\searrow 0} \left(\varepsilon^{2\sigma+1} \int_{\tau}^{t} \operatorname{Tr}(-\Delta Q) ds + \frac{\varepsilon^{2\sigma-1}}{2} \int_{\tau}^{t} \operatorname{Tr}(f'(u^{\varepsilon})Q) ds + \varepsilon^{\sigma} \int_{\tau}^{t} \langle v^{\varepsilon}, dW_{\tau} \rangle \right).$$

Similar as in the proof of Lemma 5.6, we have that for $\sigma > \frac{1}{2}$,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \left(\varepsilon^{2\sigma+1} \int_{\tau}^{t} \operatorname{Tr}(-\Delta Q) ds + \frac{\varepsilon^{2\sigma-1}}{2} \int_{\tau}^{t} \operatorname{Tr}(f'(u^{\varepsilon})Q) ds + \varepsilon^{\sigma} \int_{\tau}^{t} \langle v^{\varepsilon}, dW_{\tau} \rangle \right) = 0.$$

Hence we deduce that

$$\mu^{t}(\bar{\mathcal{D}}) \leq \mathcal{E}(\tau) - \int_{\tau}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}} |\nabla v|^{2} dx ds = \mu^{\tau}(\bar{\mathcal{D}}) - \int_{\tau}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}} |\nabla v|^{2} dx ds,$$

which is the inequality (5.12).

Next, we study the relation between μ_{ij} and μ . Observe that for any $t \in (0,T]$, and $\vec{Y}, \vec{Z} \in C(\bar{\mathcal{D}}_t; \mathbb{R}^d)$,

$$\varepsilon \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}} \vec{Y}^{T} \left(\nabla u^{\varepsilon} \otimes \nabla u^{\varepsilon} \right) \vec{Z} = \varepsilon \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}} \sum_{i,j} Y^{i} Z^{j} \partial_{x_{i}} u^{\varepsilon} \partial_{x_{j}} u^{\varepsilon} dx dt$$

$$\leq \varepsilon \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}} |\vec{Y}| |\vec{Z}| |\nabla u^{\varepsilon}|^{2} dx dt$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}} |\vec{Y}| |\vec{Z}| e^{\varepsilon} (u^{\varepsilon}) + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}} |\vec{Y}| |\vec{Z}| \zeta^{\varepsilon} (u^{\varepsilon}),$$
(5.41)

where \vec{Y}^T is the transpose of vector \vec{Y} . Here in the last inequality we use the definition of $\zeta^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon})$ in (5.36) then $e^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon}) + \zeta^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon}) = \varepsilon |\nabla u^{\varepsilon}|^2$.

By taking η as small as enough in (5.38), we have that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \int_0^t \int_{\mathcal{D}} |\vec{Y}| |\vec{Z}| \zeta^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon}) \le 0$$

Thus letting $\varepsilon \searrow 0$ in (5.41), we obtain that

$$\int_0^t \int_{\bar{\mathcal{D}}} \vec{Y}^T \left(d\mu_{ij} \right)_{d \times d} \vec{Z} \le \int_0^t \int_{\mathcal{D}} |\vec{Y}| |\vec{Z}| d\mu.$$
(5.42)

Therefore, in the sense of measure $|d\mu_{ij}(t,x)| \leq d\mu(t,x)$. Consequently, there exists μ -measurable functions $\nu_{ij}(t,x)$ such that

$$d\mu_{ij}(t,x) = \nu_{ij}(t,x)d\mu(t,x), \quad \mu - a.e. \ (t,x) \in \bar{\mathcal{D}}_T.$$

By the definition of μ_{ij} and (5.42), we have that

$$0 \le (\nu_{ij})_{d \times d} = (\nu_{ij}(t, x))_{d \times d} \le \mathbf{I}, \quad \mu - a.e. \quad (t, x) \in \bar{\mathcal{D}}_T.$$

Therefore we have that

$$(\nu_{ij})_{d \times d} = \sum_{i=1}^{d} \lambda_i \vec{\nu}_i \otimes \vec{\nu}_i, \quad \mu - a.e.,$$

where $\vec{\nu}_i$, $i = 1, \dots, d$ are μ -measurable unit vectors and λ_i , $i = 1, \dots, d$ are μ -measurable functions, which satisfy

$$0 \le \lambda_i \le 1 \ (i = 1, \cdots, d), \quad \sum_{i=1}^d \lambda_i \le 1, \quad \sum_{i=1}^d \vec{\nu}_i \otimes \vec{\nu}_i = \mathbf{I}, \quad \mu - a.e..$$
 (5.43)

It then follows from (5.39) that for *a.e.* $t \in (0, T]$ and for every $\vec{Y} \in C_c^1(\mathcal{D}, \mathbb{R}^d)$,

$$2\int_{\mathcal{D}} \mathbb{1}_{E_t} \operatorname{div}\left(v(t,x)\vec{Y}(x)\right) dx = \int_{\mathcal{D}} \nabla \vec{Y}(x) : \left(\mathbf{I} - \sum_{i=1}^d \lambda_i(t,x)\vec{\nu}_i(t,x) \otimes \vec{\nu}_i(t,x)\right) d\mu^t(x)$$
$$= \int_{\mathcal{D}} \nabla \vec{Y}(x) : \sum_{i=1}^d c_i^t(x) \left(\mathbf{I} - \vec{\nu}_i(t,x) \otimes \vec{\nu}_i(t,x)\right) d\mu^t(x),$$

where

$$c_i^t(x) = \lambda_i(t, x) + \frac{1}{d-1} \left(1 - \sum_{i=1}^d \lambda_i(t, x) \right).$$

Clearly, for a.e. $t \in (0,T]$, $0 \le c_i^t \le 1$ and $\sum_{i=1}^d c_i^t \ge 1$ for $\mu^t - a.e.$. Define $p_i^t = \{\vec{\nu}_i(t,x), -\vec{\nu}_i(t,x)\} \in P$ and V^t as in (5.9), then V is defined by $dV(t,x,p) = dV^t(x,p)dt$, i.e.

$$dV(t, x, p) = \sum_{i=1}^{d} c_i^t(x) \delta_{p_i^t(x)}(p) d\mu^t(x) dp dt,$$

satisfying (iii) of Definition 2.22.

Then by (2.6),

$$\int_{\mathcal{D}} \mathbb{1}_{E_t}(x) \operatorname{div}\left(v(t,x)\vec{Y}(x)\right) dx = \frac{1}{2} \langle \delta V^t, \vec{Y} \rangle.$$

Thus we obtain (5.11). Hence we proved (iv) of Theorem 5.3. This completes the proof of Theorem 5.3.

5.2.6 The case that $\sigma = \frac{1}{2}$

1

As what is shown in the last subsection, for $\sigma = \frac{1}{2}$, the limit of solution to equation (5.1) satisfies all the definition in Definition 5.2 except (5.12). Instead we have

Proposition 5.13. Let μ^t be as in Theorem 5.3, then

$$\mu^{t}(\bar{\mathcal{D}}) + \int_{\tau}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}} |\nabla v|^{2} \le \mu^{\tau}(\bar{\mathcal{D}}) + C_{Q}(t-\tau), \quad \tilde{P} - a.s., \quad (5.44)$$

where $C_Q := Tr(Q)$.

Proof By using the method as in subsection 5.2.5, we have that for $\sigma = \frac{1}{2}$

$$\mu^{t}(\bar{\mathcal{D}}) = \mathcal{E}(t) = \lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \left(\mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon})(\tau) - \int_{\tau}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}} |\nabla v^{\varepsilon}|^{2} \right) \\ + \lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \left(\varepsilon^{2} \int_{\tau}^{t} \operatorname{Tr}(-\Delta Q) ds + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\tau}^{t} \operatorname{Tr}(f'(u^{\varepsilon})Q) ds + \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}} \langle \int_{\tau}^{t} v^{\varepsilon}, dW_{\tau} \rangle \right) \\ \leq \mathcal{E}(\tau) - \int_{\tau}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}} |\nabla v|^{2} dx ds + (t - \tau) \operatorname{Tr}(Q).$$

The last inequality holds because $|u^{\varepsilon}| \to 1$ and $f'(u^{\varepsilon}) = 3(u^{\varepsilon})^2 - 1$. Thus we obtain (5.44).

Remark 5.14. By Proposition 5.13 and the analysis in the proof of Theorem 5.3 in Subsection 5.2.5. In the case that $\sigma = \frac{1}{2}$, the energy μ^t may grow a little faster than that in deterministic case. But as what we will show in the next section, at least in radial symmetric case, the perturbation by the noise $\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}} dW$ is not strong enough, such that the limit of equation (5.1) also converges to deterministic Hele-Shaw model (in a weak sense). Thus we conjecture that in general for $\mathbb{P}-a.s. \omega$, the sharp interface limit of (5.1) satisfies the deterministic Hele-Shaw model (1.5):

$$\begin{cases} \Delta v = 0 \text{ in } \mathcal{D} \setminus \Gamma_t, \ t > 0, \\ \frac{\partial v}{\partial n} = 0 \text{ on } \partial \mathcal{D}, \\ v = SH \text{ on } \Gamma_t, \\ \mathcal{V} = \frac{1}{2} (\partial_n v^+ - \partial_n v^-) \text{ on } \Gamma_t. \end{cases}$$

5.3 Case of radial symmetry for $\sigma \geq \frac{1}{2}$

In this section we are going to prove Theorem 5.4. In this case of radial symmetry, we assume $\mathcal{D} = B_1$.

Any function u in this section of the form $u(x) \equiv u(|x|)$. For convenience, we do not distinguish functions of $x \in B_1$ from functions of $r \in [0, 1)$. We only distinguish the integrals of dx from that of dr, due to consideration of singularities at the origin.

Denote r = |x|, then the equation (5.1) should be changed as

$$\begin{cases} du^{\varepsilon} = \partial_{rr} v^{\varepsilon} dt + \frac{d-1}{r} \partial_{r} v^{\varepsilon} dt + \varepsilon^{\sigma} dW_{t}, & (t,r) \in (0,T) \times [0,1), \\ v^{\varepsilon} = -\varepsilon \partial_{rr} u^{\varepsilon}(t) - \frac{d-1}{r} \partial_{r} u^{\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} f(u^{\varepsilon}(t)), & (t,x) \in (0,T) \times [0,1), \\ \partial_{r} u^{\varepsilon}(t,1) = \partial_{r} v^{\varepsilon}(t,1) = 0, & t \in [0,T], \\ u^{\varepsilon}(0,r) = u^{\varepsilon}_{0}(r), & x \in \mathcal{D}. \end{cases}$$
(5.45)

Here W_t is given by

$$W_t = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \alpha_k b_k(r) \beta_k(t), \qquad (5.46)$$

where $\{\beta_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z}^d}$ is a sequence of independent Brownian motions and $\{\alpha_k\}$ satisfies

$$\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \lambda_k \alpha_k^2 < \infty. \tag{5.47}$$

 $\{b_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{Z}^d}$ is an orthogonal basis in $L^2_0(0,1)$, which is defined as $\{f \in L^2(0,1) : \int_0^1 f(r)r^{d-1}dr = 0\}$, i.e.

$$\int_{0}^{1} b_{k}(r)r^{d-1}dr = 0, \quad \forall k \in \mathbb{Z}^{d}.$$
(5.48)

Note that (5.46)-(5.48) is just the radially symmetric version of condition (5.4) and (5.5). Moreover, all the results we obtained in the previous section also hold for this case. In particular, there exists a Borel set $\tilde{E} \subset [0,T] \times [0,1)$ such that $E = \{(t,x) \in \mathcal{D}_T : (t,|x|) \in \tilde{E}\}$ and $\tilde{E}_t := \{r \in [0,1) : (t,r) \in [0,T] \times [0,1)\}$ is a BV set in [0,1) for any $t \in [0,T]$.

Remark 5.15. For the existence of radial symmetric solution to (5.1) under the assumption in this section, we only need to check that any solution u^{ε} to (5.1) is invariant under the rotation transformation. Then by the uniqueness, we can obtain that u^{ε} is radial symmetric.

In fact, any rotation transformation in \mathbb{R}^d can be identified as an orthogonal matrix with determinant 1, i.e. an element in SO(d). For any $A \in SO(d)$, a direct calculation yields that

$$\nabla(v \circ A) = (\nabla v) \circ A \ (\Delta v) \circ A = \Delta(v \circ A).$$

Then we have that for any solution $(u^{\varepsilon}, v^{\varepsilon})$ to (5.1), $(u^{\varepsilon} \circ A, v^{\varepsilon} \circ A)$ is also a solution to (5.1). By the uniqueness of solutions to (5.1), if the initial value of $(u^{\varepsilon}, v^{\varepsilon})$ is radial symmetric, $(u^{\varepsilon}, v^{\varepsilon})$ is also radial symmetric. In this case, equation (5.1) is equivalent to (5.45).

Moreover, a direct calculation yields that

$$\int_{B_1} |\nabla u(|x|)|^2 dx = \int_0^t r^{d-1} |\partial_r u(r)|^2 dr.$$

Since in 1-dimensional case, $H^1([0,1])$ is embedded in C([0,1]), we have that in radial symmetric case, for a.e. $t \in [0,T]$, $u^{\varepsilon}(t, \cdot), v^{\varepsilon}(t, \cdot) \in C(B_1 \setminus B_{\delta})$ for any $\delta \in (0,1)$.

We also mention that all the results in [Che96, Section 5] only depend on the second equation in (5.45) and the estimate of $(u^{\varepsilon}, v^{\varepsilon})$. Thus with a similar proof, we obtain the following theorems.

Theorem 5.16. Assume that $\{(\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}, \tilde{v}^{\varepsilon})\}$ is obtained in Theorem 5.11. Then

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \int_0^T \int_{\mathcal{D}} \left| \zeta^{\varepsilon}(\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}) \right| dx dt = 0, \quad \tilde{\mathbb{P}} - a.s.,$$

where $\zeta^{\varepsilon}(\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon})$ is the discrepancy measure defined in (5.36).

Proof In this proof, we ignore the notation tilde \sim for simplicity.

For a fixed ω such that all the assertions in Theorem 5.11 hold. By the same proof as [Che96, Theorem 5.1], we have that there exists a constant C > 0 he following estimates

$$\int_{B_{\delta}} e^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon}) dx \le C \delta M^{\varepsilon}(t), \quad \forall \delta \in (0, 1),$$
(5.49)

where $M^{\varepsilon}(t) := 1 + \mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon})(t) + \|v^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^1}^2 \in L^1(0,T)$, and

$$\sup_{0 < r < 1} \left| r^{d-1} \left(\zeta^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon}) + v^{\varepsilon} u^{\varepsilon} \right) \right| \le C M^{\varepsilon}(t).$$
(5.50)

Hence for any small δ and η ,

$$\int_{\mathcal{D}} |\zeta^{\varepsilon} (u^{\varepsilon})| \, dx \leq \int_{B_{\delta} \cup \{|u^{\varepsilon}| \geq 1 - \eta\}} |\zeta^{\varepsilon} (u^{\varepsilon})| \, dx + \int_{\mathcal{D} \cap \{r > \delta, |u^{\varepsilon}| \leq 1 - \eta\}} |\zeta^{\varepsilon} (u^{\varepsilon})| \, dx$$

$$\leq \int_{B_{\delta} \cup \{|u^{\varepsilon}| \ge 1 - \eta\}} e^{\varepsilon} (u^{\varepsilon}) dx + \int_{\mathcal{D} \cap \{r > \delta, |u^{\varepsilon}| \le 1 - \eta\}} \left[|v^{\varepsilon}| |u^{\varepsilon}| + r^{1 - d} C M^{\varepsilon}(t) \right] dx$$

$$\leq \int_{B_{\delta} \cup \{|u^{\varepsilon}| \ge 1 - \eta\}} e^{\varepsilon} (u^{\varepsilon}) dx + \int_{\mathcal{D} \cap \{r > \delta, |u^{\varepsilon}| \le 1 - \eta\}} \left[|v^{\varepsilon}| (1 - \eta) + r^{1 - d} C M^{\varepsilon}(t) \right] dx,$$

where we used the definition of ζ^{ε} and $e^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon})$ and (5.49) in the second inequality.

For the first integral above, we have that

$$\int_{B_{\delta} \cup \{|u^{\varepsilon}| \ge 1 - \eta\}} e^{\varepsilon} (u^{\varepsilon}) dx \le \int_{B_{\delta}} e^{\varepsilon} (u^{\varepsilon}) dx + \int_{\{|u^{\varepsilon}| \ge 1 - \eta\}} e^{\varepsilon} (u^{\varepsilon}) dx$$
$$\le C\delta M^{\varepsilon}(t) + C_0 \eta M^{\varepsilon}(t) + C_0 \varepsilon M^{\varepsilon}(t),$$

where we used (5.49) and (5.37) in the second inequality.

For the second integral, we have that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathcal{D}\cap\{r>\delta,|u^{\varepsilon}|\leq 1-\eta\}} \left[|v^{\varepsilon}| \left(1-\eta\right) + r^{1-d}CM^{\varepsilon}(t) \right] dx &\leq \int_{\{|u^{\varepsilon}|\leq 1-\eta\}} \left[|v^{\varepsilon}| + \delta^{1-d}CM^{\varepsilon}(t) \right] dx \\ &\leq \mathcal{H}^d(\{|u^{\varepsilon}|\leq 1-\eta\}) \left(M^{\varepsilon}(t)^{\frac{1}{2}} + \delta^{1-d}CM^{\varepsilon}(t) \right) \end{split}$$

By Theorem 5.11 we know that $\varepsilon^{-1}F(u^{\varepsilon})$ is uniformly bounded in $L^{\infty}(0,T;L^1)$. Thus there exists a constant $C_1 > 0$ such that

$$\mathcal{H}^{d}(\{|u^{\epsilon}| \le 1 - \eta\}) \le \mathcal{H}^{d}(\{||u^{\epsilon}| - 1| \ge \eta\}) \le \eta^{-2} \int_{\mathcal{D}} F(u^{\varepsilon}) dx \le C_1 \eta^{-2} \varepsilon.$$

Combining all the estimates above, we have that for any $\eta, \delta > 0$, there exists a constant $C(\delta, \eta) > 0$, such that

$$\int_{\mathcal{D}} \left| \zeta^{\varepsilon}(\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}) \right| dx \le C_2 \left(\delta + \eta + \varepsilon + C(\delta, \eta) \varepsilon \right) M^{\varepsilon}(t),$$

 C_2 is independent of $\varepsilon, \eta, \delta$. Integrating the last inequality in (0, T) and letting first $\varepsilon \to 0$ and then δ, η to 0, we can obtain the theorem.

In the following, we are going to prove

$$d\mu = 2S|D\mathbb{1}_E|dxdt.$$

To prove this, we need a technical lemma:

Lemma 5.17. ([Che96, Lemma 5.4]) For every small positive constant $\delta > 0$, there exists a small positive constant $\varepsilon_0(\delta)$ and a large positive constant $C(\delta) > 0$, such that for every $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0(\delta)]$, if $(u^{\varepsilon}, v^{\varepsilon})$ is a pair satisfying the second equation in (5.45) and

$$\|v^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^1(B_1)} \le \delta^{-1}, \quad \int_{B_1} e^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon}) dx \le \mathcal{E}_0,$$

then the following hold:

(i). If $(a, b) \subset (\delta, 1]$ is an open interval where $|u^{\varepsilon}| < 1 - |\ln \varepsilon|^{-\frac{1}{2}}$, then for a.e.t $\in [0, T]$, u^{ε} is strictly monotonic in (a, b) and $|b - a| \leq C(\delta)\varepsilon |\ln \varepsilon|$.

(ii). Denote $A^{\varepsilon} := \{r \in [2\delta, 1-2\delta] : u^{\varepsilon}(r) = 0\}$, then

$$\int_{2\delta}^{1-2\delta} r^{d-1} e^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon}) dr - C(\delta) \sqrt{\varepsilon} \le 2S \sum_{r \in A^{\varepsilon}} r^{d-1} \le \int_{2\delta - C(\delta)\varepsilon |\ln \varepsilon|}^{1-2\delta + C(\delta)\varepsilon |\ln \varepsilon|} r^{d-1} e^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon}) dr + C(\delta) \sqrt{\varepsilon}.$$

(iii). For any $r \in A^{\varepsilon}$,

$$\left|v^{\varepsilon}(r) + \operatorname{sgn}\left(u_{r}^{\varepsilon}(r)\right)\frac{S(d-1)}{r}\right| \leq C(\delta)\varepsilon^{1/8}.$$

(iv). If $r_1 \neq r_2$ in A^{ε} , then

$$|r_1 - r_2| \ge \frac{1}{C(\delta)}.$$

Theorem 5.18. Let $\{(\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon_k}, \tilde{v}^{\varepsilon_k})\}_k$ are radially symmetric solutions of (5.45) which satisfy all the assertions in Theorem 5.11. Then for any $t \in (0,T], \psi \in C_c(\mathcal{D}_t)$,

$$\int_0^t \int_{\mathcal{D}} \psi(t, x) d\mu(t, x) = 2S \int_0^t \int_{\mathcal{D}} \psi |D\mathbb{1}_{E_t}| dx dt, \quad \tilde{\mathbb{P}} - a.s.$$

Proof The proof is a modification of the proof of [Che96, Theorem 5.3]. The only difference is that in stochastic case, by (5.21), Theorem 5.4 and Proposition 5.13, we know that for all $\sigma \geq \frac{1}{2}$, there exists a $h^{\varepsilon} \in L^2(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P}; L^2(0, T))$ such that

$$\tilde{\mu}_{\varepsilon}^{t}(\mathcal{D}) := \int_{\mathcal{D}} e^{\varepsilon} (\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}(t,x)) dx = \tilde{\mathcal{E}}^{\varepsilon}(t) \leq \mathcal{E}_{0} + h^{\varepsilon}(t) \ \mathbb{P} - a.s.$$

where for $\mathbb{P} - a.s. \omega$, $\{h^{\varepsilon}(\omega, \cdot)\}_{\varepsilon}$ is bounded in $L^2(0, T)$, while in deterministic case as in [Che96], h^{ε} is just 0. Then the rest proof just follows the proof of [Che96, Theorem 5.3] for a fixed ω .

We ignore the notation tilde \sim in Theorem 5.11 for simplicity.

By (5.21), Theorem 5.4 and Proposition 5.13, we know that for all $\sigma \geq \frac{1}{2}$, there exists a $h^{\varepsilon} \in L^2(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P}; L^2(0, T))$ such that

$$\mu_{\varepsilon}^{t}(\mathcal{D}) = \mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(t) \le \mathcal{E}_{0} + h^{\varepsilon}(t) \quad \mathbb{P} - a.s.,$$
(5.51)

where $d\mu_{\varepsilon}^t := e^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon})dx$ and for $\mathbb{P} - a.s. \omega$, $\{h^{\varepsilon}(\omega, \cdot)\}_{\varepsilon}$ is bounded in $L^2(0, T)$.

In the following we fix ω such that all the assertions in Theorem 5.11 hold, such that (5.51) holds, and such that $\{h^{\varepsilon}(\omega, \cdot)\}_{\varepsilon}$ is bounded in $L^2(0, T)$.

The following proof is a modification of the proof of [Che96, Theorem 5.3]. We use a contradiction argument. Since $2S|D\mathbb{1}_{E_t}|dx \leq d\mu^t$, we assume that there exists $T_0 \in (0,T]$, such that

$$\int_{0}^{T_{0}} \int_{\mathcal{D}} d\mu(t, x) = \int_{0}^{T_{0}} \int_{\mathcal{D}} d\mu^{t} dt > 2S \int_{0}^{T_{0}} \int_{\mathcal{D}} |D\mathbb{1}_{E_{t}}| dx dt.$$

Since $d\mu = d\mu^t dt$ is a Radon measure on \mathcal{D}_T , we know that $\lim_{\delta \searrow 0} \int_0^T \mu^t(B_\delta) dt = 0$ and $\lim_{\delta \searrow 0} \int_0^T \mu^t(B_1 \setminus \overline{B}_{1-\delta}) dt = 0$. Thus there exists $\delta > 0$ such that

$$\int_{0}^{T_{0}} \int_{B_{1-2\delta} \setminus \tilde{B}_{2\delta}} d\mu \ge 2S \int_{0}^{T_{0}} \int_{\mathcal{D}} |D\mathbb{1}_{E_{t}}(x)| \, dx dt + \delta \left(T_{0} + 2\sqrt{T_{0}\mathcal{E}_{0} + C_{h}(\omega)} + 1\right), \quad (5.52)$$

where $C_h(\omega) := \sup_{\varepsilon \in [0,1)} \|h^{\varepsilon}(\omega, \cdot)\|_{L^2(0,T_0)}^2$. For simplicity we denote $C_{T_0} := \sqrt{T_0 \mathcal{E}_0 + C_h(\omega)}$. Since $d\mu^{\varepsilon} := d\mu^t_{\varepsilon} dt := e^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon}) dx dt \to d\mu$, there exists a large positive integer $J \equiv J(\delta)$ such for all $j \geq J$,

$$\int_0^T \int_{B_{1-2\delta} \setminus \bar{B}_{2\delta}} d\mu_t^{\varepsilon_j}(x) dt \ge 2\sigma \int_0^T \int_{\mathcal{D}} |D\mathbb{1}_{E_t}| \, dx dt + \delta(T_0 + 2C_{T_0}).$$

Denote

$$\varphi_{\delta}(t) := \mu_t^{\varepsilon_j}(B_{1-2\delta} \setminus \bar{B}_{2\delta}), \quad \phi(t) := 2S |D\mathbb{1}_{E_t}|(\mathcal{D}).$$

we have that

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{T_{0}} \varphi_{\delta}(t) - \phi(t) dt &\leq \int_{\{\varphi_{\delta} - \phi \geq \delta\}} \varphi_{\delta}(t) - \phi(t) dt + \int_{\{\varphi_{\delta} - \phi < \delta\}} \varphi_{\delta}(t) - \phi(t) dt \\ &\leq \delta T_{0} + \int_{\{\varphi_{\delta} - \phi \geq \delta\}} \varphi_{\delta}(t) - \phi(t) dt \\ &\leq \delta T_{0} + \int_{\{\varphi_{\delta} - \phi \geq \delta\}} \varphi_{\delta}(t) dt \\ &\leq \delta T_{0} + \|\varphi_{\delta}\|_{L^{2}(0,T_{0})} \sqrt{\mathcal{H}^{1}(\{t \in [0,T_{0}] : \varphi_{\delta}(t) - \phi(t) \geq \delta\})} \\ &\leq \delta T_{0} + C_{T_{0}} \sqrt{\mathcal{H}^{1}(\{t \in [0,T_{0}] : \varphi_{\delta}(t) - \phi(t) \geq \delta\})}. \end{split}$$

In the last inequality we used (5.51) and that

$$\varphi_{\delta}(t) \leq \mu_t^{\varepsilon_j}(\mathcal{D}) \leq \mathcal{E}_0 + h^{\varepsilon^j}.$$

By (5.52), we obtain that

$$\mathcal{H}^1(\{t \in [0, T_0] : \varphi_\delta(t) - \phi(t) \ge \delta\}) \ge 4\delta^2 > 0.$$

Moreover, since v^{ε} converges in $L^2_w(0,T;H^1)$ thus is uniformly bounded in $L^2(0,T;H^1)$, we have that

$$\mathcal{H}^{1}(\{t \in [0, T_{0}] : \|v^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{1}} \le \delta^{-1}\} = 1 - \mathcal{H}^{1}(\{t \in [0, T_{0}] : \|v^{\varepsilon}\|_{H^{1}} > \delta^{-1}\} > 1 - \delta^{2}\|v^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{2}(0, T; H^{1})}^{2} > 0.$$

Hence, for each j > J, there exists $t_j \in [0, T_0]$ such that

$$\|v^{\varepsilon_j}(t_j,\cdot)\|_{H^1} \le \delta^{-1}, \quad \mu^{\varepsilon_j}_{t_j}(B_{1-2\delta} \setminus \bar{B}_{2\delta}) \ge 2S |D\mathbb{1}_{E_{tj}}|(\mathcal{D}) + \delta.$$
(5.53)

Now we show that (5.53) is wrong for j large enough.

For each $j \geq J$, we define

$$A^{j} := \left\{ r \in [\delta, 1 - \delta]; r \in \operatorname{supp}\left(\left| D\mathbb{1}_{\tilde{E}_{t_{j}}} \right| \right) \right\},\$$
$$A^{\varepsilon_{j}} := \left\{ r \in [2\delta, 1 - 2\delta]; u^{\varepsilon_{j}}\left(r, t_{j}\right) = 0 \right\},\$$

where $\tilde{E} \subset [0, T] \times [0, 1)$ such that $E = \{(t, x) \in \mathcal{D}_T : (t, |x|) \in \tilde{E}\}$ and $\tilde{E}_t := \{r \in [0, 1) : (t, r) \in [0, T] \times [0, 1)\}$ is a BV set in [0, 1) for any $t \in [0, T]$. By Theorem 2.16,

$$|D\mathbb{1}_{\tilde{E}}| = \mathcal{H}^{0}[\operatorname{supp}(|D\mathbb{1}_{\tilde{E}}|), |D\mathbb{1}_{E}| = \mathcal{H}^{d-1}[\operatorname{supp}(|D\mathbb{1}_{E}|).$$
(5.54)

Moreover, supp $(|D\mathbb{1}_{E}|)$ is a (d-1)-rectifiable set and supp $(|D\mathbb{1}_{\tilde{E}}|)$ is a 0-rectifiable set. Since \mathcal{H}^{0} is just the counting measure of points in [0,1), we have that supp $(|D\mathbb{1}_{\tilde{E}}|) =$ $\{r \in [0,1) : |D\mathbb{1}_{\tilde{E}}|(\{r\}) \neq 0\}$ which is at most countable. Denote R(x) := |x| is a Lipshitz function on \mathcal{D} , thus $R(E) = \tilde{E}$ and $R(\operatorname{supp}(|D\mathbb{1}_{E}|)) = \operatorname{supp}(|D\mathbb{1}_{\tilde{E}}|)$ which implies that $(|D\mathbb{1}_{E}|)$ consists of countable (d-1)-spheres. By (5.54) and Fubini's theorem, we have that

$$|D\mathbb{1}_{E_t}|(\mathcal{D}) = \int_0^1 \mathcal{H}^{d-1}(\mathcal{D}\cap R^{-1}(y))dy = \int_0^1 \omega_d y^{d-1}\mathbb{1}_{\operatorname{supp}\left(|D\mathbb{1}_{\tilde{E}}|\right)}(y)dy = \sum_{y\in\operatorname{supp}\left(|D\mathbb{1}_{\tilde{E}}|\right)} \omega_d y^{d-1}.$$

Then we obtain that

$$|D\mathbb{1}_{E_{t_j}}|(\mathcal{D}) \ge \sum_{r \in A^j} \omega_d r^{d-1} \ge \delta^{d-1} \omega_d(\sharp A^j),$$

where $\sharp A^j$ is the number of elements in A^j which is finite since $|D\mathbb{1}_{E_{t_j}}|(\mathcal{D})$ is finite. By the second estimate in Lemma 5.17, A^{ε_j} is also a finite set.

Moreover, by the first inequality in (5.53) and Lemma 5.17, we have that

$$\mu_t^{\varepsilon_j} \left(B_{1-2\delta} \setminus \bar{B}_{2\delta} \right) = \int_{2\delta}^{1-2\delta} r^{d-1} e^{\varepsilon} (u^{\varepsilon}) dr \le 2S \sum_{r \in A^{\varepsilon}} r^{d-1} + C(\delta) \sqrt{\varepsilon}$$

Thus since $\omega_d > 1$, there exists a large integer $J_1 \geq J$ such that

$$\mu_{t_j}^{\varepsilon_j} \left(B_{1-2\delta} \setminus \bar{B}_{2\delta} \right) \le 2S \sum_{r \in A^{e_j}} \omega_d r^{d-1} + \frac{\delta}{2} \quad \forall j \ge J_1.$$

Hence by the second inequality in (5.52),

$$\sum_{r \in A^{\epsilon_j}} \omega_d r^{d-1} \ge \sum_{r \in A^j} \omega_d r^{d-1} + \frac{\delta}{4S}, \quad \forall j \ge J_1$$
(5.55)

Denote

$$l_j := \sqrt{\varepsilon_j} + \sup_{t \in [0,T_0]} \int_{\delta}^1 |u^{\varepsilon_j}(t,r)| + 1 - 2\mathbb{1}_{\tilde{E}_t}(r)|r^{d-1}dr.$$

Since $u^{\varepsilon_j} \to -1 + 2\mathbb{1}_E$ in $C^{\beta}([0,T]; L^1)$,

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T_0]} \int_{\mathcal{D}} |u^{\varepsilon_j}(t,x) + 1 - 2\mathbb{1}_{E_t}(x)| dx = \sup_{t \in [0,T_0]} \int_0^1 r^{d-1} |u^{\varepsilon_j}(t,r) + 1 - 2\mathbb{1}_{\tilde{E}_t}(r)| dr \to 0,$$

for a fixed $\delta > 0$, we have that $\lim_{j \to \infty} l_j = 0$.

We claim that the definition of l_j and (5.26) imply the existence of $J_2 \ge J_1$ such that

$$\min_{r_1, r_2 \in A^i, r_1 \neq r_2} |r_1 - r_2| \le 4l_j, \quad \forall j \ge J_2,$$
(5.56)

which is a contradiction to Lemma 5.17. We prove the (5.56) in the following two steps.

First, if $A^{\varepsilon_j} \subset \bigcup_{r \in A^j} (r - 2l_j, r + 2l_j)$, we claim that for some $r \in A^j$, there exist at least two elements of A^{ε_j} in $(r - 2l_j, r + 2l_j)$, which concludes (5.56).

If this claim is not true, that is, for any $r \in A^j$, there exists at most one $r_0 \in A^{\varepsilon_j} \cap (r - 2l_j, r + 2l_j)$. Denote

$$\underline{A}^j := \{ r \in A^j : \exists r_0 \in A^{\varepsilon_j}, r_0 \in (r - 2l_j, r + 2l_j) \}.$$
Then $\sharp \underline{A}^{j} = \sharp A^{\varepsilon_{j}} \leq \sharp A^{j}$. Note that the number of elements in A^{j} in bounded in j since

$$\sharp A^{j} \leq \delta^{1-d} \omega_{\delta}^{-1} |D\mathbb{1}_{E_{t_{j}}}|(\mathcal{D}) = \delta^{1-d} \omega_{\delta}^{-1} \mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon_{j}}(t_{j})$$

and $\mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(t)$ is uniformly in ε bounded in $L^{\infty}(0,T)$. By (5.55) we have that

$$\frac{\delta}{4S} = \sum_{r \in A^{\varepsilon_j}} \omega_d r^{d-1} - \sum_{r \in A^j} \omega_d r^{d-1}
= \sum_{r \in A^{\varepsilon_j}} \omega_d r^{d-1} - \sum_{r \in \underline{A}^j} \omega_d r^{d-1} - \sum_{r \in A^j \setminus \underline{A}^j} \omega_d r^{d-1}
\leq \sum_{r \in \underline{A}^j} \omega_d \left((r+2l_j)^{d-1} - r^{d-1} \right) - \sum_{r \in A^j \setminus \underline{A}^j} \omega_d r^{d-1}
\leq 2l_j \# \underline{A}^j - \sum_{r \in A^j \setminus \underline{A}^j} \omega_d r^{d-1}
\leq C(\delta) l_j - \sum_{r \in A^j \setminus \underline{A}^j} \omega_d r^{d-1},$$

which is impossible for big j since $\lim_{j\to\infty} l_j = 0$.

Then if $A^{\varepsilon_j} \subset \bigcup_{r \in A^j} (r - 2l_j, r + 2l_j)$ does not hold, there exists $r_1 \in A^{\varepsilon_j}$ such that $r_1 \notin \bigcup_{r \in A^j} (r - 2h_j, r + 2h_j)$, i.e. $(r_1 - 2l_j, r_2 + 2l_j) \cap A^j = \emptyset$. Therefore, $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} u^{\varepsilon} \equiv 1$ or $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} u^{\varepsilon} \equiv -1$ on $(r_1 - 2l_j, r_2 + 2l_j)$. Without loss of generality, we assume $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} u^{\varepsilon} \equiv -1$ on $(r_1 - 2l_j, r_2 + 2l_j)$. Thus there exists $(a_1, b_1) \subset (\delta, 1)$ such that $r_1 \in (a_1, b_1)$ and $|u^{\varepsilon_j}| < 1 - |\ln \varepsilon|^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ on (a_1, b_1) . By the first assertion of Lemma 5.17, u^{ε_j} is monotonic on (a_1, b_1) and $|b_1 - a_1| \leq C(\delta)\varepsilon_j |\ln \varepsilon_j|$. Let ε_j be small enough such that $(a_1, b_1) \subset (r_1 - 2l_j, r_2 + 2l_j)$.

We assume $\partial_r u^{\varepsilon_j}(r_0) > 0$, i.e. u^{ε_j} is monotone increasing on (a_1, b_1) . Since $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} u^{\varepsilon} \equiv -1$ on $(r_1 - 2l_j, r_2 + 2l_j)$, we have that

$$\mathcal{H}^{d}(u^{\varepsilon} > 0, |u^{\varepsilon}| > \delta) \le \int_{B_1 \setminus \bar{B}_{\delta}} |u^{\varepsilon_j}(t, x) + 1 - 2\mathbb{1}_{E_t}(x)| dx \le l_j.$$

Since u^{ε} is continuous, there must be a $r_2 \in (r_1, r_1 + 2l_j) \cap A^{\varepsilon_j}$.

In the case that $\partial_r u^{\varepsilon_j}(r_0) < 0$, a similar argument yields that there exists $r_2 \in (r_1 - 2l_j, r_1) \cap A^{\varepsilon_j}$. Anyway, we obtain $r_2 \in A^{\varepsilon_j}$, such that $|r_1 - r_2| \leq 4l_j$.

Thus we proved (5.56), which is a contradiction to Lemma 4.2. Then we finish the proof of the Theorem.

5.4 Proof of Theorem 5.4

The definition of V in (5.9) can be written as

$$dV^t(x,p) = \sum_{i=1}^d c_i^t(x)\delta_{p_i^t(x)}d\mu^t(x)dp.$$

From (5.7) we know that

$$d\|V^t\|(x) = \sum_{i=1}^d c_i^t(x) d\mu^t(x) \ge d\mu^t(x)$$

First, we will show for a.e. $t \in [0, T]$, V^t is a (d - 1)-rectifiable varifold.

As what we mentioned in Remark 5.5, for *a.e.* $t \in [0,T]$, E_t is a BV set, thus for *a.e.* $t \in [0,T]$

$$\mu^t = 2S|D\mathbb{1}_{E_t}| = 2S\mathcal{H}^{d-1}\lfloor\partial^* E_t.$$

Here $\mathcal{H}^{d-1} \lfloor \partial^* E_t$ is the (d-1)-dimensional Hausdorff measure on $\partial^* E_t$. $\partial^* E_t$ is the reduced boundary of E_t (see (2.5))

$$\partial^* E_t = \{ x \in \mathcal{D} : |\vec{\nu}_{E_t}(x)| = 1 \} = \operatorname{supp}(|D\mathbb{1}_{E_t}|).$$

Moreover, by Theorem 2.16, $\partial^* E_t$ is a countably (d-1)-rectifiable set and

$$\lim_{\rho \searrow 0} \frac{|D\mathbb{1}_{E_t}|(B_{\rho}(x))}{\rho^{d-1}} = \omega_{d-1}, \quad \mathcal{H}^{d-1} - a.e. \ x \in \partial^* E_t, \tag{5.57}$$

where $B_{\rho}(x)$ is the ball in \mathbb{R}^d with radius ρ and centered at x and ω_{d-1} is the area of unite sphere in \mathbb{R}^{d-1} . Since $||V^t|| \ge \mu^t = 2S|\mathbb{1}_{E_t}|$, by Theorem 2.21, to show V^t is rectifiable, we need to show V^t has locally bounded first variation. In fact, by (5.54), $\operatorname{supp}(D\mathbb{1}_{\tilde{E}_t})$ is a countable set, thus

$$d|D\mathbb{1}_{E_t}(x)| = \omega_d \sum_{r \in \operatorname{supp}(D\mathbb{1}_{\tilde{E}_t})} \delta_r(|x|) dx,$$

where δ_r is the Dirac measure on \mathbb{R} . Thus $\partial^* E_t = \partial E_t$ which consists of countable (d-1)-spheres. Then by trace theorem

$$\int_{\partial E_t} |v|^2 d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} \lesssim \|v\|_{H^1}^2.$$

By (5.11),

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle \delta V^t, \vec{Y} \rangle| &\lesssim |\int_{\partial E_t} v \vec{Y} \cdot \vec{n}_{E_t} d\mathcal{H}^{d-1}| \\ &\lesssim \|Y\|_{L^{\infty}} \int_{\partial E_t} |v| d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} \\ &\lesssim \|v\|_{H^1} \|Y\|_{L^{\infty}}, \end{aligned}$$

which implies V^t has locally bounded first variation.

Thus by the definition of rectifiability and the expression of V^t , we have that

 $dV^t(x,p) = 2S|D\mathbb{1}_{E_t}|dx\delta_{\vec{\nu}_{E_t}(t,x)}(dp)$ as Radon measure on $\mathcal{D} \times P$,

i.e.

$$dV(t, x.p) = dV^t(x.p)dt = d\mu^t(t, x)\delta_{\vec{\nu}_{E_t}(t, x)}(dp).$$

Hence we conclude that $c_1^t = 1$, $c_2^t = \cdots = c_d^t = 0$ and $p_1^t = \vec{\nu}_{E_t}$. Then by the construction of V in subsection 5.2.5, we have that $\lambda_1 = 1$, $\lambda_2 = \cdots = \lambda_d = 0$ and

$$(d\mu_{ij})_{d\times d} = \vec{\nu}_{E_t} \otimes \vec{\nu}_{E_t} d\mu.$$

Then by (5.11), for any $\vec{Y} \in C_c^1(\mathcal{D}, \mathbb{R}^d)$, we have that

$$-\langle \delta V^t, \vec{Y} \rangle = 2 \langle D \mathbb{1}_{E_t}, v \vec{Y} \rangle = 2 \langle \vec{\nu}_{E_t} | D \mathbb{1}_{E_t} |, v \vec{Y} \rangle = \frac{1}{S} \langle \| V^t \|, v \vec{Y} \cdot \vec{\nu}_{E_t} \rangle.$$

Hence by the Definition 2.22, we obtain that

$$S\vec{H}_{V^t} = v\vec{\nu}_{E_t} \|V^t\| - a.e.,$$

where \vec{H}_{V^t} is the mean curvature vector of V^t in Definition 2.22. This also implies that for $||V^t|| - a.e. \ x \in \mathcal{D} \setminus \text{supp}(|D\mathbb{1}_{E_t}|), \ \vec{H}_{V^t} = 0$. Thus we have that

$$v = S\dot{H}_{V^t} \cdot \vec{\nu}_{E_t}$$
 on $\operatorname{supp}(|D\mathbb{1}_{E_t}|).$

The case for "smeared" noise 5.5

We observe that the requirement $\sigma \geq \frac{1}{2}$ only comes from the second variation term $\frac{\varepsilon^{2\sigma-1}}{2} \operatorname{Tr}(f'(u^{\varepsilon})Q) \text{ in (5.21) when we apply Itô's formula on } \mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon}). \text{ If there were no such term } \frac{\varepsilon^{2\sigma-1}}{2} \operatorname{Tr}(f'(u^{\varepsilon})Q), \text{ Theorem 5.11 would hold for } \sigma \geq 0.$ This motivates us to consider the following equation:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial u^{\varepsilon}}{\partial t} = \Delta v^{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon^{\sigma} \xi^{\varepsilon}_{t}, \quad (t, x) \in [0, T] \times \mathcal{D}, \\ v^{\varepsilon} = -\varepsilon \Delta u^{\varepsilon}(t) + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} f(u^{\varepsilon}(t)), \quad (t, x) \in [0, T] \times \mathcal{D}, \\ \frac{\partial u^{\varepsilon}}{\partial n} = \frac{\partial v^{\varepsilon}}{\partial n} = 0, \quad (t, x) \in [0, T] \times \partial \mathcal{D}, \\ u^{\varepsilon}(0, x) = u^{\varepsilon}_{0}(x), \quad x \in \mathcal{D}, \end{cases}$$
(5.58)

where u_0^{ε} satisfies (5.2) and ξ_t^{ε} is formally defined by $\xi_t^{\varepsilon} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \rho_{\varepsilon}(t-s) dW_s$. In fact, let $(W_t, t \ge 0)$ be a Q-Wiener process on $L^2_0(\mathcal{D})$ defined on a probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$, where Q satisfies (5.4) and (5.5). We extend the definition of $(W_t, t \ge 0)$ to negative time by considering an i.i.d Q-Wiener process $(\hat{W}_t, t \ge 0)$ and setting $W_t = \hat{W}_{-t}$ for t < 0. Then $(W_t, t \in \mathbb{R})$ is a two-sided Q-Wiener process on L_0^2 . Let ρ be a mollifying kernel i.e.

$$\rho \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}), \quad 0 \le \rho \le 1, \quad \operatorname{supp} \rho \subset [-1, 1], \quad \int_{\mathbb{R}} \rho = 1, \quad \rho(t) = \rho(-t).$$

For $\gamma > 0$ we set $\rho_{\varepsilon}(t) = \varepsilon^{-\gamma} \rho(\frac{t}{\varepsilon^{\gamma}})$. Then the approximate Wiener process W_t^{ε} is defined as

$$W_t^{\varepsilon} := \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \rho_{\varepsilon}(t-s) W_s ds, \qquad (5.59)$$

Its derivative is defined as

$$\xi_t^{\varepsilon} := \frac{dW_t^{\varepsilon}}{dt} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \rho_{\varepsilon}(t-s) dW_s.$$
(5.60)

Since ρ_{ε} is supported on $[-\varepsilon^{\gamma}, \varepsilon^{\gamma}]$, only the definition on negative time $[-\varepsilon^{\gamma}, 0)$ of W_t is used. Thus we have that for any $g \in L^2(\mathcal{D})$

$$\int_{0}^{T} \langle g(t), \xi_{t}^{\varepsilon} \rangle dt = \int_{0}^{T} \langle g(t), \int_{-\varepsilon^{\gamma}}^{t+\varepsilon^{\gamma}} \rho_{\varepsilon}(t-s) dW_{s} \rangle dt$$
$$= \int_{-\varepsilon^{\gamma}}^{T+\varepsilon^{\gamma}} \langle \int_{0}^{T} \rho_{\varepsilon}(s-t)g(t) dt, dW_{s} \rangle.$$
(5.61)

Lemma 5.19. There exists a constant which only depends on T such that for any $\varepsilon \in (0, 1]$ and any $p \ge 1$, any $\sigma \ge 0$

$$\mathbb{E} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(t)^p \le C_T (\varepsilon^{\sigma} + \mathcal{E}_0)^p,$$
(5.62)

and

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\int_0^T \|\nabla v^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^2}^2 dt\right)^p \le C_T (\varepsilon^{\sigma} + \mathcal{E}_0)^p.$$
(5.63)

Proof The proof is a modification of Lemma 5.6.

Note that the noise in equation 5.58 is smooth in time, which enable us to apply Newton-Leibniz formula on $\mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}$ to avoid the second variation term in (5.21). We have that

$$\frac{d\mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon})}{dt} = \langle D\mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon}), \partial_t u^{\varepsilon} \rangle = -\langle \nabla v^{\varepsilon}, \nabla v^{\varepsilon} \rangle + \varepsilon^{\sigma} \langle v^{\varepsilon}, \xi_t^{\varepsilon} \rangle.$$
(5.64)

By (5.61) we know that

$$\int_0^T \langle v^{\varepsilon}(t), \xi_t^{\varepsilon} \rangle dt = \int_{-\varepsilon^{\gamma}}^{T+\varepsilon^{\gamma}} \langle \rho_{\varepsilon} * v^{\varepsilon}(t), dW_t \rangle,$$

where we simply denote

$$\rho_{\varepsilon} * v^{\varepsilon}(t) := \int_0^T \rho_{\varepsilon}(t-s)v^{\varepsilon}(s)ds.$$

Similarly as the proof in Lemma 5.6. by Burkholder-Davis-Gundy type inequality, we have that

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} |\int_0^T \langle v^{\varepsilon}(t), \xi_t^{\varepsilon} \rangle dt | &\lesssim \mathbb{E} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} |\int_0^T \langle \rho_{\varepsilon} * v^{\varepsilon}(t), dW_t \rangle | \\ &\lesssim \left(\mathbb{E} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} |\int_0^T \langle \rho_{\varepsilon} * v^{\varepsilon}(t), dW_t \rangle |^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\lesssim \left(\int_0^T \mathbb{E} \| \sqrt{Q} (\rho_{\varepsilon} * v^{\varepsilon}(t)) \|_{L^2}^2 dt \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\lesssim \left(\int_0^T (\rho_{\varepsilon} * \mathbb{E} \| \nabla v^{\varepsilon} \|_{L^2})^2 dt \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\lesssim \left(\int_0^T \mathbb{E} \| \nabla v^{\varepsilon} \|_{L^2}^2 dt \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}, \end{split}$$

where we used the Young's inequality in the last inequality. The rest is the same as in the proof of Lemma 5.6. We omit it here for simplicity.

With the same notation and proof as in Theorem 5.11, we can obtain a tightness result for any $\sigma \geq 0$.

Theorem 5.20. Assume $\sigma \geq 0$, Q satisfies (5.4) and (5.5). There exist a probability space $(\tilde{\Omega}, \tilde{\mathcal{F}}, \tilde{\mathbb{P}})$ on $\mathcal{X}^1 \times \mathcal{X}^2$, a subsequence ε_k (we still denote it as ε for simplicity) and

$$\left\{ \left(\varepsilon^{-1} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|F(\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon})\|_{L^{1}}, \mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}), \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}, G(\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}), \tilde{v}^{\varepsilon}, e^{\varepsilon}(\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}) dx dt, \{\varepsilon \partial_{x_{i}} \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{x_{j}} \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon} dx dt\}_{ij} \right) \right\} \subset \mathcal{X}^{1} \times \mathcal{X}^{2}$$

and

$$(a, \mathcal{E}, u, g, v, \mu, \{\mu_{ij}\}_{ij}) \in \mathcal{X}^1 \times \mathcal{X}^2,$$

such that

 $(i) \tilde{P} \circ \left(\varepsilon^{-1} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|F(\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon})\|_{L^{1}}, \mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}), \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}, G(\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}), \tilde{v}^{\varepsilon}, e^{\varepsilon}(\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}) dx dt, \{\varepsilon \partial_{x_{i}} \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{x_{j}} \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon} dx dt\}_{ij}\right)^{-1} =$ $\hat{\mathbb{P}}^{\varepsilon}$ on $\mathcal{X}^1 \times \mathcal{X}^2$. $(ii) \left(\varepsilon^{-1} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|F(\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon})\|_{L^{1}}, \mathcal{E}^{\varepsilon}(\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}), \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}, G(\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}), \tilde{v}^{\varepsilon}, e^{\varepsilon}(\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}) dx dt, \{\varepsilon \partial_{x_{i}} \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon} \partial_{x_{j}} \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon} dx dt\}_{ij}\right) con$ verges to $(0, \mathcal{E}, u, g, v, \mu, \{\mu_{ij}\}_{ij})$ in $\mathcal{X}^1 \times \mathcal{X}^2$, $\tilde{\mathbb{P}} - a.s$, as $\varepsilon \searrow 0$. In particular, for $\mathbb{P} - a.s.\omega$, there exists a Borel set $E \in \mathcal{D}_T$, such that as $\varepsilon \searrow 0$ (iii) $u^{\varepsilon} \to u$ in u in $C^{\beta}([0,T]; L^2)$, $g = G(u) = 2S \mathbb{1}_E$ a.e. in \mathcal{D}_T and in $C^{\beta}([0,T]; L^1)$, $u = -1 + 2\mathbb{1}_E$ a.e. in \mathcal{D}_T and in $C^{\beta}([0,T]; L^2)$. Moreover, denote $E_t := \{x : (t, x) \in E\}$. Then (iv) For all $\beta < \frac{1}{12}$, $\tilde{\mathbb{P}}\left(\mathbb{1}_E \in C^{\beta}([0,T];L^1)\right) = 1$, (v) $\tilde{\mathbb{P}}(|E_t| = |E_0| = \frac{1+m_0}{2} |\mathcal{D}|, \forall t \in [0,T]) = 1,$ (vi) $\tilde{\mathbb{P}}(\mathbb{1}_E \in L^{\infty}(0,T;BV)) = 1.$

Proof For all $\sigma \geq 0$, one can check that with Lemma 5.19 true, all the estimate in Subsection 5.2.2 and 5.2.3 hold for the solution $(u^{\varepsilon}, v^{\varepsilon})$ to equation (5.58). Then the same proof as Theorem 5.11 follows.

Moreover, for $\sigma \geq 0$, the same argument as in Subsection 5.2.5 yields that

Theorem 5.21. Assume that $\sigma \geq 0$ and (5.2) hold. Let $(u^{\varepsilon}, v^{\varepsilon})$ be the solution to (5.58). Then there exist a probability space $(\hat{\Omega}, \hat{\mathcal{F}}, \hat{\mathbb{P}}), (\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}, \tilde{v}^{\varepsilon}) \in C([0, T]; L^2) \times L^2(0, T; H^1)$ with $\tilde{\mathbb{P}} \circ (\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}, \tilde{v}^{\varepsilon})^{-1} = \mathbb{P} \circ (u^{\varepsilon}, v^{\varepsilon})^{-1} \text{ on } C([0, T]; L^2) \times L^2(0, T; H^1).$ There also exists a subsequence ε_k such that as $\varepsilon_k \searrow 0$ the following holds:

(i) There exists a measurable set $E \subset \Omega \times \mathcal{D}_T$, such that for $\mathbb{P} - a.s. \omega$

$$\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon_k}(\omega) \to -1 + 2\mathbb{1}_{E(\omega)}, \quad a.e. \text{ in } \mathcal{D}_T \text{ and in } C^{\beta}([0,T];L^2)$$

for any $\beta < \frac{1}{12}$ where $E(\omega) := \{(t, x) \in \mathcal{D}_T : (\omega, t, x) \in E\};$ (ii) There exists a random variable $v \in L^2_w(0, T; H^1)$ (v is weakly measurable in $L^2(0,T;H^1)$) such that for $\tilde{\mathbb{P}}-a.s. \omega$

$$\tilde{v}^{\varepsilon_k}(\omega) \to v(\omega) \quad weakly \ in \ L^2(0,T;H^1);$$

(iii) There exist random variables $\mu \in \mathfrak{M}_R$ and $\{\mu_{ij}\}_{i,j=1}^d \in \mathfrak{M}^{d \times d}$ such that for $\mathbb{P}-a.s. \omega$

$$e^{\varepsilon_{k}(\omega)}(\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon_{k}(\omega)})dxdt \to d\mu(\omega, t, x) \quad weakly \ in \ \mathfrak{M}_{R},$$

$$\varepsilon_{k}\partial_{x_{i}}\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon_{k}}(\omega)\partial_{x_{j}}\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon_{k}}(\omega)dxdt \to d\mu_{ij}(\omega, t, x) \quad weakly \ in \ \mathfrak{M}, \ \forall i, j = 1, \cdots, d.$$
(5.65)

(iv) For $\tilde{\mathbb{P}} - a.s. \omega$, there exists a Radon measure $V(\omega)$ on $\mathcal{D}_T \times P$, and $\mu^t(\omega, x)dt = d\mu(\omega, t, x)$ such that for any $t \in (0, T]$ and $\vec{Y} \in C_0^1(\mathcal{D}_t; \mathbb{R}^d)$

$$\int_0^t \langle \delta V^s, \vec{Y} \rangle ds = \int_0^t \int_{\mathcal{D}} \nabla \vec{Y} : \left(I d\mu(s, x) - (\mu_{ij}(s, x))_{d \times d} \right).$$
(5.66)

In particular, for $\tilde{\mathbb{P}}$ -a.s. ω , $(E(\omega), v(\omega), V(\omega))$ satisfies all the properties in Definition 5.2 except (5.12). If $\sigma > 0$, (5.12) holds, thus $(E(\omega), v(\omega), V(\omega))$ is a weak solution in the sense of Definition 5.2.

Proof The proof is almost the same as in Subsection 5.2.5. The only difference is in the proof of that the existence of a Q-Wiener process on L^2 cannot be obtained directly such that for any $\varepsilon > 0$, (5.35) holds. We use the original equation (5.58) to prove (5.10) directly.

In fact, for any $\psi \in C_c^1([0, t) \times \mathcal{D})$,

$$\begin{split} -\int_{\mathcal{D}} (1+u^{\varepsilon}(0,x))\psi(0,x)dx &= \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}} \partial_{t}\psi(\tau,x)(1+u^{\varepsilon}(\tau,x))dxd\tau - \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}} \nabla v^{\varepsilon}\nabla\psi dxd\tau \\ &+ \varepsilon^{\sigma} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}} \psi(\tau,x)\xi^{\varepsilon}(\tau,x)dxd\tau. \end{split}$$

Thus for $\mathbb{P} - a.s.\omega \in \Omega$,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left(\int_0^t \int_{\mathcal{D}} \partial_t \psi(\tau, x) (1 + u^{\varepsilon}(\tau, x)) dx d\tau + \int_{\mathcal{D}} (1 + u^{\varepsilon}(0, x)) \psi(0, x) dx - \int_0^t \int_{\mathcal{D}} \nabla v^{\varepsilon} \nabla \psi dx d\tau \right) = 0$$

Since $\tilde{\mathbb{P}} \circ (\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}, \tilde{v}^{\varepsilon})^{-1} = \mathbb{P} \circ (u^{\varepsilon}, v^{\varepsilon})^{-1}$, we have that for $\tilde{P} - a.s.\omega \in \tilde{\Omega}$ and any $\sigma > 0$,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left(\int_0^t \int_{\mathcal{D}} \partial_t \psi(\tau, x) (1 + \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}(\tau, x)) dx d\tau + \int_{\mathcal{D}} (1 + \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}(0, x)) \psi(0, x) dx - \int_0^t \int_{\mathcal{D}} \nabla \tilde{v}^{\varepsilon} \nabla \psi dx d\tau \right) = 0$$

which yields that

$$\int_0^t \int_{\mathcal{D}} \partial_t \psi(\tau, x) (1 + \tilde{u}(\tau, x)) dx d\tau + \int_{\mathcal{D}} (1 + \tilde{u}(0, x)) \psi(0, x) dx - \int_0^t \int_{\mathcal{D}} \nabla \tilde{v} \nabla \psi dx d\tau = 0.$$

Thus we obtain (5.10). The rest proof is the same as the proof of Theorem 5.3 in Subsection 5.2.5.

Moreover in radial symmetric case,

Theorem 5.22. Let $\sigma \geq 0$, with the same notations as in Theorem 5.21, and suppose that the assumptions in Theorem 5.21 hold. Then in radially symmetric case, that is $\mathcal{D} = B_1$, where B_1 is the unit ball in \mathbb{R}^d and that u_0^{ε} is radially symmetric, we have that

$$d\mu = 2S|D\mathbb{1}_{E_t}|dxdt$$
 as Radon measure on \mathcal{D}_T

In particular, for a.e.t $\in [0,T]$, V^t is a (d-1)-rectifiable varifold, i.e.

$$dV(t, x, p) = 2S|D\mathbb{1}_{E_t}|dxdt\delta_{\vec{\nu}_{E_t}(t,x)}(dp)$$
 as Radon measure on $\mathcal{D}_T \times P$.

Then we have that

$$\begin{cases} (d\mu_{ij})_{d\times d} = \vec{\nu}_{E_t} \otimes \vec{\nu}_{E_t} d\mu \text{ as Radon measure on } \bar{\mathcal{D}}_T, \\ v(t,x) = S\vec{\nu}_{E_t}(x) \cdot \vec{H}_{V^t}(x) \text{ on } \operatorname{supp}(|D\mathbb{1}_{E_t}|) \text{ for a.e. } t \in [0,T], \end{cases}$$
(5.67)

 \vec{H}_{V^t} is the mean curvature vector of V^t defined in Definition 2.22 and $\delta_{\vec{\nu}}$ is the Dirac measure concentrated at $\vec{\nu} \in P$.

Proof It suffice to prove

$$d\mu = 2S |D\mathbb{1}_{E_t}| dx dt$$
 as Radon measure on \mathcal{D}_T ,

then the following is the same as the proof of Theorem 5.4 in Section 5.3.

In fact, by taking $h^{\varepsilon}(t,x) = \int_0^t \int_{\mathcal{D}} v^{\varepsilon}(s,x)\xi^{\varepsilon}(s,x)dsdx$ in (5.51), then all the proof followed as in the proof of Theorem 5.18. Thus we can finish the proof.

Remark 5.23. The same as in Remark 5.5, in radial symmetric case, v = SH on Γ_t in a weak sense. Thus in radial symmetric case, for all $\sigma > 0$ the sharp interface limit of equation 5.58 satisfies the deterministic Hele-Shaw model (1.5) in a weak sense. In general we also conjecture that the sharp interface limit of equation 5.58 satisfies the deterministic Hele-Shaw model (1.5)

$$\begin{cases} \Delta v = 0 \text{ in } \mathcal{D} \setminus \Gamma_t, \ t > 0, \\ \frac{\partial v}{\partial n} = 0 \text{ on } \partial \mathcal{D}, \\ v = SH \text{ on } \Gamma_t, \\ \mathcal{V} = \frac{1}{2} (\partial_n v^+ - \partial_n v^-) \text{ on } \Gamma_t \end{cases}$$

Now we will focus on the case that $\sigma = 0$. Note that the triple (E, v, V) obtained in Theorem 5.21 satisfies all the definition in Definition 5.2 except (5.10) and (5.12). Let $\mathcal{D}^+ = E_t^o \cap \mathcal{D}$ be the interior of E_t in \mathcal{D} and $\mathcal{D}^- = \mathcal{D} \setminus \overline{E_t}$.

Theorem 5.24. Let $(\tilde{\Omega}, \tilde{\mathcal{F}}, \tilde{\mathbb{P}})$, E, v be as in Theorem 5.21 and Q be an operator satisfying (5.4), (5.5). Then there exists a Q-Wiener process \tilde{W} on $L^2(\mathcal{D})$, which is defined on $(\tilde{\Omega}, \tilde{\mathcal{F}}, \tilde{\mathbb{P}})$, such that

$$2d\mathbb{1}_{E_t} = \Delta v dt + d\tilde{W}_t$$

in the sense that for any $t \in [0,T]$ and $\psi \in C_c^1([0,t) \times \overline{\mathcal{D}})$,

$$\int_0^t \int_{\mathcal{D}} \left(-2\mathbb{1}_{E_\tau} \partial_t \psi + \nabla v \cdot \nabla \psi \right) dx d\tau = \int_{\mathcal{D}} 2\mathbb{1}_{E_0} \psi(0, \cdot) + \int_0^t \langle \psi(\tau, \cdot), d\tilde{W}_\tau \rangle.$$
(5.68)

Proof For any $h \in H^1$, denote

$$M_h^{\varepsilon} := \int_{\mathcal{D}} (u^{\varepsilon}(t) - u^{\varepsilon}(0))hdx + \int_0^t \nabla v^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla hdx$$

and

$$\tilde{M}_{h}^{\varepsilon} := \int_{\mathcal{D}} (\tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}(t) - \tilde{u}^{\varepsilon}(0))hdx + \int_{0}^{t} \nabla \tilde{v}^{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla hdx$$

Clearly,

$$M_h^{\varepsilon} = \int_{\mathcal{D}} h(x) W_t^{\varepsilon}(x) dx$$

and as $\varepsilon \to 0$, M_h^{ε} converges to a Wiener process with covariance $\|Q^{\frac{1}{2}}h\|_{L^2}^2$. Since $\mathbb{P} \circ (M_h^{\varepsilon})^{-1} = \tilde{P} \circ (\tilde{M}_h^{\varepsilon})^{-1}$, we know that the law of $\tilde{M}_h^{\varepsilon}$ converges to a Wiener process with covariance $\|Q^{\frac{1}{2}}h\|_{L^2}^2$. Moreover

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \tilde{M}_h^\varepsilon = \int_{\mathcal{D}} (u(t) - u(0)) h dx + \int_0^t \nabla v \cdot \nabla h dx, \quad \tilde{P} - a.s..$$

Thus we obtain that

$$\int_{\mathcal{D}} (u(t) - u(0))hdx + \int_0^t \nabla v \cdot \nabla hdx$$

is a Wiener process with covariance $\|Q^{\frac{1}{2}}h\|_{L^2}^2$ on $(\tilde{\Omega}, \tilde{\mathcal{F}}, \tilde{\mathbb{P}})$. Then there exists a Q-Wiener process \tilde{W} on L^2 , which is defined on $(\tilde{\Omega}, \tilde{\mathcal{F}}, \tilde{\mathbb{P}})$, such that

$$\langle W_t, h \rangle = \int_{\mathcal{D}} (u(t) - u(0))hdx + \int_0^t \int_{\mathcal{D}} \nabla v \cdot \nabla hdxds.$$

Thus we obtain the following equation for u:

$$du = \Delta v dt + dW_t$$

Similar to the proof in Subsection 5.2.5, the Itô's formula yields that for any $\psi \in C_c^1([0,t) \times \bar{\mathcal{D}})$

$$\begin{split} -\int_{\mathcal{D}} (1+u(0,x))\psi(0,x)dx &= \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}} \partial_{t}\psi(\tau,x)(1+u(\tau,x))dxd\tau - \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}} \nabla v \nabla \psi dxd\tau \\ &+ \int_{0}^{t} \langle \psi(\tau,\cdot)dW_{\tau} \rangle, \end{split}$$

i.e.

$$\int_0^t \int_{\mathcal{D}} \left(-2\mathbb{1}_{E_\tau} \partial_t \psi + \nabla v \cdot \nabla \psi \right) dx d\tau = \int_{\mathcal{D}} 2\mathbb{1}_{E_0} \psi(0, \cdot) + \int_0^t \langle \psi(\tau, \cdot), d\tilde{W}_\tau \rangle.$$

Similarly to the discussion in Subsection 5.1.4, (5.68) is a weak formula for

$$2d\mathbb{1}_{E_t} = \Delta v dt + d\tilde{W}_t.$$

Corollary 5.25. For any $\psi \in C_c^1([0,t) \times \overline{\mathcal{D}})$, with $\operatorname{supp} \psi \subset \mathcal{D} \setminus \Gamma_t$,

$$\int_0^t \int_{\mathcal{D}} \nabla v \cdot \nabla \psi d\mathcal{H}^d ds = \int_0^t \langle \psi, d\tilde{W}_s \rangle.$$

This is in fact a weak formula for

$$\Delta v = -\frac{dW_t}{dt} \quad in \quad \mathcal{D} \setminus \Gamma_t.$$

Proof Since $\psi \in C_c^1([0,t) \times \overline{\mathcal{D}})$ and $\operatorname{supp} \psi \subset \mathcal{D} \setminus \Gamma_t$, we know that $\mathbb{1}_E \psi = \psi$ and $\mathbb{1}_E \partial_t \psi = \partial_t \psi$. Thus

$$\int_0^t \int_{\mathcal{D}} \mathbb{1}_{E_t} \partial_t \psi dx = \int_0^t \int_{\mathcal{D}} \partial_t \psi dx = -\int_{\mathcal{D}} \psi(0, \cdot) dx = -\int_{\mathcal{D}} \mathbb{1}_{E_0} \psi(0, \cdot) dx.$$

Then by (5.68), we can finish the proof.

Remark 5.26. Similar to the deterministic case, Δv and $\frac{\partial v}{\partial n}$ are ill-defined. The equation of (v, Γ) should be understood in distribution sense. We suppose that (v, Γ) is smooth enough such that Δv and $\frac{\partial v}{\partial n}$ are well-defined.

We also suppose that $\overline{\mathcal{D} \setminus E} \subset \mathcal{D}$. Denote $\Gamma_t := \partial E_t \setminus \partial \mathcal{D}$ and let $\mathcal{D}^+ = E_t^o \cap \mathcal{D}$ be the interior of E_t in \mathcal{D} and $\mathcal{D}^- = \mathcal{D} \setminus \overline{E_t}$.

For any $\psi \in C_c^1([0,t) \times \overline{\mathcal{D}})$, with $\operatorname{supp} \psi(t, \cdot) \cap \Gamma_t = \emptyset$,

$$\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\partial \mathcal{D}} \frac{\partial v}{\partial n} \psi d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} ds = \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\partial \mathcal{D}^{+}} \frac{\partial v}{\partial n} \psi d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} ds - \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Gamma_{t}} \frac{\partial v}{\partial n} \psi d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} ds$$
$$= \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\partial \mathcal{D}^{+}} \frac{\partial v}{\partial n} \psi d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} ds$$
$$= \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}^{+}} div (\nabla v \psi) d\mathcal{H}^{d} ds$$
$$= \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}^{+}} \nabla v \cdot \nabla \psi d\mathcal{H}^{d} ds + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}^{-}} \Delta v \psi d\mathcal{H}^{d} ds$$
$$= \int_{0}^{t} \langle \psi, d\tilde{W}_{s} \rangle + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}^{+}} \Delta v \psi d\mathcal{H}^{d} ds$$
$$= \int_{0}^{t} 2 \langle \psi, d\mathbb{1}_{E_{s}} \rangle = 0,$$
(5.69)

where we used Corollary 5.25 in the fifth equality. The last equality holds because $\operatorname{supp} \psi(t, \cdot) \cap E_t = \emptyset$.

Formally we have that in distribution sense

$$\frac{\partial v}{\partial n} = 0 \quad in \quad [0,T] \times \partial \mathcal{D}.$$

To calculate the velocity of Γ_t , formally we denote $\hat{v} = v + \Delta^{-1} \dot{\tilde{W}}$, where $\dot{\tilde{W}}$ is the formal derivative $\frac{d\tilde{W}}{dt}$. Then we have

$$2\partial_t \mathbb{1}_{E_t} = \Delta \hat{v},$$

and $\hat{v} = 0$ in $[0,T] \times (\mathcal{D} \setminus \Gamma_t)$. For any $\psi \in C_c^1(\bar{\mathcal{D}}_t)$

$$\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}} \partial_{t} \mathbb{1}_{E_{t}} \psi d\mathcal{H}^{d} ds = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}} \nabla \hat{v} \nabla \psi d\mathcal{H}^{d} ds$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}^{+}} \nabla \hat{v} \nabla \psi d\mathcal{H}^{d} ds - \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}^{-}} \nabla \hat{v} \nabla \psi d\mathcal{H}^{d} ds$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}^{+}} \operatorname{div}(\nabla \hat{v} \psi) d\mathcal{H}^{d} ds + \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathcal{D}^{-}} \operatorname{div}(\nabla \hat{v} \psi) d\mathcal{H}^{d} ds$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Gamma_{t}} (\partial_{n} \hat{v}^{+} - \partial_{n} \hat{v}^{-}) \psi d\mathcal{H}^{d-1} ds.$$

(5.70)

Then following the same calculation as in Section 5.1.4, we obtain that in distribution sense

$$\mathcal{V} = \frac{1}{2} (\partial_n \hat{v}^+ - \partial_n \hat{v}^-).$$

Thus formally we have

$$\mathcal{V}dt = \frac{1}{2} \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial n} \right]_{\Gamma_t} (vdt + \Delta^{-1} d\tilde{W}_t), \qquad (5.71)$$

Here $\left[\frac{\partial}{\partial n}\right]_{\Gamma_t}$ is defined by

$$\left\lfloor \frac{\partial}{\partial n} \right\rfloor_{\Gamma_t} f = \partial_n f^+ - \partial_n f^-,$$

where f^+ , f^- is the restriction of f on \mathcal{D}^+ , \mathcal{D}^- , respectively.

Remark 5.27. For the value of v on Γ_t , since Theorem 5.22 holds for all $\sigma \geq 0$. Combining it with Corollary 5.25, Remark 5.26 and (5.71), we prove that in radial case, when $\sigma = 0$, the sharp interface limit of equation (5.58) is the formally the stochastic Hele-Shaw model (1.29). For general case, we conjecture that the sharp interface limit also satisfies (1.29):

$$\begin{split} & \swarrow \Delta v dt = -dW_t \text{ in } \mathcal{D} \setminus \Gamma_t, \ t > 0, \\ & \frac{\partial v}{\partial n} = 0 \text{ on } \partial \mathcal{D}, \\ & v = SH \text{ on } \Gamma_t, \\ & \mathcal{V} dt = \frac{1}{2} \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial n} \right]_{\Gamma_t} (v dt + \Delta^{-1} dW_t) \end{split}$$

Remark 5.28. The idea of "smeared noise" in this section can be also applied to the case of space-time white noise by considering the mollified space-time white noise. That is, considering the convolution of space-time white noise with a mollifier both in space and in time. Then a similar result can be obtained.

Bibliography

- [ABC94] N D Alikakos, P W Bates, and Xinfu Chen. Convergence of the Cahn-Hilliard Equation to the Hele-Shaw Model. Archive for Rational Mechanics and Analysis, 128(2):165–205, 1994.
- [ABK18] D C Antonopoulou, D Blömker, and G D Karali. The sharp interface limit for the stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equation. Annales de l'Institut Henri Poincaré Probabilités et Statistiques, 54(1):280–298, 2018.
- [AFP00] Luigi Ambrosio, Nicola Fusco, and Diego Pallara. Functions of Bounded Variation and Free Discontinuity Problems. Courier Corporation, 2000.
- [AKO14] Dimitra Antonopoulou, Georgia Karali, and Enza Orlandi. A Hilbert expansion method for the rigorous sharp interface limit of the generalized Cahn-Hilliard equation. *Interfaces and Free Boundaries*, 16(1):65–104, 2014.
- [All72] William K Allard. On the First Variation of a Varifold. Annals of Mathematics, 95(3):417–491, May 1972.
- [Alm65] F J Almgren. The Theory of Varifolds. *Mimeographed notes*, 1965.
- [AR91] Sergio Albeverio and Michael Röckner. Stochastic Differential-Equations in Infinite Dimensions - Solutions via Dirichlet Forms. *Probability Theory and Related Fields*, 89(3):347–386, 1991.
- [AR94] Sergio Albeverio and Michael Röckner. Dirichlet form methods for uniqueness of martingale problems and applications, volume 57 of Proceedings of Symposia in Pure Mathematics. American Mathematical Society, Providence, Rhode Island, 1994.
- [AR95] Sergio Albeverio and Michael Röckner. Dirichlet form methods for uniqueness of martingale problems and applications. In Michael C Cranston and Mark A Pinsky, editors, *Stochastic Analysis*, pages 513–528. Proceedings of Symposia in Pure Mathematics, Providence, RI, 1995.
- [BCD11] Hajer Bahouri, Jean-Yves Chemin, and Raphaël Danchin. Fourier Analysis and Nonlinear Partial Differential Equations. Springer Science & Business Media, January 2011.
- [BO13] Zdzisław Brzeźniak and Martin Ondreját. Stochastic geometric wave equations with values in compact Riemannian homogeneous spaces. *The Annals* of Probability, 41(3B):1938–1977, May 2013.

[Bog98]	Vladimir Bogachev. <i>Gaussian Measures</i> , volume 62 of <i>Mathematical Surveys and Monographs</i> . American Mathematical Society, Providence, Rhode Island, September 1998.
[Bra78]	Kenneth A Brakke. <i>The motion of a surface by its mean curvature</i> , volume 20 of <i>Mathematical Notes</i> . Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1978.
[BYZ19]	Lubomir Banas, Huanyu Yang, and Rongchan Zhu. Sharp interface limit of stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equation with singular noise. <i>arXiv.org</i> , May 2019.
[CH58]	John W Cahn and John E Hilliard. Free Energy of a Nonuniform System. I. Interfacial Free Energy. <i>The Journal of Chemical Physics</i> , 28(2):258–267, 1958.
[Che96]	Xinfu Chen. Global asymptotic limit of solutions of the Cahn-Hilliard equation. Journal of Differential Geometry, 44(2):262–311, 1996.
[CHY96]	Xinfu Chen, Jiaxin Hong, and Fahuai Yi. Existance uniqueness and regularity of classical solutions of the mullins—sekerka problem. <i>Communications in Partial Differential Equations</i> , 21(11-12):1705–1727, 1996.
[Coo70]	H E Cook. Brownian motion in spinodal decomposition. Acta Metallurgica, 18(3):297–306, March 1970.
[Dau92]	Ingrid Daubechies. <i>Ten lectures on wavelets</i> , volume 61 of <i>CBMS-NSF Re- gional Conference Series in Applied Mathematics</i> . Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics (SIAM), Philadelphia, PA, 1992.
[DG11]	Arnaud Debussche and Ludovic Goudenege. Stochastic Cahn-Hilliard Equation with Double Singular Nonlinearities and Two Reflections. <i>Siam Journal on Mathematical Analysis</i> , 43(3):1473–1494, 2011.
[DP04]	Giuseppe Da Prato. <i>Kolmogorov equations for stochastic PDEs.</i> Advanced Courses in Mathematics. CRM Barcelona. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, Basel, 2004.
[DPD96]	Giuseppe Da Prato and Arnaud Debussche. Stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equa- tion. Nonlinear Analysis: Theory, Methods & Applications, 26(2):241–263, 1996.
[DPD03]	Giuseppe Da Prato and Arnaud Debussche. Strong solutions to the stochastic quantization equations. <i>The Annals of Probability</i> , 31(4):1900–1916, 2003.
[DPDT04]	Giuseppe Da Prato, Arnaud Debussche, and Luciano Tubaro. Irregular semi- convex gradient systems perturbed by noise and application to the stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equation. <i>Annales de l'Institut Henri Poincare (B) Probability</i> and Statistics, 40(1):73–88, February 2004.
[DPZ96]	Giuseppe Da Prato and J Zabczyk. Ergodicity for infinite-dimensional sys- tems, volume 229 of London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series. Cam- bridge University Press, Cambridge, Cambridge, 1996.

- [DPZ02] Giuseppe Da Prato and Jerzy Zabczyk. Second order partial differential equations in Hilbert spaces, volume 293 of London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, Cambridge, 2002.
- [DPZ14] Giuseppe Da Prato and Jerzy Zabczyk. Stochastic equations in infinite dimensions, volume 152 of Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, Cambridge, second edition, 2014.
- [Dri03] B K Driver. Analysis tools with applications. Springer, 2003.
- [DZ07] Arnaud Debussche and Lorenzo Zambotti. Conservative stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equation with reflection. *The Annals of Probability*, 35(5):1706–1739, 2007.
- [EM91] Neven Elezovic and Andro Mikelic. On the Stochastic Cahn-Hilliard Equation. Nonlinear Analysis: Theory, Methods & Applications, 16(12):1169–1200, 1991.
- [Fed14] Herbert Federer. *Geometric Measure Theory*. Classics in Mathematics. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, November 2014.
- [Fun89] Tadahisa Funaki. Derivation of the Hydrodynamical Equation for One-Dimensional Ginzburg-Landau Model. *Probability Theory and Related Fields*, 82(1):39–93, 1989.
- [Fun99] Tadahisa Funaki. Singular limit for stochastic reaction-diffusion equation and generation of random interfaces. Acta Mathematica Sinica-English Series, 15(3):407–438, July 1999.
- [Fun16] Tadahisa Funaki. *Lectures on random interfaces*. SpringerBriefs in Probability and Mathematical Statistics. Springer, Singapore, Singapore, 2016.
- [FY19] Tadahisa Funaki and Satoshi Yokoyama. Sharp interface limit for stochastically perturbed mass conserving Allen–Cahn equation. *The Annals of Probability*, 47(1):560–612, January 2019.
- [GIP15] Massimiliano Gubinelli, Peter Imkeller, and Nicolas Perkowski. Paracontrolled distributions and singular PDEs. *Forum of Mathematics. Pi*, 3:e6–75, 2015.
- [GJ12] James Glimm and Arthur Jaffe. *Quantum Physics*, volume 35 of A Functional Integral Point of View. Springer Science & Business Media, December 2012.
- [GLP99] Giambattista Giacomin, Joel L Lebowitz, and Errico Presutti. Deterministic and stochastic hydrodynamic equations arising from simple microscopic model systems. In *Stochastic Partial Differential Equations: Six Perspectives*, pages 107–152. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1999.
- [GRZ09] Benjamin Goldys, Michael Röckner, and Xicheng Zhang. Martingale solutions and Markov selections for stochastic partial differential equations. *Stochastic Processes and their Applications*, 119(5):1725–1764, 2009.
- [Hai14] Martin Hairer. A theory of regularity structures. *Inventiones Mathematicae*, 198(2):269–504, 2014.

[HH77]	P C Hohenberg and B I Halperin. Theory of Dynamic Critical Phenomena. <i>Reviews of Modern Physics</i> , 49(3):435–479, 1977.
[Hid80]	Takeyuki Hida. Brownian Motion. Springer US, New York, NY, 1980.
[HM18]	M Hairer and J Mattingly. The strong Feller property for singular stochas- tic PDEs. Annales de l'Institut Henri Poincaré Probabilités et Statistiques, 54(3):1314–1340, August 2018.
[HT00]	J E Hutchinson and Y Tonegawa. Convergence of phase interfaces in the van der Waals-Cahn-Hilliard theory. <i>Calculus of Variations and Partial Differential Equations</i> , 10(1):49–84, January 2000.
[Ilm93]	Tom Ilmanen. Convergence of the Allen-Cahn equation to Brakke's motion by mean curvature. <i>Journal of Differential Geometry</i> , 38(2):417–461, 1993.
[Jak98]	A Jakubowski. Short Communication: The Almost Sure Skorokhod Representation for Subsequences in Nonmetric Spaces. <i>Theory of Probability & Its Applications</i> , $42(1)$:167–174, January 1998.
[JLM85]	Giovanni Jona-Lasinio and Pronob Mitter. On the stochastic quantization of field theory. <i>Communications in Mathematical Physics</i> , 101(3):409–436, 1985.
[KT17]	Lami Kim and Yoshihiro Tonegawa. On the mean curvature flow of grain boundaries. Université de Grenoble. Annales de l'Institut Fourier, 67(1):43– 142, 2017.
[Kur07]	Thomas G Kurtz. The Yamada-Watanabe-Engelbert theorem for general stochastic equations and inequalities. <i>Electronic Journal of Probability</i> , 12:951–965, 2007.
[Lan71]	J S Langer. Theory of spinodal decomposition in alloys. Annals of Physics, 65(1):53–86, January 1971.
[Le08]	Nam Q Le. A Gamma-convergence approach to the Cahn–Hilliard equation . <i>Calculus of Variations and Partial Differential Equations</i> , 32(4):499–522, August 2008.
[LR15]	Wei Liu and Michael Röckner. Stochastic Partial Differential Equations: An Introduction. Springer, October 2015.
[Mey95]	Yves Meyer. <i>Wavelets and Operators:</i> . Cambridge University Press, January 1995.
[MR92]	Zhi-Ming Ma and Michael Röckner. Introduction to the Theory of (Non-Symmetric) Dirichlet Forms. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1992.
[MR99]	Remigijus Mikulevicius and Boris L. Rozovskii. Martingale problems for stochastic PDE's. In <i>Stochastic Partial Differential Equations: Six Perspectives</i> , pages 243–325. American Mathematical Society, Providence, Rhode Island, November 1999.

- [MW17] Jean-Christophe Mourrat and Hendrik Weber. Global well-posedness of the dynamic Φ^4 model in the plane. The Annals of Probability, 45(4):2398–2476, July 2017.
- [Nel73] Edward Nelson. The free Markoff field. Journal of Functional Analysis, 12(2):211–227, February 1973.
- [Nor86] James R. Norris. Simplified Malliavin Calculus. *Lecture Notes in Mathematics*, 1204:101–130, 1986.
- [Nua13] David Nualart. The Malliavin Calculus and Related Topics. Probability and its Applications. Springer Science & Business Media, New York, NY, December 2013.
- [Oba94] Nobuaki Obata. White noise calculus and Fock space, volume 1577 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1994.
- [Peg89] R L Pego. Front Migration in the Nonlinear Cahn-Hilliard Equation. Proceedings of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences, 422(1863):261–278, April 1989.
- [PM83] Rolfe G Petschek and Horia Metiu. A computer simulation of the timedependent Ginzburg–Landau model for spinodal decomposition. *The Journal* of Chemical Physics, 79(7):3443–3456, October 1983.
- [PW81] Georgio Parisi and Yong Shi Wu. Perturbation Theory Without Gauge Fixing. Scientia Sinica, 24(4):483–496, 1981.
- [RS06] Matthias Röger and Reiner Schaetzle. On a modified conjecture of De Giorgi. Mathematische Zeitschrift, 254(4):675–714, December 2006.
- [RT08] Matthias Röger and Yoshihiro Tonegawa. Convergence of phase-field approximations to the Gibbs-Thomson law. *Calculus of Variations and Partial Differential Equations*, 32(1):111–136, 2008.
- [Rud73] Walter Rudin. Functional analysis. McGraw-Hill Series in Higher Mathematics. McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York-Düsseldorf-Johannesburg, January 1973.
- [RYZ18] Michael Röckner, Huanyu Yang, and Rongchan Zhu. Conservative stochastic 2-dimensional Cahn-Hilliard equation. *arXiv.org*, February 2018.
- [RZZ15] Michael Röckner, Rongchan Zhu, and Xiangchan Zhu. Sub and supercritical stochastic quasi-geostrophic equation. *The Annals of Probability*, 43(3):1202–1273, 2015.
- [RZZ17a] Michael Röckner, Rongchan Zhu, and Xiangchan Zhu. Ergodicity for the Stochastic Quantization Problems on the 2D-Torus. Communications in Mathematical Physics, 352(3):1061–1090, 2017.
- [RZZ17b] Michael Röckner, Rongchan Zhu, and Xiangchan Zhu. Restricted Markov uniqueness for the stochastic quantization of $P(\Phi)_2$ and its applications. Journal of Functional Analysis, 272(10):4263–4303, 2017.

[Sca17]	Luca Scarpa. On the stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equation with a singular double- well potential. <i>arxiv.org</i> , 2017.
[Sic85]	Winfried Sickel. Periodic Spaces and Relations to Strong Summability of Multiple Fourier Series. <i>Mathematische Nachrichten</i> , 124(1):15–44, 1985.
[Sim74]	Barry Simon. The $P(\phi)_2$ Euclidean (quantum) Theory. Princeton Series in Physics. NJ: Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1974.
[Sim83]	L Simon. Lectures on Geometric Measure Theory, volume 3 of Proceedings of the Centre for Mathematical Analysis. Australian National University, 1983.
[SW72]	Elias M Stein and Guido Weiss. Introduction to Fourier Analysis on Euclidean Spaces (PMS-32). Princeton University Press, Princeton, 1972.
[Tem01]	Roger Temam. <i>Navier-Stokes Equations</i> . Theory and Numerical Analysis. American Mathematical Soc., April 2001.
[Ton02]	Y Tonegawa. Phase field model with a variable chemical potential. <i>Proceedings</i> of the Royal Society of Edinburgh. Section A. Mathematics, 132:993–1019, 2002.
[Ton03]	Yoshihiro Tonegawa. Integrality of varifolds in the singular limit of reaction- diffusion equations. <i>Hiroshima Mathematical Journal</i> , 33(3):323–341, 2003.
[Ton05]	Yoshihiro Tonegawa. A diffused interface whose chemical potential lies in a Sobolev space. Annali della Scuola Normale Superiore di Pisa. Classe di Scienze. Serie IV, 4(3):487–510, 2005.
[Ton19]	Yoshihiro Tonegawa. Brakke's Mean Curvature Flow. An Introduction. Springer Singapore, Singapore, 2019.
[Tri78]	Hans Triebel. Interpolation Theory, Function Spaces, Differential Operators. North Holland, 1978.
[Tri92]	Hans Triebel. <i>Theory of function spaces. II</i> , volume 84 of <i>Monographs in Mathematics</i> . Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, Basel, 1992.
[Tri06]	Hans Triebel. <i>Theory of function spaces. III</i> , volume 100 of <i>Monographs in Mathematics</i> . Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 2006.
[TT15]	Keisuke Takasao and Yoshihiro Tonegawa. Existence and regularity of mean curvature flow with transport term in higher dimensions. <i>Mathematische Annalen</i> , 364(3):857–935, June 2015.
[TW16]	Pavlos Tsatsoulis and Hendrik Weber. Spectral Gap for the Stochastic Quan- tization Equation on the 2-dimensional Torus. <i>arXiv.org</i> , September 2016.
[TW18]	Pavlos Tsatsoulis and Hendrik Weber. Exponential loss of memory for the 2-dimensional Allen-Cahn equation with small noise. <i>arXiv.org</i> , August 2018.
[Vil09]	Cédric Villani. Optimal Transport, volume 338 of Grundlehren der mathe- matischen Wissenschaften. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2009.

- [Wan06] Fengyu Wang. Functional Inequalities Markov Semigroups and Spectral Theory. Elsevier, April 2006.
- [Web10] Hendrik Weber. On the short time asymptotic of the stochastic Allen-Cahn equation. Annales de l'Institut Henri Poincaré Probabilités et Statistiques, 46(4):965–975, November 2010.
- [YZ19] Huanyu Yang and Rongchan Zhu. Weak solutions to the sharp interface limit of stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equations. *arXiv.org*, May 2019.